
 
REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

AGENDA 
Tuesday, December 10, 2024, at 6:00 P.M. 

Location: Church of Christ 205 1st St. NE Plainview 
also streamed on FaceBook Live: https://www.facebook.com/plainviewmn/ 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER 
 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
3. PUBLIC COMMENTS– Using the Four Minutes Per Attendee Policy 

The City Council welcomes and encourages participation from community members.  Please keep in mind 
that your comments must be pertinent to City business and must adhere to Data Privacy Rules, no 
employee’s names may be used.  Please do not expect action from the Council this evening regarding 
your concerns.  We also request that your comments be limited to four (4) minutes.  Council members may 
ask clarifying questions but is not intended to be a back-and-forth discussion.  At this time, we ask that 
anyone who would like to address the City Council to please step up to the podium and state your name 
and address for the record.  We ask that citizens maintain social distancing and that all comments remain 
respectful. 
In an effort to better communicate with your City, we have designated the City Administrator as a conduit 
to questions related to the City Council Agenda. We continue to POST this agenda on the City Website, 
Facebook page and a copy is posted at City  Hall and the Post Office. 
Should you have any questions related to the City Council Agenda, PLEASE contact the City Administrator 
at 507-534-2229. 

This agenda item is intended to provide an opportunity for citizens to address the City Council.  The 
topics can include any agenda item or general comment they would like to share with the City Council.  
We do expect that all participants provide a name and address of their residence and expect that all 
parties remain respectful and adhere to the four-minute period to permit all to participate. This is the 
only portion of the meeting that public comments are allowed. 
 

4.  APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 

5. JOINT MEETING WITH ELGIN –  
A. Approve Plainview Elgin Sanitary Sewer Board Member 
 

6. 2024 TRUTH IN TAXATION HEARING (General Information About 2025 Budget)   
 

7. APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA 
A. City Council Minutes- November 12, 2024 
B. Bills 
C. Permits/Licenses/Donations- 

a. Refuse License Renewals – Hagedorn Enterprises, dba: Lake City Recycling, Interstate 
Disposal Service, Waste Management, and Lakeshore Recycling Systems LLC 

b. Tobacco License Renewals – High Plains, Lyon’s Oil BP, Kwik Trip and Family Dollar 
D.   Department Head Reports and Board Minutes 
E.    Library Board Appointments for 2025 
F.    Plainview Planning Commission Appointments for 2025 
G.   Plainview Volunteer Fire Department Appointments for 2025 
H.    2024 Fund Transfer – AARPA Funds – Resolution 2024-23 

 
8. UNFINISHED BUSINESS – none  

 
9. NEW BUSINESS 

A. Approve Final 2025 Levy-Resolution 2024-20  
B. Approve Final 2025 Budget-Resolution 2024-21  
C. Fund Transfers-Resolution 2024-22  
D. 2nd Ave NW Street & Utility Project Change Order No.2 
E. Water Tower Work Order  
F. Amend Parks and Trails Commission Bylaws-Resolution 2024-24 
G. 600 Code Amendments – Resolution 2024-25 
H. Multiple Pet Permit 
I. MOU Between the City of Plainview and the Peace Corp Legacy Association 

 
10. INFORMATION ONLY DOCUMENTS –  

A. Goal Setting Survey Results 
 

11. COUNCIL COMMENT 
12. ADJOURN 
 
 

https://www.facebook.com/plainviewmn/


  Joint Meeting w/Elgin-PESSD Appointments | Page 1 of 2 
 

Executive Summary 
City Council Regular Meeting:  December 10th, 2024 
 

AGENDA ITEM:     
Joint Meeting with City of Elgin-
Appointing of Plainview Elgin 
Sanitary Sewer Board Member(s) 

AGENDA SECTION:  
Joint Meeting with Elgin 

PREPARED BY: David Todd, City Administrator AGENDA NO.   5.A. 

ATTACHMENTS:  Letter from the Plainview Elgin 
Sanitary Sewer District, 
Board/Commission Applications 
from Paul McNallan, Aaron 
Luckstein, Beckie Kronebusch, 
Seth Jurrens, and Russell Hess.  

APPROVED BY:  dt 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:   
Motion to approve an appointment to the Plainview-Elgin Sanitary Sewer 
District Board. 

 
 
SUMMARY  
On October 16th, 2024, the Plainview-Elgin Sanitary Sewer District Board notified the 
City of Plainview that the three-year term for Merlin Bratberg (Representative of 
Plainview) is set to expire on December 31, 2024. Mr. Bratberg is not seeking 
reappointment to the board for another term. 
 
The city advertised the open board seat and sought applications to fill the vacancy. 
The following applicants have submitted applications to the city: 
 

• Paul McNallan 
• Aaron Luckstein 
• Beckie Kronebusch 
• Seth Jurrens 
• Russell Hess 

 
Under Minnesota Statues 442A.14, Subdivision 8, which states, in part, “Members of 
the district board shall be elected for succeeding regular terms by the members of the 
related government bodies in a joint session as soon as practicable after November 1, 
next preceding the beginning of the terms to be filled.” 

 



Page 2 of 2 
 

 
A joint session between the Plainview City Council and the Elgin City Council is 
required to appoint or reappoint a member to the vacancy. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
David Todd 
City Administrator 













CITY BOARD/COMMISSION APPLICATION 

Which board(s) would you like to be considered for? 
o Economic Development Authority
o Plainview-Elgin Sanitary Sewer District Board

o Park Board
o Planning Commission
o Library Board

Name 

Address 

Phone 

Email 

Describe any experience you have that has prepared you for being a member of the 
board/commission: 

What skills and/or abilities do you have that would be helpful for the board/commission? 

With what you know about Plainview, what do you see as the most significant issue(s) the 
board/commission will have to face in the next two years? 

Can you think of any potential conflicts of interest you would have serving on the 
board/commission? 

Is there anything else you think we should know that would help us in our decision making? 



7.A. Minutes – Executive Summary| Page 1 of 1

Executive Summary 
City Council Regular Meeting: December 10, 2024 

AGENDA ITEM:     Minutes AGENDA SECTION: 
Consent 

PREPARED BY: Carol Kujath, City Clerk AGENDA NO.   7.A. 

ATTACHMENTS:  Draft Minutes APPROVED BY:  cjk 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:  
1. Motion to approve Minutes of the November 12, 2024 Special Meeting

Proceedings.



 
PLAINVIEW CITY COUNCIL  

SPECIAL MEETING 
Tuesday November 12, 2024, at 6:00 P.M. 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER - Mayor Luckstein called the Special Plainview City Council meeting to order on 
Tuesday November 12, 2024, at 6:00 p.m.  

 
Council Members in attendance: Aaron Luckstein, Holly Reeve, Lindsay Hammer Bartley, Ben Jacobs, 
and Don Kuschel.  
  
Council Members absent: None. 
 
Department Heads in attendance: City Administrator David Todd, City Clerk Carol Kujath, Deputy 
Clerk Kayla Hall, Public Works Director Shane Loftus, and Fire Chief Mike Lyons. 
 
Department Heads absent: Finance Director Vicki Axley, Library Director Alice Henderson, and Police 
Chief Jason Timm. 
 
Guests in attendance: Spencer Larson, Bob Blanshan, Gail Keel, Seamus Johnston, Jae Gourley, Seth 
Jurrens, John Curtiss, and Richard Johnson.  

 
 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE –     
 

3. PUBLIC COMMENT –   

-Seamus Johnston – 35 2nd Ave SE –The Church has become concerned about gay, lesbian, and 
transgender people using the bathrooms at the church.  Believes the Church of Christ’s bathroom usage 
policy is silly and childish. Expressed appreciation to the Church of Christ for giving the city a civic space 
in a time of need and expressed appreciation to council members for thoughtfully considering whether this 
policy violates the human rights act.  Attended a schoolboard meeting and was impressed with their 
facility being comforting and there are other options for council. 

 
4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA – Motion by Luckstein, second by Kuschel to approve the agenda.  

Motion carried unanimously. 
 
5. APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA – Motion by Kuschel, second by Hammer Bartley to approve the 
Consent Agenda.  Motion carried unanimously. 

A. City Council Minutes – October 8, 2024, and October 10, 2024, Minutes. 
B. Bills 
C. Permits/Licenses/Donations 

A. Liquor License Renewals – 2024 – Walkes Enterprises Inc., K-J Bowling 
Enterprises Inc., William Allen American Legion, LeVan Norton Enterprises LLC., 
and Firehouse Beer, Wine, and Liquor 

D. Department Head Reports and Board Minutes 
E. LMCIT Tort Limit 
F. Street Closure for Old Fashioned Christmas 

 

6. UNFINISHED BUSINESS – None. 

7. NEW BUSINESS –  



 
A. Joe Barber Request –  

Plainview Resident Joe Barber came before council on July 31, 2024, with a request 
asking the city to contribute 50% to the repair of a drainage issue behind his home 
located at 285 3rd Ave SE, Plainview.  Barber provided an estimate for repairs in the 
amount of $16,350.00.  Prior to the August 6, 2024, City Council meeting, information 
provided by Public Works Director Shane Loftus, provided an option for Barber to 
connect to the city’s sub-drain in front of his house, thereby reducing the estimated 
cost of repair by half and Barber withdrew his request that the city contribute to the 
repair.  Mr. Barber returned with a new invoice in the amount of $26,750.00 and is 
requesting the Council provide reimbursement of up to 50% of the project cost to 
repair the drainage issues.  The new invoice is the result of unexpected costs inherent 
in the repair.  (see attached)  
The Council had a lengthy discussion, debating if this is legally the city’s 
responsibility.  Living in a town with a lot of houses with water issues, there was the 
concern if the Council granted this request does it open the city for more requests from 
residents for things that the city is not necessarily responsible for.  Mayor Luckstein 
had gone back through council minutes where this issue was discussed, had a building 
inspector inspect the property and was told the house was built too low.  Grading was 
done, but not in accordance with the city’s approved grading plan.   
Motion by Kuschel, second by Luckstein to approve a monetary contribution of 50% 
$11,095.00 for the drainage repair request. 
Aye: Kuschel 
Nay: Luckstein, Reeve, Jacobs, and Hammer Bartley 
Motion by Luckstein, second by Jacobs to approve a monetary contribution of 
approximately 40%, $8,875.00, for the drainage repair request. 
Aye: Luckstein, Reeve, Jacobs, and Kuschel 
Nay: Hammer Bartley 
Motion carried 4-1. 
 

B. SEMMCHRA – Patrick Michener –  
Patrick Michener with SEMMCHRA, who took over for Nick Koverman gave an 
update on the Small Cities Development Program survey and steps moving forward. 
On November 25th a prelamination application is due.  If the City’s application is 
competitive, in the spring of 2025 the city will approve it by resolution.  In the fall of 
2025, the city will find out if the city has been awarded the grant. (see attached)  
No motion made. 
 

C. Facility Use Agreement between the Church of Christ and the City of Plainview –  
The Church of Christ has recently adopted a new policy on bathroom use for patrons 
within the Church.  The City of Plainview leases space from the Church of Christ to 
hold regular city council meetings and other commission related meetings.  Because of 
the City’s use of the Church facility, and its affiliation with the Church by way of a 
lease agreement, staff reached out to the city attorney to analyze the legal framework 
and policy implications that the Church’s new policy would have on the city.  With the 
sensitivity of the situation, city staff requested direction from the City Council on how 
to proceed with the relationship with the Church by way of the lease agreement. 
Motion by Reeve, second by Hammer Bartley to discontinue the facility use agreement 
between the Church of Christ and City of Plainview, and direct staff to research 
alternative audio/video streaming equipment and/or find an alternative location that 
provides audio/video for the next council meeting. 
Aye: Reeve, Hammer Bartley, and Kuschel 
Nay: Luckstein and Jacobs 
Motion carried. 



 
 

 
D. Dump Site for Snow/Equipment to Push Up Snow for 2024-2025 –  

The request for bids was advertised for a dump site for the snow from the windrowed 
streets for the 2024-2025 snow season.  The bid was also for the equipment to push up 
the snow to ensure there is enough room for snow for the whole season.  Bennett & 
Sons was low bid at $3,100 for the dump site and $165 per hour for the equipment.   
Public Works Director Shane Loftus noted the money will come out of the Public 
Works Snow Budget. 
Motion by Luckstein, second by Kuschel to approve Bennett & Sons for the dump site 
and cost of equipment at $3,100 for the dump site and $165 per hour for the 
equipment. 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 

E. Snow Hauling for 2024-2025 –   
The State and Wabasha County pay the City of Plainview to remove snow on 
Broadway, 3rd St. SW, and 10th St. SW.  The city windrows most of those streets.  
The city also windrows the business district.  To ensure the windrow is removed in an 
efficient manner the City contracts the hauling of the snow.  A request for bids was 
advertised.  M&M Construction had the lowest bid at $130 per truck per hour. Public 
Works Director Shane Loftus noted the money will come out of the Public Works 
Snow Budget. 
Motion by Luckstein, second by Reeve to approve M&M Construction $130 per truck 
per hour for hauling snow for the 2024-2025 snow season. 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 

F. Sand for 2024-2025 –  
In preparation for winter, the request for bids was advertised on providing sand to mix 
with salt for the winter months.  Bennett & Sons was the lowest bid at $16.00 per yard.  
Public Works Director Shane Loftus noted the money will come out of the Public 
Works Snow Budget.   
Motion by Luckstein, second by Kuschel to approve Bennett & Sons at $16 per yard to 
supply the city with sand. 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 

G. Cannabis and Hemp Retail Regulation Administration Delegation to Wabasha 
County –  
At the October 10, 2024, Special City Council Meeting Council discussed the new 
cannabis regulation set to take effect January 1, 2025.  The city was approached by 
Wabasha County regarding allocating local control of retail cannabis and hemp related 
businesses to Wabasha County.  The Office of Cannabis Management (OCM) allows 
local jurisdictions of government to cede local control to counties and sets restrictions 
on cannabis and hemp related businesses (MN State Statute 342.13). The crux of the 
legislation allows at least one retail location for every 12,500 residents and the County 
intends to limit the number of retail locations to two county-wide based on these 
restrictions. Similarly, the County would act as the registration authority for 
submitting applications and satisfying all the caveats required for a successful 
submittal. Likewise, the County would be responsible for compliance checks for those 
businesses and all the code related compliance along with it (time, place, and manner 
restrictions as well as zoning compliance).  With the uncertainty of the legislation and 
the issues to be worked out through the Office of Cannabis Management, Council and 
staff believe Wabasha County is better suited to manage these duties in the near term.  
Council was open to addressing administrative control of cannabis and hemp related 



 
businesses in the future once the OCMs mandate and processes become clearer and 
legislation worked through to address any unforeseen consequences. It was noted that 
the City intended to establish local ordinances relating to time, place, and manner (use) 
restriction as well as zoning code regulation for cannabis and hemp related businesses 
and incorporate those into our city code.  
Motion by Jacobs second by Kuschel to approve Resolution 2024-18 delegating 
administrative control of cannabis and hemp related retail businesses to Wabasha 
County. 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
 

H. Canvass General Election Results –  
Minnesota State Statute(s) 206.87 and 204C.39 state that a municipal government must 
constitute a canvassing board and perform the duties as provided in section 204C.39 by 
canvassing the local election results; declare the results of the 2024 general election after 
inspection of the certified election results provided by the County’s abstract of results.  
The election results were as follows.  
Keith Holm won the position of Mayor with 1,348 votes. 
Holly Reeve won a 4-year term council seat with 1,188 votes, and 
Brandon Bauman won a 4-year term council seat with 650 votes. 
Motion by Luckstein, second by Hammer Bartley to approve and certify Resolution 
2024-19 of the local 2024 general election results as tabulated by Wabasha County. 
Roll call vote: 
Luckstein – aye 
Reeve – abstain 
Jacobs – aye 
Hammer Bartley – aye 
Kuschel – aye  
Motion carried 4-0-1. 

8. INFORMATION ONLY DOCUMENTS –  

- Joint Meeting with the City of Elgin on December 10, 2024, in Plainview, to appoint 
members to the Plainview Elgin Sanitary District Board.   

 

 

 

9. COUNCIL COMMENT –  

-Jacobs – Updated Council on the National Services Park. Nothing has moved forward, more 
discussion, getting the word out there, regarding fundraising for the park and cleaning up the 
verbiage on the memorandum of understanding. Is hopeful that it will be on the December 
meeting. 

-Luckstein – EDA update, Will Giesen is no longer with CEDA.  Meghan Gill is the interim 
CEDA representative for the city.  Carrie Eversman is continuing to manage the Plainview 
Business Center for the EDA.  Update on the REV, have had several meetings related to the 
daycare crisis and look for opportunities to make advancements. A “next steps” plan was 
presented to the residents. There are some monetary components in moving forward.  Received 



 
a grant from the Southern Minnesota Initive Foundation to put together an entrepreneur packet 
that will help entrepreneurs with start-up businesses.  Part of that is to go and meet with new 
businesses and find out what struggles they had when opened a new business in Plainview, and 
what would have helped them.  Then take that information and add it to the packet to help new 
entrepreneurs.  Thank you to those that reached out and took the survey and shared their 
concerns and viewpoints. 

-Reeve – LMC offered a free course for city leaders and staff regarding diversity, equity, and 
inclusion. It is a 21-day challenge, every day there are different videos to watch and articles to 
read on a different topic. It was a good course, learning new things and things to think about. 

10. ADJOURN – 

Motion by Luckstein, second by Jacobs to adjourn the Plainview City Council Special meeting.                                                                                                                                                
Motion carried unanimously. The meeting adjourned at 7:22 p.m.                               

        ____________________________    ______________________________ 

   Aaron Luckstein, Mayor     Carol Kujath, City Clerk 





Plainview - Small Cities Development Program, Mailed Survey Data

Responses
Total Responses Total Sent Response Rate

338 1042 32.44%

Interested
Yes No
277 59 Prepared By: Patrick Michener, Grant Writer

Phone: (651)565-2638 x 213
Disbability Email: pmichener@semmchra.org

Yes No
25 311

Ages/Family Size
0-6 7-17 19-39 40-59 60+ Total Average Size 
62 190 174 188 234 848 2.53

Building Conditions
Roof Foundation Siding Ceiling Walls Flooring Paint

Good 274 204 200 205 219 166 185
Fair 49 87 87 113 94 123 120

Poor 15 46 50 17 20 44 27
Rank 13.5 4 3 12 10.5 5 7

Electrical Plumbing Heating Insulation Windows Furnace Water Heater Total
Good 201 212 221 135 113 205 244 1453 62.0%

Fair 104 103 93 137 126 96 76 673 28.7%
Poor 22 20 23 61 96 33 15 219 9.3%
Rank 9 10.5 8 2 1 6 13.5

Income
$0-55,250 $55,251-63,150 $63,151-71,050 $71,051-75,700 $75,701-78,900 $78,901-85,250 $85,251-91,550 $91,551-97,850 $97,850+

79 49 19 16 11 21 19 13 103

Income Qualified
Yes No
126 204

Income Qualified and Interested
110

Interested, but not Income Qualified
162

Not Interested, but Income Qualified
15



7.B. Bills | Page 1 of 1 

 

Executive Summary 
City Council Regular Meeting:  December 10, 2024 
 

AGENDA ITEM:     Bills AGENDA SECTION:  
Consent 

PREPARED BY: Vicki Axley AGENDA NO.   7.B. 

ATTACHMENTS:  Bills Report APPROVED BY:  dt 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:  Motion to approve payment of all bills listed in 
attached report. 

 

 



CITY OF PLAINVIEW Invoice Register - Council Packet Page:     1

Input Dates: 11/8/2024 - 12/4/2024 Dec 04, 2024  02:58PM

Report Criteria:

[Report].GL Account = {<>} "10121709"

Input Date Invoice Seq Type Description Invoice Date Due Date Total Cost GL Account

106742 ADVANCED ELECTRONIC DESIGN, INC.

11/25/2024 8278499 1 Invoice SQUAD ACCESSORIES/PD 11/08/2024 11/26/2024 276.78 101-42100-221

11/25/2024 8278500 1 Invoice SQUAD ACCESSORIES/PD 11/08/2024 11/26/2024 219.02 101-42100-221

          Total 106742 ADVANCED ELECTRONIC DESIGN, INC.: 495.80

106617 AT&T MOBILITY

11/13/2024 2872918546 1 Invoice PHONES POLICE 10/25/2024 11/14/2024 685.44 101-42100-321

12/03/2024 2872969810 1 Invoice PHONES FIRE DEPT 11/11/2024 12/03/2024 76.46 101-42200-321

          Total 106617 AT&T MOBILITY: 761.90

106440 AXLEY, VICKI

11/27/2024 NOV. 27, 202 1 Invoice UNIFORM ALLOWANCE REIMBURSEMENT 11/27/2024 11/27/2024 163.99 101-41500-417

          Total 106440 AXLEY, VICKI: 163.99

104716 BAKER & TAYLOR

11/20/2024 L2300462 N 1 Invoice BOOKS/LIBRARY 10/31/2024 11/20/2024 1,721.87 211-45500-592

          Total 104716 BAKER & TAYLOR: 1,721.87

154 BENNETT'S FOOD CENTER

12/03/2024 00395610 1 Invoice BEVERAGES & SNACKS FOR ELECTIONS 11/04/2024 12/04/2024 72.57 101-41410-437

11/21/2024 00899104 1 Invoice RETURN SNACKS/POOL 08/31/2024 11/22/2024 237.60- 225-45128-259

12/03/2024 00924288 1 Invoice MEALS FOR ELECTION 11/09/2024 12/04/2024 413.02 101-41410-437

          Total 154 BENNETT'S FOOD CENTER: 247.99

106463 BOLTON & MENK, INC.

11/14/2024 0349122 1 Invoice 2023 STREET PROJECT 10/31/2024 11/14/2024 12,816.00 418-48000-303

11/14/2024 0349146 1 Invoice GENERAL ENGINEERING 10/31/2024 11/14/2024 1,755.00 101-41500-303

11/19/2024 0349154 1 Invoice 2024 TRAIL IMPROVEMENTS 10/31/2024 11/20/2024 531.50 101-43100-303

11/19/2024 0349156 1 Invoice 2024 WETLAND DELINEATION 10/31/2024 11/20/2024 1,456.00 101-43100-303

11/14/2024 0349160 1 Invoice 3RD AVE NE WATERMAIN RELOCATION 10/31/2024 11/14/2024 2,816.50 601-49400-303

11/14/2024 0349167 1 Invoice ORCHARD HILLS 8TH 10/31/2024 11/14/2024 206.00 101-41500-303

11/14/2024 0349168 1 Invoice WATER SYSTEM FEASIBILITY STUDY 10/31/2024 11/14/2024 206.00 601-49400-303

          Total 106463 BOLTON & MENK, INC.: 19,787.00

106219 BRAUN, DAVID

12/04/2024 463703 1 Invoice SUPPLIES/PARKS 11/05/2024 12/04/2024 5.00 225-45200-223

          Total 106219 BRAUN, DAVID: 5.00

106288 BUCK, CURTIS

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 1 Invoice ELECTION JUDGE 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 91.00 101-41410-103

          Total 106288 BUCK, CURTIS: 91.00

106292 BUCK, SUSAN

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 1 Invoice ELECTION JUDGE 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 91.00 101-41410-103

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 2 Invoice HEALTHCARE ELECTION JUDGE 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 19.50 101-41410-103



CITY OF PLAINVIEW Invoice Register - Council Packet Page:     2

Input Dates: 11/8/2024 - 12/4/2024 Dec 04, 2024  02:58PM

Input Date Invoice Seq Type Description Invoice Date Due Date Total Cost GL Account

          Total 106292 BUCK, SUSAN: 110.50

106834 CANON FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC.

11/20/2024 36201438 1 Invoice COPIER/LIBRARY 11/11/2024 11/20/2024 66.80 211-45500-401

          Total 106834 CANON FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC.: 66.80

106997 CARRIE EVERSMAN LLC

11/19/2024 DEC 24 1 Invoice PROPERTY MANAGEMENT-EDA BUILDING 11/19/2024 11/20/2024 300.00 101-46500-401

          Total 106997 CARRIE EVERSMAN LLC: 300.00

106291 CARROLL, LINDA

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 1 Invoice ELECTION JUDGE 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 100.75 101-41410-103

          Total 106291 CARROLL, LINDA: 100.75

106449 CINTAS CORPORATION

11/19/2024 4206842146 1 Invoice MATS & SCRAPER/PW 10/01/2024 11/19/2024 50.00 101-43100-310

11/19/2024 4207520018 1 Invoice MATS & SCRAPER/PW 10/08/2024 11/19/2024 50.00 101-43100-310

11/19/2024 4208260086 1 Invoice MOPS&TOWELS/CITYHALL 10/15/2024 11/19/2024 50.00 101-41500-310

11/19/2024 4208260574 1 Invoice MATS & SCRAPER/PW 10/15/2024 11/19/2024 50.00 101-43100-310

11/19/2024 4208962855 1 Invoice MATS & SCRAPER/PW 10/22/2024 11/19/2024 50.00 101-43100-310

11/19/2024 4209691837 1 Invoice MATS & SCRAPER/PW 10/29/2024 11/19/2024 50.00 101-43100-310

12/03/2024 4210429964 1 Invoice MATS & SCRAPER/PW 11/05/2024 12/04/2024 50.00 101-43100-310

12/03/2024 4211159341 1 Invoice MOPS&TOWELS/CITYHALL 11/12/2024 12/04/2024 50.00 101-41500-310

12/03/2024 4211159872 1 Invoice MATS & SCRAPER/PW 11/12/2024 12/04/2024 50.00 101-43100-310

12/03/2024 4211931730 1 Invoice MATS & SCRAPER/PW 11/19/2024 12/04/2024 50.00 101-43100-310

12/03/2024 4212590754 1 Invoice MATS & SCRAPER/PW 11/25/2024 12/04/2024 50.00 101-43100-310

          Total 106449 CINTAS CORPORATION: 550.00

106712 CURTISS, JOHN

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 1 Invoice ELECTION JUDGE 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 97.50 101-41410-103

          Total 106712 CURTISS, JOHN: 97.50

105876 CURTISS, MEG

11/20/2024 10/24/2024 1 Invoice MILEAGE TO SCHMITT MUSIC 10/24/2024 11/20/2024 33.50 211-45500-331

12/04/2024 12/3/2024 1 Invoice MILEAGE TO SELCO 12/03/2024 12/04/2024 33.50 211-45500-331

11/20/2024 8/15/24 1 Invoice MILEAGE TO SCHMITT MUSIC 08/15/2024 11/20/2024 33.50 211-45500-331

          Total 105876 CURTISS, MEG: 100.50

106428 DATA SMART COMPUTERS INC.

11/20/2024 88848 1 Invoice DATTO BACKUP/ADMIN 11/01/2024 11/20/2024 149.00 101-41500-309

11/20/2024 88849 1 Invoice SENTINELONE SECURITY/ADMIN 11/01/2024 11/20/2024 212.50 101-41500-309

11/20/2024 88850 1 Invoice MONTHLY CLOUD BACKUP 11/01/2024 11/20/2024 14.00 101-41500-309

11/20/2024 88851 1 Invoice SENTINELONE SECURITY/FIRE DEPT 11/01/2024 11/20/2024 17.00 101-42200-309

11/20/2024 89075 1 Invoice IT SUPPORT/PW 11/01/2024 11/20/2024 72.50 101-41500-310

11/20/2024 89146 1 Invoice ADMIN-IT SERVICES 11/12/2024 11/20/2024 145.00 101-41500-310

11/25/2024 89227 1 Invoice MICROSOFT MONTHLY LICENSE 11/22/2024 11/26/2024 220.80 101-41500-309

          Total 106428 DATA SMART COMPUTERS INC.: 830.80

105564 DEARBORN LIFE INS CO.

11/18/2024 DECEMBER  1 Invoice EMPLOYEE INS. 11/13/2024 11/18/2024 178.75 101-41500-131



CITY OF PLAINVIEW Invoice Register - Council Packet Page:     3

Input Dates: 11/8/2024 - 12/4/2024 Dec 04, 2024  02:58PM

Input Date Invoice Seq Type Description Invoice Date Due Date Total Cost GL Account

11/18/2024 DECEMBER  2 Invoice EMPLOYEE INS. 11/13/2024 11/18/2024 373.88 101-42100-131

11/18/2024 DECEMBER  3 Invoice EMPLOYEE INS. 11/13/2024 11/18/2024 88.01 101-43100-131

11/18/2024 DECEMBER  4 Invoice EMPLOYEE INS. 11/13/2024 11/18/2024 81.83 211-45500-131

11/18/2024 DECEMBER  5 Invoice EMPLOYEE INS. 11/13/2024 11/18/2024 31.38 225-45200-131

11/18/2024 DECEMBER  6 Invoice EMPLOYEE INS. 11/13/2024 11/18/2024 36.27 601-49400-131

11/18/2024 DECEMBER  7 Invoice EMPLOYEE INS. 11/13/2024 11/18/2024 36.76 602-49450-131

          Total 105564 DEARBORN LIFE INS CO.: 826.88

105650 DEMING, MARY

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 1 Invoice ELECTION JUDGE 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 191.75 101-41410-103

          Total 105650 DEMING, MARY: 191.75

74 EBSCO

11/20/2024 1730157 1 Invoice MAGAZINES/LIBRARY 11/01/2024 11/20/2024 321.01 211-45500-592

          Total 74 EBSCO: 321.01

498 EMERGENCY APPARATUS MAINTENANC

11/20/2024 133960 1 Invoice ENGINE F72 OFFICER SIDE LDH LEAKS VAC 11/05/2024 11/20/2024 1,147.22 245-42200-221

          Total 498 EMERGENCY APPARATUS MAINTENANC: 1,147.22

106714 ERWIN, PEGGY

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 1 Invoice ELECTION JUDGE 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 191.75 101-41410-103

          Total 106714 ERWIN, PEGGY: 191.75

280 ERWIN, STEVEN L,

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 1 Invoice ELECTION JUDGE 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 188.50 101-41410-103

          Total 280 ERWIN, STEVEN L,: 188.50

105806 FLAHERTY & HOOD, P.A.

11/14/2024 22129 1 Invoice OCTOBER LABOR LEGAL FEES 11/04/2024 11/14/2024 3,865.50 101-41500-304

11/14/2024 22161 1 Invoice OCTOBER GENERAL LEGAL FEES 11/04/2024 11/14/2024 3,572.50 101-41500-304

          Total 105806 FLAHERTY & HOOD, P.A.: 7,438.00

105654 GELNER, CHAD

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 1 Invoice ELECTION JUDGE 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 191.75 101-41410-103

          Total 105654 GELNER, CHAD: 191.75

104 GOPHER STATE ONE CALL

12/03/2024 4110691 1 Invoice LOCATES/WATER 11/30/2024 12/04/2024 17.55 601-49400-310

12/03/2024 4110691 2 Invoice LOCATES/SEWER 11/30/2024 12/04/2024 17.55 602-49450-310

          Total 104 GOPHER STATE ONE CALL: 35.10

106564 HAWKINS, INC.

12/04/2024 6928878 1 Invoice Water Supplies 12/03/2024 12/04/2024 882.02 601-49400-217

          Total 106564 HAWKINS, INC.: 882.02

105808 HBC, INC.

11/14/2024 105099 NOV 1 Invoice PHONE&INTERNET/FIRE DEPT. 11/02/2024 11/14/2024 196.38 101-42200-321



CITY OF PLAINVIEW Invoice Register - Council Packet Page:     4

Input Dates: 11/8/2024 - 12/4/2024 Dec 04, 2024  02:58PM

Input Date Invoice Seq Type Description Invoice Date Due Date Total Cost GL Account

11/14/2024 1277099 NO 1 Invoice PHONE & INTERNET/POOL 11/02/2024 11/14/2024 150.15 225-45128-321

11/20/2024 71466 NOV.  1 Invoice PHONE&INTERN/LIBRARY 11/02/2024 11/20/2024 56.03 211-45500-321

11/14/2024 78487 NOVE 1 Invoice PHONE INTERNET/ADMIN 11/02/2024 11/14/2024 477.98 101-41500-321

11/14/2024 78487 NOVE 2 Invoice PHONE INTERNET/POLICE 11/02/2024 11/14/2024 353.53 101-42100-321

11/14/2024 78487 NOVE 3 Invoice PHONE INTERNET/PUBLIC WORKS 11/02/2024 11/14/2024 317.07 101-43100-321

          Total 105808 HBC, INC.: 1,551.14

104372 HENDERSON, ALICE

12/04/2024 IDENTOGO 1 1 Invoice BACKGROUND CHECK/LIBRARY 11/26/2024 12/04/2024 10.50 211-45500-310

          Total 104372 HENDERSON, ALICE: 10.50

105970 HG ELECTRIC, LLC

12/03/2024 C1253 1 Invoice INSTALL NEW HEATER AT WELL HOUSE 11/25/2024 12/04/2024 1,579.00 601-49400-223

          Total 105970 HG ELECTRIC, LLC: 1,579.00

116 HIGH PLAINS

11/21/2024 1383 1 Invoice FUEL/PARKS 10/25/2024 11/21/2024 75.41 225-45200-212

11/21/2024 1864 1 Invoice FUEL/RURAL FIRE DEPT 10/29/2024 11/21/2024 69.49 245-42200-212

11/21/2024 226367 1 Invoice FUEL/FIRE DEPT 10/11/2024 11/21/2024 55.64 101-42200-212

11/21/2024 227839 1 Invoice FUEL/RURAL FIRE DEPT 10/24/2024 11/21/2024 61.46 245-42200-212

11/21/2024 228000 1 Invoice FUEL/RURAL FIRE DEPT 10/29/2024 11/21/2024 62.72 245-42200-212

11/21/2024 3176 1 Invoice FUEL/PARKS 10/24/2024 11/21/2024 25.23 225-45200-212

11/21/2024 4922 1 Invoice FUEL/PW 10/29/2024 11/21/2024 91.01 101-43100-212

11/21/2024 4978 1 Invoice FUEL/PARKS 10/29/2024 11/21/2024 31.66 225-45200-212

11/21/2024 7888 1 Invoice FUEL/PW 10/03/2024 11/21/2024 62.25 101-43100-212

11/21/2024 9080 1 Invoice FUEL/PW 10/10/2024 11/21/2024 96.77 101-43100-212

11/21/2024 988 1 Invoice FUEL/PW 10/17/2024 11/21/2024 95.23 101-43100-212

          Total 116 HIGH PLAINS: 726.87

106715 HOLDERBECKER, PAT

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 1 Invoice ELECTION JUDGE 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 97.50 101-41410-103

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 2 Invoice MILEAGE GENERAL ELECTION 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 24.12 101-41410-331

          Total 106715 HOLDERBECKER, PAT: 121.62

348 JOHN DEERE FINANCIAL

11/25/2024 IP49387 1 Invoice MN AG GROUP-GREASE POLY/PW 11/20/2024 11/26/2024 51.00 101-43100-221

          Total 348 JOHN DEERE FINANCIAL: 51.00

527 JT VARIETY

11/20/2024 11/15/2024 1 Invoice SUPPLIES/LIBRARY 11/15/2024 11/20/2024 4.98 211-45500-217

          Total 527 JT VARIETY: 4.98

106717 JURGENSON, JULIE

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 1 Invoice ELECTION JUDGE 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 188.50 101-41410-103

          Total 106717 JURGENSON, JULIE: 188.50

106874 JURRENS, ANNIE

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 1 Invoice ELECTION JUDGE TRAINING 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 26.00 101-41410-103

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 2 Invoice ELECTION JUDGE 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 97.50 101-41410-103



CITY OF PLAINVIEW Invoice Register - Council Packet Page:     5

Input Dates: 11/8/2024 - 12/4/2024 Dec 04, 2024  02:58PM

Input Date Invoice Seq Type Description Invoice Date Due Date Total Cost GL Account

          Total 106874 JURRENS, ANNIE: 123.50

106520 KENNY SYLVESTER CONSTRUCTION

11/19/2024 OCT 11 - NO 1 Invoice CLEANING CITY HALL/COUNCIL 11/13/2024 11/20/2024 600.00 101-41110-401

11/19/2024 OCT 11 - NO 2 Invoice CLEANING CITY HALL/ADMIN 11/13/2024 11/20/2024 600.00 101-41500-401

          Total 106520 KENNY SYLVESTER CONSTRUCTION: 1,200.00

141 KREOFSKY BUILDING SUPPLIES

11/19/2024 2410-895657 1 Invoice CABLE TIES, PLIERS/FIRE DEPT 10/03/2024 11/19/2024 10.98 101-42200-217

11/19/2024 2410-895904 1 Invoice KNIFE/PW 10/04/2024 11/19/2024 11.98 101-43100-217

11/19/2024 2410-896659 1 Invoice FLUSH LEVER/LIBRARY 10/08/2024 11/19/2024 4.99 211-45500-223

11/19/2024 2410-896703 1 Invoice KWIK SEAL CARTRIDGE, CAULK KIT, COMM 10/08/2024 11/19/2024 160.52 225-45200-223

11/19/2024 2410-897535 1 Invoice PLUGS/PW 10/10/2024 11/19/2024 3.98 101-43100-217

11/19/2024 2410-897673 1 Invoice KWIK SEAL CARTRIDGE/POOL 10/10/2024 11/19/2024 107.88 225-45128-223

11/20/2024 2410-897711 1 Invoice BELT, PVC/PW 10/10/2024 11/20/2024 8.34 101-43100-217

11/19/2024 2410-900541 1 Invoice CUTOFF WHEEL/PW 10/21/2024 11/19/2024 41.90 101-43100-217

11/19/2024 2410-901846 1 Invoice TAPE, BRUSH, BLACK SPRAY PAINT/PD 10/25/2024 11/19/2024 31.97 101-42100-418

12/03/2024 2411-904050 1 Invoice BATTERIES/PW 11/01/2024 12/04/2024 9.99 101-43100-217

12/03/2024 2411-904996 1 Invoice MISC FASTENERS, SCREWS/PARKS 11/05/2024 12/04/2024 6.07 225-45200-217

12/03/2024 2411-905513 1 Invoice LED BULBS/ADMIN 11/07/2024 12/04/2024 32.47 101-41500-223

12/03/2024 2411-907087 1 Invoice CONNECTOR, TEFLON TAPE/PW 11/12/2024 12/03/2024 7.98 101-43100-217

12/03/2024 2411-908690 1 Invoice STEEL ROD/PW 11/18/2024 12/04/2024 3.39 101-43100-217

12/03/2024 2411-909443 1 Invoice KNIFE/PW 11/20/2024 12/04/2024 7.99 101-43100-217

12/03/2024 2411-910240 1 Invoice BATTERIES/WATER 11/22/2024 12/04/2024 9.99 601-49400-217

12/03/2024 2411-910240 2 Invoice BATTERIES/SEWER 11/22/2024 12/04/2024 10.00 602-49450-217

12/03/2024 2411-910882 1 Invoice TREE/PD 11/25/2024 12/04/2024 40.00 101-42100-437

          Total 141 KREOFSKY BUILDING SUPPLIES: 510.42

106730 KUJATH, CAROL

11/20/2024 10/30/24 MIL 1 Invoice MILEAGE TO WABASHA X2-HEALTHCARE V 10/30/2024 11/20/2024 53.60 101-41410-331

11/20/2024 10/31/24 MIL 1 Invoice MILEAGE TO WABASHA-SUPPLIES & MACHI 10/31/2024 11/20/2024 26.80 101-41410-331

11/20/2024 11/3/24 MILE 1 Invoice MILEAGE TO ROCHESTER-ELECTION FOOD  11/03/2024 11/20/2024 34.97 101-41410-331

11/20/2024 11/5/24 MILE 1 Invoice MILEAGE TO WABASHA-ELECTION DAY 11/05/2024 11/20/2024 26.80 101-41410-331

          Total 106730 KUJATH, CAROL: 142.17

106329 LAKE CITY RECYCLING & DISPOSAL

11/19/2024 119477 1 Invoice CITY CLEAN UP-FALL 10/23/2024 11/20/2024 1,291.20 101-41110-440

          Total 106329 LAKE CITY RECYCLING & DISPOSAL: 1,291.20

106718 LANGE, KIMBERLY

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 1 Invoice ELECTION JUDGE TRAINING 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 26.00 101-41410-103

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 2 Invoice ELECTION JUDGE 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 97.50 101-41410-103

          Total 106718 LANGE, KIMBERLY: 123.50

106197 LEXIPOL LLC

12/03/2024 INVLEX1124 1 Invoice LAW ENFORCE POLICY/POLICE 12/01/2024 12/04/2024 4,399.60 101-42100-310

          Total 106197 LEXIPOL LLC: 4,399.60

106720 LOFFLER COMPANIES INC.

11/13/2024 37834119 1 Invoice ADMIN COPIER LEASE 11/06/2024 11/14/2024 161.22 101-41500-401

11/20/2024 4849310 1 Invoice COPIES/LIBRARY 11/01/2024 11/20/2024 28.28 211-45500-401



CITY OF PLAINVIEW Invoice Register - Council Packet Page:     6

Input Dates: 11/8/2024 - 12/4/2024 Dec 04, 2024  02:58PM

Input Date Invoice Seq Type Description Invoice Date Due Date Total Cost GL Account

12/04/2024 4876047 1 Invoice COPIER CHARGES/ADMIN 12/02/2024 12/04/2024 77.98 101-41500-401

          Total 106720 LOFFLER COMPANIES INC.: 267.48

160 LYONS OIL MINI MART

11/13/2024 10/31/24 STA 1 Invoice CREDIT/DISCOUNT OCTOBER 2024 10/31/2024 11/14/2024 4.14- 225-45200-212

11/13/2024 10/31/24 STA 2 Invoice CREDIT/DISCOUNT OCTOBER 2024 10/31/2024 11/14/2024 9.27- 101-43100-212

11/19/2024 5130715 1 Invoice CAR WASHES/PD 10/31/2024 11/20/2024 96.57 101-42100-221

11/13/2024 5130828 1 Invoice FUEL/PARKS 10/10/2024 11/14/2024 45.22 225-45200-212

11/13/2024 5130859 1 Invoice FUEL/PARKS 10/11/2024 11/14/2024 6.44 225-45200-212

11/13/2024 5131373 1 Invoice FUEL/PARKS 10/01/2024 11/14/2024 62.01 225-45200-212

11/13/2024 5630716 1 Invoice FUEL/PW 10/03/2024 11/14/2024 72.84 101-43100-212

11/13/2024 5630741 1 Invoice FUEL/PARKS 10/04/2024 11/14/2024 21.11 225-45200-212

11/13/2024 5630794 1 Invoice FUEL/PARKS 10/08/2024 11/14/2024 3.34 225-45200-212

11/13/2024 5630927 1 Invoice FUEL/PARKS 10/28/2024 11/14/2024 76.85 225-45200-212

11/13/2024 5630928 1 Invoice FUEL/PW 10/28/2024 11/14/2024 55.08 101-43100-212

11/13/2024 5630937 1 Invoice FUEL/PW 10/29/2024 11/14/2024 89.11 101-43100-212

11/13/2024 5630941 1 Invoice FUEL/PW 10/29/2024 11/14/2024 81.63 101-43100-212

11/13/2024 5630950 1 Invoice FUEL/PW 10/29/2024 11/14/2024 56.43 101-43100-212

11/13/2024 5630960 1 Invoice FUEL/PARKS 10/30/2024 11/14/2024 8.21 225-45200-212

11/13/2024 5631143 1 Invoice FUEL/PW 10/23/2024 11/14/2024 96.05 101-43100-212

11/13/2024 5631147 1 Invoice FUEL/PARKS 10/23/2024 11/14/2024 37.68 225-45200-212

11/13/2024 5631184 1 Invoice FUEL/PARKS 10/25/2024 11/14/2024 17.93 225-45200-212

11/13/2024 5631315 1 Invoice FUEL/PW 10/15/2024 11/14/2024 68.95 101-43100-212

11/13/2024 5631362 1 Invoice FUEL/PW 10/17/2024 11/14/2024 64.24 101-43100-212

          Total 160 LYONS OIL MINI MART: 946.28

106289 LYONS, JEAN

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 1 Invoice ELECTION JUDGE 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 91.00 101-41410-103

          Total 106289 LYONS, JEAN: 91.00

106711 MARKING, CHERIE

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 1 Invoice ELECTION JUDGE 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 91.00 101-41410-103

          Total 106711 MARKING, CHERIE: 91.00

105851 MARSHIK, JAN

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 1 Invoice ELECTION JUDGE TRAINING 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 26.00 101-41410-103

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 2 Invoice ELECTION JUDGE 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 91.00 101-41410-103

          Total 105851 MARSHIK, JAN: 117.00

107032 MARTIN, JESSE

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 1 Invoice ELECTION JUDGE TRAINING 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 26.00 101-41410-103

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 2 Invoice ELECTION JUDGE 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 91.00 101-41410-103

          Total 107032 MARTIN, JESSE: 117.00

106592 MCKELLIPS, JORDAN

11/20/2024 64166350 1 Invoice MIDWAY USA-FIREARMS PARTS, TOOLS/PD 11/05/2024 11/20/2024 215.08 101-42100-418

          Total 106592 MCKELLIPS, JORDAN: 215.08

105998 METERING & TECHNOLOGY SOLUTION

11/19/2024 6623 1 Invoice 2" METER/WATER 11/12/2024 11/20/2024 2,424.00 601-49400-550



CITY OF PLAINVIEW Invoice Register - Council Packet Page:     7

Input Dates: 11/8/2024 - 12/4/2024 Dec 04, 2024  02:58PM

Input Date Invoice Seq Type Description Invoice Date Due Date Total Cost GL Account

          Total 105998 METERING & TECHNOLOGY SOLUTION: 2,424.00

175 MICHAEL'S TIRE & AUTO

11/20/2024 138786 1 Invoice 211 OIL CHANGE, WASHER FLUID/PD 10/07/2024 11/20/2024 62.80 101-42100-221

11/20/2024 138854 1 Invoice 231 OIL CHANGE, WASHER FLUID/PD 10/16/2024 11/20/2024 62.30 101-42100-221

          Total 175 MICHAEL'S TIRE & AUTO: 125.10

106719 MIDWEST TAPE

11/20/2024 2000018848  1 Invoice MOVIES/LIBRARY 10/31/2024 11/20/2024 292.59 211-45500-592

          Total 106719 MIDWEST TAPE: 292.59

104410 MN DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH

11/19/2024 2025 POOL L 1 Invoice 2025 POOL LICENSE 11/14/2024 11/20/2024 670.00 225-45128-433

11/20/2024 4TH QTR 20 1 Invoice 4TH QTR WATER CONNECT FEES 11/18/2024 11/20/2024 3,146.00 601-49400-310

          Total 104410 MN DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH: 3,816.00

223 MN ENERGY RESOURCES CORP.

11/14/2024 0502616026  1 Invoice GAS UTILITY/POOL 10/30/2024 11/14/2024 48.32 225-45128-383

11/14/2024 0503043614  1 Invoice GAS UTILITY/SEWER 10/29/2024 11/14/2024 24.67 602-49450-383

11/14/2024 0503078391  1 Invoice GAS UTILITY/FIRE HALL 10/29/2024 11/14/2024 50.40 101-42200-383

11/14/2024 0503494971  1 Invoice GAS UTILITY/ICE RINK 11/05/2024 11/14/2024 19.86 225-45127-383

11/14/2024 0505377887  1 Invoice GAS UTILITY/COUNCIL 10/29/2024 11/14/2024 29.27 101-41110-383

11/14/2024 0505377887  2 Invoice GAS UTILITY/ADMIN 10/29/2024 11/14/2024 29.26 101-41500-383

11/14/2024 0505377887  3 Invoice GAS UTILITY/PD 10/29/2024 11/14/2024 29.26 101-42100-383

11/14/2024 0506816622  1 Invoice GAS UTILITY/SEWER 10/31/2024 11/14/2024 16.73 602-49450-383

11/14/2024 0506912263  1 Invoice GAS UTILITY/PW 10/30/2024 11/14/2024 63.44 101-43100-383

11/14/2024 0506912263- 1 Invoice GAS UTILITY/WELL #2 GENERATOR 10/31/2024 11/14/2024 35.97 601-49400-383

11/20/2024 507609025 N 1 Invoice GAS UTILITY/LIBRARY 10/29/2024 11/20/2024 64.17 211-45500-383

          Total 223 MN ENERGY RESOURCES CORP.: 411.35

106508 MOECHING, JOYCE

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 1 Invoice ELECTION JUDGE TRAINING 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 26.00 101-41410-103

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 2 Invoice ELECTION JUDGE 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 97.50 101-41410-103

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 3 Invoice MILEAGE ELECTIONS 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 33.50 101-41410-331

          Total 106508 MOECHING, JOYCE: 157.00

106896 MORATH, JEANNETTE

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 1 Invoice ELECTION JUDGE TRAINING 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 26.00 101-41410-103

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 2 Invoice ELECTION JUDGE 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 91.00 101-41410-103

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 3 Invoice MILEAGE-ELECTIONS 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 3.35 101-41410-331

          Total 106896 MORATH, JEANNETTE: 120.35

106895 MORATH, MICHAEL

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 1 Invoice ELECTION JUDGE 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 91.00 101-41410-103

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 2 Invoice MILEAGE-ELECTIONS 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 3.35 101-41410-331

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 3 Invoice ELECTION JUDGE TRAINING 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 26.00 101-41410-103

          Total 106895 MORATH, MICHAEL: 120.35

105563 MPPOA

11/27/2024 2025 1 Invoice MEMBERSHIP/POLICE 11/26/2024 11/27/2024 70.00 101-42100-433



CITY OF PLAINVIEW Invoice Register - Council Packet Page:     8

Input Dates: 11/8/2024 - 12/4/2024 Dec 04, 2024  02:58PM

Input Date Invoice Seq Type Description Invoice Date Due Date Total Cost GL Account

          Total 105563 MPPOA: 70.00

105590 MPPOA LDF

11/27/2024 2025 1 Invoice LDF DUES/POLICE 11/26/2024 11/27/2024 200.00 101-42100-433

          Total 105590 MPPOA LDF: 200.00

201 OLMSTED COUNTY PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICES

11/19/2024 878 1 Invoice WATER FEES 11/12/2024 11/20/2024 270.00 601-49400-310

          Total 201 OLMSTED COUNTY PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICES: 270.00

106085 ON-SITE COMPUTERS, INC.

11/19/2024 CW96360 1 Invoice REMOTE SUPPORT-NEW DESKTOP/PD 10/29/2024 11/19/2024 185.15 101-42100-310

11/19/2024 CW96394 1 Invoice MICROSOFT 365 BUSINESS AGREEMENT/P 11/01/2024 11/19/2024 98.00 101-42100-310

11/19/2024 CW96477 1 Invoice CLOUD BACKUP, HUNTRESS, ACRONIS/PD 11/01/2024 11/19/2024 192.80 101-42100-310

11/19/2024 CW96820 1 Invoice REMOTE SUPPORT-A. FERGUSON EMAIL/P 10/31/2024 11/19/2024 124.00 101-42100-310

          Total 106085 ON-SITE COMPUTERS, INC.: 599.95

106037 PAUL'S LOCK & KEY

11/20/2024 098657 1 Invoice KEYS, LABOR/PW 11/15/2024 11/20/2024 487.00 101-43100-223

          Total 106037 PAUL'S LOCK & KEY: 487.00

106161 PEOPLE'S ENERGY COOPERATIVE

11/14/2024 2643900 NO 1 Invoice ELEC WELL #3 11/05/2024 11/14/2024 306.00 601-49400-381

11/14/2024 2647400 NO 1 Invoice ELEC SKATING RINK 11/05/2024 11/14/2024 99.00 225-45127-381

11/14/2024 2658900 NO 1 Invoice ELEC POOL 11/05/2024 11/14/2024 224.00 225-45128-381

11/14/2024 2706100 NO 1 Invoice ELEC NE LIFT STATION 11/05/2024 11/14/2024 172.00 602-49450-381

11/14/2024 2709900 NO 1 Invoice ELEC WEST BROADWAY 11/05/2024 11/14/2024 11.00 101-42500-381

11/14/2024 2714900 NO 1 Invoice ELEC STREET LIGHTS 11/05/2024 11/14/2024 3,160.00 101-43100-381

11/14/2024 2738000 NO 1 Invoice ELEC WELL #2 11/05/2024 11/14/2024 2,388.00 601-49400-381

11/14/2024 2739100 NO 1 Invoice ELEC PW BUILDING 11/05/2024 11/14/2024 330.00 101-43100-381

11/14/2024 2747700 NO 1 Invoice ELEC SW SIREN 11/05/2024 11/14/2024 80.00 101-42500-381

11/14/2024 2764400 NO 1 Invoice ELEC NW LIFT STATION 11/05/2024 11/14/2024 396.00 602-49450-381

11/14/2024 2767800 NO 1 Invoice ELEC CEMETERY FLAG LIGHT 11/05/2024 11/14/2024 65.00 235-49010-381

11/20/2024 2777600 NO 1 Invoice ELEC LIBRARY 11/05/2024 11/20/2024 235.00 211-45500-381

11/14/2024 3036800 NO 1 Invoice ELEC FIRE HALL 11/05/2024 11/14/2024 188.00 101-42200-381

11/14/2024 3038100 NO 1 Invoice ELEC CITY HALL/COUNCIL 11/05/2024 11/14/2024 124.34 101-41110-381

11/14/2024 3038100 NO 2 Invoice ELEC CITY HALL/ADMIN 11/05/2024 11/14/2024 124.33 101-41500-381

11/14/2024 3038100 NO 3 Invoice ELEC CITY HALL/PD 11/05/2024 11/14/2024 124.33 101-42100-381

11/14/2024 3041300 NO 1 Invoice ELEC WEDGEWOOD PARK 11/05/2024 11/14/2024 107.00 225-45200-381

11/14/2024 3042300 NO 1 Invoice ELEC WATER TOWER 11/05/2024 11/14/2024 279.00 601-49400-381

11/14/2024 3043900 NO 1 Invoice ELEC BIKE TRAIL 11/05/2024 11/14/2024 74.00 225-45200-381

11/14/2024 3274000 NO 1 Invoice ELEC 6TH ST SW LIGHTS 11/05/2024 11/14/2024 104.45 101-43100-381

11/14/2024 3274100 NO 1 Invoice ELEC 4TH ST SW LIGHTS 11/05/2024 11/14/2024 122.98 101-43100-381

11/14/2024 3274200 NO 1 Invoice ELEC 2ND ST SW LIGHTS 11/05/2024 11/14/2024 110.19 101-43100-381

11/14/2024 3274300 NO 1 Invoice ELEC 1ST ST SW LIGHTS 11/05/2024 11/14/2024 89.15 101-43100-381

11/14/2024 3333200 NO 1 Invoice ELEC ECKSTEIN TENNIS COURT 11/05/2024 11/14/2024 1,095.00 225-45200-381

          Total 106161 PEOPLE'S ENERGY COOPERATIVE: 10,008.77

107018 PETERSEN, ROSIE

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 1 Invoice ELECTION JUDGE 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 191.75 101-41410-103



CITY OF PLAINVIEW Invoice Register - Council Packet Page:     9

Input Dates: 11/8/2024 - 12/4/2024 Dec 04, 2024  02:58PM

Input Date Invoice Seq Type Description Invoice Date Due Date Total Cost GL Account

          Total 107018 PETERSEN, ROSIE: 191.75

238 PLAINVIEW PARTS HOUSE

11/20/2024 741329 1 Invoice MINIATURE BULBS/PW 09/30/2024 11/21/2024 1.79 101-43100-221

11/20/2024 741566 1 Invoice OIL, FILTERS/PW 10/03/2024 11/21/2024 208.88 101-43100-221

11/20/2024 741570 1 Invoice OIL FILTER/PW 10/03/2024 11/21/2024 4.97 101-43100-221

11/20/2024 741908 1 Invoice CAULK GUN/PW 10/08/2024 11/21/2024 249.71 101-43100-217

11/20/2024 741926 1 Invoice PIN, HOSE, FLEX RATCHET/PW 10/08/2024 11/21/2024 74.63 101-43100-221

11/20/2024 741934 1 Invoice RATCHET REPAIR KIT/PW 10/08/2024 11/21/2024 12.19 101-43100-221

11/20/2024 741934 2 Invoice WARRANTY FOR RATCHET REPAIR KIT/PW 10/08/2024 11/21/2024 12.19- 101-43100-221

11/20/2024 742068 1 Invoice SEALANT/PW 10/10/2024 11/21/2024 7.77 101-43100-217

11/20/2024 742357 1 Invoice ANTIFREEZE/PW 10/14/2024 11/21/2024 35.82 101-43100-217

11/20/2024 742474 1 Invoice WARRANTY FOR RATCHET/PARKS 10/15/2024 11/21/2024 63.11- 225-45200-217

11/20/2024 742474 2 Invoice RATCHET/PARKS 10/15/2024 11/21/2024 63.11 225-45200-217

11/20/2024 742474 3 Invoice ANTIFREEZE/PARKS 10/15/2024 11/21/2024 35.82 225-45200-217

11/20/2024 742483 1 Invoice ANTIFREEZE/PARKS 10/15/2024 11/21/2024 35.82 225-45200-217

11/20/2024 743192 1 Invoice HYDRAULIC RAM KIT/PW 10/25/2024 11/21/2024 405.89 101-43100-217

11/20/2024 743219 1 Invoice FLAP WHEEL/PW 10/25/2024 11/21/2024 17.64 101-43100-217

11/20/2024 743565 1 Invoice FILTERS/PW 10/31/2024 11/21/2024 74.67 101-43100-221

12/04/2024 743860 1 Invoice WIPERS/PW 11/05/2024 12/04/2024 34.98 101-43100-217

12/04/2024 744752 1 Invoice CABLE TIES/PW 11/20/2024 12/04/2024 70.45 101-43100-217

          Total 238 PLAINVIEW PARTS HOUSE: 1,258.84

105152 PURCHASE POWER

11/19/2024 0602-5906 11 1 Invoice POSTAGE REFILL 11/11/2024 11/20/2024 441.99 101-41500-322

          Total 105152 PURCHASE POWER: 441.99

741 QUILL CORPORATION

11/19/2024 41356012 1 Invoice FILES/ADMIN 11/01/2024 11/20/2024 71.75 101-41500-201

11/19/2024 41361186 1 Invoice FILES/FIRE DEPT 11/01/2024 11/20/2024 24.22 101-42200-201

11/19/2024 41361186 2 Invoice PAPER/ADMIN 11/01/2024 11/20/2024 34.96 101-41500-201

          Total 741 QUILL CORPORATION: 130.93

105845 RAHMAN HEATING, AC &

11/25/2024 I-26248-3 1 Invoice COMFORT CLUB OCTOBER 2024/PW 10/07/2024 11/26/2024 49.00 101-43100-223

11/25/2024 I-26248-3 2 Invoice COMFORT CLUB OCTOBER 2024/CITY HALL 10/07/2024 11/26/2024 28.00 101-41500-223

11/25/2024 I-26248-3 3 Invoice COMFORT CLUB OCTOBER 2024/POOL 10/07/2024 11/26/2024 28.00 225-45128-223

11/25/2024 I-26248-3 4 Invoice COMFORT CLUB OCTOBER 2024/EASTWOO 10/07/2024 11/26/2024 7.00 225-45200-223

11/25/2024 I-26248-3 5 Invoice COMFORT CLUB OCTOBER 2024/FIRE HALL 10/07/2024 11/26/2024 42.00 101-42200-223

11/25/2024 I-26248-3 6 Invoice COMFORT CLUB OCTOBER 2024/AMBULAN 10/07/2024 11/26/2024 35.00 101-41500-227

11/25/2024 I-26248-3 7 Invoice COMFORT CLUB OCTOBER 2024/LIBRARY 10/07/2024 11/26/2024 42.00 211-45500-223

11/25/2024 I-26248-4 1 Invoice COMFORT CLUB NOVEMBER 2024/PW 11/20/2024 11/26/2024 49.00 101-43100-223

11/25/2024 I-26248-4 2 Invoice COMFORT CLUB NOVEMBER 2024/CITY HAL 11/20/2024 11/26/2024 28.00 101-41500-223

11/25/2024 I-26248-4 3 Invoice COMFORT CLUB NOVEMBER 2024/POOL 11/20/2024 11/26/2024 28.00 225-45128-223

11/25/2024 I-26248-4 4 Invoice COMFORT CLUB NOVEMBER 2024/EASTWO 11/20/2024 11/26/2024 7.00 225-45200-223

11/25/2024 I-26248-4 5 Invoice COMFORT CLUB NOVEMBER 2024/FIRE HAL 11/20/2024 11/26/2024 42.00 101-42200-223

11/25/2024 I-26248-4 6 Invoice COMFORT CLUB NOVEMBER 2024/AMBULA 11/20/2024 11/26/2024 35.00 101-41500-227

11/25/2024 I-26248-4 7 Invoice COMFORT CLUB NOVEMBER 2024/LIBRARY 11/20/2024 11/26/2024 42.00 211-45500-223

          Total 105845 RAHMAN HEATING, AC &: 462.00

546 RDO EQUIPMENT CO.

11/19/2024 P4883602 1 Invoice PARTS/PW 11/15/2024 11/20/2024 2,493.08 101-43100-221



CITY OF PLAINVIEW Invoice Register - Council Packet Page:     10

Input Dates: 11/8/2024 - 12/4/2024 Dec 04, 2024  02:58PM

Input Date Invoice Seq Type Description Invoice Date Due Date Total Cost GL Account

          Total 546 RDO EQUIPMENT CO.: 2,493.08

390 RITEWAY BUSINESS FORMS

11/19/2024 24-32836 1 Invoice ACCTS. PAY CHECKS 11/14/2024 11/20/2024 379.82 101-41500-201

          Total 390 RITEWAY BUSINESS FORMS: 379.82

107027 SAFEBUILT, LLC

11/19/2024 868026 1 Invoice BUILDING INSPECTIONS 10/31/2024 11/20/2024 593.75 101-41500-316

          Total 107027 SAFEBUILT, LLC: 593.75

268 SELCO

11/20/2024 52907 1 Invoice ILS PACKAGE, PC SUPPORT/LIBRARY 11/01/2024 11/20/2024 447.71 211-45500-418

          Total 268 SELCO: 447.71

106504 SEVERSON, TRISTAN

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 1 Invoice MILEAGE ELECTIONS 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 6.70 101-41410-331

          Total 106504 SEVERSON, TRISTAN: 6.70

104639 SOMA CONSTRUCTION INC.

12/03/2024 21753 1 Invoice PROCESSED TOPSOIL/PW 12/02/2024 12/04/2024 484.80 101-43100-222

          Total 104639 SOMA CONSTRUCTION INC.: 484.80

284 STREICHER'S

11/20/2024 I1724828 1 Invoice AMMO/PD 10/18/2024 11/20/2024 1,861.20 101-42100-418

          Total 284 STREICHER'S: 1,861.20

107019 STROOT, DEBORAH

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 1 Invoice ELECTION JUDGE 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 100.75 101-41410-103

          Total 107019 STROOT, DEBORAH: 100.75

106668 TANGEN, ROBERT

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 1 Invoice ELECTION JUDGE 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 91.00 101-41410-103

          Total 106668 TANGEN, ROBERT: 91.00

503 TANGEN, SUE

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 1 Invoice ELECTION JUDGE 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 100.75 101-41410-103

          Total 503 TANGEN, SUE: 100.75

716 THREE RIVERS COMMUNITY ACTION

12/03/2024 NOVEMBER  1 Invoice TRANSIT BUS FEES 11/30/2024 12/04/2024 1,100.00 101-41500-317

          Total 716 THREE RIVERS COMMUNITY ACTION: 1,100.00

104900 TOMS LAWN & CLEANING SERVICE

11/20/2024 587 1 Invoice CLEANING/LIBRARY 10/31/2024 11/20/2024 770.00 211-45500-401

          Total 104900 TOMS LAWN & CLEANING SERVICE: 770.00



CITY OF PLAINVIEW Invoice Register - Council Packet Page:     11

Input Dates: 11/8/2024 - 12/4/2024 Dec 04, 2024  02:58PM

Input Date Invoice Seq Type Description Invoice Date Due Date Total Cost GL Account

106086 ULINE

11/25/2024 19639426 1 Invoice LADDER/PW 11/14/2024 11/26/2024 1,477.10 101-43100-217

          Total 106086 ULINE: 1,477.10

105928 VIOLA NURSERY & GREENHOUSE

11/20/2024 11/2024 WIN 1 Invoice WINTER PLANTERS/CITY HALL 11/19/2024 11/20/2024 300.00 101-41500-401

          Total 105928 VIOLA NURSERY & GREENHOUSE: 300.00

105461 VISA/TCM BANK N.A.

11/20/2024 #0165 NOV.  1 Invoice AMAZON-BOOKS/LIBRARY 11/03/2024 11/20/2024 36.64 211-45500-592

11/20/2024 #0165 NOV.  2 Invoice AMAZON-BOOKS/LIBRARY 11/03/2024 11/20/2024 43.69 211-45500-592

11/20/2024 #0165 NOV.  3 Invoice AMAZON-HAND SOAP/LIBRARY 11/03/2024 11/20/2024 4.19 211-45500-217

11/20/2024 #0165 NOV.  4 Invoice AMAZON-BOOKS/LIBRARY 11/03/2024 11/20/2024 33.98 211-45500-592

11/20/2024 #0165 NOV.  5 Invoice SCHMITT MUSIC-HEADSET, CABLE/LIBRARY 11/03/2024 11/20/2024 608.99 211-45500-217

11/20/2024 #0165 NOV.  6 Invoice AMAZON-BOOKS/LIBRARY 11/03/2024 11/20/2024 63.89 211-45500-592

11/18/2024 #6196 NOV.  1 Invoice USPS-POSTAGE/WATER 11/03/2024 11/18/2024 6.20 601-49400-322

11/18/2024 #6196 NOV.  2 Invoice MENARDS-LYSOL, COPPER UNION/PW 11/03/2024 11/18/2024 16.16 101-43100-217

11/18/2024 #6196 NOV.  3 Invoice N CENTRAL INTL-GASKET OIL PAN, KIT-OIL  11/03/2024 11/18/2024 1,487.96 101-43100-221

11/18/2024 #6196 NOV.  4 Invoice N CENTRAL INTL-RETURN GASKET OIL PAN/ 11/03/2024 11/18/2024 289.92- 101-43100-221

11/18/2024 #6196 NOV.  5 Invoice AMERICAN EAGLE-UNIFORM/S. LARSON 11/03/2024 11/18/2024 285.23 602-49450-417

11/18/2024 #6634 NOV.  1 Invoice BUFFALO WILD WINGS-MEAL FOR TRAININ 11/03/2024 11/18/2024 23.88 602-49450-331

11/18/2024 #6634 NOV.  2 Invoice ST. CLOUD PARKING-TRAINING/B. FLIES 11/03/2024 11/18/2024 7.50 602-49450-331

11/18/2024 #6634 NOV.  3 Invoice HAMPTON INN-TRAINING/B. FLIES 11/03/2024 11/18/2024 432.50 602-49450-331

11/18/2024 #6634 NOV.  4 Invoice ZORO TOOLS-REPLACEMENT MOTOR/POOL 11/03/2024 11/18/2024 203.99 225-45128-223

11/18/2024 #6634 NOV.  5 Invoice JT VARIETY:COMPASS-PROTRACTOR/PW 11/03/2024 11/18/2024 2.67 101-43100-217

11/18/2024 #6634 NOV.  6 Invoice KBS-GLOVES/B. FLIES UNIFORM 11/03/2024 11/18/2024 7.99 601-49400-417

11/14/2024 #6840 NOV.  1 Invoice COSTCO-ELECTION SUPPLIES 11/03/2024 11/14/2024 7.98 101-41410-437

11/14/2024 #6840 NOV.  2 Invoice COSTCO-CLEANING SUPPLIES 11/03/2024 11/14/2024 43.67 101-41500-211

11/14/2024 #6840 NOV.  3 Invoice COSTCO-NAPKINS/ADMIN 11/03/2024 11/14/2024 11.99 101-41500-217

11/14/2024 #6840 NOV.  4 Invoice AMAZON-HOLIDAY DECORATIONS FOR CITY  11/03/2024 11/14/2024 205.83 101-41500-437

11/14/2024 #6840 NOV.  5 Invoice ADOBE-C. KUJATH/ADMIN 11/03/2024 11/14/2024 21.46 101-41500-433

11/14/2024 #6923 NOV.  1 Invoice DNH GODADDY-CITY WEBSITE DOMAIN/AD 11/03/2024 11/14/2024 44.34 101-41500-312

11/14/2024 #6931 NOV.  1 Invoice ADOBE-K. HALL/ADMIN 11/03/2024 11/14/2024 257.57 101-41500-433

11/14/2024 #7111 NOV. 2 1 Invoice BUFFALO WILD WINGS-MEAL FOR TRAININ 11/03/2024 11/14/2024 26.06 602-49450-331

11/14/2024 #7111 NOV. 2 2 Invoice HOUSE OF COATES-MEAL FOR TRAINING/K.  11/03/2024 11/14/2024 13.66 602-49450-331

11/14/2024 #7111 NOV. 2 3 Invoice HAMPTON INN-TRAINING/K. DEFRANG 11/03/2024 11/14/2024 432.50 602-49450-331

11/13/2024 #7228 NOVE 1 Invoice AMAZON-AIR FRESHENERS/CITY HALL 11/03/2024 11/14/2024 40.74 101-41500-217

11/19/2024 #7798 NOV.  1 Invoice VORTEX OPTICS-OPTICS/PD 11/03/2024 11/19/2024 374.10 101-42100-418

11/19/2024 #7798 NOV.  2 Invoice AMAZON-GUN CASE/PD 11/03/2024 11/19/2024 98.04 101-42100-418

11/19/2024 #7798 NOV.  3 Invoice APPLE.COM/PD 11/03/2024 11/19/2024 .99 101-42100-321

11/19/2024 #7798 NOV.  4 Invoice AMAZON-CABLES/PD 11/03/2024 11/19/2024 18.98 101-42100-221

11/19/2024 #7798 NOV.  5 Invoice USPS-POSTAGE/PD 11/03/2024 11/19/2024 5.86 101-42100-322

11/19/2024 #7798 NOV.  6 Invoice AMAZON-WORKSTATION MONITOR HOOKU 11/03/2024 11/19/2024 13.59 101-42100-221

11/19/2024 #7798 NOV.  7 Invoice AMAZON-SURGE PROTECTOR, SERVER CU 11/03/2024 11/19/2024 52.81 101-42100-221

11/19/2024 #7798 NOV.  8 Invoice MACY'S-UNIFORM/A. MCGRAW 11/03/2024 11/19/2024 99.99 101-42100-417

11/19/2024 #7798 NOV.  9 Invoice ADOBE-SUBSCRIPTION/PD 11/03/2024 11/19/2024 167.38 101-42100-309

11/19/2024 #7798 NOV.  10 Invoice MACY'S-RETURN SHOES & PANTS/A. MCGR 11/03/2024 11/19/2024 168.98- 101-42100-417

11/19/2024 #7798 NOV.  11 Invoice HOSTGATOR.COM-WEEBLY PROFESSIONAL 11/03/2024 11/19/2024 8.99 101-42100-321

11/19/2024 #7798 NOV.  12 Invoice GREEN MILL-MEAL AT TRAINING/A. FERGUS 11/03/2024 11/19/2024 20.13 101-42100-331

11/19/2024 #7798 NOV.  13 Invoice GREEN MILL-MEAL AT TRAINING/A. FERGUS 11/03/2024 11/19/2024 14.41 101-42100-331

11/19/2024 #7798 NOV.  14 Invoice AMAZON-RADIO EARPIECE/PD 11/03/2024 11/19/2024 99.89 101-42100-417

11/19/2024 #7798 NOV.  15 Invoice CARIBOU COFFEE-MEAL AT TRAINING/A. FE 11/03/2024 11/19/2024 7.06 101-42100-331

11/19/2024 #7798 NOV.  16 Invoice MACY'S-UNIFORM/A. MCGRAW 11/03/2024 11/19/2024 56.43 101-42100-417

11/19/2024 #7798 NOV.  17 Invoice AMAZON-TONER/PD 11/03/2024 11/19/2024 86.59 101-42100-201

11/19/2024 #7798 NOV.  18 Invoice AMAZON-UNIFORM/PD 11/03/2024 11/19/2024 38.77 101-42100-417

11/19/2024 #7798 NOV.  19 Invoice FAMILY DOLLAR-CANDY FOR TRUNK OR TR 11/03/2024 11/19/2024 52.74 101-42100-437



CITY OF PLAINVIEW Invoice Register - Council Packet Page:     12

Input Dates: 11/8/2024 - 12/4/2024 Dec 04, 2024  02:58PM

Input Date Invoice Seq Type Description Invoice Date Due Date Total Cost GL Account

11/19/2024 #7798 NOV.  20 Invoice CENEX-DUCT TAPE FOR TRUNK OR TREAT/ 11/03/2024 11/19/2024 7.28 101-42100-437

11/19/2024 #7798 NOV.  21 Invoice US FLEET TRACKING-MONTHLY SERVICE/P 11/03/2024 11/19/2024 59.90 101-42100-309

11/19/2024 #7798 NOV.  22 Invoice AMAZON-RETURN TONER/PD 11/03/2024 11/19/2024 86.59- 101-42100-201

          Total 105461 VISA/TCM BANK N.A.: 5,109.70

307 WABASHA COUNTY AUDITOR/TREAS.

11/19/2024 06311142416 1 Invoice BALLOTS FOR 2024 ELECTIONS 11/14/2024 11/20/2024 194.90 101-41410-437

11/27/2024 091-111224-0 1 Invoice NOVEMBER 2024 LEGAL SERVICES CONTR 11/12/2024 11/27/2024 1,800.00 101-42100-304

          Total 307 WABASHA COUNTY AUDITOR/TREAS.: 1,994.90

104759 WABASHA COUNTY RECORDER

11/25/2024 312688 1 Invoice BIKE TRAIL HEAD RECORDED AT COUNTY 11/20/2024 11/26/2024 1.65 101-41500-310

          Total 104759 WABASHA COUNTY RECORDER: 1.65

107033 WALSH, LILY

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 1 Invoice ELECTION JUDGE TRAINING 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 26.00 101-41410-103

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 2 Invoice ELECTION JUDGE 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 91.00 101-41410-103

          Total 107033 WALSH, LILY: 117.00

106269 WATER SYSTEMS COMPANY

12/04/2024 807043 1 Invoice WATER/CITY HALL 12/02/2024 12/04/2024 37.60 101-41500-401

          Total 106269 WATER SYSTEMS COMPANY: 37.60

105600 WEX BANK

11/13/2024 100704479 1 Invoice FUEL/POLICE DEPT. 10/31/2024 11/14/2024 1,472.13 101-42100-212

          Total 105600 WEX BANK: 1,472.13

106898 WINGERT METAL

11/19/2024 1194 1 Invoice REPAIR PLOW TRUCK BLADE/PW 11/12/2024 11/20/2024 375.00 101-43100-221

          Total 106898 WINGERT METAL: 375.00

106506 ZABEL-DUDEN, PATTY

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 1 Invoice ELECTION JUDGE TRAINING 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 26.00 101-41410-103

11/21/2024 11/5/24 GEN 2 Invoice ELECTION JUDGE 11/05/2024 11/21/2024 97.50 101-41410-103

          Total 106506 ZABEL-DUDEN, PATTY: 123.50

          Grand Totals:  91,740.33

Report GL Period Summary

GL Period Amount

11/24 82,049.87

12/24 9,690.46

          Grand Totals:  91,740.33

Vendor number hash: 14460958



CITY OF PLAINVIEW Invoice Register - Council Packet Page:     13

Input Dates: 11/8/2024 - 12/4/2024 Dec 04, 2024  02:58PM

Terms Description Invoice Amount Discount Amount Net Invoice Amount

Vendor number hash - split: 22714766

Total number of invoices: 229

Total number of transactions: 316

Terms Description Invoice Amount Discount Amount Net Invoice Amount

Open Terms 91,740.33 .00 91,740.33

          Grand Totals:  91,740.33 .00 91,740.33

Report Criteria:

[Report].GL Account = {<>} "10121709"





Permits/Licenses/Donations | Page 1 of 2 

Executive Summary 
City Council Regular Meeting:  December 10, 2024 
 

AGENDA ITEM:     Permits/Licenses/Donations AGENDA SECTION:  
Consent 

PREPARED BY: Carol Kujath, City Clerk AGENDA NO.   7.C. 

ATTACHMENTS:  None 
 

APPROVED BY: dt 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:   
        1.Motion to approve the following Tobacco Licenses through December 31, 2025: 

• Kwik Trip, Inc 
• High Plains Cooperative 
• BP Lyons Oil Company 
• Family Dollar 

 
           2. Motion to approve the following Refuse Licenses through December 31, 2025: 

• Interstate Disposal Service  
• Waste Management 
• Hagedorn Enterprises, Inc. DBA Lake City Recycling & Disposal 
• LRS of Minnesota 
• Harter’s Disposal of MN 

 
3. Motion to approve the Gambling Permit Application from the Lions Club for 
Bingo/Raffle on February 8, 2025. 
 
4. Motion to approve the Chicken Permit for Mitchell Strain. 
 
5. Motion to approve the Chicken Permit for Karen Eversman. 
 
 

 

Summary: 
The following companies have submitted the required applications, proof of 
insurance, and paid the appropriate license fees to the City of Plainview. 
 
Tobacco Licenses:    Refuse Licenses: 
High Plains Coop    Interstate Disposal Service 
BP Lyons Oil     Waste Management 
Kwik Trip     Hagedorn Enterprises, Inc 
Family Dollar    LRS of Minnesota     
      Harter’s Disposal of MN 
 

 



2 
 

 
 
Gambling Permit:  

The Plainview Lions Club has submitted a gambling permit application for 
bingo/raffle for February 8, 2025 

 
Chicken Permit: 
 Mitchell Strain has applied for a Chicken Permit located at 325 1st Ave SW. 

Karen Eversman has applied for a Chicken Permit located at 130 East 
Broadway 
 

Recommendation: 
Staff recommend the approval of the License Applications for the above 
companies for 2025. 

 
Staff recommend the approval of the gambling permit application for the 
Lions Club for bingo/raffle on February 8, 2025. 
 
Staff recommend the Chicken permits for Mitchell Strain and Karen 
Eversman. 



Department Head Reports |Page 1 of 1 

 

Executive Summary 
City Council Regular Meeting:  December 10, 2024 
 

AGENDA ITEM:     Dept. Head Reports & Board 
Minutes 

AGENDA SECTION:  
Consent 

PREPARED BY: David Todd, City Administrator AGENDA NO.   7.D. 

ATTACHMENTS:  Department Head Reports 
 

APPROVED BY:  dt  

RECOMMENDED ACTION:  Motion to accept Department reports. 

 
 

 

 



 
 

MONTHLY REPORT OF FINANCE DIRECTOR 
November, 2024 

 
 

Routine Work/General Items 
• Processed bi-weekly payroll and all duties related to payroll, benefits and personnel administration.  
• Liability & Work Comp and Unemployment Insurance Claims 
• Provide financial information and assistance as needed to department 
• Provide software support for financial/utility billing/xpress bill pay systems 
• Work with DataSmart – IT/Network Issues 
• Journal Entries to record payments, receipts, adjustments 
• Code invoices for payment 
• Dept. Budget Reports 
• Investments Redeemed/Purchased  
• Assist in front office as needed  
• Monthly Financial Processes-Bank recs, account reconciliations/fund cash balances, cash allocations 
• Assist City Administrator 
• Finance Issues/Current Development Projects 

 
Activities 

• Utility Billing-New & Terminated Services, Customer Inquiries, Monthly Billing Process, Meter Issues 
• Budget – Reviewed and made changes to 2025 budget, finalized the process, reviewed with the council finance committee 

and prepared all reports for the Truth in Taxation meeting on December 10, 2024. Once the final budget and levy amount is 
approved by council, I will prepare the required state reports and certify the final levy certification to Wabasha County on or 
before December 30, 2024.  

• 2025 Open Enrollment Process-Employee Benefits 
• Cover office on Election Day  
• 2024 Fund Transfers 
• Payroll for Fire Department and City Council (annual) 

 
Projects 

• Continued water meter changeout program started in March, 2021–coordinating with Public Works.  Project will continue 
over multiple years. We will be running two software systems for meter reading and billing until the entire city is converted 
to the new meters. By the end of November 2024, 815 new meters have been installed and there are 487 old meters left to 
replace.  

• Future projects: 
o File/Organize Financial/Personnel Records 
o Review utility billing, disconnect and write-off procedures/policies/clean-up utility billing A/R 

 
 

Reports 
• Monthly Department of Labor Report 
• Monthly Sales Tax Report 

 
Training/Meetings 

• Dept. head meetings/Council meetings/special meetings 
• Meet with City Administrator on current issues  
• Meetings with council members and staff regarding current issues 
• Meetings with the City’s Personnel Attorneys-ongoing Personnel/HR/WC issue 
• Meet with Lisa from LMC regarding ARPA fund obligation requirements 

 
 

Other Items of Interest 
 

 
 
Submitted by Vicki Axley, Finance Director 



CITY OF PLAINVIEW Budget Worksheet - Monthly Expense Report - Council Page:     1
Period: 11/24 Nov 27, 2024  03:34PM

2023-23 2024-24 2024-24 2024-24
Prior year Current year Current year Budget

Account Number Account Title Actual Budget Actual Remaining

Council
101-41110-103 Part-Time Employees 13,300.00 13,300.00 13,300.00 .00
101-41110-121 PERA 165.00 165.00 165.00 .00
101-41110-122 FICA 812.85 813.00 812.85 .15
101-41110-151 Worker s Comp Insurance Prem 73.71 78.00 68.39 9.61
101-41110-201 Office Supplies(paper-pens-et) .00 100.00 .00 100.00
101-41110-310 Other Professional Services 66.00 200.00 145.00 55.00
101-41110-331 Meetings-Conferences (mtgs/mi) 1,379.52 1,500.00 .00 1,500.00
101-41110-343 Advertising 480.00 100.00 589.00 489.00-
101-41110-362 Property - Casualty Ins (Auto) 6,727.05 7,063.00 6,718.08 344.92
101-41110-381 Electric Utilities 1,792.98 1,800.00 1,276.67 523.33
101-41110-383 Gas Utilities 930.91 1,100.00 488.21 611.79
101-41110-401 Contractual Services 7,200.00 7,200.00 6,600.00 600.00
101-41110-433 Dues and Subscriptions 10,996.00 11,000.00 8,273.00 2,727.00
101-41110-437 Miscellaneous 296.82 500.00 .00 500.00
101-41110-440 City Cleanup 6,022.83 7,500.00 6,416.89 1,083.11

Total Council: 50,243.67 52,419.00 44,853.09 7,565.91

Elections
101-41410-103 Part-Time Employees .00 9,000.00 8,878.25 121.75
101-41410-331 Meetings-Conferences (mtgs/mi) .00 850.00 976.13 126.13-
101-41410-437 Miscellaneous 960.00 3,500.00 1,852.06 1,647.94

Total Elections: 960.00 13,350.00 11,706.44 1,643.56

Administration
101-41500-101 Full-Time Employees Regular 323,920.71 318,102.00 297,700.72 20,401.28
101-41500-102 Full-Time Employees Overtime 15,028.28 17,500.00 13,859.46 3,640.54
101-41500-120 CENTRAL PENSION FUND 2,995.20 3,000.00 2,764.80 235.20
101-41500-121 PERA 24,946.63 24,795.00 22,715.76 2,079.24
101-41500-122 FICA 25,776.71 25,674.00 23,650.98 2,023.02
101-41500-131 Employer Paid Health 78,079.00 74,361.00 68,753.19 5,607.81
101-41500-151 Worker s Comp Insurance Prem 2,707.10 2,843.00 2,492.57 350.43
101-41500-201 Office Supplies 3,376.88 4,500.00 3,090.29 1,409.71
101-41500-211 Operating Supplies - Cleaning 309.03 1,000.00 318.33 681.67
101-41500-217 Other Operating Supplies 1,195.48 1,300.00 930.69 369.31
101-41500-221 Repair/Maint - Equipment .00 200.00 .00 200.00
101-41500-223 Repair/Maintain - Building 2,339.25 2,500.00 7,891.94 5,391.94-
101-41500-227 Repair/Maintain - Amb Building 678.51 2,000.00 1,214.50 785.50
101-41500-301 Auditing and Acct g Services 30,800.00 32,000.00 32,500.00 500.00-
101-41500-303 Engineering Fees 28,804.00 40,000.00 23,526.50 16,473.50
101-41500-304 Legal Fees 16,833.65 25,000.00 23,559.83 1,440.17
101-41500-309 Software and Design 21,737.46 23,000.00 23,412.73 412.73-
101-41500-310 Other Professional Services 28,926.78 30,000.00 13,260.25 16,739.75
101-41500-312 CITY WEBSITE 13,350.00 6,350.00 6,711.84 361.84-
101-41500-316 Building Inspections 37,074.00 30,000.00 35,808.78 5,808.78-
101-41500-317 Dial A Ride Bus 9,630.25 6,000.00 8,547.50 2,547.50-
101-41500-321 Communications 5,893.18 6,450.00 5,253.33 1,196.67
101-41500-322 Postage 2,577.30 2,700.00 2,316.16 383.84
101-41500-331 Meetings-Conferences (mtgs/mi) 3,147.05 5,000.00 87.38 4,912.62
101-41500-343 Advertising 3,238.57 3,500.00 1,928.15 1,571.85
101-41500-362 Property - Casualty Ins (Auto) 4,876.28 5,120.00 4,869.97 250.03
101-41500-381 Electric Utilities 1,793.03 2,000.00 1,562.68 437.32
101-41500-383 Gas Utilities 930.91 1,200.00 488.22 711.78
101-41500-384 Garbage Service .00 .00 27.35 27.35-



CITY OF PLAINVIEW Budget Worksheet - Monthly Expense Report - Council Page:     2
Period: 11/24 Nov 27, 2024  03:34PM

2023-23 2024-24 2024-24 2024-24
Prior year Current year Current year Budget

Account Number Account Title Actual Budget Actual Remaining

101-41500-401 Contractual Services 16,146.77 13,500.00 14,285.65 785.65-
101-41500-417 Uniforms 1,628.64 1,872.00 1,185.74 686.26
101-41500-433 Dues and Subscriptions 2,735.03 2,100.00 2,547.59 447.59-
101-41500-434 Sales Tax Paid 11.00 20.00 3.00 17.00
101-41500-437 Miscellaneous 823.16 500.00 621.75 121.75-
101-41500-442 Bank Service Charges 3,177.80 3,500.00 2,674.45 825.55
101-41500-443 Credit Card Merchant Fees 2,892.56 3,500.00 2,784.30 715.70
101-41500-444 XPRESS Bill Pay Fees 5,742.38 5,600.00 5,100.03 499.97
101-41500-560 Furniture & Fixtures .00 .00 1,268.06 1,268.06-
101-41500-570 Office Equipment & Furnishings 1,299.48 1,000.00 .00 1,000.00
101-41500-580 Computers & Technology 11,037.09 3,000.00 4,795.63 1,795.63-

Total Administration: 736,459.15 730,687.00 664,510.10 66,176.90

Police
101-42100-101 Full-Time Employees Regular 630,154.30 685,841.00 635,030.40 50,810.60
101-42100-102 Full-Time Employees Overtime 39,440.09 37,500.00 35,256.72 2,243.28
101-42100-103 Part-Time Employees 7,186.41 8,500.00 719.28 7,780.72
101-42100-120 CENTRAL PENSION FUND 998.40 1,000.00 921.60 78.40
101-42100-121 PERA 107,761.59 120,518.00 107,927.74 12,590.26
101-42100-122 FICA 13,602.52 15,533.00 13,135.00 2,398.00
101-42100-131 Employer Paid Health 172,242.10 184,107.00 172,524.77 11,582.23
101-42100-151 Worker s Comp Insurance Prem 33,585.61 35,265.00 30,918.23 4,346.77
101-42100-201 Office Supplies(paper-pens-et) 2,247.39 3,000.00 763.01 2,236.99
101-42100-212 Motor Fuels-Gas 19,391.74 20,000.00 16,243.90 3,756.10
101-42100-217 Other Operating Supplies 576.61 500.00 26.79- 526.79
101-42100-221 Repair/Maint - Equipment 11,905.74 16,000.00 15,892.53 107.47
101-42100-228 Repair/Maintain Other 2,363.60 3,000.00 3,624.68 624.68-
101-42100-240 Repair/Maint Taser Program 6,279.99 6,500.00 6,279.99 220.01
101-42100-304 Legal Fees 21,600.00 21,600.00 19,800.00 1,800.00
101-42100-305 Employee Wellness Program .00 10,000.00 739.89 9,260.11
101-42100-309 Software and Design 11,566.38 12,000.00 12,539.66 539.66-
101-42100-310 Other Professional Services 13,294.30 8,000.00 7,322.07 677.93
101-42100-318 Animal Control .00 500.00 .00 500.00
101-42100-319 Forfeitures .00 1,200.00 .00 1,200.00
101-42100-321 Communications 15,593.83 15,000.00 12,538.93 2,461.07
101-42100-322 Postage 186.00 500.00 79.23 420.77
101-42100-331 Meetings-Conferences (mtgs/mi) 7,092.96 9,000.00 2,134.36 6,865.64
101-42100-343 Advertising .00 500.00 .00 500.00
101-42100-362 Property - Casualty Ins (Auto) 5,409.07 5,680.00 5,402.62 277.38
101-42100-381 Electric Utilities 1,792.99 2,000.00 1,419.65 580.35
101-42100-383 Gas Utilities 930.88 1,300.00 488.19 811.81
101-42100-406 Safety .00 1,200.00 273.97 926.03
101-42100-417 Uniforms 18,168.31 12,000.00 8,026.57 3,973.43
101-42100-418 Range/Ammo 9,096.09 10,000.00 6,525.75 3,474.25
101-42100-433 Dues and Subscriptions 2,597.32 3,500.00 1,861.94 1,638.06
101-42100-436 Towing Charges .00 200.00 368.00 168.00-
101-42100-437 Miscellaneous 2,116.74 3,000.00 1,458.20 1,541.80
101-42100-438 Police - DARE Prog 1,089.58 2,500.00 1,207.83 1,292.17
101-42100-446 NSF Checks 43.53 500.00 .00 500.00
101-42100-491 Contributions/Donations Expend .00 .00 500.00 500.00-
101-42100-560 Furniture & Fixtures .00 1,000.00 .00 1,000.00
101-42100-590 Capital Outlay 45,354.67 7,000.00 153,054.43 146,054.43-

Total Police: 1,203,668.74 1,265,444.00 1,274,952.35 9,508.35-



CITY OF PLAINVIEW Budget Worksheet - Monthly Expense Report - Council Page:     3
Period: 11/24 Nov 27, 2024  03:34PM

2023-23 2024-24 2024-24 2024-24
Prior year Current year Current year Budget

Account Number Account Title Actual Budget Actual Remaining

City Fire
101-42200-103 Part-Time Employees 31,488.04 25,000.00 23,306.76 1,693.24
101-42200-122 FICA 2,401.19 1,913.00 1,782.98 130.02
101-42200-151 Worker s Comp Insurance Prem 3,109.44 3,265.00 2,862.56 402.44
101-42200-201 Office Supplies(paper-pens-et) 109.99 200.00 208.45 8.45-
101-42200-207 Fire Prevention Instruct Supps 808.50 2,000.00 1,040.00 960.00
101-42200-211 Operating Supplies - Cleaning .00 100.00 .00 100.00
101-42200-212 Motor Fuels-Gas 1,152.54 1,500.00 592.93 907.07
101-42200-217 Other Operating Supplies 710.46 1,500.00 100.98 1,399.02
101-42200-221 Repair/Maint - Equipment 76,174.95 30,000.00 40,152.28 10,152.28-
101-42200-223 Repair/Maintain - Building 1,866.36 10,000.00 2,122.23 7,877.77
101-42200-226 Foam 2,449.12 2,500.00 .00 2,500.00
101-42200-228 Repair/Maintain - Other .00 1,000.00 .00 1,000.00
101-42200-309 Software and Design 71.39 100.00 155.38 55.38-
101-42200-310 Other Professional Services 1,073.75 1,000.00 6,817.06 5,817.06-
101-42200-321 Communications 4,630.80 3,200.00 3,341.86 141.86-
101-42200-322 Postage .00 50.00 .00 50.00
101-42200-331 Meetings-Conferences (mtgs/mi) 8,963.77 2,000.00 6,556.50 4,556.50-
101-42200-343 Advertising 127.89 200.00 660.00 460.00-
101-42200-362 Property - Casualty Ins (Auto) 5,934.86 6,232.00 5,927.67 304.33
101-42200-381 Electric Utilities 2,034.00 2,000.00 1,740.00 260.00
101-42200-383 Gas Utilities 5,165.75 8,000.00 1,603.43 6,396.57
101-42200-384 Garbage Service 657.12 700.00 547.60 152.40
101-42200-417 Uniforms/Fire Gear 22,419.30 20,000.00 8,223.22 11,776.78
101-42200-433 Dues and Subscriptions 1,100.00 1,000.00 .00 1,000.00
101-42200-437 Miscellaneous .00 100.00 .00 100.00
101-42200-602 Other LT Obligation Principal .00 43,030.00 .00 43,030.00
101-42200-612 Other Long-Term Obligation Int 20,500.00 19,656.00 .00 19,656.00

Total City Fire: 192,949.22 186,246.00 107,741.89 78,504.11

Emergency Management
101-42500-103 Part-Time Employees 1,226.71 1,276.00 1,275.78 .22
101-42500-122 FICA 93.85 98.00 97.60 .40
101-42500-221 Repair/Maint - Equipment 1,675.80 4,000.00 1,401.25 2,598.75
101-42500-310 Other Professional Services 892.00 900.00 1,112.00 212.00-
101-42500-381 Electric Utilities 988.00 1,000.00 883.00 117.00

Total Emergency Management: 4,876.36 7,274.00 4,769.63 2,504.37

Public Works (GENERAL)
101-43100-101 Full-Time Employees Regular 123,850.04 127,458.00 124,676.99 2,781.01
101-43100-102 Full-Time Employees Overtime 1,343.11 2,940.00 709.44 2,230.56
101-43100-120 CENTRAL PENSION FUND 838.72 840.00 774.24 65.76
101-43100-121 PERA 9,234.06 9,780.00 9,164.55 615.45
101-43100-122 FICA 9,554.87 9,975.00 9,553.06 421.94
101-43100-131 Employer Paid Health 31,185.26 33,217.00 29,924.76 3,292.24
101-43100-151 Worker s Comp Insurance Prem 18,415.92 19,337.00 16,953.51 2,383.49
101-43100-201 Office Supplies(paper-pens-et) 320.22 250.00 184.09 65.91
101-43100-211 Operating Supplies - Cleaning 35.96 200.00 108.86 91.14
101-43100-212 Motor Fuels-Gas 10,934.78 8,000.00 7,587.96 412.04
101-43100-217 Other Operating Supplies 11,626.76 14,000.00 8,067.56 5,932.44
101-43100-221 Repair/Maint - Equipment 23,765.58 25,000.00 19,807.68 5,192.32
101-43100-222 Tree trimming 6,165.00 18,500.00 4,100.00 14,400.00
101-43100-223 Repair/Maintain - Building 4,357.16 7,500.00 3,813.99 3,686.01
101-43100-224 Repair/Maintain - Streets 26,105.71 100,000.00 44,896.95 55,103.05



CITY OF PLAINVIEW Budget Worksheet - Monthly Expense Report - Council Page:     4
Period: 11/24 Nov 27, 2024  03:34PM

2023-23 2024-24 2024-24 2024-24
Prior year Current year Current year Budget

Account Number Account Title Actual Budget Actual Remaining

101-43100-225 Repair/Maint - Detention Ponds .00 20,000.00 .00 20,000.00
101-43100-226 Sidewalk Repairs 58,003.00 55,000.00 58,053.35 3,053.35-
101-43100-303 Engineering Fees 13,548.50 15,000.00 14,105.00 895.00
101-43100-310 Other Professional Services 22,943.17 30,000.00 23,013.03 6,986.97
101-43100-321 Communications 3,688.76 4,000.00 3,485.14 514.86
101-43100-331 Meetings-Conferences (mtgs/mi) 41.47 300.00 24.97 275.03
101-43100-343 Advertising .00 300.00 528.00 228.00-
101-43100-362 Property - Casualty Ins (Auto) 15,027.13 15,775.00 15,004.64 770.36
101-43100-381 Electric Utilities 46,228.71 43,000.00 39,159.78 3,840.22
101-43100-383 Gas Utilities 4,240.08 6,300.00 1,994.26 4,305.74
101-43100-384 Garbage Service 1,473.48 1,650.00 1,227.90 422.10
101-43100-401 Contractual Services .00 850.00 .00 850.00
101-43100-406 Safety 928.69 1,000.00 891.00 109.00
101-43100-417 Uniforms 996.92 1,248.00 630.45 617.55
101-43100-418 Rentals .00 1,000.00 .00 1,000.00
101-43100-437 Miscellaneous .00 200.00 .00 200.00
101-43100-590 Capital Outlay 84,646.86 255,000.00 261,238.38 6,238.38-

Total Public Works (GENERAL): 529,499.92 827,620.00 699,679.54 127,940.46

Ice & Snow Removal
101-43125-101 Full-Time Employees Regular 23,590.18 24,278.00 23,747.97 530.03
101-43125-102 Full-Time Employees Overtime 256.11 560.00 135.13 424.87
101-43125-120 CENTRAL PENSION FUND 159.68 160.00 147.36 12.64
101-43125-121 PERA 1,758.78 1,863.00 1,745.57 117.43
101-43125-122 FICA 1,820.06 1,900.00 1,819.82 80.18
101-43125-131 Employer Paid Health 5,778.24 6,092.00 5,534.72 557.28
101-43125-212 Motor Fuels-Gas 6,013.00 8,000.00 2,531.00 5,469.00
101-43125-217 Other Operating Supplies 11,735.37 15,000.00 11,623.64 3,376.36
101-43125-221 Repair/Maint - Equipment 7,897.00 7,500.00 19,740.86 12,240.86-
101-43125-310 Other Professional Services 21,817.50 36,750.00 10,205.00 26,545.00
101-43125-343 Advertising 198.00 100.00 198.00 98.00-
101-43125-437 Miscellaneous 500.00 .00 .00 .00

Total Ice & Snow Removal: 81,523.92 102,203.00 77,429.07 24,773.93

Economic Development
101-46500-101 Full-Time Employees Regular 31,708.37 .00 .00 .00
101-46500-102 Full-Time Employees Overtime 657.84 .00 .00 .00
101-46500-121 PERA 2,394.72 .00 .00 .00
101-46500-122 FICA 2,476.05 .00 .00 .00
101-46500-131 Employer Paid Health 9,767.89 .00 .00 .00
101-46500-201 Office Supplies 36.48 .00 .00 .00
101-46500-304 Legal Fees 3,325.00 .00 .00 .00
101-46500-331 Meetings-Conferences (mtgs/mi) 446.67 .00 .00 .00
101-46500-401 Contractual Services .00 66,030.00 51,849.42 14,180.58
101-46500-433 Dues and Subscriptions .00 .00 3,500.00 3,500.00-

Total Economic Development: 50,813.02 66,030.00 55,349.42 10,680.58

Other Finanacing Uses/Contrib
101-49300-422 Corn on the Cob Activities 3,000.00 3,000.00 3,000.00 .00
101-49300-423 Ye Old Fashioned Christmas 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 .00
101-49300-424 Sesquicentennial/Garden Club 300.00 300.00 300.00 .00
101-49300-425 Plainview Community Center 27,500.00 12,500.00 12,500.00 .00
101-49300-426 Blue Bell Festival 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 .00



CITY OF PLAINVIEW Budget Worksheet - Monthly Expense Report - Council Page:     5
Period: 11/24 Nov 27, 2024  03:34PM

2023-23 2024-24 2024-24 2024-24
Prior year Current year Current year Budget

Account Number Account Title Actual Budget Actual Remaining

Total Other Finanacing Uses/Contrib: 32,800.00 17,800.00 17,800.00 .00

Libraries (GENERAL)
211-45500-101 Full-Time Employees Regular 135,229.05 140,920.00 130,276.72 10,643.28
211-45500-103 Part-Time Employees 21,675.23 28,894.00 23,851.29 5,042.71
211-45500-121 PERA 11,645.29 12,555.00 11,405.93 1,149.07
211-45500-122 FICA 11,931.16 12,991.00 11,664.75 1,326.25
211-45500-131 Employer Paid Health 39,160.78 41,263.00 37,706.64 3,556.36
211-45500-151 Worker s Comp Insurance Prem 679.43 713.00 625.11 87.89
211-45500-201 Office Supplies(paper-pens-et) 2,554.59 3,000.00 4,664.19 1,664.19-
211-45500-217 Other Operating Supplies 402.56 .00 1,373.35 1,373.35-
211-45500-221 Repair/Maint - Equipment 2,844.84 4,500.00 3,684.51 815.49
211-45500-223 Repair/Maintain - Building 3,498.49 2,000.00 9,288.38 7,288.38-
211-45500-310 Other Professional Services .00 100.00 74.50 25.50
211-45500-321 Communications 680.07 700.00 617.96 82.04
211-45500-322 Postage .00 200.00 202.00 2.00-
211-45500-331 Meetings-Conferences (mtgs/mi) 390.24 500.00 2,300.71 1,800.71-
211-45500-362 Property - Casualty Ins (Auto) 4,760.12 5,500.00 5,231.41 268.59
211-45500-381 Electric Utilities 3,980.00 5,000.00 2,961.00 2,039.00
211-45500-383 Gas Utilities 2,184.25 3,000.00 1,167.67 1,832.33
211-45500-401 Contractual Services 9,742.85 11,015.00 9,575.05 1,439.95
211-45500-418 Rentals 8,774.43 7,780.00 6,225.31 1,554.69
211-45500-434 Sales Tax Paid 243.00 250.00 240.00 10.00
211-45500-437 Miscellaneous 250.00 500.00 406.39 93.61
211-45500-560 Furniture & Fixtures .00 .00 5,791.00 5,791.00-
211-45500-590 Capital Outlay 4,268.02 .00 5,877.58 5,877.58-
211-45500-592 Books/Periodicals 33,663.68 35,000.00 31,787.29 3,212.71

Total Libraries (GENERAL): 298,558.08 316,381.00 306,998.74 9,382.26

Libraries (GENERAL)
215-45500-331 Meetings/Conferences .00 .00 1,948.28 1,948.28-
215-45500-401 Contractual Services .00 .00 515.00 515.00-
215-45500-570 Office Equipment & Furnishings .00 .00 11,153.58 11,153.58-
215-45500-700 Tansfers Out 4,351.47 .00 .00 .00

Total Libraries (GENERAL): 4,351.47 .00 13,616.86 13,616.86-

ICE RINK
225-45127-212 Motor Fuels-Gas 62.79 500.00 .00 500.00
225-45127-217 Other Operating Supplies 1,139.96 1,500.00 .00 1,500.00
225-45127-221 Repair/Maint - Equipment .00 500.00 .00 500.00
225-45127-223 Repair/Maintain - Building 998.29 1,000.00 .00 1,000.00
225-45127-381 Electric Utilities 1,276.00 1,300.00 1,016.00 284.00
225-45127-383 Gas Utilities 951.94 1,300.00 416.46 883.54

Total ICE RINK: 4,428.98 6,100.00 1,432.46 4,667.54

POOL
225-45128-103 Part-Time Employees 95,712.76 96,000.00 121,829.63 25,829.63-
225-45128-121 PERA 632.78 675.00 776.33 101.33-
225-45128-122 FICA 7,322.34 7,497.00 9,319.94 1,822.94-
225-45128-142 Unemployment Benefit Payments .00 7,152.00 .00 7,152.00
225-45128-151 Worker s Comp Insurance Prem 3,637.89 3,800.00 3,331.61 468.39
225-45128-211 Operating Supplies - Cleaning 6.60 100.00 161.67 61.67-



CITY OF PLAINVIEW Budget Worksheet - Monthly Expense Report - Council Page:     6
Period: 11/24 Nov 27, 2024  03:34PM

2023-23 2024-24 2024-24 2024-24
Prior year Current year Current year Budget

Account Number Account Title Actual Budget Actual Remaining

225-45128-217 Other Operating Supplies 7,323.49 8,000.00 13,302.55 5,302.55-
225-45128-221 Repair/Maint - Equipment 4,008.79 5,000.00 7,822.16 2,822.16-
225-45128-223 Repair/Maintain - Building 1,403.47 5,000.00 3,465.00 1,535.00
225-45128-228 Repair/Maintain - Other .00 1,000.00 .00 1,000.00
225-45128-259 Merchandise For Resale - Other 8,138.37 7,500.00 7,126.51 373.49
225-45128-309 SOFTWARE & DESIGN 3,295.00 3,450.00 3,295.00 155.00
225-45128-310 Other Professional Services 3,248.50 3,000.00 3,645.50 645.50-
225-45128-321 Communications 577.62 800.00 1,235.21 435.21-
225-45128-322 Postage 61.45 75.00 6.05 68.95
225-45128-331 Meetings-Conferences (mtgs/mi) 4,367.00 4,000.00 4,810.00 810.00-
225-45128-343 Advertising 144.00 300.00 264.00 36.00
225-45128-362 Property - Casualty Ins (Auto) 12,983.34 13,632.00 12,966.29 665.71
225-45128-381 Electric Utilities 7,933.00 7,500.00 7,963.00 463.00-
225-45128-383 Gas Utilities 7,533.99 5,400.00 7,034.07 1,634.07-
225-45128-417 UNIFORMS 2,575.63 3,000.00 2,405.44 594.56
225-45128-433 Dues and Subscriptions 670.00 1,000.00 670.00 330.00
225-45128-434 Sales Tax Paid 3,996.00 4,000.00 4,509.00 509.00-
225-45128-437 Miscellaneous .00 300.00 .00 300.00
225-45128-443 Credit Card Merchant Fees 1,390.52 2,000.00 1,335.33 664.67

Total POOL: 176,962.54 190,181.00 217,274.29 27,093.29-

PARKS
225-45200-101 Full-Time Employees Regular 61,578.00 64,126.00 49,681.63 14,444.37
225-45200-102 Full-Time Employees Overtime 4,847.68 5,500.00 3,580.31 1,919.69
225-45200-103 Part-Time Employees 15,742.50 16,000.00 21,926.32 5,926.32-
225-45200-120 CENTRAL PENSION FUND 998.40 1,000.00 760.32 239.68
225-45200-121 PERA 4,934.79 6,541.00 3,579.63 2,961.37
225-45200-122 FICA 6,270.56 6,285.00 5,734.71 550.29
225-45200-131 Employer Paid Health 17,357.82 18,314.00 14,961.12 3,352.88
225-45200-151 Worker s Comp Insurance Prem 2,669.80 2,803.00 2,457.50 345.50
225-45200-212 Motor Fuels-Gas 3,454.59 4,500.00 3,496.24 1,003.76
225-45200-217 Other Operating Supplies 3,437.36 4,000.00 3,466.66 533.34
225-45200-221 Repair/Maint - Equipment 6,548.94 6,000.00 8,458.38 2,458.38-
225-45200-223 Repair/Maintain - Building 2,686.46 10,000.00 6,116.21 3,883.79
225-45200-228 Repair/Maintain - Other .00 200.00 .00 200.00
225-45200-229 Refunds .00 100.00 .00 100.00
225-45200-310 Other Professional Services 1,280.73 2,000.00 1,292.16 707.84
225-45200-331 Meetings-Conferences (mtgs/mi) .00 100.00 .00 100.00
225-45200-343 Advertising 198.00 250.00 264.00 14.00-
225-45200-362 Property - Casualty Ins (Auto) 17,310.24 18,175.00 17,287.44 887.56
225-45200-381 Electric Utilities 10,512.00 6,500.00 9,822.00 3,322.00-
225-45200-384 Garbage Service 1,565.46 1,900.00 1,450.80 449.20
225-45200-417 Uniforms 598.58 600.00 808.38 208.38-
225-45200-418 Rentals .00 1,000.00 .00 1,000.00
225-45200-433 Dues and Subscriptions 25.00 .00 .00 .00
225-45200-434 Sales Tax Paid 87.00 100.00 103.00 3.00-
225-45200-590 Capital Outlay 9,756.49 350,000.00 .00 350,000.00

Total PARKS: 171,860.40 525,994.00 155,246.81 370,747.19

Cemetery
235-49010-217 Other Operating Supplies 760.84 1,500.00 510.68 989.32
235-49010-221 Repair/Maint - Equipment .00 500.00 .00 500.00
235-49010-228 Repair/Maintain - Other .00 500.00 153.00 347.00
235-49010-229 Refunds .00 .00 800.00 800.00-



CITY OF PLAINVIEW Budget Worksheet - Monthly Expense Report - Council Page:     7
Period: 11/24 Nov 27, 2024  03:34PM

2023-23 2024-24 2024-24 2024-24
Prior year Current year Current year Budget

Account Number Account Title Actual Budget Actual Remaining

235-49010-258 Columbarium Plaques .00 2,000.00 .00 2,000.00
235-49010-309 Software & Design 1,842.00 1,400.00 1,630.00 230.00-
235-49010-310 Other Professional Services 1,802.61 2,500.00 1,874.71 625.29
235-49010-362 Property - Casualty Ins (Auto) 3,275.31 3,440.00 3,272.01 167.99
235-49010-381 Electric Utilities 688.00 650.00 614.00 36.00
235-49010-384 Garbage Service 737.10 1,900.00 725.40 1,174.60
235-49010-401 Contractual Services 27,550.00 30,000.00 34,230.00 4,230.00-
235-49010-418 Rental .00 200.00 .00 200.00
235-49010-590 Capital Outlay 5,227.50 42,101.00 26,987.50 15,113.50

Total Cemetery: 41,883.36 86,691.00 70,797.30 15,893.70

RURAL FIRE
245-42200-103 Part-Time Employees 7,833.04 11,000.00 8,531.76 2,468.24
245-42200-122 FICA 599.22 841.00 652.66 188.34
245-42200-151 Worker s Comp Insurance Prem 3,117.43 3,273.00 2,869.57 403.43
245-42200-201 Office Supplies(paper-pens-et) .00 100.00 .00 100.00
245-42200-212 Motor Fuels-Gas 1,734.29 2,700.00 1,199.65 1,500.35
245-42200-217 Other Operating Supplies .00 200.00 .00 200.00
245-42200-221 Repair/Maint - Equipment 13,508.92 10,000.00 5,697.19 4,302.81
245-42200-226 Foam 2,449.13 2,500.00 .00 2,500.00
245-42200-228 Repair/Maintain - Other .00 500.00 .00 500.00
245-42200-310 Other Professional Services .00 1,000.00 .00 1,000.00
245-42200-331 Meetings-Conferences (mtgs/mi) .00 300.00 .00 300.00
245-42200-362 Property - Casualty Ins (Auto) 5,934.86 6,232.00 5,927.67 304.33
245-42200-417 Uniform .00 2,000.00 3,205.80 1,205.80-
245-42200-433 Dues and Subscriptions 995.00 500.00 .00 500.00
245-42200-437 Miscellaneous .00 100.00 .00 100.00
245-42200-590 Capital Outlay .00 .00 9,867.00 9,867.00-

Total RURAL FIRE: 36,171.89 41,246.00 37,951.30 3,294.70

Fire Relief
250-42300-124 Fire Relief Pension-State Aid 46,752.51 46,752.00 53,714.72 6,962.72-
250-42300-490 City Cont- Fire Relief Retire 20,200.00 21,200.00 21,200.00 .00

Total Fire Relief: 66,952.51 67,952.00 74,914.72 6,962.72-

Debt Service
300-47000-601 Bond Principal Pymt 381,000.00 560,000.00 560,000.00 .00
300-47000-611 Bond Interest Payment 72,551.50 208,526.00 208,525.50 .50
300-47000-620 Fiscal Agent Fees .00 .00 495.00 495.00-

Total Debt Service: 453,551.50 768,526.00 769,020.50 494.50-

STREET IMPROVEMENT FUND
325-43100-700 Transfers Out .00 635,325.00 .00 635,325.00

Total STREET IMPROVEMENT FUND: .00 635,325.00 .00 635,325.00

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUND
405-48000-700 Tansfers Out 183,043.24 367,000.00 .00 367,000.00

Total CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUND: 183,043.24 367,000.00 .00 367,000.00



CITY OF PLAINVIEW Budget Worksheet - Monthly Expense Report - Council Page:     8
Period: 11/24 Nov 27, 2024  03:34PM

2023-23 2024-24 2024-24 2024-24
Prior year Current year Current year Budget

Account Number Account Title Actual Budget Actual Remaining

2023 STREET/UTIL IMPROVE PROJ
418-48000-303 Engineering Fees 608,038.52 204,629.00 163,063.82 41,565.18
418-48000-310 Other Professional Services 69,368.50 .00 .00 .00
418-48000-352 General Notices and Pub Info 216.00 .00 .00 .00
418-48000-530 Capital-Other Improvements 2,641,766.01 1,500,000.00 1,107,509.94 392,490.06
418-48000-620 Fiscal Agent Fees 750.00 .00 .00 .00

Total 2023 STREET/UTIL IMPROVE PROJ: 3,320,139.03 1,704,629.00 1,270,573.76 434,055.24

TIF 1-9 LEVAN
505-46500-310 Other Professional Services 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 .00
505-46500-439 TIF Payments 18,420.00 20,000.00 29,930.00 9,930.00-

Total TIF 1-9 LEVAN: 19,420.00 21,000.00 30,930.00 9,930.00-

TIF DOWNTOWN REDEVELOPMENT
506-46500-310 Other Professional Services 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 .00
506-46500-439 TIF Payments 5,330.00 7,000.00 6,190.00 810.00

Total TIF DOWNTOWN REDEVELOPMENT: 6,330.00 8,000.00 7,190.00 810.00

Water Utilities (GENERAL)
601-49400-101 Full-Time Employees Regular 60,713.98 64,646.00 60,367.70 4,278.30
601-49400-102 Full-Time Employees Overtime 1,332.75 5,000.00 4,131.56 868.44
601-49400-120 CENTRAL PENSION FUND 998.40 1,000.00 921.60 78.40
601-49400-121 PERA 13,386.85 5,223.00 4,816.84 406.16
601-49400-122 FICA 4,821.47 5,328.00 4,913.16 414.84
601-49400-131 Employer Paid Health 17,351.66 18,314.00 16,561.13 1,752.87
601-49400-151 Worker s Comp Insurance Prem 1,336.67 1,404.00 1,230.95 173.05
601-49400-201 Office Supplies(paper-pens-et) 424.57 1,000.00 584.32 415.68
601-49400-212 Motor Fuels-Gas 46.94 750.00 158.26 591.74
601-49400-217 Other Operating Supplies 8,806.43 10,000.00 8,112.63 1,887.37
601-49400-221 Repair/Maint -WELLS 9,982.37 30,000.00 101,002.59 71,002.59-
601-49400-223 Repair/Maintain - Building 1,875.01 2,000.00 468.45 1,531.55
601-49400-228 Repair-Water Main Repairs 31,201.69 30,000.00 18,256.97 11,743.03
601-49400-229 Refunds 2,500.00 3,000.00 3,000.00 .00
601-49400-303 Engineering Fees 23,202.60 25,000.00 30,384.70 5,384.70-
601-49400-309 Software and Design 4,491.49 10,000.00 4,760.99 5,239.01
601-49400-310 Other Professional Services 25,096.97 18,000.00 18,167.03 167.03-
601-49400-321 Communications 6,451.61 5,000.00 8,036.98 3,036.98-
601-49400-322 Postage 3,246.53 2,880.00 2,832.35 47.65
601-49400-331 Meetings-Conferences (mtgs/mi) 1,060.78 1,000.00 23.00 977.00
601-49400-343 Advertising 48.00 200.00 50.00 150.00
601-49400-362 Property - Casualty Ins (Auto) 6,611.76 6,950.00 6,610.60 339.40
601-49400-381 Electric Utilities 39,803.00 43,000.00 32,034.00 10,966.00
601-49400-383 Gas Utilities .00 .00 199.28 199.28-
601-49400-401 Contractual Services .00 1,500.00 .00 1,500.00
601-49400-406 SAFETY 309.95 1,000.00 .00 1,000.00
601-49400-417 Uniforms 548.96 624.00 492.75 131.25
601-49400-420 Depreciation 124,218.00 115,000.00 .00 115,000.00
601-49400-433 Dues and Subscriptions 400.00 1,000.00 400.00 600.00
601-49400-434 Sales Tax Paid .06- .00 1.25- 1.25
601-49400-437 Miscellaneous .00 200.00 .00 200.00
601-49400-550 WA Meter Replacement Program 1,317.56 150,000.00 162,934.85 12,934.85-
601-49400-590 Capital Outlay .00 .00 173,760.58 173,760.58-
601-49400-611 Bond Interest 2,544.88 2,361.00 2,361.52 .52-



CITY OF PLAINVIEW Budget Worksheet - Monthly Expense Report - Council Page:     9
Period: 11/24 Nov 27, 2024  03:34PM

2023-23 2024-24 2024-24 2024-24
Prior year Current year Current year Budget

Account Number Account Title Actual Budget Actual Remaining

601-49400-700 Transfers Out 154,910.60 340,608.00 232,486.20 108,121.80

Total Water Utilities (GENERAL): 549,041.42 901,988.00 900,059.74 1,928.26

Sewer (GENERAL)
602-49450-101 Full-Time Employees Regular 63,637.05 67,332.00 62,698.01 4,633.99
602-49450-102 Full-Time Employees Overtime 5,567.43 5,500.00 7,153.13 1,653.13-
602-49450-120 CENTRAL PENSION FUND 998.40 1,000.00 921.60 78.40
602-49450-121 PERA 14,377.37 5,462.00 5,218.19 243.81
602-49450-122 FICA 5,351.46 5,572.00 5,322.50 249.50
602-49450-131 Employer Paid Health 17,352.15 18,302.00 16,556.23 1,745.77
602-49450-201 Office Supplies(paper-pens-et) 424.56 1,000.00 584.31 415.69
602-49450-212 Motor Fuels-Gas 69.73 250.00 .00 250.00
602-49450-217 Other Operating Supplies 326.39 2,000.00 143.47 1,856.53
602-49450-221 Repair/Maint - Equipment 6,064.01 20,000.00 9,939.49 10,060.51
602-49450-223 BUILDING REPAIR 108.45 .00 131.71 131.71-
602-49450-229 Refunds 2,500.00 2,000.00 3,000.00 1,000.00-
602-49450-310 Other Professional Services 927.69 1,000.00 232.90 767.10
602-49450-322 Postage 2,846.81 2,880.00 2,709.74 170.26
602-49450-331 Meetings-Conferences (mtgs/mi) 1,050.16 1,000.00 2,127.64 1,127.64-
602-49450-343 Advertising 144.00 .00 264.00 264.00-
602-49450-362 Property - Casualty Ins (Auto) 4,567.98 4,800.00 4,565.60 234.40
602-49450-381 Electric Utilities 8,278.00 9,500.00 7,175.00 2,325.00
602-49450-383 Gas Utilities 650.99 1,500.00 399.60 1,100.40
602-49450-385 Sewer Plv-Elgin Sewer District 779,827.91 828,665.00 570,046.95 258,618.05
602-49450-417 UNIFORM 600.00 624.00 616.91 7.09
602-49450-420 Depreciation 35,386.00 35,000.00 .00 35,000.00
602-49450-437 Miscellaneous .00 500.00 .00 500.00
602-49450-700 Transfers Out 207,365.90 340,608.00 348,729.30 8,121.30-

Total Sewer (GENERAL): 1,158,422.44 1,354,495.00 1,048,536.28 305,958.72

Net Grand Totals: 9,374,910.86- 7,863,334.29-10,264,581.00- 2,401,246.71-



 1 

PLAINVIEW POLICE DEPARTMENT 
241 West Broadway 

Plainview, Minnesota 55964 
 

Jason M. Timm    Telephone: 
       CHIEF OF POLICE                           1-507-534-2441 Private 
       1-800-927-2647 Non-Emergency 
       Fax: 1-507-534-2437 
 
 
 
 

Executive Summary 
City Council Meeting: December 10th, 2024  
 

AGENDA ITEM:     Monthly Report to Council AGENDA SECTION:  
Consent 

PREPARED BY: Jason Timm, Chief of Police AGENDA NO.   7.D.  

ATTACHMENTS:  November Activity Summary Report 
 
APPROVED BY:  

RECOMMENDED ACTION:  Information only 

 
SUMMARY  
*The following is a brief summary of the highlights for the month of November. Day to day 
operations continue to be busy with changes, updates and planning. * 
 
Meeting/Training 

• Low Light Adverse Weather Conditions firearms qualification scheduled for 
December. 

• Staff is working on the end of year mandated online OSHA trainings. 
Misc. Activity 

•  Staff investigated a public nuisance violation on East Broadway, abandoned 
house.  

• Staff stopped a vehicle for a driving complaint, four occupants were confirmed 
gang members. Several charges resulted from the stop. 

• Staff investigated a money fraud complaint. We were able to stop the 
transaction before the victim was out any money. 

• Staff recovered a stolen vehicle that was taken from a local business. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 2 

Citations issued: 27 
November Call Activity    2024      
9-11 Hang-Ups 1 
Alarms 1 
All other 3 
Animal Complaints 7 
Assault 0 
Assist Other Department 15 
Attempt to Locate 0 
ATV Violations 0 
Burglary/Open Door 0 
Child Abuse/Custody Exchange 0 
Civil Matter  2 
Contempt/Curfew Violation 0 
Damage to Property 1 
DANCO Violation  0 
Disorderly Conduct 0 
Domestics  0 
Driving Complaints 4 
Driving Under the Influence 1 
Drugs All Types 0 
Escort 1 
Fire Calls 0 
Fireworks 0 
Found Property 2 
Fraud 2 
Funeral Assist 1 
Gun Permit 0 
Harassment/Threats 1 
Littering 1 
Lost Property 1 
Medical Calls 17 
Misc. Information 0 
Motorist Assists  6 
Noise Complaints 0 
OFP/HRO Violation 2 
Ordinance Complaint/Violation 1 
Parking Complaints/Violations 3 
POR Predatory Offender Reg. 0 
Public Assists 7 
School Bus/Incident & Tobacco 0 
Security Check 0 
Sex Offense 0 
Snow Removal 0 
Sudden Death 0 
Suspicious Activity  2 
Theft Offenses 2 
Traffic Crashes/Violations 171 
Trespassing 0 
Vulnerable Adults 0 
Weapons Violation 0 



 3 

Warrants All 0 
Welfare Checks  2 
Worthless Checks 0 
TOTAL CALLS      257                    
 



 

 
Water 

• Water reports were filled out and sent to the MDH (Minnesota Department of Health) 
for the month of November.  We as a city averaged 208,200 gallons per day.  The 
highest being 291,000 gallons and the lowest being 123,000 gallons.  We pumped 
6,246,000 gallons for the month. 

• Water meters were read on the 1st of the month. 
• Water meter replacement is ongoing. 
• We had 26 locates for Gopher State One Call. 
• We repaired a water service that didn’t work. 

 
Streets 

• Fall street sweeping is complete. 
• We took flags down and put up the Christmas decorations. 

 
Snow 

• We had one snow event where we treated sidewalks and streets.  
 
Trees 

• We have been trimming trees that hit our trucks and equipment.  This will continue as 
needed. 

• We will begin our winter tree trimming in the coming months. 
• We had multiple stumps ground from trees that were removed.  We removed the 

stumpage and filled the holes with dirt and seeded the area. 
 

Miscellaneous 
• We set up and tore down for elections. 

 
Daily Tasks 

• We check the wells and record the readings from the day before.  We record these 
readings for the MDH and check our equipment to ensure everything is operating as it 
should. 

• We check the lift stations and record the readings from the day before.  We do this for 
record keeping and to ensure our pumps are working properly. 

• We take water samples and test them and record test for the MDH. 
• We check for locates, if there are any, we have 48 hours to complete them. 

 
Respectfully, 
Shane Loftus 
Public Works Director 
 



 

\\Rochester4\h\PLAINVIE_CI_MN\0H1132979\1_Corres\C_To Others\Council Meetings\12-10-24 Meeting\Council Update 12-3-24.docx 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 

Date: December 2, 2024 

To: David Todd, City Administrator 

From: Brian Malm, P.E., City Engineer  

Subject: Current Projects Update 

 City of Plainview 

 Project No.: 0H1.132979 

2nd Avenue NW Reconstruction Project (2023 Street & Utility Improvements) 

No update since last meeting.  Final work will be completed in the spring.     

Orchard Hills 7th and 8th Subdivisions 

No update since the last meeting.  We are pursuing completion of the remaining items in coordination 

with City staff and attorney.   

Well No. 3 Air Entrainment – Water Tower 

A work order is included on the Council agenda for consideration of and approval. 

Chapter 600 Code Updates 

The updated Chapter 600 Code is being presented to the Planning Commission at their December 3rd 

meeting and the plan is to bring that to Council for first reading at the December 10th meeting, assuming 

the Planning Commission makes that recommendation.     

GIS Cemetery Management System 

Work is still progressing on this project.  The plan is to have this completed by the end of the year.     

Water Service Line Inventory 

No update since the prior meeting.  Additional work/funding is expected in 2025. 

Miscellaneous 

We are continuing to work with staff on the following miscellaneous items: 

• Standby generator improvements for Well No. 2.  This work is complete. 

• Wetland delineation and permitting for waterway maintenance work. 

• Watermain relocation near 3rd Ave NE. 

• 2025 Street Maintenance work. 

• Schultz (BA Holdings) Property Annexation and Utility Extension. 



Director’s Report: December 2024

User Experience Audit: As part of their goals for 2025, the library will undergo a user
experience audit. Volunteers will help library staff and trustees take a look at what it is like to
interact with library services, both online and in person, to identify where improvements could
be made. Feedback will be sought from community members who have not yet connected with
the library as well as active library users. Anyone wishing to participate can contact the library
for more information. Community members are also invited to submit general comments, ideas,
and concerns via our website: https://plainview.lib.mn.us/community/surveys/

Library Newsletter: The library offers a monthly newsletter that highlights new items, services,
and upcoming events. Mailed printed copies can be requested at the library. Sign-up for the email
version can be found on our website: https://plainview.lib.mn.us/community/newsletters/

November Quick Stats:

2860 Items Circulated 24 New Patrons 73 New Items

Respectfully Submitted,

Alice L. Henderson
Director, Plainview Public Library



Plainview Public Library Board of Trustees
Tuesday October 15, 2024 7:00 PM

Members Present: Miranda Muller, Youlonda Loechler, Chad Gelner, Ian McDonald , Nicholas Ozment,
Adam Feils
Members Not Present: Carla Tentis
Staff: Alice Henderson
City Council Member: Don Kuschel

The meeting was called to order by Youlonda at 7:01 PM.

A motion was made by Adam and seconded by Ian to approve the agenda. Motion carried unanimously.

Public Comments: No comments

A motion was made by Chad and seconded by Adam to approve the board minutes from 9/17/2024.
Motion carried unanimously.

A motion was made by Chad and seconded by Nick to approve the consent agenda as follows:
● Director’s Report
● Programming & Outreach Report
● Acknowledgement of Donations
● SELCO/SELS & Foundation Reports

Unfinished Business

New Business
A. Payment of Bills: A motion was made by Miranda and seconded by Nick to approve the Payables

by Payee in the amount of $5,146.53. Motion carried unanimously.
B. Library Director Performance Review Task Force: A motion was made by Nick and seconded by

Miranda to approve the members of the task force consisting of Youlonda Loechler, Ian McDonald
and Chad Gelner. Motion carried unanimously.

Announcements
A. Trustee or Staff Comments
B. Next Regular Meeting is 11/19/2024

The meeting adjourned at 7:12.

Respectfully submitted,
Miranda Muller
Secretary, Plainview Library Board of Trustees



Economic Development - December 2024 Update:

Rural Entrepreneurial Ventures (REV):
Plainview was awarded the $20,000 “Activating our Entrepreneurial Ecosystem” grant. Grant will go
towards paying for an increased CEDA contract for 8 hours/month dedicated to entrepreneurial outreach,
having CEDA create a business toolkit based on feedback received during the outreach program and the
remainder of the funds will be used to establish a technical assistance fund to help offset costs of trainings,
business services, and program access, etc. for local entrepreneurs.

Ongoing projects:
● Daycare workshops to identify issues/solutions to the current child care need in Plainview. A next

steps/activation plan is taking place virtually on Wednesday, December 11th.
● County Rd. 4 commercial/light industrial park- working with property owners on annexation. If it’s

annexed, we can start the Greater MN BDPI grant application through DEED to help cover the cost of
running water/sewer into the site.

● Working with Ag Partners and Brownfield’s program to remediate their contaminated commercial sites.
● REV Grant for business outreach, toolkit and technical assistance fund.
● Continued business visits.
● Continued updates to EDA website



Plainview Fire Relief Association Monthly Report 

November 2024 
                      

  

 
 
 It was a very quiet November. 
 

Calls: 1 
  
  
 Other: 

-Invited 2 high school students who are pursuing a career in firefighting 
after high school to participate in our monthly trainings. 
 

 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted by Mike Lyons, Fire Chief 



  Enter Agenda Item Name Here    |    Page 1 of 2 
 

Executive Summary 
City Council Regular Meeting:  December 10, 2024 
 

AGENDA ITEM:     Library Board Appointments AGENDA SECTION:  
Consent Agenda 

PREPARED BY: Alice Henderson, Library Director AGENDA NO.   7.E.  

ATTACHMENTS:  None APPROVED BY:    

RECOMMENDED ACTION:  Motion to appoint Library Board Trustees: 
 
Ian McDonald: Second 3-Year term to expire December 31, 2027 
Mary Schneider: First 3-Year term to expire December 31, 2027 
 

 
SUMMARY  
 

 
The Plainview Public Library Board of Trustees is a seven-member board appointed by the 
Plainview City Council. This board is responsible for the governance of the library; establishing 
policy; setting goals and objectives; hiring and evaluating the director; establishing and monitoring 
the annual budget; signing necessary contracts; and exercising such other powers consistent with the 
law to foster the effective use and management of the library. 
 
The Plainview Library Board of Trustees recommends appointments of Ian McDonald and Mary 
Schneider to fill two seats that are opening in 2025. Trustee terms are three years long, and trustees 
may serve two consecutive terms. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
Library Board of Trustees 

 



   P/Z Commission Appointments    |    Page 1 of 1 

Executive Summary 
City Council Regular Meeting: December 10, 2024   
 

AGENDA ITEM:     P&Z Commission Appointments AGENDA SECTION:  
Consent 

PREPARED BY: David Todd, City Administrator AGENDA NO.  7.F. 

ATTACHMENTS: Planning Commission Board 
Applications APPROVED BY:  DT 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:   
Motion to approve Jae Gourley to a 3-year term to the Planning/Zoning 
Commission to expire December 31, 2027. 
Motion to approve Scott Kujath to another 3-year term to the Planning/Zoning 
Commission to expire December 31, 2027. 
Motion to approve Anne Liebenow-Antila to another 3-year term to the 
Planning/Zoning Commission to expire December 31, 2027.  
Motion to approve Russell Hess to a 3-year term to the Planning/Zoning 
Commission to expire December 31, 2027. 

SUMMARY  
 
At the December 3, 2024, Planning Commission meeting, the Plainview Planning and 
Zoning Commission approved to recommend to Council to appoint Jae Gourley to a 3 -year 
term.  This term will expire December 31, 2027. 
 
At the December 3, 2024, Planning Commission meeting, the Plainview Planning and 
Zoning Commission approved to recommend to Council to reappoint Scott Kujath to 
another 3 -year term.  This term will expire December 31, 2027. 
 
At the December 3, 2024, Planning Commission meeting, the Plainview Planning and 
Zoning Commission approved to recommend to Council to reappoint Anne Liebenow-Antila 
to another 3 -year term.  This term will expire December 31, 2027. 
 
At the December 3, 2024, Planning Commission meeting, the Plainview Planning and 
Zoning Commission approved to recommend to Council to appoint Russell Hess to a 3 -
year term.  This term will expire December 31, 2027. 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted. 
David Todd, City Administrator 

 



 Plainview Volunteer Fire Department Appointments   |    Page 1 of 1 
 

Executive Summary 
City Council Regular Meeting:  December 10, 2024 
 

AGENDA ITEM:     Plainview Volunteer Fire 
Department Appointments 

AGENDA SECTION:  
Consent 

PREPARED BY: Carol Kujath, City Clerk AGENDA NO.   7.G. 

ATTACHMENTS:   None APPROVED BY:   

RECOMMENDED ACTION:   
Motion to approve the Plainview Volunteer Fire Department Appointments as 
listed. 

 
 
SUMMARY  
See attached document. 

 





Executive Summary 
City Council Regular Meeting: December 10, 2024 

AGENDA ITEM:    2024 Fund Transfer – 
 

ARPA Funds AGENDA SECTION: 
Consent 

PREPARED BY: David Todd, City Administrator AGENDA NO.   7.H. 

ATTACHMENTS: Resolution 2024-23 APPROVED BY:   DT 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Motion to approve resolution 2024-23 authorizing the 
2024 Fund Transfer of the remaining ARPA Funds from the General Fund to the 
Water Fund in the total amount of $345,412.82 as outlined below.  

SUMMARY 
Fund transfers are a normal function in fund accounting and are necessary to ensure that funds do 
not end the year with a negative balance or to pay for special projects with transfers from one fund 
to another.  

These transfers are done for a variety of reasons but most commonly to pay for capital expenditures. 
They are also done for expenditures that were unplanned, or for transfers that were planned during 
the annual budget process.   

This fund transfer is for the water meter replacement project that has already been approved by the 
council and paid for. The City of Plainview received funds from the American Rescue Plan Act 
(ARPA) for reimbursement of COVID pandemic related projects, of which the water meter 
replacement project is a qualifying expense. This process is just to approve the transfer of money 
from the general fund to the water fund as outlined below:   

1. Transfer $345,412.82 from the General Fund to the Water Fund for the purchase of water
meters for the Public Works Department to complete the water meter replacement project.

Respectfully Submitted, 

David Todd 
City Administrator 



CITY OF PLAINVIEW 
WABASHA COUNTY, MINNESOTA 

 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024-23 
 

RESOLUTION APPROVING 2024 FUND TRANSFERS 
 
WHEREAS, it is necessary to approve fund transfers each year for capital improvement 
projects, capital equipment purchases, special projects, and fund deficits; 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council that the City of Plainview 
Finance Director is hereby authorized to make the following transfer from the General Fund to 
the Water Fund in the amount of $345,412.82 per the itemized fund transfer.  
 

1. Transfer $345,412.82 of ARPA Funds from the General Fund to the Water Fund for the 
purchase of water meters for the Public Works Department to complete the water meter 
replacement project. 

  
ADOPTED by the Plainview City Council on this 10th Day of December 2024: 
 
 
 
       _________________________________ 
       Aaron Luckstein, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Carol Kujath, City Clerk 
 



Executive Summary 
City Council Regular Meeting: December 10, 2024 

AGENDA ITEM:    2025 Levy Certification AGENDA SECTION: 
New Business 

PREPARED BY: Vicki Axley, Finance Director AGENDA NO.   9.A. 

ATTACHMENTS: General Fund Levy/LGA Detail, 
Resolution 2024-20 APPROVED BY:   DT 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve Resolution 2024-20 certifying the final 2024 
tax levy collectible in 2025 in the amount of $2,921,947.   

SUMMARY 
The City of Plainview is required by law to certify to the County Auditor the final tax levy in December 
of each year.   

In September 2024, the City Council approved a preliminary levy amount of $2,931,657. This amount 
reflected an increase from the 2024 levy in the amount of $193,996 or 7.09%. After working through 
the budget process in October & November, we were able to reduce the final levy to $2,921,947, 
which now reflects an increase from the 2024 levy in the amount of $184,286 or 6.73%. Inflationary 
costs make it difficult to reduce the levy any further without affecting city services provided to our 
citizens.  



FINAL 2025 Tax Levy 12/10/2024

Fund Proposed Levy Amt 2024 Final Levy $2,737,661.00
General $2,000,405.00 2025 Final Levy $2,921,947.00
Fire Relief $22,000.00 6.73% $184,286.00
Street Projects $150,000.00
Capital Projects $225,000.00
Park Project Fund $50,000.00
Library $271,703.00
Debt Service $202,839.00

$2,921,947.00
tax rate

NTC $3,703,611.00 78.89%

2025 Net Tax Capacity $3,703,611.00
2024 Net Tax Capacity $3,633,612.00

1.93% $69,999.00

Gen Levy LGA  $973,002

Dept Amt 
41110 Council $45,531.00
41410 Elections $1,000.00
41500 Admin $313,087.00 $324,334.00
42100 Police $775,560.00 $324,334.00
42200 City Fire $138,047.00
42500 Emer Manage $8,792.00
43100 Public Works $172,414.00 $324,334.00
43125 Ice/Snow $100,670.00
46500 EDA $70,682.00
49300 Other/Contrib $17,800.00
45127 Rec-Rink $6,100.00
45128 Rec-Pool $154,677.00
45200 Rec-Parks $161,459.00
49010 Cemetery $34,586.00

$2,000,405.00 $973,002.00

2025 General Fund Property Tax & LGA Funds



 CITY OF PLAINVIEW 
WABASHA COUNTY 

STATE OF MINNESOTA 
 
 

RESOLUTION 2024-20 
 
 

RESOLUTION CERTIFYING THE FINAL 2024 TAX LEVY, 
COLLECTIBLE IN 2025 

 
 

BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Plainview, County of Wabasha, 
Minnesota, that the following sums of money be levied for the current year, collectible in 
2025, upon taxable property in the City of Plainview, in these maximum amounts, for the 
following purposes: 
 

Fund/Account Name 
Final  

Levy Amount 
General $2,000,405 
Fire Relief $22,000 
Street Project Fund $150,000 
Capital Project Fund $225,000 
Park Project Fund $50,000 
Library $271,703 
Debt Service $202,839 

TOTAL $2,921,947 
 
The Finance Director/Treasurer is hereby instructed to transmit a copy of this resolution 
to the County Auditor of Wabasha County, Minnesota. 
 
ADOPTED by the Plainview City Council on this 10th day of December 2024. 
 
 
 
       ___________________________ 
       Aaron Luckstein, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________________ 
Carol Kujath, City Clerk 
 
 
 



Executive Summary 
City Council Regular Meeting: December 10, 2024 

AGENDA ITEM:    2025 Budget Approval AGENDA SECTION: 
New Business 

PREPARED BY: Vicki Axley, Finance Director AGENDA NO.  9.B. 

ATTACHMENTS: 2025 CIP Spreadsheet, 2025 
General Gov’t Funds Budget Summary, Resolution 
2024-21 

APPROVED BY:   DT 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve Resolution 2024-21 adopting the 2025 
operating budget for the general governmental funds in the amount of $4,889,295   

SUMMARY 
The City of Plainview is required by law to adopt a budget each year.  We have been working on the 
budget process for several months. Detailed information has been given to the council finance committee 
for their review, discussion, input, and approval throughout this process. We now need to adopt the final 
budget amount.  

Highlights to this year’s budget include: 
• Maintain all current city services.
• 5% premium increases for work comp, liability/property/auto insurance
• 6.1% increase in bargaining employees’ health insurance premiums
• 5.35% increase in non-bargaining employees’ health insurance premiums
• Inflationary increases in fuel expenses, electric service, natural gas services & operating supplies.
• 3% Cost of Living Increases for all full-time and permanent part-time employees. This is the

approved COLA increase in both the IUOE Union Contract and the LELS Union contract.
• Maintain current funding to the Community Center, Olde Fashioned Christmas, Garden Club,

Blue Bell Festival and Corn on the Cob Days.
• Continue funding the street maintenance program at $100,000 a year. Annual street maintenance

extends the life of our streets and helps control costs on our street reconstruction projects.
• Fund sidewalk repairs at $55,000 a year.
• Increase funding of the capital improvement fund to $225,000/year and continue funding the

street project fund at $150,000/year for future improvement projects and equipment needs. We
have created a parks improvement fund to begin setting aside funds for future park improvements
and equipment replacement. We have allocated $50,000 to this fund for 2025 and intend to fund
it each year.

• Increase in pool expenses. While this is subject to weather and other factors each year, we want
to account for the higher expenses we may continue to incur.

• The Fire Department applied for and was awarded a FEMA Firefighter’s Grant for the purchase of
SCBA equipment in the amount of $139,051.42.  While we didn’t receive the entire amount we
applied for, we have the donation funds of $90,000 from Orville Timm’s estate that we will use for
the balance of the replacement project. We were very fortunate to receive both these grant funds



Page 2 of 2 
 

and the donation funds to help reduce the burden of equipment replacement on our tax levy 
funds.  

• Total state funds allocated to the LGA fund were the same as last year.  A slight change in 
calculations means the City of Plainview will receive $1,110.00 more in 2025 than we did in 2024.  

• The State has created a new account to provide ongoing road funding for the Small Cities 
Assistance Program. This program was last funded in 2021. In 2024 we received about $40,000 
and we are expecting to receive $59,000 in 2025. This aid will help offset the property tax levy 
request for the Public Works Department and help keep our property tax levy lower.  

• Our net tax capacity showed an increase of 1.93% over 2024 NTC. It appears that market values 
have stabilized after larger increases in the last 5 years.   

• Interest rates on both our savings account and investment accounts have been much higher in 
the last few years but we are now seeing those rates starting to drop. We have accounted for less 
interest income in 2025.  

• Includes $100,000 for the general fund reserve balance for future needs & continued financial 
stability.   

• Updated Capital Improvement Plan for 2024-2030. We continually monitor and update this plan 
as necessary each year.  
 



11/27/2024

Department Expenditure Funding Summary 2024 Fund 2025 Fund 2026 Fund 2027 Fund 2028 Fund 2029 Fund 2030 Fund

Elections

Council Council Audio Project 10,000 CIP

Administration City Code Codification 30,000 CIP

Administration Document Management System 25,000 CIP

Administration Admin Server 10,000 CIP

Administration City Hall Parking Lot Resurface 100,000 CIP

Administration Potential City Hall/PD Building Project

Library Parking Lot Resurface 200,000 CIP

Library Carpet - Kids Room 15,000 OP

Library HVAC System 40,000 OP

Library Tech Lab Renovation (SELCO FOUNDATION) 10,000 SELCO

Police Radios 6,462 CIP 8,500 CIP 8,500 CIP 8,500 CIP 8,500 CIP

Police 2023 Ford Explorer-Squad 46,350 ST AID

Police Replace 2020 Squad - Explorer 52,000 ST. AID

Police Replace 2015 Tahoe SRO Squad - #151 54,000 CIP

Police Replace 2016 Ram - Chief Squad - #161 56,000 CIP

Police Replace Squad - 2023 Explorer 56,000 CIP

Police Replace Squad - 2024 Durango 58,000 CIP

Police Replace 2025 Squad 58,000 CIP

Police Server 8,000 CIP

Police Office Computers 8,000 OP

Police Squad Car Computers (MCT) 35,000 CIP

Police Squad /Body Cameras 88,345 D.F. 90,000 CIP

Fire - City SCBA -Replacement 200,000 G/D.F.

Public Works Replace 2004 Pickup 58,000 CIP

Public Works Sweeper 257,036 CIP

Public Works Entrance Signs-Landscaping 4,203 CIP

Public Works Radio Replacement 5,000 CIP 5,000 CIP 5,000 CIP 5,000 CIP 5,000 CIP

Public Works Replace 2009 Plow Truck 240,000 D

Public Works Street Projects 1,107,510 ST/D/G 5,300,000 ST/D/G

Parks Walking Trail - Blacktop 215,890 CIP

Parks Eastwood Park - Walking Path/Parking Lot 250,000 CIP

Parks Wedgewood - Parking Lot/Alley 100,000 CIP

Parks Eastwood Park Equipment 200,000 CIP/PARK

2024-2030 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 



Parks Wedgewood - Park/Pavilion 350,000 CIP/PARK

Pool Pool Parking Lot 150,000 CIP

Cemetery Cemetery GIS System 

Water Utility Water Meter Replacement 160,511 WA

Water Utility Water Tower - Repaint 650,000 WA/D

Water Utility Well #3 Water Tower Project 2,000,000 D/WA

Water Utility Well Generator 173,761 WA/G

Sewer Utility

FUND CODE: Annual Total 1,844,178 567,390 2,305,500 6,589,500 209,500 413,000 603,000

CIP - General/CIP Fund (levy)

WA - Water Fund Funding Summary

SW - Sewer Fund CIP 267,701 305,390 297,500 359,500 194,500 238,000 528,000

` ST - Street Project Fund (levy) Water Fund Resv 334,272 300,000 650,000

D - Debt Issue Sewer Fund Resv

OP - Operational Street Fund 642,108 0 600,000

G - Grants Debt 357,813 1,700,000 4,940,000

ST AID - State Aid Funds Grants 107,589 139,051

D.F. - Donated Funds Donated Funds 88,345 70,949

FUND-Fundraising Operational 8,000 40,000 15,000

PARK-Park Fund State Aid 46,350 52,000

Fundraising

Park Fund 175,000 75,000

CIP FUND BALANCE 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2029

Beginning Balance 351,707 301,506 231,116 165,616 36,116 67,116 54,616

Trans In-Other Funds 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Interest Earned 17,500 10,000 7,000 5,000 500 500 500

Levy Revenues 200,000 225,000 225,000 225,000 225,000 225,000 225,000

Expenses 267,701 305,390 297,500 359,500 194,500 238,000 528,000

Ending Balance 301,506 231,116 165,616 36,116 67,116 54,616 -247,884



Dept Amt 
Council $54,331.00
Elections $1,000.00
Admin $760,224.00
Police $1,285,082.00
City Fire $192,527.00 * includes debt pymt for ladder truck 

Emer Manage $8,792.00
Public Works $614,338.00
Ice/Snow $112,216.00
EDA $70,682.00
Other/Contrib $17,800.00
Library $327,303.00
Rec-Rink $6,100.00
Rec-Pool $234,197.00
Rec-Parks $170,808.00
Cemetery $49,086.00
Fire Relief $75,714.00
Debt Service $870,095.00 * includes $679,340 trans in from wa/sa for 2020 & 2023 GO Rev Bond pymts

TIF $39,000.00
$4,889,295.00

2025 General Governmental Funds
Budget Summary



 CITY OF PLAINVIEW 
WABASHA COUNTY 

STATE OF MINNESOTA 
 
 

RESOLUTION 2024-21 
 
 

RESOLUTION ADOPTING A FINAL BUDGET FOR THE CITY OF 
PLAINVIEW FOR THE YEAR 2025.  

 
 

WHEREAS: The City of Plainview, is required by law to adopt a budget for each year; 
and  
 
WHEREAS: The City staff and City Council have created a proposed budget and 
subsequent capital improvement plan for the fiscal year of 2025.  
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
PLAINVIEW, MINNESOTA: That the 2025 proposed operating budget for the general 
governmental funds in the amount of $4,889,295 is adopted. 
 
ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Plainview, MN on this 10th day of 
December 2024. 
 
 
 
 
       ___________________________ 
       Aaron Luckstein, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________________ 
Carol Kujath, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 



Executive Summary 
City Council Regular Meeting: December 10, 2024 

AGENDA ITEM:    2024 Fund Transfers AGENDA SECTION: 
New Business 

PREPARED BY: Vicki Axley, Finance Director AGENDA NO.   9.C. 

ATTACHMENTS: Resolution 2024-22 APPROVED BY:   DT 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Motion to approve resolution 2024-22 authorizing the 
2024 Fund Transfers in the total amount of $1,009,809 as listed below.  

SUMMARY 
Each year I bring forth a transfer resolution for approval of necessary fund transfers for the current 
year. Fund transfers are a normal function in fund accounting and are necessary to ensure that funds 
do not end the year with a negative balance.  

These transfers are done for a variety of reasons but most commonly to pay for capital expenditures. 
Capital expenditures are paid for from the operating fund of the department purchasing the item or 
doing the project, and the money is transferred from the capital improvement reserve fund to the 
operating fund to cover this expenditure. They are also done for expenditures that were unplanned, 
or which exceeded the budgeted amount or for transfers that were planned during the annual budget 
process.   

All of these fund transfers are for purchases that have already been approved by the council and 
paid for. This process is just to approve the transfer of money between funds. I have itemized the 
2024 Fund Transfers for capital project/equipment funding as follows:   

1. Transfer $6,462 from the Capital Improvement Fund to the General Fund for the purchase
of a radio for the Police Department.

2. Transfer $4,203 from the Capital Improvement Fund to the General Fund for Public Works
for the landscaping around the new welcome signs.

3. Transfer $257,036 from the Capital Improvement Fund to the General Fund for Public
Works purchase of a new street sweeper.

4. Transfer $642,108. from the Street Improvement Fund for 2024 project expenses for the
2023 Street and Utility Improvement Project. This project was to be funded with a bond
issue, a MnDOT sidewalk grant and cash reserves from the Street Improvement Fund.



Page 2 of 2 
 

5. Transfer $50,000 from the Water Fund and $50,000 from the Sewer Fund for General Fund 
support per the 2024 approved budget.  

 
 
 



CITY OF PLAINVIEW 
WABASHA COUNTY, MINNESOTA 

 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024-22 
 

RESOLUTION APPROVING 2024 FUND TRANSFERS 
 
WHEREAS, it is necessary to approve fund transfers each year for capital improvement 
projects, capital equipment purchases, and fund deficits; 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council that the City of Plainview 
Finance Director is hereby authorized to make the following transfers in the total amount of 
$1,009,809 per the attached itemized fund transfers.  
  
ADOPTED by the Plainview City Council on this 10th Day of December, 2024: 
 
 
 
       _________________________________ 
       Aaron Luckstein, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Carol Kujath, City Clerk 
 



   STATE AID FOR LOCAL TRANSPORTATION             Rev. February 2018 
              CHANGE ORDER          
  
 

 

SP/SAP(s) 079-594-003 MN Project No.:  Change Order No. 2 

  

Page 1 of 1 
 

Project Location City of Plainview 

Local Agency  City of Plainview Local Project No. 0H1.127562 

Contractor Elcor Construction Contract No.  

Address/City/State/Zip 241 West Broadway Plainview, MN  55964 

Total Change Order Amount $ $0.00 
 

The Contract is modified as follows upon execution of this Change Order: 
 
Description:  

• Document C520-Agreement 
o Paragraph 4.03.A. is hereby modified as follows:  

▪ The work will be substantially completed on or before June 13th, 2025, 
and completed and ready for final payment in accordance with Paragraph 
15.06 of Section 00 72 00 “General Conditions” of this Project Manual on 
or before July 18th, 2025. 

 

Estimate Of Cost:  (Include any increases or decreases in contract items, any negotiated or force account items.) 

**Group/

funding 

Category 

Item No. Description Unit Unit Price 
+ or – 

Quantity 

+ or – 

Amount $ 

  No Cost     

Net Change this Change Order  0.00 

**Group/funding category is required for federal aid projects 

Due to this change, the contract time: (check one) 

(   )  Is NOT changed (   )  May be revised as provided in MnDOT Specification 1806 

(   )  Is Increased by _____ Working Days 
(   )  Is Decreased by _____ Working Days 

(x)  Is Increased by As Noted Calendar Days 
(   )  Is Decreased by _____ Calendar Days 

 
Approved by Project Engineer: _______________________________   Date: _____________ 

Print Name: ________________________________________   Phone: _________________ 

 
Approved by Contractor: ___________________________________   Date: _____________ 

Print Name: _______________________________________   Phone: __________________ 
 
Approved by City: _________________________________________   Date: _____________ 

Print Name: ________________________________________   Phone: __________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DSAE Portion:  The State of Minnesota is not a participant in this contract.  Signature by the 
District State Aid Engineer is for FUNDING PURPOSES ONLY and for compliance with State 
and Federal Aid Rules/Policy.  Eligibility does not guarantee funds will be available. 
 

This work is eligible for:   ___ Federal Funding         ___ State Aid Funding           ___ Local funds 

 
District State Aid Engineer:  _________________________________ Date: ____________ 



Page 1 of 6 

 

WORK ORDER 

 

Project:  New Elevated Storage Tank, Rehabilitation of Existing Storage Tank, and Well Modifications 

Plainview, Minnesota 

  

 

 This Work Order is entered into this 10th day of December, 2024 by and between the CITY OF 

PLAINVIEW, Minnesota, 241 West Broadway, Plainview, MN 55964 (the “City”) and BOLTON & MENK, INC., 

2900 43rd Street NW, Suite 100, Rochester, MN 55901 (the “Consultant”). 

 

RECITALS 

 

 WHEREAS, the City and the Consultant entered into a Professional Services Agreement on the 

13th day of March, 2018, including Amendment No. 1 on the 1st day of May, 2018; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Professional Services Agreement provides that project specific professional 

services would be authorized and documented by separate Work Orders; and 

 

 WHEREAS, this Work Order outlines the services to be performed by the Consultant; the 

approved compensation for the Project; and the Project schedule. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual agreements herein contained and intending 

to be legally bound hereby, the City and the Consultant hereby agree as follows: 

 

ARTICLE ONE 

SERVICES TO BE PERFORMED BY THE CONSULTANT 

 

 The City hereby retains Consultant for the services described on Exhibit A attached hereto and 

made a part hereof. 

 

ARTICLE TWO 

CONSULTANT’S COMPENSATION 

 

 The City agrees to compensate the Consultant for services furnished according to Exhibit B 

attached hereto and made a part hereof. 

 

ARTICLE THREE 

SCHEDULE OF PERFORMANCE 

 

 The Consultant shall perform the services for the Project as noted in Exhibit A.   

 

 

 Subject to the terms and conditions of this Work Order, all of the terms and conditions of the 

Professional Services Agreement dated the 13th day of March, 2018, and amended the 1st day of May 

2018 will remain in full force and effect. 

 

  



Page 2 of 6 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Work Order as of the date first above 

written. 

 

 

BOLTON & MENK, INC.    CITY OF PLAINVIEW 

        

 

By:        By:_________________________________ 

       Brian Malm, P.E., Principal Engineer Aaron Luckstein, Mayor 

        

By:_________________________________ 

Date    David Todd, City Administrator 

        

        

       Date        

        

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Page 3 of 6 

 

EXHIBIT A 

 

SERVICES TO BE PERFORMED BY CONSULTANT 

 

A. SCOPE OF WORK 

 
 The Consultant shall provide professional engineering services required for the preparation of 

plans and specifications for constructing a new 100,000-gallon elevated storage tank and 

associated work as described in Alternative 1B of the Water System Feasibility Study report, 

dated September 4, 2024, along with rehabilitation of the existing 500,000-gallon elevated 

storage tank.  The purpose of this new elevated tower is to dissipate entrained gas from Well 

No. 3 before the water is released into the distribution system.  Engineering services shall 

include design services, bidding services, and funding assistance as specified herein. 

 

 The scope of work shall include: 

 

 Task 1 – Design, Review, and Contract Documents 

 

1) Consultant shall provide preliminary design services to complete a topographic 

field survey, data collection, and investigations necessary for plan preparation 

and development of existing conditions drawings. 

2) Consultant shall provide final design services to include all necessary project 

components, including civil site design, process design, mechanical (plumbing 

and HVAC) design, and electrical engineering. 

3) Consultant shall coordinate and solicit quotes from geotechnical engineering 

firms to perform onsite soil boring(s) and geotechnical evaluation of the 

proposed tower site.  The cost of geotechnical services is outside the scope of 

this proposal and shall be paid for directly by the Client.  

4) Consultant shall prepare detailed drawings, technical specifications, and 

contract documents for the proposed project.  The drawings will be generated 

using REVIT-based 3D modeling software, while the civil site drawings will be 

developed using AutoCAD Civil 3D. 

5) Consultant shall provide a detailed field inspection of the existing 500,000-

gallon elevated storage tank to finalize the scope of improvements in 

preparation for design work. 

6) Consultant shall provide a cost-benefit analysis of various coating systems for 

the new and existing elevated storage tanks for consideration by the Client. 

7) Consultant shall submit and review plans and specifications with the Minnesota 

Department of Health (MDH) for project certification and funding requirements.  

Incorporate modifications to the documents, if required. 

8) Consultant shall submit and review plans and specifications with the Minnesota 

Department of Labor and Industry (MnDLI) and/or local building official, if 

applicable, for approval of plumbing design and compliance with building code 

regulations.  Incorporate modifications to the documents, if required. 

9) Consultant shall coordinate with MDH on needs for the required Environmental 

Summary (ES), including a Section 106 review by the State Historic Preservation 

Office (SHPO) to determine potential historic and cultural impacts to the existing 

property (if any) as required to receive state funds.  This proposal does not 



Page 4 of 6 

 

include any possible follow-up work including an archaeological or architectural 

historical assessment, if required by SHPO for approval. 

10) Consultant shall complete and submit the PFA DWRF funding application on 

behalf of the City of Plainview.  Coordination with PFA financing officers and City 

staff to deliver the final financing package. 

11) Consultant shall coordinate review meeting(s) with City staff as needed to 

discuss design progress and scheduling.  Meetings shall be conducted in-person 

or via video conference, at the discretion of the City and Consultant. 

12) Consultant shall perform a project team review for quality assurance and quality 

control (QA/QC). 

13) Perform modifications to the design documents based on input from City staff 

and QA/QC team, in preparation for issuing final bid documents. 

14) Consultant shall provide an opinion of probable cost following completion of the 

design work.  The cost estimate shall be for the general information to City staff 

prior to soliciting bids.  The City acknowledges that costs for project financing 

shall be based upon actual, competitive bid pricing for the proposed work. 

 

 Task 3 – Bidding Services & Contract Award 

 

Upon City Council authorization to advertise the project for public bid letting: 

 

1) Provide bid documents that include the construction plans, specifications, and 

contract documents in accordance with the requirements of the City, MDH, 

MnDLI, and PFA. 

2) Advertise the project for bidding and coordinate with prospective bidders, 

including responding to requests for information and issuing contract 

addendums (if any) during the bidding process.  Publication fees for advertising 

the project shall be furnished by the City of Plainview. 

3) Attend the public bid letting and evaluate bids received for completeness, 

accuracy, and note any omissions and discrepancies. 

4) Compile a bid summary comprising the results of the bids and write a bid 

evaluation letter to the City with recommendations for awarding the contract. 

5) Prepare and distribute construction contracts after award of the project. 

 

B. SCHEDULE 

  

 The following table summarizes the anticipated schedule for performing the scope of work.  The 

duration of construction services will highly depend on the Contractor’s schedule and lead times 

for receiving the new pumping equipment and materials. 

  

DESCRIPTION SCHEDULE (APPROX.) 

December 2024 • Authorization of engineering services 

December 2024 – January 

2025 

• Complete 30% preliminary design services, topographic 

survey, inspection of 500,000-gallon tank, and 

geotechnical evaluation 

 



Page 5 of 6 

 

January – March 2025 

• Complete detailed final design of the new elevated water 

storage tank, well modifications, and rehabilitation of the 

existing 500,000-gallon storage tank. 

March 2025 
• Finalize plans and specifications for submittal to MDH.  

Submit funding application(s). 

April – June 2025 

• Final design modifications and incorporate comments 

from review agencies. 

• Funding application follow-up. 

• Environmental Summary  

• DWRF PPL application 

June 2025 

• MDH project certification 

• Approval of Environmental Summary 

• FY2026 DWRF IUP request 

October – November 2025 

• FY2026 DWRF IUP published by PFA 

• City council bid authorization (pending funding 

availability) 

November – December 2025 • Project bidding (if funding available) 

January 2026 – June 2027 (1) 
• Preliminary construction timeline (18-month construction 

schedule is anticipated) 

(1)
 Proposal for construction-related services will be provided after bids are received. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Page 6 of 6 

 

 

EXHIBIT B 

 

CONSULTANT’S COMPENSATION FOR PROJECT 

 

TASK DESCRIPTION TOTAL COST 

1A 

Preliminary Design 

• Site survey and data collection for new tank 

• Inspection of existing 500,000-gallon tank 

• Geotechnical investigation and report coordination 

• 30% design layouts and tower options 

• Review meeting with City staff 

$51,000 

1B 

Detailed Final Design 

• Final Design and Preparation of Contract Documents 

o Process design 

o Civil site design 

o Mechanical engineering (HVAC & plumbing) 

o Electrical engineering  

o Protective coating systems 

• Review meeting(s) with City staff 

• Submittal of Plans and Specifications to MDH 

$155,000 

1C 

Funding Assistance & Final Reviews 

• PFA DWRF loan application 

• PFA DWRF loan post-bid updates & financing coordination 

• Environmental review & SHPO correspondence 

• Incorporate MDH, MnDLI, and QA/QC revisions 

$20,000 

2 

Bidding Services 

• Preparation of Final Contract Documents 

• Advertisement for Bidding 

• Bidder coordination, RFIs, addendums 

• Public Bid Letting, Tabulation, and Bid Evaluation 

$12,500 

TOTALS $238,500 

 

Tasks 1 and 2 are not-to-exceed fixed fees, subject only to adjustments for a change in scope of services 

performed, agreed upon in writing the City and the Consultant. 

 



9.F. Amend Parks & Trails Bylaws    |    Page 1 of 2

Executive Summary 
City Council Regular Meeting:  December 10, 2024 

AGENDA ITEM:    

Resolution 2024-24 Amending 
Parks and Trails Commission 
Bylaws Establishing a Minimum 
Number of Meetings Per Year 

AGENDA SECTION: 
New Business 

PREPARED BY: David Todd, City Administrator AGENDA NO 9.F. 

ATTACHMENTS:   Plainview Parks and Trails 
Commission Bylaws; Resolution 
2024-24 

APPROVED BY:  dt 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:   
Motion to approve Resolution 2024-24 amending the language of the 
Plainview Parks and Trails Commission bylaws establishing the minimum number 
of meetings of the Commission  

SUMMARY 

At its regularly scheduled meeting on November 26, 2024, the Plainview Parks and 
Trails Advisory Commission discussed the need to have monthly meetings 
established in their bylaws, Section I:  Meetings. The bylaws state in part…” The 
Commission shall hold regular meetings at least once each month...” The Parks and 
Trails Commission discussed whether this was necessary, and it was determined 
that in lieu of special projects that would require meeting more frequently, the 
Commission could simply meet a minimum of quarterly or more frequently as 
needed to complete its work.  

Chairperson Carrie Klassen indicated that she would like to bring this to the City 
Council to amend the bylaws and eliminate the monthly meeting requirement and 
thereby establish a quarterly meeting requirement for the Parks and Trails 
Commission. 

The City of Plainview established the Parks and Trails Advisory Commission by 
Resolution 2017-13, for the limited purpose of providing advice to the Mayor, City 
Council and Staff regarding issues of maintaining, repairing, improving, 
constructing, and funding parks and trails located within the City of Plainview. The 
city adopted, through the establishing resolution, as set of bylaws, for the purpose 



Page 2 of 2 
 

of regulating the activities and membership of the Commission (attached). The 
process for amending the bylaws is for the City Council to adopt and approve a 
resolution amending the desired language by a simple majority vote. 
 
The Parks and Trails Advisory Commission voted unanimously to recommend the 
Council amend language in the bylaws establishing a minimum of four (4) meetings 
per year or more as necessary to complete its work. The vote passed 5-0. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
David Todd, City Administrator 



PLAINVIEW PARKS AND TRAILS COMMISSION BY-LAWS 
 
The purpose of the Plainview Parks and Trails Commission is to serve as an advisory board.  The By-laws shall be 
constructed to assist the committee in making meaningful recommendations to the City Council, Mayor, City 
Administrator, and/or department heads.  
 
   I. Meetings 
 
 The Commission shall hold meetings regularly at least once each month quarterly and shall designate 

time and place thereof.  It shall adopt its own rules of procedure and shall keep a record of its 
proceedings.  All meetings, records, and accounts of the Commission shall be public data.   

 
 a) General parliamentary rules, as given in Robert's Rules of Order, as modified by the rules and 

regulations of the Commission shall be observed in conducting meetings of the Commission.   
 
 b) The following shall be the order of business of the Commission, but the rules of order may be 

suspended, and any matters considered or postponed by action of the Commission: 
 
   1. Call to Order 
   2. Consideration of minutes of last regular meeting and of any special meetings held 

subsequently and their approval or amendment.   
   3. Election of Officers (annual meeting) 
   4. Old Business 
   5. New Business 
   6. Report of Commissioners 
   7. Report from Public Works Director 
   8. Public Comments 
   9. Adjournment 
 
 c) The annual meeting of the Parks and Trails Commission shall be held within three weeks after the 

first of each year for the election of officers and such other business as is necessary.  
  
 d) The regular meeting shall be held on the 4th Tuesday of each month at the hour of 6:00 PM in the 

Public Works Facility Conference Room or a place designated in the agenda.  Notice of all 
meetings shall be mailed or emailed to each member of the Commission by the secretary prior to 
each meeting.  Meetings may be called at any time by the Chair of the Commission.   

 
 e) The Commission may from time to time make and designate the rules and regulations under which 

the Commission shall be operated.  These rules shall be kept in suitable records by the Secretary of 
the Commission.  

 
  II. Commission Members 
 
 The Parks and Trails Commission shall consist of five (5) members.  Commission Members are 

appointed by nomination of the mayor and appointment by majority vote of the Plainview City Council. 
 
 III. Officers and Election 
 
 At the annual meeting, the Commission shall elect by nomination a Chair, Vice Chair, and Secretary to 

serve for one year from the date of election and until their respective successors have been duly elected.   
 
 In the event of a failure for any reason to elect any of the said officers, or in case a vacancy shall occur in 



any of the said officers for any reason, then an election may be held at any regular or special meetings, a 
notice of such election having been given in the notice of the call of the meeting.   

 
  IV. Duties of Officers 
 
 The Chair of the Commission shall preside at the meeting of the Commission and shall perform the other 

duties ordinarily performed by the officer.  The Chair may vote on any motion presented to the 
Commission.   

 
 The Vice Chair of the Commission, in the absence of the Chair, shall perform all the duties of the Chair 

of the Commission.  In the absence of both the Chair and Vice Chair, the Commission shall elect a Chair 
pro tempore who shall perform the duties of the Chair of the Commission.  

 
 The Secretary shall be present at all meetings of the Commission or shall appoint an appropriate proxy 

and shall have the responsibility to create minutes of each meeting, deliver the minutes to the City 
Administrator, keep a list of all Commission members that includes either a physical address or an email 
address or both, and keep in a safe place all records or documents created by the Commission.  

 
   V. Quorum 
 
 three regular members constitute a quorum for the transaction of business.  No regular, special, or annual 

meeting shall be held without a quorum of members present. Members may be present at any regular, 
special, or annual meeting by phone, ITV, or other electronic means approved by the Commission Chair.  

 
   VI. Removal of Commission Members 
 
 a) Any vacancy in the office caused by the removal of a Commission member pursuant to this section 

may be filled by the Mayor and City Council for the remainder of the unexpired term in the manner 
provided in Section II of these bylaws.   

 
   b) Any appointed member of the Commission who fails to attend three (3) regular meetings in 

succession without notifying the Public Works Director in advance or who does not attend at 
least sixty (60) percent of the regularly scheduled board meetings within a twelve-month period 
will be considered to have automatically resigned from the Commission. 

 
 VII. Vacancies 
 
 Vacancies in said Commission occurring otherwise than by expiration of term shall be filled in the 

manner proscribed in Section II of these bylaws for the unexpired term of the Commission member 
leaving the Commission.   

 
 To aid the Mayor and City Council in selecting members for appointment, the Parks and Trails 

Commission may suggest qualified and interested people for appointment for each vacancy to be filled.   
VIII. Committees 
 
 Ad-hoc committees as needed shall be appointed by the Chair of the Commission and serve until their 

successors are appointed and qualified, or the committee’s work is completed.  Ad-hoc committees shall 
be made up of Commission members and other individuals for resource and advisory purposes.  It is 
recommended that department heads be consulted by committees.   

 
 A record of the action of each committee shall be kept by a member of said committee and shall be 

reported to the Commission at its next meeting for action by the Commission if the Commission so 



desires.   
 
  IX. Amending Process 
 
 These By-laws may be amended at any meeting of the Commission by a majority vote of the 

Commission and ratified by a majority vote of the Plainview City Council. Prior to the Commission 
voting on such an amendment, such amendment shall be made in writing and delivered to each 
Commission member by U.S. mail or email to the address or email address on file with the Secretary. The 
notice described in this section must be delivered no less than ten days prior to a vote by the Commission. 
  

 
   X. Complaints 
 
 The Commission shall promptly investigate and make report to the Council, concerning all complaints 

referred by such Council or Mayor to the Commission relative to the administration of the parks and trails 
program.   



CITY OF PLAINVIEW, MN 
CITY COUNCIL RESOLUTION 2024-24 

 
A RESOLUTION BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PLAINVIEW, 

MINNESOTA TO AMEND THE PARKS AND TRAILS ADVISORY COMMISSION 
BYLAWS  

 
 
WHEREAS  It is the responsibility of the City of Plainview City Council and City Staff 

(“City”) to properly maintain, repair, improve, construct, and establish rules for 
the use of City parks and trails, as well as funding of such; and   

 
WHEREAS The City established the Parks and Trails Commission (“Commission”) for the 

purpose of advising the City related to issues of maintaining, repairing, 
improving, constructing, and using parks and trails in the City of Plainview, as 
well as funding such; and   

 
WHEREAS  The City did not establish the Park Board pursuant to Minn. Stat. § 412.501, and 

by Resolution 2017-13, did not establish a Park Board pursuant to that statute; and   
 
WHEREAS  The City hereby limits the authority of the Commission in that the Commission 

shall only have the authority to advise the City on issues related to the 
maintenance, repair, improvement, and construction of parks and trails, as well as 
the funding for such; and 

 
WHEREAS The Parks and Trails Commission Bylaws provide for monthly meetings of the 

Commission; and 
 
WHEREAS  The City desires to amend the code of Bylaws for the Commission for the purpose 

of setting the minimum number of meetings of the Commission to four (4) per 
year (quarterly).    

 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF PLAINVIEW, MINNESOTA THAT: 

 
 

1. The City hereby amends the Plainview Parks and Trails Commission Bylaws, which 
are attached hereto as Attachment A, and are incorporated herein by reference. 

 
2. The City hereby grants authority to the Plainview Parks and Trails Commission only 

as stated in Attachment A and this Resolution.  
 
3. The City of Plainview Parks and Trails Commission shall have no authority to expend 

any City funds or to complete any work on behalf of the City related to the City’s 
parks and trails.  



 

Passed by the City Council of the City of Plainview, Minnesota this 10th day of December 2024. 
 
ATTEST:               
 
                                                                         
________________________________        ________________________________ 
Carol Kujath, City Clerk    Aaron Luckstein, Mayor 
 
 
 
 
 



9.G. 600 Code Amendments    |    Page 1 of 2

Executive Summary 
City Council Regular Meeting:  December 10, 2024 

AGENDA ITEM:     600 Code Amendment AGENDA SECTION: 
New Business 

PREPARED BY: David Todd, City Administrator AGENDA NO 9.G. 

ATTACHMENTS:   600 Code of Ordinances, 
Resolution #2024-25 Summary 
Publication  

APPROVED BY:  dt 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:   
Motion to approve adoption of the amended 600 Code of Ordinances for the 
City of Plainview as well as Resolution #2024-25 providing for summary 
publication to the newspaper. 

SUMMARY 

City staff has been in the process of revising the 600 Code of 
ordinances, pertaining to zoning, construction, and land use for several 
months. The code needed review and updates and the project was 
undertaken by city staff as well as staff from Bolton and Menk—the 
City’s engineers.  

A joint meeting of the Planning Commission and City Council took 
place in January, 2024 where input was gathered on the sections of the 
code where staff needed some direction. In the months that followed, 
the code was formatted, rearranged, and completed with updates and 
with the input from the joint meeting. 

The attached document is a completed version that incorporates 
comments from the joint meeting between the planning commission 
and city council as well as updated code sections related to cannabis 
legislation. Staff are seeking approval of the amended code from the 
City Council. 



Page 2 of 2 

A public hearing was advertised in the Plainview News and public 
comments were heard at the December 3rd, 2024, Planning 
Commission meeting (no comments were received). A motion to 
recommend approval of the revised 600 code was voted unanimously 
by the Planning Commission to be forwarded to the City Council. The 
approved code will be summarily published in the local newspaper 
prior to codification. 

Respectfully submitted, 

David Todd 
City Administrator 



1 
 
 

600 CONSTRUCTION, PLANNING, ZONING, AND LAND USE 
 
601  DEFINITIONS  
For the purposes of this ordinance, certain terms or words us ed herein shall be interpreted as 
follows, or if there are any terms or words not contained herein that described the applicable 
physical characteristic or condition that prevails, then the definition or abbreviations contained in 
the current Building Code as published shall prevail. Words used in the present tense include the 
past and future tense; the singular number includes the plural, and the plural includes the 
singular; the word "shall" is mandatory, and the words "should" and "may" are permissive. In the 
event of conflicting provisions in the rest of these regulations, the more restrictive shall apply. 
Accessory Buildings. A subordinate structure or building on the same lot which is incidental and 
subordinate to the principal use of the primary or main building. 
Accessory Building, Permanent, Temporary, Interior, Attached, Detached. See Section 
604.14.2 
Accessory Dwelling/Unit. See Section 604.14.2. 
Accessory Use. A use incidental to and on the same lot as a principal use. 
Agriculture Building. A building located on agriculturally zoned property and used to shelter 
farm implements, hay, grain, poultry, livestock, or other farm produce, in which there is no 
human habitation, and which is not used by the public. 
Alley. A public or private right-of-way primarily designed to serve as secondary access to the 
side or rear of those properties whose principal frontage is on some other street. 
Alley, Maintained. Alley used on a regular basis for through traffic with upkeep provided by the 
City of Plainview. 
Alter or Alteration. Any change, addition, or modification in construction or occupancy. 
Applicant. Any person or entities that applies for a building permit, subdivision approval, or a 
permit to allow land-disturbing activities. Applicant also means that person’s agents, employees, 
and others acting under this person’s direction. Consent shall be required from the legal owner of 
the premises. 
Aggrieved or Affected Person.  An aggrieved or affected person is someone who has a 
substantial interest in the decision made by the city and who is aggrieved by the decision. In the 
case of a decision by a zoning commission, planning commission, combined planning and 
zoning commission or zoning board of appeals. 
Basement. A story partly underground but having at least one-half (1/2) of its height above the 
average level of the adjoining ground. A basement shall be counted as a story if used or intended 
to be used for dwelling or business purposes. No structure which consists solely of a basement 
shall, for any period of time, be used as a dwelling. 
Best Management Practices (BMP’s). Erosion and sediment control and water quality 
management practices that are the most effective and practicable means of controlling, 
preventing, and minimizing degradation of surface water, including construction-phasing, 
minimizing the length of time soil areas are exposed, prohibitions, and other management 
practices published by state or designated area-wide planning agencies.  
Block. Any combination of land ownership bounded by streets, roads, or highways or a 



2 
 
 

combination thereof or by a combination of streets, roads, or highways and public parks, 
cemeteries, railroad right-of-ways, streams, lakes, or similar man-made or natural physical 
barriers. 
Board of Adjustments. A seven-member governmental Board appointed by the City Council 
according to MSA 462.354, Subd. 2. The purpose of this board is to act upon appeals regarding 
the Plainview Zoning Ordinance. The Planning Commission shall serve as the Board of 
Adjustments.  
Bond. Any form of security including a cash deposit, surety bond, collateral, property, or 
instrument of credit in an amount and form satisfactory to the governing body. All bonds shall be 
approved by the governing body whenever a bond is required by these regulations. 
Buildable Area. The portion of a lot remaining after required yards have been provided. 
Building. Any structure built for the support, shelter, or enclosure of persons, animals, or 
property of any kind. 
Cannabis Business. Any of the business licensed by the Minnesota Office of Cannabis 
Management related to the production and sale of cannabis, including cannabis microbusinesses, 
cannabis mezzobusinesses, cannabis cultivators, cannabis manufacturers, cannabis retailers, 
cannabis wholesalers, cannabis transporters, cannabis testing facilities, cannabis event 
organizers, cannabis delivery services, and medical cannabis combination businesses, as defined 
under Minnesota Statutes, Chapter 342. 
Cannabis Cultivation (Indoor). A cannabis business licensed to grow cannabis plants within 
the approved amount of indoor space from seed or immature plant to mature plant, harvest 
cannabis flower from mature plant, package and label immature plants and seedlings and 
cannabis flower for sale to other cannabis businesses, transport cannabis flower to a cannabis 
manufacturer located on the same premises, and perform other actions approved by the Office of 
Cannabis Management. 
Cannabis Cultivation (Outdoor). A cannabis business licensed to grow cannabis plants within 
the approved amount of outdoor space from seed or immature plant to mature plant, harvest 
cannabis flower from mature plant, package and label immature plants and seedlings and 
cannabis flower for sale to other cannabis businesses, transport cannabis flower to a cannabis 
manufacturer located on the same premises, and perform other actions approved by the Office of 
Cannabis Management. 
Cannabis Delivery. A cannabis business licensed to purchase cannabis flower, cannabis 
products, and hemp products, including lower-potency hemp edibles, as defined under Minnesota 
Statutes, Section 340.01, from retailers or cannabis business with retail endorsements for 
transport and delivery to consumers. 
Cannabis Manufacturing. A cannabis business licensed to manufacture cannabis products and 
hemp products, and package such products for sale to a state-licensed cannabis retailer and 
perform other actions approved by the Office of Cannabis Management. 
Cannabis Retailer. A cannabis business licensed or endorsed to sell cannabis product to 
consumers and not for the purpose of resale in any form. Cannabis retailer may include state-
licensed cannabis retailer location(s) and the retail location(s) of a mezzobusinesses with a retail 
operations endorsement, microbusinesses with a retail operations endorsement, and medical 
combination businesses operating a retail location. 
Cannabis Testing Facilities. A cannabis business licensed to obtain and test immature cannabis 



3 
 
 

plants and seedlings, cannabis, cannabis products, and hemp products from licensed cannabis 
businesses. 
Cannabis Transporter. A cannabis business licensed to transport immature cannabis plants and 
seedlings, cannabis flower, cannabis products, and hemp products to licensed cannabis 
businesses. 
Cannabis Wholesaler. A cannabis business licensed to purchase and sell immature cannabis 
plants and seedlings, cannabis flower, cannabis products, and hemp products, including lower-
potency hemp edibles, from another licensed cannabis business, as well as import hemp-derived 
consumer products and lower-potency hemp edibles. 
Building Official. The officer charged with the administration and enforcement of this ordinance 
or theirs regularly authorized deputy. 
City Attorney. The licensed attorney designated by the City of Plainview to furnish legal 
assistance for the administration of these regulations. 
City Council. Governing body of the City of Plainview. 
City Engineer. The licensed engineer designated by the City of Plainview to furnish engineering 
assistance for the administration of these regulations. 
Cluster Development. A subdivision development planned and constructed that groups housing 
units into patterns while providing a unified network of open space and wooded areas, while 
meeting the overall density regulations of this Ordinance. A cluster development must be at least 
5 acres in size. 
Comprehensive Plan (Master Plan). "Comprehensive Plan or Master Plan" means a 
compilation of policy statements, goals, standards, and maps for guiding the physical, social, and 
economic development, both private and public, of the municipality and its environs and may 
include, but is not limited to, the following: statements of policies, goals, standards, a land use 
plan, a community facilities plan, a transportation plan, and recommendations for plan execution. 
A comprehensive plan represents the city's recommendations for future development of the city. 
Concept Plan. A preliminary sketch showing the proposed development that may include lot 
patterns and roadways prior to submitting a preliminary plat to enable the subdivider to save time 
and expense in reaching general agreement and understanding of all applicable City standards 
and regulations. 
Condominium. A multiple dwelling containing individually owned dwelling units and jointly 
owned with shared areas and facilities, which dwelling is subject to applicable provisions of 
Minnesota State Statute §515A, commonly known as the Uniform Condominium Act. 
Construction Plan. Maps or drawings accompanying a subdivision plat showing the specific 
location and design of improvements to be installed in the subdivision in accordance with the 
requirements of the City as a condition of the approval of the plat. 
Construction Stormwater (CSW) Permit. A permit for construction activity required by the 
Minnesota Pollution Control Agency (MPCA) under Minnesota Rules Chapter 7090.   
Cross Walkways. A right-of-way or easement dedicated to public use which cuts across or into 
a block to facilitate pedestrian access to adjacent streets and properties. 
Cul-de-sac (court). A short street having one end open to traffic and the other end being 
permanently terminated by a circular turn-around for vehicles. 
Day Care. A state licensed residential facility serving from 7 through 16 persons or a licensed 



4 
 
 

day care facility serving from 13 through 16 persons. 
Developer. The owner or representative of land proposed to be subdivided. Consent shall be 
required from the legal owner of the premises. 
Development. The act of building structures and installing site improvements. 
Discharge. The conveyance, channeling, run-off, or drainage of stormwater, including snow 
melts from a construction site. 
Dwelling Unit. One or more rooms connected together, constituting a separate, independent 
housekeeping establishment for owner occupancy, or rental, or lease on weekly, monthly, or 
longer basis and physically separate from any other rooms or dwelling units which may be in the 
same structure and containing independent cooking, bathing and/or sleeping facilities. 
Dwelling Unit, Multi-family Unit. A residential building designed for or occupied by four or 
more families, with the number of families in residence not exceeding the number of dwelling 
units provided.  
Dwelling Unit, Single-family. A detached residential dwelling unit including, but not limited to, 
stick built housing, manufactured housing and mobile homes complying with Minnesota Statutes 
§327.3l to §327.36, designed for and occupied by one family only. 
Dwelling Unit, Two Family. A residential building containing two dwelling units, designed for 
occupancy by not more than two families. 
Easement. A grant by the property owner of the use of a designated portion of land by the 
public, individuals, groups, or corporations for specific purposes. 
Erosion. Any process that wears away the surface of the land by the action of water, wind, ice, 
or gravity. Erosion can be accelerated by the activities of people and nature. 
Erosion Control. Refers to methods employed to prevent erosion. Examples include soil 
stabilization practices, horizontal slope grading, temporary or permanent cover, and construction 
phasing. 
Escrow. A deposit of cash with the local government in lieu of an amount required and still in 
force on a performance or maintenance bond. Such escrow funds shall be deposited by the 
Plainview City Clerk in a separate account. 
Existing Building or Structure. A building erected prior to the adoption of this code, or one for 
which a legal building permit has been issued. 
Family or Household Members.  (1) spouses and former spouses; (2) parents and children; (3) 
persons related by blood; (4) persons who are presently residing together or who have resided 
together in the past; (5) persons who have a child in common regardless of whether they have 
been married or have lived together at any time. 
Fences. A structure dividing pieces of property which may or may not be on adjoining property 
lines. 
Gas Station. Buildings and premises where gasoline, oil, grease, batteries, tires, and automobile 
accessories may be supplied and dispensed at retail. Uses permissible at a gas station do not 
include major mechanical and body work, straightening of body parts or other work involving 
noise, glare, fumes, smoke, or other characteristics to an extent greater than normally found in 
gas stations. 
Footing. That portion of the foundation of a structure which spreads and transmits loads directly 
to the soil or the piles. 



5 
 
 

Frontage. That side of a lot abutting on a street or alley and ordinarily regarded as the front of 
the lot; in the case of a corner lot, it shall be the smaller lot line abutting a street right-of-way. 
Garage. A building or portion thereof in which a motorized vehicle or equipment containing 
gasoline, distillate, or other volatile, flammable liquid in its tank, is stored, repaired, or kept and 
not qualifying as an accessory dwelling. 
Garage, Private. A building attached or detached to the primary building used by the owner or 
tenant for the storage of motorized vehicles or equipment and not qualifying as an accessory 
dwelling. 
Garage, Commercial. Any building or premises, other than a private or storage garage, where 
motor-driven vehicles are equipped, repaired, serviced, sold or stored. 
Governing Body. The City Council of Plainview. 
Grade. The slope of a road, street, or other public way, specified in percentage (%) terms. 
Ground Floor. First floor entirely above grade. 
Height of Building. The vertical distance from the “grade” to the highest point of the coping of a 
flat roof or to the deck line of a mansard roof or to the average height of the highest gable of a 
pitch or hip roof. 
Hemp Business. A business licensed by the Minnesota Office of Cannabis Management related 
to the production and sale of lower-potency hemp edibles, including lower-potency hemp edible 
manufacturers and lower-potency hemp edible retailers. 
Home Occupation. Any gainful occupation or profession engaged in by the occupant of a 
dwelling from the dwelling unit. Such uses may include professional offices, repair services, 
photo or art studios, dressmaking, barber and beauty shops, tourist homes, daycare centers, or 
similar uses. Auto repair, welding, and large equipment repair or other business that has outdoor 
display or activity shall not be included as a home occupation. 
Impervious Surface. A constructed hard surface that either prevents or retards the entry of water 
into the soil and causes water to run off the surface in greater quantities and at an increased rate 
of flow than existed prior to development. Examples include rooftops, sidewalks, patios, 
driveways, parking lots, storage areas, and concrete, asphalt, or gravel roads. 
Improvements. See Lot Improvements or Public Improvements. 
Inspection. A procedure of determining the location of buildings and structures and the general 
construction or erection utilized to meet the intent of this ordinance. 
Interim Use.  is a temporary use of property until a particular date, until the occurrence of a 
particular event, or until zoning regulations no longer permit it. 
Land Disturbance Activities. Any land change that may result in soil erosion from water or 
wind and the movement of sediments into or upon waters or lands within this government’s 
jurisdiction, including clearing and grubbing, grading, excavating, transporting, and filling of 
land. 
Living Area. The interior habitable area of a dwelling unit including basements and attics and 
does not include a garage or any accessory structure. 
Loading Space, Off-street. Space logically and conveniently located for bulk pickups and 
deliveries. Required off-street loading space shall not to be included in the assessment of off-
street parking space needed for the use. 
Lot. Alot is a parcel of land of at least sufficient size to meet minimum zoning requirements for 



6 
 
 

use, coverage, and area, and to provide such yards and other open spaces as are herein required. 
Such lot shall have frontage on an approved public or private street, and may consist of: a single 
lot of record; a portion of a lot of record; a combination of complete lots of record, of complete 
lots of record and portions of lots of record, or of portions of lots of record, a parcel of land 
described by metes and bounds. In no case of division or combination shall any residual lot or 
parcel be created which does not meet the requirements of this ordinance. 
Lot, Corner. A lot situated at the intersection of two (2) streets, the interior angle of such 
intersection not exceeding 135 degrees. 
Lots, Double Frontage. Lots which have a front line abutting on one street and a back or rear, 
line abutting on another street. 
Lot, Interior. A lot which is located between two other lots. 
Lot, Through. A lot situated such that any two of its opposite sides are adjacent to street. 
Lot Improvement. Any building, structure, work of art, or other object, or improvement of the 
land on which they are situated constituting a physical betterment of real property, or any part of 
such betterment. Certain lot improvements shall be properly bonded as provided in these 
regulations. 
Lot of Record. A lot which is part of a subdivision recorded in the office of the county recorder, 
or a lot or parcel described by metes and bounds, the description of which has been so recorded. 
Lower-Potency Hemp Edible Manufacturer. A hemp business licensed to manufacture 
artificially derived cannabinoids as well as lower-potency hemp edibles for public consumption 
and package such lower-potency hemp edibles for sale to consumers. Hemp manufacturers may 
also sell hemp concentrate, artificially derived cannabinoids, and lower-potency hemp edibles to 
other cannabis businesses and hemp businesses. 
Lower-Potency Hemp Edible Retailer. A hemp business licensed to to acquire, possess, 
transfer, sell, dispense, or distribute lower-potency hemp edible products and related supplies 
and products pursuant to consumers. 
Manufactured Home. A structure, transportable in one or more sections, which in the transport-
able mode is eight body feet or more in width or 40 body feet or more in length, or, when erected 
on site, is 320 or more square feet and which is built on a permanent chassis and designed to be 
used as a dwelling with or without a permanent foundation when connected to the required 
utilities, and includes the plumbing, heating, air conditioning, and electrical systems contained 
therein; except that the term includes any structure which meets all the requirements and with 
respect to which the manufacturer voluntarily files a certification required by the Secretary of 
HUD and complies with the standards established under Chapter 327 of Minnesota statutes. 
Manufactured Home Park. Any site, lot, field, or tract of land upon which two or more 
occupied manufactured homes are located, either free of charge or for compensation, and 
includes any building, structure, tent, vehicle, or enclosure used or intended for use as part of the 
equipment of the manufactured home park. 
Manufactured Home Park Space or Manufactured Home Park Lot. A parcel of ground 
within a manufactured home park designed for the accommodation of one manufactured home. 
Metes and Bounds Description. A description of real property which is not described by 
reference to a lot or block shown on a map but is described by starting at a known point and 
describing the bearing and distances of the lines forming the boundaries of the property or 
delineates a fractional portion of a section, lot or area by describing lines or portions thereof. 



7 
 
 

Minimum Subdivision Design Standards. The guides, principles and specifications for the 
preparation of subdivision plats indicating, among other things, the minimum and maximum 
dimensions of the various elements set forth in the plan. 
Monument. Concrete and/or metal markers utilized to establish survey points and lot 
boundaries. 
Non-Conforming. That which fails to meet the requirements and intent of this ordinance. Also 
refer to Section 604.10.12 and Article IV, §1, 2, and 3 
Open Space. An area of land preserved from building development and reserved for the use of 
the general public or a homeowners' association for the purpose of active and passive recreation 
and certain necessary community facilities. 
Ordinance. Any legislative action of a local government which has the force of law including 
any amendment or repeal of any ordinance. 
Outlot. A tract of land other than a lot or block so designated on a land division plat or Certified 
Survey Map.   
Owner. Any person, group, firm, or corporation, or any other legal entity having legal title to or 
sufficient proprietary interest in the land sought to be subdivided under these regulations. 
Owner Occupied. The owner currently resides on the property. 
Places of Worship. Development owned by a religious organization used for worship and 
related religious, philanthropic, or social activities including rectories, manses, classrooms, 
dormitories and accessory buildings. 
Park. Area of public land developed and maintained primarily as pleasurable 
landscaped areas provided for both active and passive recreational pursuits, including tot- lots, 
playground-s' neighborhood parks, play fields, and special purpose areas. 
Parking Space, Off-Street. Space adequate for parking an automobile with room for opening 
doors on both sides, together with properly related access to a public street or alley and 
maneuvering room. 
Person. Any individual, firm, corporation, partnership, franchisee, association, or governmental 
entity. 
Plat. A drawing or map of a subdivision prepared for filing of record containing all elements and 
requirements set forth in applicable local regulations. 
Plat, Final. All required maps, information, and documents as set forth in the subdivision 
regulations and as required by the City and containing all conditions imposed on the preliminary 
plat. 
Plat, Preliminary. The preliminary map, drawing or chart indicating the proposed layout of the 
subdivision to be submitted to the Planning Commission and City Council for their 
consideration. 
Planning Commission. A governmental agency appointed by the City Council according to 
MSA 462.351 through 462.363. 
Private Street. A street serving as vehicular access to one or more parcels of land which is not 
dedicated to the public but is owned by one or more private parties. 
Public Improvement. Any drainage ditch, roadway, parkway, sidewalk, pedestrian-way, tree, 
lawn, off-street parking area, lot improvement, or other facility for which the local government 



8 
 
 

may ultimately assume the responsibility for maintenance, operation, and/or ownership or which 
may affect an improvement for which local government responsibility is established. 
Recreation Vehicle. A transportable overnight or short-term sleeping vehicle. The term 
includes, but is not necessarily limited to, travel trailer, pickup camper, fold-down camper, and 
mobilized camper. 
Recreation Vehicle Park. An approved site, lot, field, or tract of land designed, maintained, or 
used for the purpose of supplying location and accommodations for recreation vehicles and 
including any building, structure, vehicle, or enclosure used or intended for use as part of the 
equipment of such park; unoccupied recreation vehicles which are parked for purposes of 
inspection and sale may be placed in a recreation vehicle park if they are incidental to the 
operation of said recreation vehicle park. 
Recreation Vehicle Space or Lot. A parcel of ground within a recreation vehicle park designed 
for the accommodation of one recreation vehicle. 
Renewable Energy System. Any system, structure, or apparatus designed to generate energy 
from naturally replenishing sources, including but not limited to solar, wind, hydroelectric, 
geothermal, and biomass sources. These systems may include solar panels, wind turbines, 
hydroelectric generators, geothermal heat pumps, and biomass combustion systems, among 
others. 
Repair. The reconstruction or renewal of any part of an existing building for the purpose of its 
maintenance. The work "repair" or "repairs" shall not apply to any structural or spatial 
modifications. 
Residential Facility or Housing with Services. A state licensed residential facility or housing 
with services establishment serving six or fewer persons, a licensed day care facility serving 12 
or fewer persons, and a group family day care facility licensed under Minnesota Rules, parts 
9502.0315 to 9502.0445 to serve 14 or fewer children shall be considered a single family 
residential use of property for the purposes of zoning, except that a residential facility whose 
primary purpose is to treat juveniles who have violated criminal statutes relating to sex offenses 
or have been adjudicated delinquent on the basis of conduct in violation of criminal statutes 
relating to sex offenses shall not be considered a single family use. 
Restrictive Covenants. Contracts entered into between private parties and constituting a 
restriction on the use of all private property within a subdivision for the benefit of the property 
owners, and to provide mutual protection against undesirable aspects of development which 
would tend to impair stability of values. 
Resubdivision. A change in a map or an approved or recorded subdivision plat if such change 
affects any street layout on such map or area reserved thereon for public use, or any lot line; or if 
it affects any map or plan legally recorded prior to the adoption of any regulations controlling 
subdivisions. 
Right-of-way. A strip of land occupied or intended to be occupied by a street, crosswalk, 
railroad, road, electric transmission line, oil or gas pipeline, water main, sanitary or storm sewer 
main, shade trees, or for another special use. The usage of the term "right-of-way" for land-
platting purposes shall mean that every right-of-way hereafter established and shown on a final 
plat is to be separate and distinct from the lots or parcels adjoining such right-of-way and not 
included within the dimensions or areas of such lots or parcels. 
Right-of-way Width. The distance between property lines measured at right angles to the center 



9 
 
 

of the street. 
Setbacks. Distance required from nearest point of building wall or structure to property line. 
Short Term Rental. A dwelling unit, or a portion of a dwelling unit, rented for a period of less 
than thirty (30) days. 
Sign. Any device designed to inform or attract the attention of persons not on the premises on 
which the sign is located. 
Signs, Number of. For the purpose of determining number of signs, a sign shall be considered to 
be a single display surface or display device containing elements organized, related, and 
composed to form a unit. Where matter is displayed in a random manner without organized 
relationship of elements, or where there is reasonable doubt about the relationship of elements, 
each element shall be considered to be a single sign. 
Sign, On-site. A sign relating in its subject matter to the premises on which it is located, or to 
products, accommodations, services, or activities on the premises. On-site signs do not include 
signs erected by the outdoor advertising industry in the conduct of outdoor advertising business. 
Signs, Off –site. A sign other than an on-site sign. 
Stormwater. Means precipitation run-off, stormwater run-off, snow melt run-off, and any other 
surface run-off and drainage. 
Stormwater Management Facility.  Means a permanent natural or man-made facility that 
serves the purpose of temporarily detaining/retaining, infiltrating, and/or treating stormwater 
runoff. 
Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP). Means a plan for stormwater discharge that 
includes all required content under the MPCA Construction Stormwater (CSW) Permit that 
describes the erosion prevention, sediment control and waste control BMPs and permanent 
stormwater treatment systems.   
Stabilized. Is exposed ground surface after it has been covered by sod, erosion control blanket, 
riprap, or other material that prevents erosion from occurring. Simply sowing grass seed is not 
considered stabilization. 
Street, Arterial. An urban arterial is a four-lane street which provides service for intra- urban 
trips at a somewhat lower level of travel mobility than the expressway. The at- grade 
intersections should be fully or partially regulated by conditions for the arterial traffic. Direct 
private access onto the street will be permitted but regulated. Under certain circumstances, a 
frontage road may be needed. Additional right-of-way would be required for the frontage road. 
Street, Collector. A street that serves local traffic and provides for direct private access to 
abutting land uses. This system channels the local traffic to and from the arterial system and is 
capable of serving a minimum of through traffic. 
Street, Frontage. A frontage street (road) is adjacent to a major thoroughfare. Its primary 
function is to preserve the safety and capacity of the thoroughfare by controlling leasing, 
developing, or offering for sale, lease, or development a subdivision or any interest, lot, parcel, 
site, unit, access to the major street while still providing direct private access to the adjoining 
properties. The roadway of the frontage road usually abuts the thoroughfare's right-of-way. 
Street, Local. A local street offers the lowest level of mobility because service to through traffic 
is deliberately discouraged. Direct private access to abutting land uses is provided. 
Street Width. For the purpose of this Ordinance, the shortest distance between the lines 



10 
 
 

delineating the right-of-way. 
Structure.  A building or edifice or anything built, manufactured, constructed, or erected which 
is normally attached to or positioned on land, inside the ground (underground structure) 
including portable buildings, earthen structures, roads, parking lots, and paved storage areas. A 
structure can be among other things a wall, fence, or a prior mobile home which has been 
immobilized and erected on some type of permanent footings or foundation.  
Subdivider. Any person who (1) having an interest in land, causes it, directly or indirectly, to be 
divided into a subdivision, or who (2) directly or indirectly, sells, leases, or develops, or offers to 
sell, lease, or develop, or advertises for sale, lease, or development any interest, lot, parcel, site, 
unit, or plat in a subdivision, or who (3) engages directly or through an agent in the business of 
selling, or plat in a subdivision, or (4) is directly or indirectly controlled by or under direct or 
indirect common control with any of the foregoing. 
Subdivision. Any land, vacant or improved, which is divided or proposed to be divided into two 
(2) or more lots, parcels, sites, units, plots or interests for the purpose of offer, sale, lease, or 
development, either on the installment plan or upon any and all other plans, terms, and 
conditions, including resubdivision. Subdivision includes the division or development of 
residential and non-residential zoned land, whether by deed, metes and bounds description, lease, 
map, plat, or other recorded instrument. 
Townhouse. A structure housing two (2) or more dwelling units contiguous to each other only 
by the sharing of one (1) common wall. Each dwelling shall have a separate entrance. 
Wetlands. Lands transitional between terrestrial and aquatic systems where the water table is 
usually at or near the surface or the land is covered by shallow water or as defined by Minnesota 
State Wetland Program Summary statute (Minn. Stat. § 103G.005, subd. 19). For purposes of 
this definition, wetlands must have the following three attributes: 

(1) have a predominance of hydric soils; 
(2) are inundated or saturated by surface or ground water at a frequency and duration 
sufficient to support a prevalence of hydrophytic vegetation typically adapted for life in 
saturated soil conditions; and 
(3) under normal circumstances support a prevalence of such vegetation. 

Variance. A city authorized deviation from a requirement of the zoning code where, due to 
circumstances unique to the subject property, strict enforcement of the zoning code would cause 
practical difficulties. The consideration of a variance request shall be based upon defined 
practical difficulties criteria contained in Minnesota Statutes, Section 462.357, subd. 6 (2). 
Yard. A required open space other than a court unoccupied and unobstructed by any structure or 
portion of a structure from thirty (30) inches above the general ground level of the graded lot 
upward; provided, however, that fences, wallpoles, posts, and other customary yard accessories, 
ornaments, and furniture may be permitted in any yard subject to height limitations and 
requirements limiting obstruction of visibility. 
Yard, Front. A yard extending between side lot lines across the front of a lot adjoining a public 
street. 

In the case of through lots, unless the prevailing front yard pattern on adjoining lots 
indicates otherwise, front yards shall be provided on all frontages. Where one of the yards 
that would normally be required on a through lot is not in keeping with the prevailing yard 
pattern, the zoning administrator may waive the requirement for the normal front yard and 



11 
 
 

substitute therefore a special yard requirement which shall not exceed the average of the 
yards provided on adjacent lots. 
 
In the case of corner lots which do not have reversed frontage, a front yard of the required 
depth shall be provided in accordance with the prevailing yard pattern and a second front 
yard of a half depth required generally for front yards in the district shall be provided on 
the other frontage. 
In the case of reverse frontage corner lots, a front yard of the required depth shall be 
provided on either frontage, and a second front yard of half the depth required generally for 
front yards in the district shall be provided on the other frontage. 
 
In the case of corner lots with more than two frontages, the administrator shall determine 
the front yard requirements, subject to the following limitations: at least one front yard 
shall be provided having the full depth required generally in the district; no other front yard 
on such lot shall have less than half the full depth required generally. 
 
Depth of the required front yards shall be measured at right angles to a straight line joining 
the foremost points of the side lot lines. The foremost point of the side lot line in the case 
of rounded property corners at street intersections shall be assumed to be the point at which 
the side and front lot lines would have met without such rounding. Fronting and rear lines 
shall be parallel. 

 
Yard, Side. A yard extending from the rear line of the required front yard to the rear lot line, or 
in the absence of any clearly defined rear let line, to the point on the lot farthest from the 
intersection of the lot line involved with the public street. In the case of through lots, side yards 
shall extend from the rear lines of front yards required. In the case of corner lots, yards 
remaining after full and half depth front yards have been established shall be considered side 
yards. 
Yard, Rear. A yard extending across the rear of the lot between side yard lines. In the case of 
through lots and corner lots, there will not be a rear yard, but only front and side yards. 

 
602  ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT  
 
602.1  Duties of the Zoning Administrator 

 
602.1.1. Zoning Administrator. The City Administrator shall serve as the zoning 
administrator.   
 
602.1.2. Duties of the Zoning Administrator. The zoning administrator shall enforce the 
zoning and land use ordinances and shall be responsible for the following functions: 
 
A. Review all matters pertaining to applications and enforcement of this chapter. 
B. Review building permits to ensure proper zoning and approve other permits and 

make and maintain records thereof. 
C. Conduct inspections of buildings and use of land to determine compliance with the 



12 
 
 

terms of this chapter. 
D. Maintain permanent and current records of this chapter, including but not limited to: 

all maps, amendments, conditional uses, variances, appeals, and applicants 
therefore. 

E. Receive, file and forward all applications for appeals, variances, conditional uses or 
other matters to the designated official bodies. 

F. Notify in writing persons responsible for violations, indicating the nature of the 
violation and the action necessary to correct it. 

G. Institute, in the name of the city, any appropriate actions or proceedings against a 
violator as provided for in this chapter. 

 
602.2 Duties of the Planning Commission. The Planning Commission shall provide assistance 

to the city council and zoning administrator in the administration of this chapter and the 
provide recommendations to the city council, as needed, regarding the administration of 
this chapter.  

 
602.3 Board of Adjustments Established; Membership; Duties.  
 

602.3.1 Established.  The Board of Adjustments is hereby established. The Planning 
Commission shall serve as the Board of Adjustments. The Board of Adjustments shall 
serve in an advisory capacity to the city council, and shall have the following powers and 
duties: 
 
602.3.2 Powers and Duties 
 
A. The Board shall review all questions as they may arise regarding the interpretation of 

this chapter and shall provide recommendations to the City Council regarding the 
interpretation of this chapter. 
 

B. The Board shall review applications for variances and conditional use permits as they 
arise, shall hold any public hearings related to such permit applications, and shall 
provide the city council written recommendations on the permit applications. The 
written recommendations shall include a complete copy of the record of the 
proceedings before the Board, along with factual findings to support its 
recommendations.  

 
602.4 Costs.   Whenever the Zoning and Land Management Ordinance requires a public 

hearing and requires notice given to owners of affected property and property situated 
wholly or partly within 350 feet of the property to which an ordinance amendment, 
subdivision plat, or zoning district change relates, the party requesting the subdivision, 
zoning change, or zoning amendment shall bear the cost of setting up the public hearing. 
Costs may include, but not be limited to, all costs of research to determine who are the 
owners of affected property, costs of mailing notice, and costs of posting notice. 

 
602.5 Re-Submission of Use Permit, Variance Requests, and Subdivision Plats. Following 

denial by the City Council of a use permit request, variance request, or subdivision plat, 
an applicant may not re-submit the same request again to the City Council within one 
year of the date of denial of said request, unless the applicant has made a good faith effort 



13 
 
 

to change their request as instructed by the City Council in its findings denying the 
original request. 
 
602.5.1 Appeals From The Board Of Adjustment. Any person or persons, or any board, 
taxpayer, department, or bureau of the City aggrieved by any decision of the Board of 
Adjustment may seek, after an appeal to City Council, within 30 days of the decision, 
judicial review, in the manner provided by the state statutes. 

 
602.6 Amendments 

 
602.6.1 Generally.  
 
A. The city council may adopt amendments to this chapter and the zoning map in 

relation both to land uses within a particular district or to the location of the district 
line. Such amendments shall not be issued indiscriminately but shall only be used as 
a means to reflect changes in the goals and policies of the city as reflected in the 
comprehensive plan. Amendments must be adopted by a majority vote of the city 
council. The adoption or amendment of any portion of a zoning and land 
management ordinance which changes all or part of the existing classification of a 
zoning district from residential to either a commercial or an industrial district 
requires a two-thirds majority vote of the city council. 
 

B. The following are the types of amendments the council may make: 
1. A change in a district’s boundary (rezoning) 
2. A change in a districts regulations 
3. A change in any other provision of this chapter 

 
602.6.2 Initiation of Proceedings. Proceedings for amending this chapter shall be initiated 
by at least one of the following methods: 
 
A. By action of city staff 
B. By petition of an owner of property which is proposed to be rezoned or for which 

district regulation changes are proposed 
C. By action of the city council 

 
602.6.3 Amendments Initiated by Property Owners. The procedure for a property owner 
to initiate a rezoning or district regulation change applying to any property is as follows: 
 
A. The property owner or his/her agent shall meet with the zoning administrator to 

explain the situation, learn the procedures and obtain an application form and 
checklist of required exhibits. 

B. The applicant shall file the completed application form together with the required 
exhibits with the zoning administrator and shall pay a filing fee and escrow as 
established by resolution. Required exhibits include: 
1. A fully completed application form signed by all property owners. 
2. All required fees and costs associated with the application. 
3. A written statement that explains the request, including the section of the zoning 

and land management ordinance for which an amendment is requested as well as 
suggested language for the amendment. If applying for a rezoning, the request 



14 
 
 

should describe the current and proposed zoning classification along with reasons 
supporting the proposed change. For the city council to adopt a zoning and land 
management ordinance amendment or rezoning, it needs to be consistent with the 
city's comprehensive plan. The written statement should address the request's 
consistency with the comprehensive plan or a proposed amendment to the 
comprehensive plan. 

4. An accurate boundary survey and conceptual development plan for the area 
proposed to be rezoned. 

5. Any other technical information identified by the zoning administrator as required 
by state statute or necessary to review the proposal for consistency with the city's 
comprehensive plan for example, but not limited to, environmental review, traffic 
impact study, future roadway layout, stormwater analysis, utility and grading 
plans and/or concept platting. One copy of all required exhibits as indicated on the 
application form. 

6. The zoning administrator shall transmit the application and required exhibits to 
the planning and zoning commission for review and recommendation. In the case 
of a rezoning request, a notice of the planning and zoning commission meeting 
schedule for consideration of the application shall be sent to all property owners 
within 350 feet of the outer boundaries of the property in question. 

7. The planning commission shall review the proposal and hold a public hearing in 
accordance with Section 602.6.5 of this chapter.  

8. After the public hearing, the planning commission shall transmit to council its 
recommendation for approval or denial, along with facts supporting the 
recommendation. 

9. The council shall either approve or deny the application by resolution.  
 

602.6.4 Amendments Initiated by City Staff or the City Council. The following 
procedures apply for initiating an amendment based upon a recommendation by city staff 
or the city council: 
 
A. The proposed amendment shall be referred to the planning commission for study and 

report. 
B. The city council may direct the planning commission to initiate a study on a 

proposed ordinance amendment and report its findings and recommendations from 
the study to the city council. 

C. The planning commission shall hold a public hearing in accordance with Section 
602.6.5 of this chapter.  

D. In the case of a rezoning a notice shall be mailed to the owners of the property 
being considered for rezoning within 350 feet of the outer boundaries of the 
property in question not less than ten days prior to the date of the hearing. Mailed 
notice shall not be required for a city-wide amendment to this chapter initiated by 
the city council after review by the planning and zoning commission. 

E. The city council, after receipt, and placing on file the report of the planning 
commission shall either approve or deny the proposed amendment or rezoning.  

 
602.6.5. Public Hearings. No Zoning and Land Management ordinance or amendment 
thereto shall be adopted until a public hearing has been held thereon by the planning 
commission. A notice of the time, place and purpose of the hearing shall be published 



15 
 
 

in the official newspaper of the city at least ten days prior to the day of the hearing. 
When an amendment involves changes in district boundaries, a similar notice shall be 
mailed at least ten days before the day of the hearing to each owner of affected property 
and property situated wholly or partly within 350 feet of the property to which the 
amendment relates. For the purpose of giving mailed notice, the person responsible for 
mailing the notice may use any appropriate records to determine the names and 
addresses of owners. A copy of the notice and a list of the owners and addresses to 
which the notice was sent shall be attested to by the responsible person and shall be 
made a part of the records of the proceedings. The failure to give mailed notice to 
individual property owners or defects in the notice shall not invalidate the proceedings, 
provided a bona fide attempt to comply with this section has been made. 

 
602.7 Conditional and Interim Use Permits. The zoning administrator shall maintain a record 

of all conditional and interim use permits issued including information on the use, 
location, and conditions imposed by the city council, time limits, review dates and such 
other information as may be appropriate 

 
602.7.1 Application Procedures for Conditional Use and Interim Use Permits. The 

procedure for applying for conditional and interim use permit are as follows: 
A. The property owner or their agent may meet with the zoning administrator to 

describe the situation, to be advised of the procedures and to obtain an application 
form. 

B. The following exhibits shall be required for a conditional and interim use permit. 
Any of the application requirements below may not be applicable to a particular 
permit application and any application requirement listed below may be waived in 
writing by direction of the zoning administrator or city engineer: 

1. A fully completed application form signed by all property owners. 
2. All required fees and costs associated with the application. 
3. A statement of proposed use(s) addressing the required findings in Section 

602.7.3 which outlines if it is a temporary use of property or is intended to 
be a permanent use of the property. 

4. Accurate and to-scale development plans for the project area, the number 
of which to be provided as indicated on the application form, including the 
following minimum information as required by the zoning administrator or 
city engineer.  

5. Location and dimensions for existing and/or proposed buildings or other 
structure(s); setbacks; walkways and bikeways; off-street parking and 
driveways; refuse and service areas including screening materials; loading 
areas and docks; any fencing including material type; and any signs. 

6. A site plan and building elevation plans. 
7. A utility plan showing all existing and proposed water, sanitary sewer and 

stormwater management utilities needed up to 200 feet beyond the project 
area boundary as well as pipe diameters, rim and invert elevations and pipe 
gradients for sanitary sewer and storm sewer mains. 

8. A grading plan with topographic data for 200 feet around the subject 
property or around major features with contour intervals not exceeding one 



16 
 
 

foot. All proposed stormwater management facilities, roadway gradients 
and spot elevations on parking lots and curb lines must also be shown on 
the grading plan. 

9. Ingress and egress to property and proposed structures thereon and with 
particular reference to vehicular and pedestrian safety and convenience, 
traffic flow and control and access. 

10. Screening and buffering with reference to type, dimension and purpose. 
11. Exterior lighting plans showing proposed exterior lighting and signs with 

reference to fixture type, height including base, glare, traffic safety, 
lumen levels at all property lines, and compatibility and harmony with 
properties in the district. 

12. Landscaping plan showing quantities, size, common and botanical names, 
mature heights and spreads, root type and locations of plants and areas of 
sod. 

13. Traffic impact study, if required by the city engineer. 
14. Stormwater management calculations and report in a format approved by 

the city engineer. 
15. Such other information and size and quantity of exhibits as required by 

the city. 
 

C. The zoning administrator shall forward the application and required exhibits to 
the planning commission for review and consideration. A notice of the planning 
commission meeting for consideration of the application shall be sent to all 
property owners within 350 feet of the outer boundaries of the property in 
question. 

D. The planning commission shall review the proposal and report to the city council 
its recommendations together with any conditions it may propose on the 
recommendation. 

E. The zoning administrator shall schedule the public hearing and shall cause notice 
of the time, place and purpose of said hearing to be published at least ten days 
prior to the date of the hearing in the official newspaper of the city. The notice 
shall be mailed to the owners of the property within 350 feet of the outer 
boundaries of the property in question not less than ten days prior to the date of 
the hearing. 

F. The city council shall, after receipt and placing on file the report of the planning 
and zoning commission, and zoning administrator, hold a public hearing on the 
application. The city council shall either approve or deny the application. 

 
602.7.2 Expiration, revocation and amendment.  
 
A. The zoning administrator shall file a certified copy of any conditional or interim use 

permit with the county recorder. The conditional use permit shall include the legal 
description of the property. The applicant shall reimburse the city for the filing costs. 

B. Where a conditional and/or interim use permit has been issued pursuant to the 
provisions of this division, such permit shall become null and void unless work 
thereon commences within one year of the date of granting such conditional or 
interim use unless otherwise stipulated or an extension is approved by the city 



17 
 
 

council. A conditional or interim use permit, unless otherwise specified in the 
conditions of approval, shall be deemed to authorize only one particular use and 
shall expire if that use shall cease for more than 36 months. 

C. In the event that the applicant violates any of the conditions set forth in the permit, 
the conditional or interim use permit may be revoked by resolution of the city 
council. The resolution shall be recorded with the county recorder.  

D. The procedure to amend or alter an existing conditional or interim use shall be the 
same as outlined in Section 602.7.1. 

 
602.7.3 General Criteria for Granting. In granting a conditional or interim use permit, 
the city council shall consider the advice and recommendations of the planning and 
zoning commission. The city council shall make the following findings to grant a use 
permit: 
A. Consistency with the comprehensive plan. The proposed use shall be consistent with 

the comprehensive plan. 
B. Health and safety. The proposed use shall not negatively impact the health, safety and 

general welfare of occupants of surrounding land. 
C. Public infrastructure services. Adequate public facilities and services shall be able to 

be provided to the site where the use is proposed, and/or existing infrastructure shall 
be able to absorb the additional demand for public services such as utilities, streets, 
parks, schools, etc. 

D. Screening and landscaping. Incompatible impacts of the proposed use shall be 
screened and buffered from adjacent property and the surrounding neighborhood. The 
city council may require additional landscaping or screening above that required in 
the zoning ordinance. 

E. Architectural standards. The site or building associated with the proposed use meets 
or exceeds the architectural design and landscaping standards for the district in which 
it is located. The city council may require additional architectural standards above 
those required in the zoning ordinance. 

F. Zoning. The use is consistent with the purposes of the zoning and land management 
ordinance and the purposes of the zoning district in which the applicant intends to 
locate the proposed use. 

G. Traffic. The generation and characteristics of the traffic associated with the use and its 
impact on traffic volumes and safety associated with driveway locations, existing and 
proposed capacity on adjacent roads, sidewalks and trail connections can be 
adequately mitigated. 

H. Temporary Use. If a temporary use permit is applied for, a specific date or end of a 
specific occurrence of an event must be specified as a condition of approval.  

 
602.7.4 Additional Conditions Authorized. In permitting a new conditional or interim use 
or the alteration of an existing conditional or interim use, the city council may impose, in 
addition to these standards and requirements expressly specified by this chapter, 
additional conditions which the city council considers necessary to protect the best 
interest of the surrounding area or the community as a whole. These conditions may 
include, but are not limited to the following: 

 
A. Increasing the required lot size or yard dimensions   
B.  Limiting the height, size or location of buildings 
C. Controlling the location and number of vehicle access points. 
D. Increasing or decreasing the street or driveway width  
E. Increasing or decreasing the number of off-street parking spaces 



18 
 
 

F. Limiting the number, size, location, or lighting of signs 
G. Modifying the building architecture or orientation or required berms, screening, 

landscaping or other facilities to protect adjacent or nearby property. 
H. Designating locations for open space. 

 
602.8   Variances, Conditions Governing Applications, Procedures.  
 Pursuant to Minnesota Statute 462.357, subd. 6, as may be amended from time to time, 

the Planning Commission, shall have the power to hear requests for variances from the 
requirements of a zoning and land management ordinance based upon practical 
difficulties, including restrictions placed on nonconformities. Variances shall only be 
permitted when they are in harmony with the general purposes and intent of the 
ordinance; and when the variances are consistent with the comprehensive plan. 

 
602.8.1 Application and Public Hearing.  
The procedures for applying for a variance from the is chapter are as follows: 
 
A. The property owner or their agent shall meet with the zoning administrator to 

describe their situation, to be advised of the procedures and to obtain an application 
form. 

B. The applicant shall file the completed application form together with the required 
exhibits with the zoning administrator and shall pay a filing fee as by the Council. 

C. The application shall set forth the special circumstances and conditions which the 
applicant alleges exist and which are peculiar to the land, structures or buildings 
involved. 

D. The zoning administrator shall submit the application to the planning commission 
for its review and comment, and to hold a public hearing on the application.  

E. The zoning administrator shall schedule the public hearing and shall cause notice of 
the time, place and purpose of said hearing to be published at least ten days prior to 
the date of the hearing in the official newspaper of the city. The notice shall be 
mailed to the owners of the property within 350 feet of the outer boundaries of the 
property in question not less than ten days prior to the date of the hearing. The 
current City Assessor’s tax records shall be deemed sufficient for the location of said 
properties. 

F. After the public hearing, the planning commission shall make a written report to the 
City Council, with proposed factual findings to support its recommendation.  

G. Upon receipt of the report from the planning commission, the city council shall 
either approve or deny the application by resolution. 

 
602.8.2  Required Exhibits and Submittals.  

 
A. A complete application form signed by all the property owners. 
B. All required fees and administrative costs referenced in Section 602.2 associated 

with the application.  
C. A statement of all property owners of all land included within the proposal and a list 

of property owners' names and addresses within 350 feet of the outer boundaries of 
the property. 

D. A statement outlining the variance request addressing the required criteria in 
Section 602.8.3. 

E. Accurate and to-scale development plans for the project area, the number of which 
to be provided as indicated on the application form.  

 



19 
 
 

 
602.8.3 Criteria for Granting; Recording; Revocation.  
In granting a variance, the city council shall consider the advice and recommendations 
of the planning commission, The city council shall make the following findings to grant 
a variance: 
 

A. Zoning. The variance is in harmony with the purpose and intent of the ordinance; 
B. Comprehensive Plan. The variance is consistent with the comprehensive plan; 
C. Practical Difficulties. The landowner establishes that there are practical difficulties 

in complying with the zoning ordinance. Practical difficulties, as used in 
connection with the granting of a variance, require the following findings: 
1. The landowner proposes to use the property in a reasonable manner not 

permitted by the zoning ordinance. 
2. The plight of the landowner is due to circumstances unique to the property not 

created by the landowner. 
3. The variance, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality. 

D. Economic Considerations. Economic considerations alone do not constitute practical 
difficulties. Practical difficulties include, but are not limited to, inadequate access to 
direct sunlight for solar energy systems. The board or governing body may impose 
conditions in the granting of variances. A condition must be directly related to and 
must bear a rough proportionality to the impact created by the variance. 

E. Use Variances Prohibited. The City council may not grant a variance for any use 
that is not allowed under this chapter for property in the zone where the affected 
person's land is located.  

F. Conditions. The city council may impose such restrictions or conditions upon the 
premises benefited by a variance as may be necessary to comply with the standards 
established by this chapter, or to reduce or minimize the effect of such variance 
upon other properties in the neighborhood, and to better carry out the intent of the 
variance. Any conditions must be directly related to and must bear a rough 
proportionality to the impact created by the variance. 

G. Revocation. The city council may revoke a variance if any conditions established as 
part of granting the variance request are violated. 

H. Recording. The zoning administrator shall file a certified copy of the resolution 
approving the variance with the county recorder or registrar of titles for record. 
The resolution shall include the legal description of the property involved. The 
applicant shall reimburse the city for the filing costs. Failure to file a resolution or 
variance shall not affect its validity or enforceability. 

 
602.8.4 Record of Proceedings. The Planning Commission and the Council shall provide 
for a record of their proceedings, which shall include the minutes of their meetings, their 
findings, documentary or other evidence received, and the action taken on each matter 
heard by them, including final recommendation, decision and order. 
 
602.8.5 Appeals from the Decision of City Council. Any person or persons, or any 
board, taxpayer, department, or bureau of the city aggrieved by any decision of the 
Council may seek review by a court of record of such decision, in the manner provided 
by the laws of the State and particularly by Chapter 462.361, Minnesota State Statutes. 
 
 
 
 



20 
 
 

 
602.9 Building Code 

602.9.1 Codes adopted by reference.  
The Minnesota State Building Code, as adopted by the Minnesota Department of Labor 
and Industry, pursuant to Minnesota Statutes chapter 326B, including all of the 
amendments, rules and regulations established, adopted and published from time to time 
by the Minnesota Commissioner of Labor and Industry, is hereby adopted by reference 
with the exception of the optional chapters, unless specifically adopted in this ordinance. 
The Minnesota State Building Code is hereby incorporated in this ordinance as if fully 
set out herein. 
 
604.9.2 Application, Administration and Enforcement.  
The application, administration, and enforcement of the code shall be in accordance with 
Minnesota State Building Code. The code shall be enforced within the extraterritorial 
limits permitted by Minnesota Statutes 326B.121, subd.2(d), when so established by this 
ordinance. This code shall be enforced by the Minnesota Certified Building Official 
designated by this Municipality to administer the code (Minnesota statute 326B.133, 
subd. 1). No construction project shall be constructed without first paying for and 
acquiring a building permit. 
 
602.9.3 Violations and Penalties.  
A violation of the code is a misdemeanor. 
 
602.9.4 Permits and Fees.  
The issuance of permits and the collection of fees shall be as authorized in Minnesota 
Rules Chapter 1300.  Permit fees shall be assessed for work governed by this code in 
accordance with the fee schedule adopted by the City.   
 
602.9.5 Permit Validity: Any building permit issued by the City of Plainview remains 
valid for a period of 2 years from the date of issuance. Construction activities must 
commence within 180 days and be completed within the 2 years expiration, otherwise, 
the permit becomes invalid unless renewed. If the work authorized by the permit is 
suspended or abandoned for a period exceeding 180 days, the permit becomes invalid 
unless renewed before expiration. The 180-day period begins on the first day the work 
was suspended or abandoned. 
 
602.9.6 Renewals and Expiration.   
Permits may be renewed administratively for not more than one (1) renewal of one 
hundred and eighty (180) days.  After the original issuance (2 year validity) and one 
renewal (180 days) the maximum permit period of three (3) years, the permit will be 
considered expired and invalid, and a new permit application and fee will be required. 
For purposes of this paragraph, the term “commenced" shall mean the completion of an 
inspection. A failed inspection does not count as a valid commencement of construction. 
For purposes of this paragraph, the term “completed" shall include, but not be limited to 
the following: 

1. All required inspections are passed. 
2. All scope of work authorized in permit is fully built, functional and inspected. 
3. All utilities water, sewer/septic, electricity and or gas are connected. 
4. Removal of all construction materials, equipment, debris, and excess earth. 
5. Placement of topsoil and sod or seed/mulch on all lawn areas. Finish grading 

any swales within established drainage easements necessary to accommodate 



21 
 
 

natural drainage of adjacent properties. 
 
602.9.7 Building Code Year of Issuance.  
Building permits issued under a building code year and built during a new code year, 
may continue to be built under the code year that it was originally issued under. Should 
the permit expire, and a new permit or modifications be required the building may 
continue under the original code if the building already has foundations constructed. A 
violation of any portion of this section of the City Code shall cause suspension of the 
building permit and/or shall subject any person, firm, or corporation so found to be 
violating the ordinance to a fine of not more than One Hundred ($100.00) Dollars for 
each day that the violation continues or is not corrected. 
 
602.9.8 Duties of Building Inspectors.  
Upon conducting an inspection, the City Building Inspector shall verify that each project 
has a valid building permit on-site. The City Building Inspector shall notify the City of 
any project found to be without a permit. Upon final completion of the project and 
inspection by the City Building Inspector, the Inspector will issue a project completion 
certificate and/or a Certificate of Occupancy. No project shall be issued a completion 
certificate until the fee for the permit has been paid, and the permit applicant has 
complied with the provisions of this section. 

 
602.10    Demolition of Buildings 

602.10.1 Permit.  
It shall be unlawful to wreck or demolish any building or structure in the City of 
Plainview consisting of 1,000 square feet or more without first securing a permit 
pursuant to the procedures set forth below. Except that no permit shall be required for 
structures or buildings as exempted by the building code and without electrical, water or 
gas connections. Square footage shall not be incremental or phased but shall be 
calculated as the cumulative total for each building structure. 
 
602.10.2 Application.  
An application for a permit to wreck or demolish any building or structure in the City 
shall be made in writing to the City Clerk.  Such application shall give the location of 
the building or structure, the date when the wrecking or demolition is to commence and 
the approximate time which such wrecking or demolition shall take.  Upon issuance, a 
copy of the permit shall be delivered to the building inspector and any utility company 
serving the premises, and adjoining property owners or agents. 
 
602.10.3 Insurance.  
A certificate showing that public liability insurance in the amount of $1,000,000 has 
been obtained by the applicant, shall accompany the application. 
 
602.10.4 Inspection.  
Before any such permit shall be approved, the building inspector shall inspect the 
premises where the wrecking and demolition work is to take place and ascertain that the 
provision for proper care has been made so as not to endanger any connections with the 
City sewer and water systems, electrical wires, or installation of gas piping. 
 
602.10.5 Approval.  
If the building inspector finds that the terms of this ordinance are being complied with 
by the applicant, they shall approve the applicant and issue a permit for demolition. 



22 
 
 

 
602.10.6 Fees.  
The applicant shall pay the fee to the applicable City Clerk at the time of issuance of the 
permit. Said fee shall be used to pay for 2 inspections of the premises and other 
administrative expenses of the City. 
 
602.10.7 Regulations.  
All work of such wrecking or demolition shall be performed in a workman-like manner 
and with the least amount of noise possible. Care shall be taken to protect neighboring 
structures with adequate shoring and whatever else is needful to protect such structures. 
Signs stating "Demolition in Progress-No Trespassing" shall be erected on each side of 
the building that faces a public street or alley. Adequate protection shall be provided to 
prevent injury to any City or public utility. It shall be the duty of all people working on 
or responsible for such wrecking or demolition to see to it that children are warned away 
from the premises, and are not permitted to play in or on or frequent such structures. 
 
602.10.8 Penalty.  
Any person, firm or corporation violating any provision of this ordinance shall be 
deemed guilty of a misdemeanor and a separate offense shall be deemed committed on 
each day during or on which a violation occurs or continues. 

 
602.11  Moving of Houses, Buildings and Other Structures 

602.11.1 Permit Required  
No person shall move, haul or transport, any house, building, derrick or other structure 
of the height of sixteen (16) feet or more, of a width of fifteen (15) feet or more, or 
which cannot be moved at a speed of four (4) miles per hour or more, upon, across or 
over any street or alley without first obtaining a permit therefor as hereinafter provided. 
 
602.11.2 Manner of Obtaining Permits.  
All applications for permits to move houses, buildings, derricks or other similar 
structures shall be made in writing to the City Clerk, specifying the date and time of said 
moving is to commence, and the street route over which said building or structure shall 
be moved. If it shall be necessary to cut down, move, raise or in any other way interfere 
with any wires or poles, the application shall state the name of the owner and provide 
signed authorization form the owner of said wires and poles, the time and place when 
and where removal and/or cutting, raising or other interference with said wires will be 
necessary. A permit to move, shall require a resolution of the City Council.  

 
602.11.3 Fee for Permit.  
Before a permit to move any house, building, derrick or either structure is granted under 
the provisions hereof, the applicant for said permit shall pay the applicable fee to the 
City Clerk. 
 
602.11.4 Surety Bond Required.  
Every person at the time of making the application for a permit as provided in Subd. 2, 
hereof, shall execute in favor of the City a good and sufficient surety bond to be 
approved by the Building Inspector, indemnifying the City against any loss by reason of 
damage to streets or other City property, and holding the City harmless from any 



23 
 
 

damage to private property or damage suit resulting from the failure of such person to 
comply with the provisions hereof, or from their negligence. 
 
602.11.5 Notice to Owners of Wires and Poles.  
The applicant shall, upon filing of each application, give not less than five (5) working 
days written notice to the person owning or operating such wires and poles or to their 
agents, of the time when, and the place where the removal of said poles, or the cutting, 
raising or otherwise interfering with said wires shall be necessary. 
 
602.11.6 Duty of Owners of Wires and Poles.  
Every person owning or operating said poles or wires after service of notice, as required 
in Subd. 3, hereof, shall furnish competent workmen or linemen to remove such poles, 
or raise or cut wires, as may be necessary to facilitate the moving of such house, 
building, derrick, or structure. The necessary expense which is incurred thereby shall be 
paid by the holder of the moving permit. 
 
602.11.7 Duty of House Movers. 
No person engaged in moving any house, building derrick or other structure shall raise, 
cut or in any way interfere with any such poles or wires unless the persons or authorities 
owning or having control of the same shall neglect or refuse to do so after having been 
notified as required in Subd. 5, hereof, thereupon, the person or persons engaged in such 
moving may employ competent and experienced workmen or linemen to perform the 
necessary work, which shall be done in a careful and workmanlike manner, and the 
poles and wires shall be promptly replaced, and the damage thereto promptly repaired. 
 
602.11.8 Violations, Penalty.  

 
A. A violation of any provision of this section shall be declared to be a nuisance which 

shall be remedied pursuant to Chapter 110. 
B. It shall be unlawful to locate, erect, construct, reconstruct, enlarge, change, maintain 

or use any building or land in violation of any of the provisions of this chapter or any 
amendment or supplement thereto adopted by the city council. Any person violating 
any of the provisions of the city code or any amendment or supplement thereto shall 
be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor. Each and every day during which such illegal 
location, erection, construction, reconstruction, enlargement, change, maintenance or 
use continues shall be deemed a separate offense. 

C. Such penalties under A) and B) are cumulative and not exclusive such that the City 
of Plainview has the right to exercise either or both options in its sole discretion or 
judgement. 

 
602.11.9 Duty of the Public Works Director.  
The Public Works Director shall from time to time inspect the progress of the moving of 
any building, house or other structure and see that said house, building or other structure 
is being moved in accordance with the provisions of the Ordinance. 
 
602.11.10 Lights to be Displayed. 
Any person moving any structures upon, across or over any street, alley or other public 



24 
 
 

place, shall display lights thereon in such a manner as to show the height and width from 
thirty (30) minutes after sunset to thirty (30) minutes before sunrise. 

 
602.12  Comprehensive Plan 

The City of Plainview has created a comprehensive plan. The purpose of the 
Comprehensive Plan is to shape growth in ways that make Plainview a better place to 
live and work. Changes to the zoning code, zoning map, or development standards shall 
be in compliance with the Comprehensive Plan. 

 
602.13  Enforcement Officer.  

The City Council will designate the Enforcement Officer, and it is the Enforcement 
Officer's duty to enforce the provisions of this Ordinance. 

 
602.14  Inspections.  

The Enforcement Officer shall be authorized to make or cause to be made inspections to 
determine the condition of structures and premises and vacant properties in order to 
safeguard the health, safety, and welfare of the public. The Enforcement Officer, or their 
designated representative, shall, with the permission of the owner, be authorized to 
inspect any vacant areas and the exterior areas of any premises, and the interior areas of 
structures at any reasonable time for the purpose of performing their duties under this 
ordinance. If the owner, tenant, operator, or person in possession of the structure shall 
refuse to consent to the inspection, an administrative search warrant may be obtained. 

 
602.15  Compliance Order.  

Whenever the Enforcement Officer determines that any structure or the premises fail to 
meet the provisions of this ordinance, the Enforcement Officer may issue a compliance 
order setting forth the violations of the ordinance and ordering the owner, or agent to 
correct such violations. The compliance order shall: 
A. Be in writing. 
B. Describe the location and nature of the violations of this ordinance by providing the 

section of code being violated. 
C. Establish a time for the correction of such violation, which shall be at least ten 
D. (10)  calendar days, and include information on appeal procedures to the City 

Council. 
E. Be served upon the violator or the owner agent. Such notice shall be deemed to be 

properly served upon the violator if a copy thereof is served upon them personally or 
sent and delivered by registered or certified mail to the address listed on the most 
recent property tax statement of the property that is the subject of the compliance 
order, the owner’s last known address or to the property address. 

  
602.16 Designated Officers.  

City officers designated by the City Administrator, employees and independent 
contractors of the City who have designated authority to enforce an ordinance or statute, 
or the Plainview Police Department, may pursuant to this section, issue citations 
whenever the officer, employee or independent contractor has probable cause to believe 
that the person cited has committed a misdemeanor which the officer, employee or 
independent contractor has been designated and authorized to enforce, and issue a notice 
to appear and release such person on their written promise to appear in court. The 
officer, employee or independent contractor shall deliver executed citations or notices to 
the Plainview Police Department for filing with the court after review for legal 



25 
 
 

sufficiency. 
 

602.17  General Government Provisions 
602.17.1 Title.  
This section of the City Code may be referred to as the Land Management Ordinance of 
the City of Plainview, Minnesota. 
 
602.17.2 Intent and Purpose.   
It should be known that the process of dividing land into separate parcels for other uses, 
including residential, industrial and commercial sites, is one of the most important 
factors in the orderly growth of any community. Once the land has been subdivided and 
the streets, homes and other structures have been constructed and infrastructure has been 
provided, these amenities form the basic character of the community. It is therefore, to 
the interest of the general public, the developer, and the future landowners that 
subdivisions be conceived, designed, and developed in accordance with the standards in 
this ordinance. All subdivisions of land hereafter submitted for approval shall fully 
comply with the regulations set forth herein. It is the purpose of these regulations to: 
 
A. Implement the goals and policies of the City of Plainview and its Comprehensive 

Plan; 
B. Protect and promote the public health, safety, and general welfare; 
C. Provide for the compatibility of different land uses and the most appropriate use of 

land throughout the city; 
D. Conserve the natural resources in the city; 
E. Provide for the health and safety of residents by requiring the necessary services 

such as properly designed streets, adequate stormwater management, and adequate 
sewage and water service, and 

F. Promote orderly and efficient development of the city aligned with future growth 
goals and with service and infrastructure capacities. 

 
602.17.3 Interpretation Of Standards.  
In their interpretation and application, the provisions of this ordinance shall be held to be 
minimum requirements. Where this ordinance imposes a greater restriction than is 
imposed, or required by other provisions of law, or by other rules or regulations or 
ordinances, the provisions of this ordinance shall control. Where the requirements of any 
other ordinance of the City of Plainview are more stringent or restrictive than the 
requirements set forth herein, nothing herein shall be construed to waive compliance 
with the provisions of such other ordinance. 
 
602.17.4 Validity.  
This ordinance and the various articles and sections thereof are hereby declared to be 
severable. If any article, section, subsection, paragraph, sentence, or phrase of this 
ordinance is adjudged unconstitutional or invalid by any court of competent jurisdiction, 
the remainder of the ordinance shall not be affected thereby. 
 
602.17.5 Compliance.  
Except as hereinafter specified, no building or structure shall be demolished, erected, 
converted, enlarged, reconstructed, moved, or altered, nor shall any building or land be 
used or subdivided which does not comply with all of the applicable provisions 
established by this ordinance. In the event of conflicting provisions with other City of 
Plainview, State, or Federal requirements, the more restrictive provisions shall apply. 



26 
 
 

 
602.17.6 Enforcement.  
In enforcing the provisions of the Land Management Ordinance, the following 
provisions shall apply. 
 
A. Unless approved as a final plat as provided in this article, no subdivision shall be 

entitled to record in the county register's office or have any validity. The city shall 
not issue building permits for any construction on a lot in any proposed subdivision 
that is not approved as provided in this chapter except as allowed by the city's 
building permits for model homes and new residential developments policy. The 
city shall not permit any public improvements to be installed unless the 
preliminary plat is approved and shall not permit any utilization of municipal 
services until approval of the final plat and recording of same. 

B. Subdivisions shall be consistent with the adopted official zoning map and the 
zoning ordinance. 

C. If any subdivision, construction, reconstruction or use occurs in violation of this 
chapter, the zoning administrator may, in addition to other remedies, institute any 
proper criminal action or proceedings in the name of the city and hereby shall have 
the powers to prevent such unlawful subdivision, construction, reconstruction or 
use, to restrain or correct such violations, to prevent occupancy of said property or 
to prevent any use in or about said premises. 

D. Any person who violates any of the provisions of this chapter, or who sells, leases 
or transfers title of any lot, block or tract of land herein regulated before all the 
requirements of this chapter have been complied with, shall be guilty of a 
misdemeanor and upon conviction shall be fined or penalized not more than the 
maximum levels established by the State of Minnesota for misdemeanor offenses. 

 
602.17.7 Jurisdiction.  
This Land Management Ordinance shall apply to all lands as defined herein, located 
within the corporate limits of Plainview. 
 
602.17.8 Enactment.  
This ordinance is enacted pursuant to §§462.351 to 462.365, laws of Minnesota, 1959, 
as amended. Amendments to this ordinance were adopted on December 9, 2002, January 
1, 2003, and all the amendments shall be effective xxxx, xx 2024. 
 
602.17.9 Reservations And Appeals.  
Upon the adoption of this ordinance according to law, any previous zoning or 
subdivision regulations of the City of Plainview, as amended, are hereby repealed except 
as to such sections expressly retained herein. The City Council, if it believes it is in the 
best interests of the public, may waive some of the new requirements of the Zoning and 
Land Management Ordinance for applications that had been submitted for consideration 
to the Planning Commission and City Council at the time this ordinance was adopted. 
All applications and projects adopted after xxxx, xx 2024, the latest date of adoption, 
must conform to all specifications and regulations of the Zoning Ordinance. 
 
602.17.10 Issuance Of Building Permits Prohibited.  
No building permit shall be issued for any construction, enlargement, alteration or 
repair, demolition or moving of any building or structure on any lot or parcel until all the 
requirements of these regulations have been fully met. 
 



27 
 
 

 
602.17.11 Platting.  
Any subdivision creating parcels, tracts or lots after the adoption of these regulations 
shall be platted. 
 
602.17.12 Precedent.  
Any mistake or oversight on behalf of the City Council, Planning Commission, and/or 
City Staff in review, approval, or enforcement of these regulations do not constitute a 
defacto new precedent. Any change in these regulations must follow the established 
process in Section 600. 
 
602.17.13 Outlots.  
Development on lots designated as an outlot is prohibited, and no building permit will 
be issued for construction on any such lot. 
 
602.17.14 Resubdivision Of Land.  
For any change in a map of an approved or recorded subdivision plat, if such change 
affects any street layout shown on such map, or area reserved thereon for public use, or 
any lot line, or it affects any map or plan legally reached prior to the adoption of any 
regulations controlling subdivisions, such parcel shall be approved by the Planning 
Commission by the same procedures, rules, and regulations as for a subdivision. 
 
602.17.15 Conveyances Prohibited.  
No conveyance involving a portion of a platted lot or involving unplatted land, the 
conveyance of which is prohibited by Minnesota Statutes §462.358, subd. 4, shall be 
made unless the conveyance involves a single parcel of land of not less than five acres 
and having a width of not less than 300 feet. 
 

602.17.16 Corner Lots.  
For corner lots platted after the effective date of this ordinance, the side street yard shall 
be equal in width to the setback regulation of the lot to the rear having frontage on the 
intersecting street. If there are no lots to the rear having frontage on the intersecting 
street, the side yard shall be not less than fifty percent (50%) of the front yard 
requirement. However, in R-1 and R-2 Districts, the street side yard setback shall be 15 
feet. 
 
On corner lots platted and of record at the time of the effective date of this ordinance, the 
same regulations shall apply, except that this regulation shall not be so interpreted as to 
reduce the buildable width of the corner lot facing an intersecting street to less than 30 
feet nor to prohibit the erection of any accessory building which shall be in compliance 
with applicable setbacks.  

 
602.18 Administrative Lot Split.  

In the event a property owner wishes to detach a portion of one platted lot and add it to 
an adjoining platted lot, this shall be known as a "lot split" and the process for 



28 
 
 

accomplishing this shall be as set forth in this section. 
 
602.18.1 Application.  
An owner desiring a lot split shall submit an application to the City. This application 
shall contain the name and address of the applicant, telephone number, and e-mail of 
the applicant where applicable, the address of the property if different from the 
applicant's address, the legal description for the property and a summary of the reasons 
why the lot split is warranted. It shall be signed and dated by the applicant. 
 
602.18.2 Certificate of Survey. 
An owner desiring a lot split shall also submit a certificate of survey prepared by a 
licensed land surveyor. The owner shall also submit an application fee to be established 
by resolution of the City Council. 
 
602.18.3 Criteria.   
Administrative lot splits shall meet the following criteria: 
 
A. Only parcels that are part of an existing plat may be administratively split. 
B. The division involves the creation of no more than a total of three new and residual 

parcels from a legally recorded original parcel. 
C. The property lines remaining after the lot split shall not cause any resulting lot to 

be in violation of these regulations or the zoning ordinance 
D. If dedication of public streets or drainage and/or utility easements are required, the 

owner will be required to plat the property.  
E. If the intent of the lot split is to allow for building construction to take place over a 

lot line, any existing easements will need to be vacated prior to the lot split being 
approved.   

F. Lots intended for combination after split must be from the same subdivision. 
 
602.18.4 Review.  
Upon receipt, the completed application and survey/plat drawing shall be submitted to 
the City and will be reviewed by the City Engineer and Public Works staff. The City 
Engineer and Public Works staff shall require the applicant to provide any additional 
information necessary for the City to appropriately address the application.  
 
602.18.5 Approval.  
Approval or denial of an application shall be issued in writing to the property owner. 
The property owner shall be required to record this approval with the Wabasha County 
Recorder, submit a copy of the recorded document to the City, and bear any costs 
associated with doing so. If denied, the owner shall have the right to a public hearing 
before the City Council in conformance with the appeal procedure. 
 

602.19   Procedures for Submission of Plats 
 

602.19.1 Pre-Application Meeting.  
Prior to the submission of a preliminary plat, the subdivider shall meet with the Zoning 
Administrator or designee, City Engineer and other appropriate regulatory agencies to 
review applicable ordinances, regulations and plans in the area to be subdivided. At this 
time, the subdivider shall submit a concept plan of the proposed subdivision showing 



29 
 
 

the proposed lot and roadway layout and, if available, the proposed connections to 
community facilities such as water supply, wastewater collection, and stormwater 
management, surrounding neighborhood information, existing natural resources and 
topography of the site. The concept plan will be reviewed by the city to provide an 
advisory review without incurring major costs prior to submission of a preliminary plat. 
 
602.19.2 Concept Future Development Plan.  
If a preliminary plat includes additional land that is not part of the proposed plat, the 
owner shall submit a concept future development plan that outlines how the remaining 
or surrounding land may be developed.  Elements of the plan may include but not 
limited to, conceptual land use, development intensity, general street patterns, drainage 
patterns, lot patterns, and open space, if applicable.  The submitted development plan 
will be reviewed by the city at the pre-application meeting, will be filed with the plat, 
and reviewed with all future plats within the land described in the development plan to 
assure connectivity and continuity with surrounding plats and is in conformance with 
the Comprehensive Plan goals and policies. 
 
602.19.3 Fees.  
Subdivision process fees shall be as established by the city. All applicable fees must 
accompany a subdivision application. 
 
602.19.4 Overall Development Guidelines.  
The City Council may require qualified technical and staff services such as engineers, 
planners, surveyors, economics, and legal to review the concept plan, preliminary plat, 
and the final plat and advise on its suitability regarding general planning; conformity 
with plans of other private and public organizations and agencies; adequacy of 
proposed water supply, wastewater collection, stormwater management, special 
assessment procedures and other features. The subdivider shall also be required to pay 
the cost of such services. 
 
602.19.5 Sixty Day Rule.  
The preliminary plat application must be approved or denied by the City Council within 
120 days from the date of its official and complete submission. A submission is not 
deemed complete unless it includes all necessary information required by the City 
Code, unless waived by the City.  
 
602.19.6 Denial Of Plat.  
The Planning Commission shall recommend denial of a preliminary or final plat if they 
make any of the following findings: 
A. That the proposed subdivision, including the design, is in conflict with any adopted 

component of the Plainview Comprehensive Plan, Land Management Ordinance, 
Stormwater Management Ordinance, or any other provision of the City Code; 

B. That the physical characteristics of this site, including but not limited to 
topography, vegetation, susceptibility to erosion and siltation, susceptibility to 



30 
 
 

flooding, water storage, drainage and retention, are such that the site is not suitable 
for the type of development or use contemplated; 

C. That the site is not physically suitable for the proposed density of development and 
is not compatible with the density of surrounding properties;  

D. That the design of the subdivision or the proposed improvements is likely to cause 
substantial environmental damage; 

E. That the design of the subdivision or the type of improvements will be detrimental 
to the health, safety, and general welfare of the public; 

F. That the design of the subdivision or the type of improvements will conflict with 
easements of record; 

G. That the design will create an undue burden on the City’s traffic system, water, 
wastewater, or stormwater infrastructure. 

 
602.19.7 Preliminary Plat.  
After the pre-application meeting the applicant may prepare a preliminary plat, which 
shall conform to the requirements of this ordinance and the submitted concept plan with 
revisions recommended by staff. An application shall be filed at least 30 days prior to 
the Planning Commission meeting at which time action is desired. The City Clerk shall 
send copies of the preliminary plat to each of the below agencies for their comments or 
recommendations. 

1. County Engineer 
2. County Assessor 
3. County Surveyor 
4. County Zoning Administrator 
5. City Engineer 
6. Power Company 
7. Communications Company 
8. Minnesota Dept. of 

Transportation 
9. Natural Gas Company 

10. Plainview-Elgin Sanitary 
Sewer District 

11. U.S. Post Office 
12. City Clerk 
13. Public Works Director 
14. Plainview Fire Department 
15. Plainview Ambulance 

Service 
16. Plainview School District 

 
602.19.8 Planning Commission Action-Preliminary Plat.  
The Planning Commission shall hold a public hearing on the preliminary plat. Notice of the 
public hearing shall be given in the same manner as required by 602.6.5, Public Hearings. After 
considering the comments received at the public hearing, written staff report, and agency 
responses, the Planning Commission shall submit their findings and recommendations to the 
City Council and the applicant. 
 
602.19.9 City Council Action-Preliminary Plat.  
The city administrator shall notify the applicant of the City Council’s action and shall endorse 
the date of the approval or denial on the preliminary plat. If approval is given, the City Clerk 
shall send the applicant one copy of the preliminary plat marked with any required revisions. If 
approval is not given, the reasons shall be recorded in the minutes of the City Council or by 
resolution of the City Council and shall be served on the applicant by regular U.S. mail at the 



31  

address listed on the application.  
 
602.19.10 Approval Of Preliminary Plat.  
Approval of a preliminary plat shall not constitute approval of the final plat. Unless earlier 
rescinded by the City Council, approval of a preliminary plat is limited to a period of one year, 
after which time the applicant is required to resubmit a preliminary plat. Upon application filed 
with the City Clerk, the City Council may continue the approval for an additional period of time. 
The application shall be filed at least 30 days prior to expiration of the approval of the 
preliminary plat. 
 
602.19.11 Waive a Preliminary Plat 
The submittal of a preliminary plat can be waived if a subdivision can meet all the following 
criteria: 
A. Shall contain no more than five lots; 
B. The subdivision does not involve the construction of any public right-of-way or public 

utilities other than the standard required easements of platted lots and future easement corridors; 
C. Does not impair access from the subject properties or any adjacent properties; 
D. Does not violate any local, state or federal adopted law, ordinance, regulation, plan or 

policy; and 
E. The final plat shall be prepared by a land surveyor licensed in the state and follow the 

review and approval process as found in Section 602.20. Final plat content shall conform to 
Minnesota Statute 505.021.   

 
602.19.12 Final Plat.  
Following approval of a preliminary plat, the applicant may engage a licensed land surveyor to 
prepare a final plat which may constitute only a portion of the preliminary plat which the 
subdivider proposed to record and develop at this time. The applicant shall file with the City 
Clerk an application for a final plat which shall be filed at least 15 days prior to the meeting of 
the City Council at which time action is desired. Prior to submittal of the final plat application, 
the applicant shall work with City staff to develop and negotiate the required Development 
Agreement for City Council consideration of approval.  The City Clerk shall send copies of the 
application and final plat to each of the agencies which received a preliminary plat for their 
comments, and recommendations. A final plat shall conform to the requirements of this 
ordinance and all conditions set forth in the approval of the preliminary plat. 
 
602.19.13 City Council Action - Final Plat.  
The City Council shall review the final plat and, by resolution shall approve or deny the final 
plat within 60 days of the submittal. The reasons for denial shall be recorded in the minutes of 
the City Council or a council resolution and shall be served on the applicant by regular U.S. mail 
at the address listed on the application. If approved, the city council shall approve the final plat 
by resolution and shall state that the approval is conditional on signing and recording a 
Development Agreement approved by the city council, and that the final plat shall not be signed 
by the Mayor or clerk until after the Development Agreement has been signed and recorded with 
the County Recorder.   



32  

 
602.19.14 Recording Final Plat.  
Upon approval by the City Council, the City, shall record the final plat in the Office of the 
County Recorder, as provided by law. Prior to recording, the applicant shall remit to the City 
Clerk a payment equal to filing and recording costs applicable to the plat. 

  
602.20   Plat Application Guidelines  
 

602.20.1 Application For Preliminary Plat.   
Applicants shall provide and comply with applicable city application requirements and fees. 

 
602.20.2 Application For Final Plat.   
Applicants shall provide and comply with applicable city application requirements and fees.   
 
602.20.3 Preliminary and Final Plat Format and Content.  
Each preliminary and final plat shall be prepared and signed by a Minnesota Licensed 
Professional Engineer or a Minnesota Licensed Land Surveyor. Prepared plats shall comply with 
M.S. Chapter 505 and M.S. §462.358, as they may be amended from time to time, and all other 
statues and requirements which are applicable. Plats submitted for application and review 
purposes may be made at half size, 11 inches by 17 inches provided that all text is legible, and 
shall be submitted in PDF format. Preliminary and final plat applications shall include all 
information required on the application checklist, as approved by the city council. 
 

602.21 Finance of Improvements  
602.21.1 Public Finance of Improvements.  
In the event that the City shall publicly finance and administer subdivision improvements, the 
developer shall not be required to post a payment and performance bond. 
 
602.21.2 Private Finance of Improvements.  
In the event the developer elects to privately finance and administer improvements, the developer 
must provide financial security in accordance with the approved Development Agreement and 
comply with the following provisions: 
A. Completion of Improvements. Before the plat is signed, all applicants shall be required to 

complete a Development Agreement, in accordance with the City Council’s decision and the 
satisfaction of the city’s engineer and attorney, to complete all the street, sanitary sewer, 
water supply, stormwater management, and other improvements, including lot improvements 
on the individual lots of the subdivision as required in these regulations, specified in the final 
subdivision plat, and as approved by the City Council, and to dedicate the public 
improvements to the local government free and clear of all liens and encumbrances on the 
property and public improvements thus dedicated. 

B. Financial Security. 
1. The City Council shall require the applicant post financial security at the time of 

signatures for a final plat in an amount equal to 125% of the estimated public 



33  

improvement costs as determined by  the City Engineer.  
2. Such financial security shall be in a form approved by the City and shall comply with all 

statutory requirements and shall be satisfactory to the municipal attorney as to form, 
sufficiency, and manner of execution as set forth in these regulations. The period within 
which required improvements must be completed shall be specified by the City Council in 
the Development Agreement and shall be incorporated in the financial security and shall 
not, in any event, exceed two (2) years from date of final approval. 

3. Such financial security shall be approved by the governing body as to amount and surety 
and conditions satisfactory to the governing body. The City Council may, upon proof of 
difficulty, approve an extension of the completion date set forth in such financial security 
for a maximum period of one (1) additional year.  

4. In the event the subdivider defaults in the terms or conditions of the contract with the city 
for such improvements, the city may complete the project referred to in the contract by 
drawing on the financial security to cover the costs of the completion or may assess the 
costs of the completion incurred by the city against the real property being subdivided as 
if it were any other special assessment levied by the city against real property. All 
assessments shall be pursuant to Chapter 429 of Minnesota State Statutes. 

 
602.21.3 Warranty.  
Unless specifically waived by the City Council, the Developer shall be required to give a two (2) 
year warranty for improvements (sewer, water, stormwater, street, curb, gutter, etc.) from the date 
the City accepts the improvements. Any defect or repair necessary of said improvements shall be 
the responsibility of the Developer. If there is a necessary repair that needs immediate attention 
due to the risk of the public’s health or safety, the City shall be allowed to address the issue and 
bill the developer for the manpower and materials cost. 

  



34  

603  ZONING DISTRICTS  
 
603.1 Purpose. Areas of the City of Plainview have different needs and goals. To properly meet these 

needs and goals, the community has been divided into several land management districts. The 
purpose of these districts is to classify, regulate, and determine the location of trades, industry, and 
the location of buildings designed for specified uses, to regulate and limit the height and bulk of 
buildings hereafter erected or altered, to regulate and determine the area of yards, courts, and other 
open spaces within and around such buildings. 

 
603.2 Allowed Uses. In order to allow maximum flexibility in the development of the community and 

provide a measure of security in existing neighborhoods, within each district are allowed two 
levels of land use. The two levels are permitted uses and conditional uses. 
A. Permitted uses are those uses allowed by right in the district. These uses are the primary 

activity of the district. 
B. Conditional uses are use activities that are generally acceptable within the district, but the 

nature of the activity creates negative impacts on other uses and properties which need to be 
mitigated with conditions. Such uses shall be allowed on a limited and selected basis only, 
where it is shown that there is substantial benefit to the community and the level of negative 
impacts is kept at a minimum or eliminated. Applicants will be financially responsible for 
filing fees with the County Recorder's/Registrar of Title's office. 

C. Use Chart 
 

  Districts 
Use AG R-1 R-2 T C-1 C-2 I MU 
Residential Uses 
Cemeteries, funeral parlors   C P         P 
Day Care   C C         P 
Home occupation   L L L       L 
Manufactured home parks     C         P 
Multi-family dwellings/units (four or more 
units) 

    C         P 

Nursing or convalescent homes   C P         P 
Professional offices     C         P 
Public uses, such as public parks, public 
schools, etc. 

  C P         P 

Residential care facilities, providing there are 
no more than 12 residents 

  C           P 

Residential care facility     P         P 
Semi-public uses such as places of worship, 
private schools, etc. 

  C P         P 

Short-term rentals     P P       P 
Single family dwellings P P P C P* P*   P 
Two-family dwellings/units   C P C P* P*   P 
 



35  

Commercial Uses 
Animal hospitals and clinics         C P   P 
Appliance sales and service         P     P 
Automotive sales and service         P P   P 
Automotive storage         C C   P 
Cannabis cultivation, indoor P   P     
Cannabis delivery     C C P P 
Cannabis retailer    P P P  P 
Cannabis transporter       P  
Banks and savings & loans         P P   P 
City Council approved commercial uses C         C   P 
Entertainment         P     P 
Farm equipment sales, storage, and repair         C C P P 
Food processing         C     P 
Home improvement trades         P P   P 
Hotels and motels         P     P 
Lower-potency hemp edible retailer    P P P  P 
Multi-family dwellings/units       C C     C  
Offices       C P P   P 
Parking garages and lots         P     P 
Personal services       C P P   P 
Printing and related trades         P     P 
Renewable Energy Systems         C C   P 
Repair shops       C P P   P 
Restaurants         P P   P 
Retail sales       C P P   P 
Single family dwellings P P P C P* P*   P 
Two-family dwellings/units   C P C P* P*   P 
Wholesaling and warehousing         C   P P 
Industrial Uses 
Agriculture related uses, such as grain 
elevators 

            P P 

Cannabis manufacturer       P  
Cannabis testing facility       P  
Cannabis transporter       P  
Cannabis wholesaler       P  
Contractor's storage yard             P   
Farm equipment sales, storage, and repair         C C P P 
Food productions and processing              P   
Land consumptive business necessitating 
outdoor storage 

            P   



36  

Lower-potency hemp edible manufacturer    C C C P  
Manufacturing              P   
Wholesaling and warehousing         C   P P 
Transitional and Mixed Use Uses 
Accessory Use       P       C 
Agriculture related uses, such as grain 
elevators 

            P P 

Animal hospitals and clinics         C P   P 
Appliance sales and service         P     P 
Automotive sales and service         P P   P 
Automotive sales, service, and storage       C       C 
Automotive storage         C C   P 
Banks and savings & loans         P P   P 
Cemeteries, funeral parlors   C P         P 
City Council approved commercial uses C         C   P 
Day Care   C C         P 
Entertainment         P     P 
Farm equipment sales, storage, and repair         C C P P 
Home improvement services and trades       C       C 
Home improvement trades         P P   P 
Home occupation   L L L       L 
Hotels and motels         P     P 
Manufactured home parks     C         P 
Multi-family dwellings/units       C C     C  
Multi-family dwellings/units (four or more 
units) 

    C         P 

Nursing or convalescent homes   C P         P 
Offices       C P P   P 
Parking garages and lots         P     P 
Personal services       C P P   P 
Printing and related trades         P     P 
Professional offices     C         P 
Public uses, such as public parks, public 
schools, etc. 

  C P         P 

Repair shops       C P P   P 
Residential care facilities, providing there are 
no more than 12 residents 

  C           P 

Residential care facility     P         P 
Restaurants         P P   P 
Retail sales       C P P   P 
Semi-public uses such as places of worship, 
private schools, etc. 

  C P         P 



37  

Short-term rentals     P P       P 
Single family dwellings P P P C P* P*   P 
Two-family dwellings/units   C P C P* P*   P 
Wholesaling and warehousing         C   P P 
Agricultural Uses 
Agricultural buildings and structures P               
Agricultural use P               
Cannabis cultivation, indoor P   P     
Cannabis cultivation, outdoor P        
City Council approved commercial uses C         C   P 
Recreational vehicle parks and camping areas C               
Retail sale of agricultural products produced on 
premises 

C               

Single family dwellings P P P C P* P*   P 
*in Existence Prior to July 1, 2003  
P = Permitted Use 
C = Conditional Use 
L = License required 
Blank = Not Permitted 

 
 

603.3 Zoning Districts. The City of Plainview, Minnesota is hereby divided into eight 
  (8) classes of districts as follows: 

AG: Agricultural District  
R-1: Residential District  
R-2: Residential District  
T: Transition District 
C-1: Central Business District 
C-2: Service Commercial District  
I: Industrial District 
MU: Mixed Use District 

In addition to the eight zoning districts, the City of Plainview also has one overlay zoning district. 
The DWM, Drinking Water Management Overlay District, is applied to and superimposed upon 
all other zoning districts. The regulations and requirements imposed by this district are in 
addition to those established by this ordinance. See Section 603.16 for district development 
standards. 
 

603.4 Boundaries. The boundaries of these districts are indicated upon the District Boundary Map of the 
City of Plainview, Minnesota, which map is made part of this ordinance by reference. The said 
District Boundary Map and all the notations, references, and other matters shown thereon shall be 
as much a part of this ordinance as if the notations, references, and other matters set forth by said 
map were all fully described herein, the original of which is properly attested and is on file in the 
office of the City Clerk of the City of Plainview. 

 



38  

603.5 Boundary Lines. The district boundaries are either lot lines or the centerlines of streets and alleys, 
unless otherwise shown; and where the districts designated are bounded approximately by street, 
alley, or lot lines and are not dimensioned otherwise, the lot line or centerlines of streets and alleys 
shall be construed to be the boundary of the districts. 

 
603.6 Annexation. All territory which may hereafter be annexed to the City of Plainview shall be 

considered as being in the “AG" Agricultural District until otherwise changed by ordinance. 
 
603.7 AG, Agricultural District 

603.7.1 Intent and Purpose 
The AG Agricultural District is established to protect and allow for the continuance of 
agricultural activities on the peripheral areas of the community. 
 

 603.7.2 Permitted Uses 
1. Single family dwellings, and 
2. Agricultural use and the usual agricultural buildings and structures. 

 
603.7.3 Conditional Uses  

1. Retail sale of agricultural products produced on premises, 
2. Recreational vehicle parks and camping areas. In the application for a conditional use 

permit for a recreational vehicle park and camping area, all parks will be required to 
meet Chapter 327, §327.10 - §327.28 of the State of Minnesota manufactured Home 
Park and Recreational Camping Area Law, and 

3. Any additional commercial uses the City Council deems appropriate for the area and 
community welfare of Plainview. 

 
603.8 R-1, Residential District  

603.8.1 Intent and Purpose 
The R-l Residential District is established to identify and protect both existing and future 
residential areas, where the single-family dwelling shall be the major use activity. Over all other 
criteria, the protection and enhancement of the single-family dwelling shall be considered. Other 
use activities may be allowed to the extent they will not detract from the single-family residential 
character of the district. 
 
603.8.2 Permitted Uses 

1. Single-family dwellings.  
 

603.8.3 Conditional Uses 
1. Public uses, such as public parks, public schools, etc. 
2. Semi-public uses such as places of worship, private schools, etc. 
3. Cemeteries, funeral parlors, 
4. Two-family dwellings/units, 
5. Nursing or convalescent homes, 



39  

6. Residential care facilities, providing there are no more than 12 residents,  
7. Home occupation, and 
8. Day Care.  

 
603.8.4 Exceptions to Lot Frontage  
Residential lots in cul-de-sacs shall be allowed if the lot frontage is at least 50 feet, so long as the 
lot frontage is 60 feet at the front setback line (25 ft past the property line). Zero-lot line two 
family dwellings have a minimum lot frontage of 50 feet per lot (100 feet for both lots). 
 
603.8.5 Parking 
Two off-street parking spaces shall be provided for each dwelling unit. 
 

603.9 R-2, Residential District  
603.9.1 Intent and Purpose 
The R-2 Residential District is established to identify and promote the construction and 
reconstruction of multi-family residential areas. 
 
603.9.2 Permitted Uses 

1. Single-family dwellings, 
2. Two-family dwellings/units, 
3. Public uses such as public parks, public schools, etc., 
4. Semi-public uses such as private schools, places of worship, etc., 
5. Cemeteries, funeral parlors, 
6. Nursing or convalescent homes, 
7. Residential care facility, and 
8. Short-term rentals.  

 
603.9.3 Conditional Uses 

1. Multi-family dwellings/units (four or more units), 
2. Professional offices, 
3. Manufactured home parks,  
4. Home occupations, and 
5. Day Care.  

 
603.9.4 Exceptions to Lot Frontage  
Residential lots in cul-de-sacs shall be allowed if the lot frontage is at least 50 feet, so long as the 
lot frontage is 60 feet at the front setback line (25 ft past the property line). Zero-lot line two 
family dwellings have no minimum lot frontage, but in no case may any structure come closer 
than 10 feet to the side lot lines. 

 
603.9.5 Manufactured Home Parks 
In the application for a conditional use permit for a manufactured home park, all parks will be 
required to comply with Section 602.7, Conditional and Interim Use Permits. 

 
 



40  

603.10 T, Transition District  
603.10.1 Intent and Purpose 
There are some areas of the community that, by their very nature and location, are destined to be 
underutilized if placed in a traditional dominant use district. The T Transition District has been 
established to accommodate these areas where there exist conflicting uses, and the continuance of 
the use mixture is desirable for the community welfare. By their very nature, uses allowed in this 
district will have both positive and negative impacts on one another. It is the purpose of this 
District to minimize or eliminate those conflicts. 
 
603.10.2 Permitted Uses 

1. Any accessory use of an existing conforming and/or approved conditional use, and 
2. Short-term rentals. 

 
603.10.3 Conditional Uses 

1. Single family dwellings, 
2. Two family dwellings/units, 
3. Multi-family dwellings/units, 
4. Automotive sales, service, and storage, 
5. Retail sales, 
6. Personal services, 
7. Home improvement services and trades, 
8. Repair shops, 
9. Offices, 
10. Home occupations, and 
11. Any permitted or conditional use allowed in a district if that district has an adjoining 

boundary line with the Transitional District. (For example, if a C-2 District is adjacent to 
the Transitional District, offices (which are a permitted use in the C-2 District) could be 
considered under this Conditional Use definition. 

 
603.10.4 Requirements Reduced  
Where the proposed use involves the utilization of an existing structure built prior to the adoption 
of this ordinance, the City Council may reduce the lot area, frontage, and yard requirements, but 
new additions or new construction are to comply with this provision. 

 
603.11 C-1, Central Business District  

603.11.1 Intent and Purpose 
The C-l Central Business District is established to promote and encourage development and 
redevelopment of the core commercial area of the community and to enhance its position as a 
regional rural service center. 

 
603.11.2 Permitted Uses 

1. Retail sales, 
2. Restaurants, 
3. Automotive sales and service, 
4. Entertainment, 



41  

5. Home improvement trades, 
6. Printing and related trades, 
7. Parking garages and lots, 
8. Appliance sales and service, 
9. Repair shops, 
10. Banks and savings & loans, 
11. Offices, 
12. Personal services, 
13. Hotels and motels, 
14. Single Family and Two-Family Dwellings in Existence Prior to July 1, 2003 (Amended 

July 14, 2003), 
15. Lower-potency hemp edible retailers, 
16. Cannabis retailers. 

 
603.11.3 Conditional Uses 

1. Animal hospitals and clinics, 
2. Automotive storage, 
3. Farm equipment, sales, storage, and repair, 
4. Food processing, 
5. Renewable energy systems, 
6. Wholesaling and warehousing, 
7. Multi-family dwellings/units, 
8. Lower-potency hemp edible manufacturers. 

 
603.12 C-2, Service Commercial District  

603.12.1 Intent and Purpose 
The C-2 Service Commercial District is established to accommodate commercial development in 
localized areas of the community outside of the Central Business District. 

 
603.12.2 Permitted Uses 

1. Retail sales, 
2. Restaurants, 
3. Banks and savings & loans, 
4. Home improvement trades, 
5. Animal hospitals and clinics, 
6. Offices, 
7. Repair shops, 
8. Personal services, 
9. Automotive sales and services, 
10. Single Family and Two-Family Dwellings in Existence Prior to July 1, 2003 (Amended 

July 14, 2003), 
11. Cannabis and lower-potency hemp edible retailers. 

 
603.12.3 Conditional Uses 

1. Automotive storage, 
2. Farm equipment sales, storage, and repair, 



42  

3. Renewable energy systems, 
4. Cannabis delivery, 
5. Lower-potency hemp edible manufacturers, 
6. Any additional commercial uses the City Council deems appropriate for the area and 

community welfare of Plainview. 
 
603.12.4 Screening Required  
Any lot line adjoining a Residential District shall be screened with a solid fence or shrubbery at 
least six 6’ in height. 
 
603.12.5 Landscaping Required  
In the front yard of each lot shall be an area of at least 1,000 sq. ft. landscaped and maintained in 
an attractive manner. No buildings or parking and drives shall be allowed in this area. 
 

603.13 I, Industrial District  
603.13.1 Intent and Purpose 
The I Industrial District is established to enhance and promote Plainview as a community for 
industrial development and still maintain its quality environment. 
 
603.13.2 Permitted Uses 

1. Wholesaling and warehousing, 
2. Manufacturing, 
3. Food productions and processing, 
4. Agriculture related uses, such as grain elevators, 
5. Farm equipment sales, storage, and repair, 
6. Contractor's storage yard, 
7. Land consumptive business necessitating outdoor storage, 
8. Cannabis delivery, 
9. Cannabis transporters, 
10. Cannabis manufacturers, 
11. Cannabis testing facilities, 
12. Cannabis wholesalers,  
13. Lower-potency hemp edible manufacturers. 

 
603.13.3 Conditional Uses 

1. Any of the above uses where excessive impacts such as pollution, lighting, odor, noise, 
smoke, etc. may be generated, and 

2. Any uses the City Council deems appropriate for the area and the community welfare and 
growth of Plainview. 

 
603.13.4 Additional Lot Area Required  
If the total building floor areas exceed 5,000 sq. ft., additional lot area of 1, 000 sq. ft. shall be 
required for each additional 1,000 sq. ft. of floor area or fraction thereof. 
 
603.13.5 Screening Required  

  Same as in the C-2 Commercial District.  



43  

 
603.14 MU, Mixed Use District  

603.14.1 Intent and Purpose 
A mixed-use zoning district allows for a combination of residential, commercial, and business in 
the same area. Mixed use zoning districts are intended to promote more diverse and livable 
neighborhoods, reduce traffic and environmental impacts, and support economic development. 
 
603.14.2 Permitted Uses 

1. All uses allowed in all residential zoning districts. 
2. All uses allowed in all commercial zoning districts. 

 
603.14.3 Conditional Uses 

1. Uses allowed in Transitional Districts 
2. All accessory uses allowed in residential and commercial zoning districts.  
3. Any of the above uses where excessive impacts such as pollution, lighting, odor, noise, 

smoke, etc. may be generated, and 
4. Any uses the City Council deems appropriate for the area and the community welfare and 

growth of Plainview. 
 

603.14.4 Screening Required  
  Same as in the C-2 Commercial District.  
 
603.15  Special Districts  

See Section 604.20 for the Skye View Development Special District 
 
 603.16 Drinking Water Supply Management Area (DWSMA) Overlay District  

603.16.1 Intent and Purpose 
The purpose of this district is to promote proper management and protection of the City’s 
Drinking Water Supply Management Area (DWSMA) and Wellhead Protection Area (WHPA). 
The intent is to prevent possible contamination of the City’s drinking water, which would 
adversely affect the public health, safety and general welfare. The DWSMA Overlay District, is 
applied to and superimposed upon all other zoning districts. The limits of the DWSMA Overlay 
District shall match the most current limits of the City’s DWSMA, as established by the 
Minnesota Department of Health (MDH) and on file with the City Clerk.  The regulations and 
requirements imposed by this district are in addition to those established by the other zoning 
districts of the Land Management Ordinance. 
 
603.16.2 Permitted and Conditional Uses 
Permitted and conditional uses of the underlying zoning district apply within the DWM District, 
with the following exceptions:  
A. New Underground Storage Tanks. No new underground storage tanks (UST) are allowed to be 

constructed or placed in the DSWMA Overlay District in areas within the DWSMA designated 
as having high or very high vulnerability.  New underground storage tanks (UST) are 



44  

permitted within the DSWMA Overlay District outside of these areas as an accessory use to a 
legal, conforming permitted or conditional use, but must meet all state and federal 
requirements for spill containment, spill contingency plans, and leak detection. 

B. New Aboveground Storage Tanks. New aboveground storage tanks (ABT) are permitted as an 
accessory use to a legal, conforming permitted or conditional use, but must meet all state and 
federal requirements for spill containment, spill contingency plans, and leak detection. 

C. Stormwater Infiltration Systems. Stormwater Infiltration Systems are prohibited in certain 
areas of the DWSMA Overlay District as defined in the Minnesota Pollution Control Agency 
(MPCA) Construction Stormwater General Permit.   

D. Prohibited. The following uses are expressly prohibited: 
1. Waste Disposal and/or Storage, 
2. Toxic Chemical Creation, Storage or Disposal, 
3. Fertilizer or Pesticide Creation, Storage, or Disposal, 
4. Salt Storage, 
5. Livestock Waste Storage,  
6. Salvage or Junk Yards.  

E. Lot Area, Frontage, Yard Requirements, And Other Standards and Requirements. Lot area, 
frontage, screening and landscaping requirements, and other standards and requirements of the 
underlying zoning district apply within the DWSMA District. 

 
604  STANDARDS 
 
604.1  Lot Area, Frontage, Yard, and Maximum Height Requirements 
 

District Use Lot Area Lot 
Frontage 

Rear Yard Front 
Yard 

Any 
Side 

Sum of 
Both Sides 

Maximum 
Height 

AG Dwelling 2 Acres 150 ft.  50 ft.  50 ft.  15 ft. 35 ft 50 ft.  
R-1 Single-family 

dwelling 
7,500 sq. ft. 60 ft. 5 ft.  25 ft.  5 ft. N/A 30 ft.  

Two-family 
dwelling/units 

9,000 sq. ft.  80 ft. 5 ft.  25 ft.  10 ft. 

Non-residential 1 acre 100 ft. 25 ft.  25 ft.  10 ft. 
Public Uses 12,000 sq. ft.  100 ft. 25 ft.  25 ft.  10 ft. 

R-2 Single-family 
dwelling 

6000 sq. ft. 60 ft. 15 ft.  25 ft.  5 ft. N/A 30 ft.  

Two-family 
dwelling/units 

8000 sq. ft. 60 ft. 15 ft. 25 ft.  10 ft. 

Multi-family 
dwellings/units 

3000 sq. ft/. 
dwelling unit 

80 ft. 15 ft. 25 ft.  10 ft. 

Non-residential 1 acre 100 ft. 25 ft.  25 ft.  10 ft. 
Public Uses 12,000 sq. ft 100 ft. 25 ft.  25 ft.  10 ft.  

T Single-family 
dwelling 

6,000 sq. ft.  60 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft. 5 ft. N/A 35 ft.  

Two-family 
dwelling/units 

8,000 sq. ft. 60 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft. 5 ft. 



45  

Multi-family 
dwellings/units 

3,000 sq. ft. 60 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft. 5 ft.  

Non-residential 7,500 sq. ft. 60 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft. 10 ft.  
C-1 Multi-family 

dwellings 
3,000 sq. 
ft./unit 

80 ft.  15 ft./10 ft. 
from 
furthest 
extension 

25 ft.  10 ft.  N/A None 

C-2 All uses 10,000 sq. ft.  100 ft. 10 ft. from 
the furthest 
extension  

30 ft.  10 ft.  N/A 35 ft.  

I All uses ½ acre 75 ft. 20 ft 35 ft. 40 ft. N/A None 
MU All uses 3,000 sq. ft.  50 ft. 10 ft. from 

the furthest 
extension  

0 ft. 10 ft.  N/A None 

 
 
604.2  Subdivision Design Standards 
  604.2.1 General.  

The design of each subdivision and resubdivision shall conform to the design standards contained 
in this ordinance. 

 
604.2.2 Street Design.  
The street system of a proposed subdivision shall be designed to facilitate adequate traffic 
circulation within the subdivision and from the subdivision to adjacent areas. Street arrangement, 
character, width, grade, location, sight distance, and surface material shall be related to existing or 
planned streets, topography, convenience, and safety and their intended ultimate function. 
  
A. The arrangement of major streets in a subdivision shall provide for the continuation or 

projection of existing streets in adjacent areas or conform to a plan approved by the City 
Council where topographic or other conditions make continuance or conformation to existing 
streets impracticable. 

B. Collector streets shall be properly related to major streets and designed in a manner so as to 
supplement the major street system but not to serve in lieu thereof. 

C. Local streets shall be designed to benefit the topography, to discourage through traffic, and to 
provide the streets necessary for safe access to adjacent properties. The reasonable and 
intelligent use of curvilinear and cul-de-sac streets is allowed, where necessary. 

D. When a subdivision abuts upon or contains an existing or proposed highway, major 
thoroughfare, or railroad right-of-way, the City Council may require reverse frontage lots with 
appropriate screen plantings in the non-access reservation strip, or the provision of suitable 
access roads parallel to and on either side of said highway, major thoroughfare, or railroad 
right-of-way providing access to adjacent properties and affording separation of through and 
local traffic. 

E. Streets designed and laid out so as to have one end permanently closed shall not exceed five 
hundred (500) feet in length, except where the City Council has approved additional length 
due to property limitations, topographic constraints, or large lot size. 



46  

F. Turnarounds shall be provided at the permanently closed end of all streets and shall have a cul-
de-sac turnaround with a minimum pavement radius of 48 feet and a minimum right-of-way 
radius of 60 feet unless otherwise approved by City Council. 

G. All subdivisions abutting a public lake, river, or stream shall provide public access at least 
eighty (80) feet wide to the low water elevation so that there will be public access at not more 
than one quarter (1/4) mile interval as measured along the lake, river, or stream shoreline. 

H. Where adjoining areas are not subdivided, the arrangement of streets in new subdivisions shall 
make provision for the proper projection of streets so that parcels will not be land- locked. 
When a new subdivision adjoins developable land, then the new streets shall be carried to the 
boundaries of such unsubdivided land. 

I. Where new streets extend to existing adjoining streets, their projection shall be at the same or 
greater width, but in no case less than the minimum required width. 

J. The City Council shall issue street names; names shall not duplicate the names of other streets. 
All street names shall be in conformance with the current system of assigning numerical 
names, i.e. 7th Street NE. 

K. A tangent of at least 150 feet shall be introduced between reverse curves on collector streets 
and 100 feet on lesser streets. 

L. When connecting street lines deflect from each other at one point by more than 10 degrees 
they shall be connected by a curve with a radius adequate to ensure a sight distance of no less 
than 500 feet for arterials, 300 feet for collectors, 100 feet for all other streets. 

M. Half streets shall be prohibited except where it will be practical to require the dedication of the 
other half when the adjoining property is subdivided, in which case the dedication of a half 
street may be permitted. 

N. Private streets shall be prohibited. 
O. Curb lines at street intersections shall be rounded at a radius of not less than 15 feet. 
P. Each subdivision shall have at least two points of access onto the existing public street 

network or a planned future public street network.  Exceptions to this requirement may be 
made in cases where the subdivision consists of a single cul-de-sac street. 

Q. Alley intersections and sharp changes in alignment shall be avoided, but where necessary, 
corners shall be cut off sufficiently to permit safe vehicular movement. Dead-end alleys shall 
be avoided. 

R. The Planning Commission may recommend, and the City Council may require the provision of 
pedestrian or bike ways in proximity to public service areas such as parks, schools, shopping 
facilities or in other appropriate locations of a similar nature. The design of the pedestrian or 
bike ways shall be considered in their relation to existing and planned pedestrian or bike ways, 
to reasonable circulation of traffic, to topographic conditions, to run-off of storm water and to 
the proposed uses of the area to be served.  

S. All subdivision street stubs and underlying public utilities designed in a final plat shall be 
constructed at the same time as the other streets in the final plat. 

 
604.2.3 Intersections.  
All streets shall intersect at right angles or as close thereto as possible. No street shall intersect 
another at an angle of less than 70 degrees. More than two streets intersecting at the same location 
shall be prohibited. Street jogs with centerline offsets of less than 150 feet shall be avoided. 
Intersections having more than four corners shall be prohibited. Adequate land for future 
intersection and interchange construction needs shall be dedicated to the city. 
 



47  

604.2.4 Cul-De-Sacs.  
Cul-de-sacs are to be discouraged in subdivisions because of their effect of reducing the efficiency 
of traffic flow and circulation. However, when necessary due to topographical constraints, the 
maximum length of a street terminating in a cul-de-sac shall be 500 feet, measured from the 
centerline of the street of origin to the end of the right-of-way. Lots on cul-de-sacs in R-1 and R-2 
zoning districts shall have a minimum lot width of 50 feet at the property line and 60 feet at the 
front setback. 
 
604.2.5 Blocks.   
Block lengths shall not exceed 1,200 feet; and if possible, shall not be less than 300 feet. In blocks 
longer than 800 feet, a pedestrian crossway with the minimum right- of-way of 10 feet may be 
required near the center of the block. The use of additional accessways to schools, parks and other 
destinations may be required also. Block widths shall be sufficient to provide two tiers of lots of 
appropriate depth. 
 
604.2.6 Table #1 Minimum Street Design Standards 
 

  
 
Arterial 

 
Collector 
Street 

 
Local Street 

Frontage Road 
or Service 
Access Street 

 
 
Alley 

 
Rights-of-Way 

as specified by 
city engineer 

 
66’ 

 
60’ 

 
40’ 

 
20’ 

Surface Width as specified by 
city engineer 
(Min. 44 feet) 

 

as specified by 
city engineer 
(Min. 44 feet) 

as specified by 
city engineer 
(Min. 36 feet) 

as specified by 
city engineer 
(Min. 26 feet) 

as specified by 
city engineer 
(Min. 20 feet) 

Minimum Horizontal 
Curve Radii* 

250’ 250’ 250’ 100’ 100’ 

Minimum Tangent 
Between Curves 

100’ 100’ 100’ 50’ 50’ 

Minimum Grade 0.4% 0.4% 0.4% 0.4% 0.4% 
Maximum Grade 6% 8% 10% 10% 10% 
Pavement 
Specifications 

as specified by 
city engineer 

as specified by 
city engineer 

as specified by 
city engineer 

as specified by 
city engineer 

as specified by 
city engineer 

*As measured from the centerline of the street. 
 
Pedestrian ways (sidewalks) shall have a minimum paved width of 5-feet.  Bicycle ways shall 
have a preferred paved width of 10-feet and a minimum paved width of 8-feet.  Pedestrian and 
bicycle way design shall conform to current Minnesota Department of Transportation (MnDOT) 
standards. 
 
604.2.7 Lots. 
A. The size, shape, and orientation of lots shall be appropriate for the location of the proposed 

subdivision and the type of use contemplated. All lots shall comply with the minimum lot 
frontage and area requirements specified in the Zoning and Land Management Ordinance. 

B. Every lot shall abut on a public street to assure access for fire protection, utilities, and other 



48  

services. 
C. Lot remnants which are less than the minimum lot size shall be added to adjacent lots. 
D. Side lot lines shall be as near to right angles with streets having straight lines or radial to 

adjacent streets having curved lines as possible. 
E. Residential lots fronting freeways, expressways, and major streets, where deemed appropriate 

by the City Council, shall be separated there from by the use of frontage roads, parallel streets, 
service drives, or alleys in order to eliminate direct access to the major street. 

F. In the subdividing of any land, due regard, as determined by the City Council, shall be shown 
for all natural features, such as tree growth, wetlands, steep slopes, water courses, or similar 
conditions, and plans adjusted to preserve those which will add attractiveness, safety and 
stability to the proposed development. 

G. Double frontage (lots with frontage on two parallel streets) or reverse frontage shall not be 
permitted except where lots back on, or are adjacent to, an arterial or collector street. 

 
604.2.8 Drainage and Utility Easements.  
Easements for telephone service, electricity, gas lines, other public utilities, and drainage purposes 
shall be provided and centered along the front, the rear, and side lot lines of each lot. The 
easements shall be 10 feet in width or greater as recommended by the City Engineer and shall be 
aligned from block to block. Easements for watermain, storm or sanitary sewers shall be at least 
10 feet wide, or wider if required based on utility depth and/or for multiple utilities, as determined 
by the City Engineer. They shall have continuity of alignment from block to block. Temporary 
construction easements may be required where installation depths are greater than 10 feet. Utility 
easements shall be kept free of any vegetation or structures that would interfere with the free 
movement of utility service vehicles. 
 
604.2.9 Water Courses.  
When a subdivision is traversed by a water course, drainageway, channel or streets, there shall be 
provided a storm water easement or drainage right-of-way conforming substantially with the lines 
of such water courses, and with such further width or construction as may be determined to be 
necessary by the City Engineer. 
 
604.2.10 Parks, Open Space, And Public Use.  
It is declared general policy that in all new subdivisions, a percentage of the gross area of all 
property subdivided shall be dedicated for parks, playgrounds, or other public use. Such 
percentage shall be in addition to the property dedicated for streets, alleys, waterways, pedestrian 
or bike ways or other public ways. The following schedule shall be applicable to all subdivisions. 
This schedule is based upon density of the development allowed in each district and is intended to 
equalize the amount and value of land dedicated for parks per dwelling unit in the various districts. 
A. In areas zoned: 

1. R-1: 5% of the total land area within the boundary of the plat, not excepting streets, alleys, 
waterways, pedestrian or bike ways or other public ways. 

2. R-2: 8% of the total land area within the boundary of the plat, not excepting streets, alleys, 
waterways, pedestrian or bike ways or other public ways. 

B. No areas may be dedicated as parks, playgrounds, or public lands until such areas have been 
approved for the purpose to which they are to be dedicated. The parkland shall be graded to 



49  

the contours set forth in the preliminary plat. The developer shall provide a minimum of three 
inches of black dirt over the entire park area and the area shall be seeded with a type of seed 
approved by the city. The financial guarantees by the developer to the city shall be in effect at 
least until such time that the parkland is graded and seeded. 

C. The land dedicated for parks, open space or public use shall be suitable for active recreation 
use. Active recreation meaning organized playground activities such as softball, football, etc. 
These areas to be used for organized playground activities shall have a slope of less than 2% 
grade and be largely clear of forest vegetation. Some of the areas to be dedicated may be 
forested and may have steeper slopes, if allowed by the City Council. 

D. When the subdivision is small or does not include a park or public area shown on the 
comprehensive plan, or if in the judgment of the Council the area proposed to be dedicated is 
not suitable or desirable for park/playground purposes because of location, size or other 
reason, the Council may require, in lieu of land dedication, a payment to the municipality of a 
sum equal to the percentage listed above of the undeveloped value of the land to be 
subdivided. The undeveloped land value shall be the value of the land when ready to be platted 
but not including utility costs; the estimated cost of grading and seeding the land shall be 
included in the land value. The City Council and/or its agents shall have the authority to make 
the final determination of the value of the land for purposes of park dedication. If requested, 
the City Council shall provide the developer or landowner with the methodology used to 
calculate the value of the land. 

E. Such dedication of land for public use shall be without restrictions or reservations and shall be 
transferred to the City by deed or by plat. Money given to the City in lieu of land shall be used 
by the City only for acquiring or developing public parkland. 

F. All parkland dedicated to the City shall be clearly marked and signed as a public park. The 
City shall not accept or maintain a park or parkland if its a private park in character or for use 
by only the surrounding and/or adjacent residents of the parkland. Public parks shall have 
adequate parking available for public occupancy when using the park. 

 
604.2.11 Hardship To Adjoining Properties.  
The street arrangements shall not be such as to cause hardship to owners of adjoining property in 
platting their own land and providing convenient access to it. 
 
604.2.12 Public Subsidies.  
If the subdivider receives Tax Increment Financing, Tax Abatement, or any other form of local 
government aid or public subsidy, the City Council may require additional performance standards. 
 
604.2.13 Environmental Assessment Worksheet Or Environmental Impact Statement.  
If a proposed development is of sufficient size to trigger a mandatory EAW or EIS, the required 
reports must be completed before the City Council can approve or deny the proposed 
development. The EAW/EIS must be made available as required by MN Administrative Rule 
4410.4300 and 4400. 
 
604.2.14 Previous Work Or Commitments.  
No subdivider shall be permitted to start work on any other subdivision without special approval 
of the City Council if they has previously defaulted on work or commitments, as determined by 



50  

the City Council, on a previous subdivision or development in the City of Plainview. 
 
604.2.15 Variances.  
If the applicant cannot meet the requirements of this ordinance because of exceptional topography 
or any other physical conditions that strict compliance with these regulations would cause 
exceptional and undue hardship, the applicant may apply for a variance as stipulated in these 
regulations. The variance must be applied for, and granted, before or at the same time that, 
preliminary plat, or final plat is approved by the City Council. 
 
604.2.16 Zero Lot Line Development.  
A two-family dwelling may be split from one lot into two along the party wall to allow for 
individual ownership of each unit. The newly created lots shall each be in compliance with the lot 
requirements of the Zoning and Land Management Ordinance, with the exception of lot width as 
addressed below. The following conditions must be met before a zero-lot line development may be 
approved: 
A. The property and structure must be able to be easily split into two (2) substantially equal 

portions. The structure must meet current building code standards for fire wall separation. This 
shall also apply to existing structures. 

B. Deed restrictions shall be recorded with the property requirements that the structure shall have 
a uniform exterior appearance in terms of color, design, and maintenance. In addition, if one 
unit is burned or destroyed, than the development shall be reconstructed in a uniform 
appearance. 

C. Separate utility services must be provided (see also Article III §§2l). If the property is already 
provided with a single one inch or larger water service, this water service shall be separated at 
the property line by installing a wye and two additional curb stops and boxes on the home side 
of the exiting curb stop and box. If, however, in the opinion of the City, it is feasible to make a 
second water service connection to the existing main, the existing water service shall not be 
split at the property line. If the existing water service is smaller than one inch diameter, a 
separate service connection shall be made to the City watermain. If a lot is intended to be used 
for a two-family dwelling unit under separate ownership and the public water system is under 
construction, reconstruction, or if the street is under reconstruction making access to the water 
system feasibility, separate services shall be extended to the lot at that time. Separate sanitary 
sewer service shall be provided by splitting an existing sanitary sewer service at the property 
line with a wye and two clean-outs. However, if conditions exist as stated above for water 
services making extension of separate services from the City sewer system feasible, such 
extension shall be made. 

D. Zero lot line development is permitted in R1 and R2 zoning districts. However, they shall also 
be allowed in Transition Districts if the Transition District abuts either an R1 or R2 zoning 
district. The lot width for each of the new parcels of the zero-lot line development in an R1 
Zone shall be a minimum of at least 50 feet, as opposed to the 60 feet normally required. There 
shall be no minimum lot width for zero lot line development in an R2 zoning district. The 
newly created lots shall each be in compliance with the setback requirements of the Zoning 
Ordinance, with the exception of the side setback along the common party wall. 

E. Townhouses and condominiums may reduce side yard setback to zero on common walls. The 
applicant shall record a covenant and deed restriction on all property which will abut the 
common lot line. Said covenant and deed restriction shall contain the following conditions: 



51  

1. Provide access to the abutting property for the adjacent property owner and/or their agent, 
employee or representative for the purpose of construction, reconstruction, repair, and 
maintenance of either side of the total property; 

2. Provide easements for necessary encroachments for footings, eaves, and provide for 
mutual perpetual easements in the event of encroachment by the party wall; 

3. Provide for restrictions to limit changes of color, construction material, and design of the 
dwelling as to compatible with the attached unit; 

4. Provide for furnishing separate services to each dwelling unit for sanitary sewer and water. 
 
604.2.17 Cluster Development.  
As an alternative to conventional zoning and development approaches, cluster development 
regulations may be used to encourage innovation in residential development and to encourage 
better utilization of land and creation of open space. In a cluster development, dwelling units are 
grouped on certain portions of a site, and other areas in common or single ownership remain open 
and free from development. 
A. The intent of the cluster development is to centralize structures in one portion of a tract of land 

while leaving a significant portion (25-50%) of the property undeveloped, thus creating 
meaningful open space. If a proposed development has structures spread throughout the tract 
of land, it will not create meaningful open space and thus shall not qualify as a bona fide 
cluster development. 

B. The tract shall be a development of land under unified control at the time of application is to 
be planned and scheduled to be developed as a whole. No authorization or permits shall be 
granted for such development unless the applicant has acquired actual ownership of or 
executed a binding sales contract for all the property comprising such tract. 

C. The minimum total lot area of the development shall be no less than five acres. The total lot 
area requirement can include street and park land that will be dedicated to the public. 

D. The total number of dwelling units allowed in a development shall be determined by the area 
standards of the zoning district in which the proposed development is to be located. For 
example, if 30 single family homes are planned for cluster development in an R-1, the total 
area must be at least 225,000 square feet (7,500 square feet times 30). The minimum total area 
for development must be at least 5 acres in size. There is no minimum lot width for individual 
lots within a cluster development, so long as all other conditions set forth in this ordinance are 
met. 

E. All structures must conform to setback regulations from property lines. 
F. No building permits shall be granted for any building or structure which does not conform to 

the approved final plan or final plat. 
G. Proposed dwelling units for a cluster development must conform to permitted or conditional 

uses (if approved) in its zoning district. 
H. Common area in a cluster development must be maintained by either a landlord or a 

landowners or homeowners association. If a landowners/homeowner’s association is 
established, the following conditions must apply: 
1. Membership must be mandatory for each owner and any successive buyer, 
2. The Association must be responsible for liability insurance for common areas and for the 

reasonable maintenance of exterior, residential, and other facilities, 
3. Any restrictions on open space must be permanent, not for a given period of time. 

 



52  

604.2.18 Non-Residential Subdivisions.  
Non-residential subdivisions shall be subject to all the requirements of the Zoning and Land 
Management Ordinance, as well as such additional standards recommended by the Planning 
Commission and required by the City Council. The subdivider shall demonstrate to the 
satisfaction of the City Council that the street, parcel, and block pattern proposed is specifically 
adapted to the uses anticipated and takes into account other uses in the vicinity. Every effort shall 
be made to protect adjacent residential areas from potential nuisances from a proposed 
commercial or industrial subdivision, including the provision of extra depth in parcels backing up 
on existing or potential residential development and provisions for a permanently landscaped 
buffer strip when necessary. 
 
604.2.19 Concurrency.  
Building Permits for lots in new developments will be issued once all local, state, and federal 
code requirements are met. 
 
604.2.20 Model Homes.  
In order to permit model homes prior to finishing all subdivision improvements, an application 
for a model home must provide proof of availability of public infrastructure to the lot(s). A 
certificate of occupancy for a model home may not be issued until the structure is connected to 
utilities and infrastructure needed for the structure to function, as well as have graded access to 
the lot and proposed structure. 
 
604.2.21 Wetlands.   
All wetlands within the limits of a subdivision must be properly delineated in accordance with 
State and Federal Laws and any impacts shall be properly permitted through the Wetland 
Conservation Act of Minnesota and Section 404 of the Clean Water Act.  All wetlands remaining 
after appropriate permitting shall be platted within outlots.  The size of the outlots shall be large 
enough to allow for a protective buffer strip of natural vegetation at least 20-feet in width around 
the wetland.      
 

604.3  Required Improvements and Payment  
604.3.1 Overall Specifications.  
Unless otherwise stated, all of the required improvements shall conform to engineering standards 
and specifications as required by the City. Such improvements shall be subject to inspection and 
approval by and shall be made in sequence as determined by the City. 
 
604.3.2 Monuments.  
Durable iron monuments or steel monuments shall be placed within 6 inches of final elevation at 
all lot corners, block corners, angle points, points of curves in streets and at intermediate points as 
shown on the Final Plat. Such installation shall be the subdivider's expense and responsibility. All 
U.S., State, County or other official benchmarks, monuments, or triangulation stations in or 
adjacent to the property shall be preserved in precise position. All monuments shall be a 
minimum of 1/2 inch in diameter and 15 inches in length. 
 



53  

604.3.3 Street Grading.  
Streets shall be graded to the full width of the right-of-way in accordance with the plans and 
specifications approved by the City Engineer. Gravel base construction shall be undertaken after 
completion of the installation of underground utilities in accordance with the plans and 
specifications approved by the City Engineer. 
 
604.3.4 Street Surfacing.  
Following the City’s approval of street grading and after utility installation, streets shall be 
surfaced and provided with concrete curbs and gutters in accordance with the plans and 
specifications approved by the City Engineer. 
 
604.3.5 Driveways.  
In cases where driveways are constructed after curbing and sidewalk are in place, the sidewalk 
shall be reconstructed in accordance with City approved driveway specifications to the width of 
the driveway. 
 
604.3.6 Sidewalks.  
Sidewalks shall be provided in accordance with the City’s specifications in all new subdivisions, 
unless otherwise indicated in the City’s Pedestrian and Sidewalk Plan. 
 
604.3.7 Utility Installation.  
All utilities, whether private or public, shall be installed underground so as to enhance the visual 
appearance of the area, unless special permission is granted by the Council for other installations. 
Where utilities are to be installed in street or alley rights-of-way, such installations shall take 
place prior to street surfacing. Water and sewer services shall be laid to the property line or utility 
easement line when applicable. 
 
604.3.8 Sanitary Sewer Utilities.  
Sanitary sewer facilities adequate to serve the subdivision shall be installed in accordance with 
the plans and specifications approved by the City Engineer and shall meet the requirements of the 
master plan for sanitary sewer extensions of the City. All new construction shall be connected to 
the municipal sanitary sewer system and pay a sewer access fee, as determined by the City 
Council. The developer is responsible for sanitary sewer mains and laterals to the lot line. 
 
604.3.9 Wastewater Treatment.  
No new dwelling shall be constructed that will not be connected to the Plainview wastewater 
treatment system. 
 
604.3.10 Water Supply.  
Water distribution facilities adequate to serve the subdivision shall be installed in accordance 
with the plans and specifications approved by the City Engineer and shall meet the requirements 
of the master plan for water main extensions of the City. All new construction shall be connected 
to this municipal water system and pay a water access fee, as determined by the City Council. 



54  

The developer is responsible for constructing water mains and laterals to the lot line, water 
hydrants, and water main shutoffs in accordance with city standards. 
 
604.3.11 Storm Sewer.  
Storm sewer and/or other stormwater management facilities shall be installed in accordance with 
the plans and specifications approved by the City Engineer.  All subdivisions and developments 
shall conform to the city’s stormwater management requirements. 
 
604.3.12 Other Utilities.  
The subdivider shall cause gas, electrical power, and communications facilities to be installed in 
such a manner as to make adequate service available to each lot in the subdivision. No such 
electrical or communications service shall be located on overhead poles along the front lot lines 
unless otherwise allowed due to exceptional topography or other physical barrier.  The subdivider 
shall cause streetlights to be installed in accordance with a plan approved by the City.   
 
604.3.13 Electric Utility Extensions.  
Any developer of a new subdivision in the City of Plainview shall pay the cost of placement and 
erection of electric utility poles or the extension of underground electric lines used for the 
transmission of electrical energy to streetlights within the subdivision. All such poles or 
underground electric utilities shall be of a material, size, and weight, and shall be constructed so 
as to meet or exceed all specifications promulgated by both the city and the city's electrical 
franchisee. Said utility extensions shall be paid for and erected within 90 days of the issuance of 
the first building permit by the city for the new subdivision. If the utility extension is not 
completed by that time, no further building permits shall be issued until the utility extension has 
been completed. 
 
604.3.14 Installation Of Required Improvements.  
Prior to the installation of any required improvements and prior to approval of the plat, the 
subdivider shall enter into a contract in writing with the city requiring the subdivider to furnish 
and construct said improvements in accordance with plans and specifications and usual contract 
conditions. This shall include provision for supervision of details of construction by the City 
Engineer The time for completion of the work and the several parts thereof shall be determined 
by the City upon recommendation of the engineer after consultation with the subdivider. What is 
a reasonable time shall depend upon the work to be done, the seasons of the year, and proper 
correlation with construction activities in the plat and subdivision. 
 
604.3.15 Public Improvements.  
Final plans for required public improvements shall be prepared in accordance with City 
standards, shall be in compliance with all codes, and shall be approved by the City Engineer and 
Public Works Director. All costs of required improvements shall be allocated as outlined in the 
City's Public Improvement Policy. 
 
604.3.16 General Benefit To The Community.  
The required improvements as listed in this ordinance are to be furnished and installed at the sole 



55  

expense of the subdivider. However, by the judgment of the City Council, if any improvement 
installed within the subdivision will be of substantial benefit to lands beyond the boundaries of 
the subdivision, provision may be made for causing a portion of the cost of the improvement, 
representing the benefit to such lands, to be assessed against the same. In such a situation, the 
City Council may require that the subdivider be required only to pay for such portion of the 
whole cost of said improvement as will represent the benefit to the property within the 
subdivision. For benefiting properties beyond subdivisions, a deferred assessment or hook-up 
charge can be enacted by ordinance, collectible upon development of the property. 
 
604.3.17 City Acceptance Of Private Infrastructure.  
The City shall not accept the improvements until the City Engineer and the Public Works 
Director have determined that the improvements to the subdivision are substantially and 
satisfactorily complete. Before the City may accept any sewer or water lines, the developer must 
televise the infrastructure. This is to ensure that the lines are of sufficient integrity and quality so 
as to not require unnecessary public maintenance or repair after the warranty period expires. 

 
604.4  Dwelling, Single Family  

A detached residential dwelling unit designed for and occupied by one family only shall meet the 
following specifications: 
A. Meets the standards and specifications of the Uniform Building Code as adopted in Minnesota 

or Minnesota Statutes §327.3l et. seq. and State Building Code, including Minnesota Rules 
1350 for Manufactured Homes, 1360 for Prefabricated Buildings, 1361 for 
Industrialized/Modular Buildings, and 1370 for Manufactured Home Parks. 

B. Has such architectural design, color, roof, and exterior material which are not so inconsistent 
with surrounding buildings and areas as to constitute a blight or devalue surrounding property, 
or otherwise impair the health, safety, and welfare of the community. 

 
604.5 Private Garages  

No lot, residence, or business shall have more than three accessory structures exceeding 120 sf. 
Any garage, be it attached or detached, shall count as one accessory structure towards the 
maximum limit of three. The total square footage of all buildings (primary and accessory) shall 
not exceed 60% coverage of gross lot square footage (lot square footage inside property lines, 
including easements). 
 
604.5.1 Securely Affixed.  
All accessory buildings, whether permanent or temporary, shall be securely affixed to the ground 
in a manner that will resist movement from storms or vandalism. 
 
604.5.2 Setback Requirements.  
All accessory buildings, whether permanent or temporary, shall meet the setback requirements. 
 
604.5.3 Height Limit.  
No accessory buildings, whether permanent or temporary, shall exceed the height of the principal 



56  

building. In no event may an accessory building exceed 20 feet in height. 
 
604.5.4 Residence.  
No accessory buildings shall be used as a residence or a place of habitation on a permanent or 
temporary basis, unless it is permitted as an accessory dwelling. 
 
604.5.5 Compatible.  
The architectural style, color, and facing material of permanent accessory structures shall be 
compatible with the dwelling unit. 

 
604.6 Townhouses; Water/Sewer Lines. 

In order to obtain a building permit for a townhouse development in the City of Plainview, the 
following is required: 
A. A developer will be required to provide plans for construction indicating that separate water 

lines and separate sewer lines will be constructed from the city's water and sewer mains to 
each unit of a townhouse development. 

B. Final approval of each unit of a townhouse development will be granted by the city's building 
inspector only after the developer demonstrates to the building inspector that separate water 
lines and separate sewer lines have been constructed from the city's mains to each unit of the 
townhouse development and that a separate water meter has been installed for each unit of the 
development. 

 
604.7 Manufactured Home Parks  

Manufactured home parks shall comply with all statutes of the State of Minnesota, including but 
not limited to statutes §327.14 to 5327.28, 5327.31 through 5327.35, and 5327C.O1 to 5327C.15 
and the regulations of the State Board of Health and the regulations of the Building Code. When 
this ordinance is more restrictive than the state statutes, the provisions of this ordinance will 
control over the provisions of the state statutes. 
 
604.7.1 Permit Required.  
It shall be unlawful for any person to maintain or operate a manufactured home park or facility 
within the city limits of the City of Plainview unless such person procures a conditional use permit 
in accordance with this ordinance. The City Council is hereby authorized to revoke any license or 
permit as provided in this ordinance upon receipt or proof of non-compliance with any part of this 
ordinance: 
A. Permit Application: Application for a manufactured home park permit shall be filed with the 

City Clerk and shall contain the following information and as prescribed on the application: 
1. All requirements of a conditional use application;  
2. Name and address of the applicant; 
3. Location and general description of the manufactured home park;  
4. Plans showing all facilities in said manufactured home park, together with all streets and 

lots therein, approved by the Dept. of Public Health of the State of Minnesota. 
B. Transfer of Permit. Any application for transfer of the permit or expansion alterations of the 

park shall be treated in the same manner as an original application for permit. 



57  

C. Approval Required. Prior to application for a permit, said applicant shall first have obtained 
approval of said manufactured home park from the State Board of Health. 

 
604.7.2 Lot Size And Specifications. 
A. A manufactured home lot shall consist of a minimum of 4,000 square feet, with a minimum 

width of street frontage of 35 feet. 
B. A manufactured home shall not be placed closer than 15 feet from any private street or alley 

within the manufactured home park or be located nearer than 20 feet from the line of adjacent 
private property. 

C. Manufactured homes located in said park shall be located so that there shall be at least 15 feet 
of lateral clearance between any two manufactured homes or any mobile home and adjacent 
building. 

D. All manufactured homes shall be anchored to the ground surface at four points to afford 
protection from wind damage as specified by city building code. 

E. All manufactured homes must be skirted within 90 days of location on a lot in a manufactured 
home park. 

 
604.7.3 Driveways.  
All lots shall be provided with an all-weather surface driveway that shall be a minimum of 12 feet 
in width. 
 
604.7.4 Public Utilities.  
A municipal sanitary sewer and water system shall be installed at each home site in accordance 
with city specifications and the State Board of Health.  
 
604.7.5 Community Storm Shelter Facilities.  
There shall be provided within each manufactured home park that has 10 units or more suitable 
storm shelter facilities constructed to meet Minnesota state building codes, Minnesota State Board 
of Health rules and regulations, rules of the Commissioner of Administration and the City of 
Plainview building codes. The shelter space must accommodate room for the number of people as 
defined in the following formula: 
 
Minimum shelter space = number of trailer units times 2.5 people per trailer unit. 
 
604.7.6 Recreation Area.  
A recreation area consisting of 150 square feet per manufactured home site shall be provided, but 
in no instance shall there be less than a total of 4,500 square feet provided for recreational 
purposes in each manufactured home park. 
 
604.7.7 Private Streets And Street Construction In Manufactured Home Park.  
Minimum width of street surface within a manufactured home park shall be 30 feet, and shall 
include an asphalt or concrete surface, and concrete curb and gutter.  The pavement section shall 
be as designed and specified by a Licensed Professional Engineer.  Stormwater management shall 



58  

conform with the City’s requirements.  
 
604.7.8 Responsible Attendant.  
Each park is required to have a responsible attendant or caretaker on duty or on call at all times. 
The name and phone number of said caretaker or attendant shall be filed with the City Clerk. Their 
chief duty is to maintain the park with its facilities and equipment in a clean, orderly, and sanitary 
condition. The caretaker is answerable with the licensee for any violations of this ordinance. 
 
604.7.9 Construction Requirements.  
All plumbing, electrical, building, and other work on or at any park licensed under this ordinance 
shall be in accordance with the ordinances of the City of Plainview and the statutes of the State of 
Minnesota. Licenses and permits granted under this ordinance in no way grant the right to erect or 
repair any structure in said manufactured home park. 
 
604.7.10 Additional Requirements.  
In addition to the foregoing, the City of Plainview may impose such other procedures, conditions, 
requirements, or limitations concerning the design, development, and operation of such 
manufactured home park as it may deem necessary for the protection of adjacent properties and 
the public interest. 

 
604.8 Setbacks  

For the purpose of computing front yard dimensions, measurements shall be taken from the 
nearest point of the front wall of the building to the lot line, subject to the following 
qualifications. 
 
604.8.1 Cornices, Canopies, or Eaves.  
Cornices, canopies, or eaves may extend into the required yard a distance not exceeding two feet, 
six inches. Cornices, canopies, or eaves may extend a distance not exceeding two feet, six inches 
without affecting the footprint or square footage requirements of a structure. Any portion of 
cornices, canopies, or eaves that exceeds two feet six inches shall be included into the footprint 
and square footage requirements. The first two feet six inches will not be counted in the footprint 
calculation. 
 
604.8.2 Fire Escapes.  
Fire escapes may extend into the required front yard a distance not exceeding four feet, six 
inches. 
 
604.8.3 Landing Place or Porch.  
A landing place or uncovered porch may extend six feet if the landing place or porch has its floor 
no higher than the entrance floor of the building.  

 
 



59  

604.8.4 Handicap Accessibility Ramp.  
A ramp built for the sole purpose of assisting with handicap accessibility may extend up to ten 
feet into the required front yard setback, provided the handicap ramp will not negatively affect 
traffic safety by restricting visibility. 
 
604.8.5 Side and Rear Yard Exceptions 
The above-enumerated architectural features may also extend into any side or rear yard to the 
same extent, except that no porch, terrace, or outside stairway, shall extend more than three feet 
into any side yard and then, in the case of an outside stairway, only if it is unroofed and 
unenclosed above and below the steps. In no case shall a porch, stair landing, or any other 
architectural feature extend closer than four feet to the side property line. 
 
604.8.6 Pavement Setbacks  
Setbacks do not apply to the pavements of parking or driving surfaces. 
 
604.8.7 Unlawful Improvements  
It shall be unlawful for any person to erect or to permit another person working on their behalf to 
erect any building or structure of any kind or alter existing drainage within the required setback 
area or within the right of way or an easement on any parcel of land within the City. A violation 
of this ordinance shall be deemed a misdemeanor offense. 
 
604.8.8 Front Yard.  
There shall be a minimum front yard in any "R" district, as stated in the yard requirements for 
that particular district; but in no case shall the front yard depth be less than the average front yard 
depth of all structures facing the same street in the same block. 
 

604.9  Fences 
604.9.1 
Fences may be constructed on adjoining property lines. The following shall apply to all fences 
constructed in Plainview: 
A. Fences shall have no setback requirements, unless to protect sight lines and sight visibility 

triangles near intersections, along curves, and along pedestrian ways to protect public safety; 
B. Fences cannot exceed seven feet in height; 
C. Any fence having only one finished side shall be required to have the finished side facing out 

away from the property upon which the fence is constructed; and 
D. Fences shall be maintained by the property owner erecting the structure. 

 
604.9.2 
Fences shall be allowed in utility easements provided that the fence(s) has no permanent 
foundation and that the fence is constructed or raised off the ground so as not to impede the flow 
of stormwater. All fences in easements shall be constructed at the property owner’s risk, and if any 
public utility (including the city) needs to access the easement, then the fence shall be removed at 
the owner’s cost. If possible, the property owner may be given some advance notice in order to be 



60  

allowed to remove the fence themself. In addition, the property owner will hold all public utilities, 
including the City, harmless from any damages for the cost to rebuild the fence or return the 
property to the previous condition shall be borne solely by the property owner. 

 
604.10 Home Occupation  

604.10.1 Home Occupation.  
The City of Plainview has zoned several large areas of the city for residential use. Generally, 
people living in residential areas expect the residential character of their neighborhood to be 
protected from intrusion by commercial businesses. However, under certain circumstances, the 
City of Plainview allows some small-scale business to be carried out in residential areas. The 
regulation of Home Occupation (businesses operated at a person’s home) within residential 
structures is intended to ensure that the use is clearly accessory or secondary to the principal 
dwelling, and that compatibility with the surrounding residential uses is maintained. As home 
occupations are anticipated to have little or some impact on residents of the neighborhood.  Home 
Occupations shall be approved administratively with a license per 604.10.10. 
 
604.10.2 Home Occupation Determination.  
A person has a home occupation if they meet any of the following criteria:  
A. Meetings with customers occur on the premises;  
B. Mail or packages or materials for the business are delivered to the premises,  
C. The business lists its mailing address as being on the premises;  
D. Goods or services are sold to customers on the premises;  
E. Materials used in the creation of products or services are stored on the premises; and 
F. Money is accepted from customers in return for goods or services on the premises.  
 
604.10.3 Minimum Requirements for Home Occupation. 
A home occupation may only employ members of the residence plus one non- resident at any one 
time. At least one member of the residence must be an employee of the home occupation. 
A. Activity must be limited between the hours of 8:00 am and 8:00 pm. 
B. The home occupation must be contained entirely within the primary residence or a detached 

garage and no more than 35% of the floor area of the primary residence may be used for the 
home occupation. 

C. The home occupation must not be inconsistent with the neighborhood so as to constitute a 
blight or devalue surrounding property or otherwise impair the health, safety, environment, or 
welfare of that neighborhood. 

D. Must provide off-street parking for non-resident employees. 
E. Must provide sufficient off-street parking to meet the needs of the anticipated visiting 

customers, if any. If less than one customer per every two hours of operation is anticipated, 
then no off-street parking is required.  

F. Must have interior storage for all equipment and inventory used for the business. 
G. The primary purpose of the residence must be for residential use; the business use must be 

clearly incidental to the residential use. If residential use is discontinued, then the Home 
Occupation must also discontinue. 

H. Shall not create a significant increase in pedestrian, automobile, or truck traffic beyond the 
typical amount in the area. 



61  

I. Shall not create a significant amount of noise or dust beyond the normal amount in the area. 
 
604.10.4 Inspection.  
The City reserves the right to inspect the premises in which the home occupation is being 
conducted to ensure compliance with the City Code upon request and during reasonable hours. 
 
604.10.5 Signage.  
Residents are allowed to display signs advertising a home occupation as long as the sign is not 
illuminated and does not exceed four (4) square feet and is located on the principal structure. 
 
604.10.6 Bed and Breakfast. 
Bed and breakfasts, and similar home occupation may be licensed as a home occupation as long as 
they have four or fewer rooms for rent. Small functions of less than 10 people (such as receptions 
or business meetings) shall be permitted on site. There must be at least one (1) off street parking 
spot per rental room. 
 
604.10.7 Short Term Vacation Rental. 
Any home, cabin, condominium or similar building that is advertised as, or held out to be, a place 
where sleeping quarters are furnished to the public on a nightly, weekly, or less than a 30-day 
basis for compensation and is not a Bed and Breakfast. The short-term vacation does not apply to 
non-residential property. 
 
604.10.8 Day Care. 
Day cares that have a valid state or county license are not required to have a Home Occupation 
license. However, day cares must still abide by the City’s nuisance ordinances. 
 
604.10.9 Uses Not Permitted as Home Occupation. 
Certain uses shall not be permitted as a home occupation. This is not intended to be a complete list 
of uses incompatible with home occupation. 
 
A. Restaurants. 
B. Cannabis businesses. 
C. Hemp businesses. 
 
604.10.10 Application Process.  
Those wishing to apply for a home occupation must fill out an application. The application will be 
approved administratively with a license and either approved or rejected. If rejected, a code 
reference to code requirement will be provided. Appeals of the administrative decision shall be per 
602.3.2A, with the Board of Adjustments.  
 
604.10.11 Fee. 
The fees shall be those currently adopted by the city. 
 



62  

604.10.12 Non-Conforming Use.  
Existing home occupations lawfully existing prior to January 1, 1978, may continue as non-
conforming uses. 
 
604.10.13 Denial or Conditions.  
The City administration may deny an application if it is deemed that there is a potential to be a 
nuisance or be a danger to the general health, safety, and welfare of the area. It shall be unlawful 
for any person to operate a home occupation who does not own or lease the property and who does 
not actually reside on the property. It shall be unlawful for any operator of a home occupation to 
employ more than one (1) person who does not reside on the property. 
 
604.10.14 Duration of Application.  
The home occupation operator may only operate the business as long as the operator continues to 
reside on the property. In the event the operator moves from the property to another residentially 
zoned property in the City, the operator must reapply for approval to pursue the home occupation 
at the new residence location and receive such approval in order to operate the home occupation at 
the new location. In addition, once the operator of a home occupation moves from the original 
approved home occupation site, the authorization to conduct that home occupation at the original 
approved site ceases and is not transferable to a subsequent owner or tenant of the site. It shall be 
unlawful for a subsequent owner or tenant to operate the home occupation without submitting an 
application for a home occupation. 
 
604.10.15 Enforcement.  
Any Home Occupation that received three (3) verified violations shall not qualify for renewal and 
the license shall be revoked. Verified violations are those that are confirmed by law enforcement. 

 
604.11 Parking  

In all districts except "C-l" in connection with every industrial, business, institutional, recreational, 
or dwelling use and for similar uses, space for off-street parking and storage of vehicles shall be 
provided of sufficient area to care for the normal parking demands of the building involved. In no 
case shall the parking area provided be less than that shown on the following schedule: 
 
Automobile services 3 spaces per service bay 
Bowling alley  4 spaces per line 
Clinics 1 space per 200 square feet 
Furniture/Appliance stores 1 space per 600 square feet 
Offices, banks, etc. 1 space per 400 square feet 
Restaurants 1 space per 200 square feet 
Industrial 1 space per 1.5 employees of largest shift 
Single Family Detached Dwellings 2 spaces per dwelling unit 
Multi-Family Attached Dwellings  1.5 per dwelling unit 
Public uses 1 space per employee 



63  

All other commercial 1 space per 300 square feet 
 
604.11.1 ADA. 
In addition, all businesses, non-profit organizations, as well as all state and local government must 
provide accessible parking spaces complying with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) as 
specified in the 2010 ADA Standards for Accessible Design or latest version adopted by the 
Federal US department of Justice (ADA.gov). 

 
The chart below shows the number of accessible spaces required by the 2010 ADA Standards for 
Accessible Design, but projects must comply with the latest version of the federal standards. 
 

Total Number of Parking Spaces Provided in a Parking 
Lot or Facility 

Minimum Number of Accessible 
Parking Spaces Permitted 

1 to 25 1 
26 to 50 2 
51 to 75 3 
76 to 100 4 
101 to 150 5 
151 to 200 6 
201 to 300 7 
301 to 400 8 
401 to 500 9 
501 to 1000 2 percent of total 

1001 and over 20, plus 1 for each 100, or fraction 
thereof, over 1000 

At least one of every six spaces must be van accessible. 
 
604.11.2 
Required off-street parking areas for automobiles shall be so designated, maintained, and 
regulated that no parking or maneuvering incidental to parking shall be on any public street, walk, 
or alley and so that any automobile may be parked and unparked without moving another. 
For purposes of rough computation, an off-street parking space and necessary access and 
maneuvering room may be estimated at 300 square feet, but off-street parking requirements will 
be considered to be met only when actual spaces meeting the requirements above are provided and 
maintained, improved in a manner appropriate to the circumstances of the case and in accordance 
with all ordinance and regulations of the city. 

 
604.12 Communication Towers 

All commercial wireless telecommunication towers or antennas erected, constructed or located 
within the City shall comply with the following requirements. 
604.12.1 New Tower or Antennas.  
A. A proposal for a new tower or antennas shall not be approved unless the City finds that the 

telecommunications equipment planned for the proposed structure cannot be accommodated 



64  

on an existing or approved tower or structure within a two (2) mile search radius of the 
proposed tower due to one or more of the following reasons:  
1. The planned equipment would exceed the structural capacity of the existing or approved 

tower or structure, as documented by a qualified and licensed professional engineer, and 
the existing or approved tower or structure cannot be reinforced, modified, or replaced to 
accommodate planned equipment at a reasonable cost; 

2. The planned equipment would cause interference materially impacting the usability of 
other existing or planned equipment at the tower or structure as documented by a qualified 
and licensed professional engineer or qualified radio frequency engineer and the 
interference cannot be prevented at a reasonable cost; 

3. Existing or approved towers and structures within the search radius that are 60 feet or over 
in height that cannot accommodate the planned equipment at a height necessary to function 
reasonably as documented by a qualified and licensed professional engineer; 

4. Other unforeseen reasons that make it infeasible to locate the planned telecommunications 
equipment upon an existing or approved tower or structure. 

B. Any proposed tower shall be designed (structurally, electrically and in all other respects) to 
accommodate both the applicant antennas and comparable antennas for at least two additional 
users if the tower is over 100 feet in height, or for at least one additional user if the tower is 
over 60 feet in height. Towers must be designed to allow for future rearrangement of antennas 
upon the tower and to accept antennas mounted at varying heights. 
 

604.12.2 Signs and Advertising.  
The use of any portion of a tower for signs other than warning or equipment information signs is 
prohibited. 
 
604.12.3 Tower Lighting.  
A tower shall not be illuminated by artificial means and shall not have affixed or attached to it in 
any way, except during time of repair or installation, any lights, reflectors, flashers or other 
illuminating device, except as required by the Federal Aviation Administration, Federal 
Communications Commission or any state agency. Strobe lights will not be permitted for 
nighttime tower lighting. The applicant shall choose from alternative lighting standards supplied 
by the Federal Aviation Administration, Federal Communications Commission or state agency. 
The applicant shall submit with their application the required lighting standards specified by these 
agencies. When incorporated into the approved design of the tower, light fixtures used to 
illuminate ball fields, parking lots or similar areas may be attached to the tower. 
 
604.12.4 Abandoned or Unused Towers. 
Abandoned or unused towers and associated facilities shall be removed within 12 months of the 
cessation of operations at the site unless a time extension is approved by the zoning administrator. 
In the event that a tower is not removed within 12 months of the cessation of operations at a site, 
the tower and associated facilities may be removed by the City and the costs of removal may be 
assessed against the property. 
 
 
 



65  

604.13 Outdoor Solid Fuel Burners  
 604.13.1 Purpose. 

This ordinance is intended to promote the public health, safety and welfare and to safeguard the 
health, comfort, living conditions, safety and welfare of the citizens of the City of Plainview by 
regulating the air pollution and fire hazards of outdoor solid fuel burners. 

 
604.13.2 Applicability. 
This ordinance applies to all outdoor solid fuel burners within the City of Plainview. 
A. This ordinance does not apply to grilling or cooking food using charcoal, wood, propane or 

natural gas in appliances intended for cooking or grilling other than outdoor solid fuel burners. 
B. This ordinance does not apply to burning for the purpose of generating heat in a stove, furnace, 

fireplace or other heating device within a building used for human or animal habitation. 
C. This ordinance does not apply to the use of propane, acetylene, natural gas, gasoline or 

kerosene in a device intended for heating, construction or maintenance activities. 
D. This ordinance does not apply to campfires which are small outdoor fires on the ground using 

clean wood intended for recreation or cooking. However, it shall be unlawful for any person to 
create a campfire intended for disposal of waste wood, garbage, or refuse. 

 
604.13.3 Definitions.  
Construction and demolition debris means building waste materials, including but not limited to 
waste shingles, insulation, tar paper, wall board, treated wood, painted wood, wiring, plastics, 
packaging, and rubble of other similar smoke producing materials that results from construction, 
remodeling, repair, and demolition operations on a house, commercial or industrial building, or 
other structure. 
Outdoor solid fuel burner means a fired burner, stove or furnace that is not located within a 
building intended for habitation by humans or domestic animals. An outdoor solid fuel burner may 
also be referred to as an outdoor wood burner, wood boiler, or an outdoor wood fired hydronic 
heater. 
Refuse means any waste material except trees, logs, brush, stumps, leaves, grass clippings, and 
other vegetative matter. 
Garbage means any of the following materials: food wastes, food wraps, cardboard, newspaper or 
other product with ink or dye, packaging, animal carcasses, paint or painted materials, furniture, 
composite shingles, construction or demolition debris or other household or business wastes, 
asphalt and products containing asphalt, treated or painted wood including but not limited to 
plywood, composite wood products or other wood products that are painted, varnished or treated 
with preservatives, any plastic material including but not limited to nylon, PVC, ABS, polystyrene 
or urethane foam, and synthetic fabrics, plastic films and plastic containers, rubber including tires 
and synthetic rubber-like products. 
Clean Wood means natural wood which has not been painted, varnished or coated with a similar 
material, has not been pressure treated with preservatives, and does not contain resins or glues as 
in plywood or other composite wood products. 
 
604.13.4 Operation of Outdoor Solid Fuel Burners. 
No outdoor wood-burning stoves or solid fuel-fired heating devices designed and intended, and/or 



66  

used, for the purpose of heating the principal structure or another accessory structure on the 
premises are allowed to be installed within the City of Plainview. 
 
604.13.5 Non-Conforming Use. 
A. The lawful use of any existing outdoor wood-burning unit or outdoor solid fuel- fired heating 

device existing at the time of the effective date of this ordinance may be continued, although 
such use may not conform to the provision of this ordinance. 

B. No pre-existing, non-conforming outdoor wood-burning unit or outdoor solid fuel-fired 
heating device shall hereafter be replaced, extended, enlarged, or expanded. 

C. At such time as the useful life of an outdoor non-conforming wood-burning unit or outdoor 
solid fuel-fired heating device has elapsed or would need to be repaired to function properly, 
the unit cannot be replaced and must be abandoned, not used, and removed from the property 
immediately. 

D. All outdoor wood burning or solid fuel burners in existence prior to the date that this ordinance 
was adopted must be registered and recorded at City Hall. Owner must supply the following 
information to City Hall: date the solid fuel burner was installed, manufacturer name, model 
number, and a photocopy of the manufactures’ recommendations and operating instructions, 
and the last time the owner maintained the device per manufactures recommendations. The 
City may also require inspections of the devices. 

 
604.13.6 Severability. 
If any section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase of this ordinance is for any reason held to be 
invalid, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of the ordinance. 
 
604.13.7 Liability. 
A person utilizing or maintaining an outdoor solid fuel burner shall be responsible for all fire 
suppression costs incurred by the City or its authorized agents and any other liability resulting 
from damage caused by the fire. 
 
604.13.8 Penalty. 
Any person convicted or violating a provision of the ordinance is guilty of a misdemeanor 
punishable by a fine of up to $1000 or up to 90 days in jail or both. 
 

604.14 Accessory Dwelling Units  
 

604.14.1 Authority and Purpose.    
The purpose of this section of code is to provide guidelines and minimum standards to facilitate 
both the construction of new Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs), also known as “second units,” 
“mother-in-law apartments,” or “granny flats,” and to guide legalization of unpermitted ADUs. 

 The reasons the city is allowing ADUs are: 
A.  To expand the supply of affordable housing for both owners and renters in the community; 
B. To expand the supply of accessible housing for Senior Citizens and persons with disabilities;  



67  

C. To provide a means for homeowners, particularly the elderly, to obtain extra income, security, 
companionship, and service; 

D. To make more efficient use of existing housing stock and infrastructure; and 
E. To provide a mix of housing that responds to changing family needs, smaller households, and 

increasing housing costs. 
 

604.14.2 Definitions. 
A. Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU). Accessory Dwelling Unit means either an interior dwelling 

unit within the primary family dwelling unit, or an attached dwelling unit or a detached 
dwelling unit in a R1, R2 or Transition zone.  The ADU provides complete independent living 
facilities for one or more persons, including permanent facilities for living, sleeping, eating, 
cooking, and sanitation, and is located on the same parcel as a single-family dwelling.  
1. Cooking Facility. A cooking facility means an area containing a refrigeration appliance; 

and a kitchen sink and cooking appliance, each having a clear working space of not less 
than 30 inches. “Cooking appliance” includes any appliance capable of cooking food, 
including a range, stove, oven, microwave, or hot plate, but not including a toaster or 
electric kettle.  

2. Living Area. The term living area has the meaning, “The interior habitable area of a 
dwelling unit including basements and attics and does not include a garage or any accessory 
structure.” 

3. Sanitation Facilities. Sanitation facilities means a toilet, sink, and bathtub or shower.  
4. Sleeping Facilities. Sleeping facilities means an area dedicated to sleeping that meets 

building code requirements for habitability.  
B. Accessory Dwelling Unit, Interior. An interior Accessory Dwelling Unit means an ADU in a 

R1, R2 or Transition zone that is located entirely within the existing and legally created space 
of a single-family home (primary dwelling unit) or accessory structure.  The Interior Accessory 
Dwelling Unit must be fully separated from the single-family dwelling unit or accessory 
building by means of a wall or floor, with or without a door. 

C. Accessory Dwelling Unit, Attached. An attached Accessory Dwelling Unit means ADU in a 
R1, R2 or Transition zone, which is constructed as a vertical or horizontal addition to a single-
family home (primary dwelling unit), and must be fully separated from the single family 
dwelling unit by a wall, with or without a door. 

D. Accessory Dwelling Unit, Detached. A detached Accessory Dwelling Unit means an ADU in 
a R1, R2 or Transition zone, which is constructed as an independent structure, surrounded by 
open space and on the same lot as the primary dwelling unit.  A detached ADU can be attached 
to an accessory structure (e.g., garage), or it can be created by converting all or part of an 
existing independent structure into living area. 

E. Owner Occupied. Owner occupied means the owner currently resides on the property. 
F. Passageway. A pathway that is unobstructed clear to the sky and extends from a street to one 

entrance of the Accessory Dwelling Unit. 
G. Short-term Rentals – Short-term rentals means rentals for less than 30 days. 



68  

 
604.14.3 Development Standards.  
A. General Provisions. The following provisions apply to all Accessory Dwelling Units:  

1. Number. The lot must contain an existing single-family home and no other dwelling units. 
No more than one Accessory Dwelling Unit may be added on any lot either by converting 
an existing accessory building or constructing a new dwelling unit that conforms to ADU 
code. 

2. Zoning District. The project site must be zoned for residential use in either a R-1, R-2 or 
Transition Districts.  

3. Ownership. Accessory Dwelling Units may not be subdivided and may not be otherwise 
separated in ownership from the associated single-family dwelling unit. 
a. The creation of an Accessory Dwelling Unit shall not create a separate tax parcel. 
b. At the time of application, the property owner must acknowledge in writing the 

restrictions in subsections B(i.) through B(iii.) regarding sale, owner occupancy, and 
short-term rentals of Accessory Dwelling Units.  
i. The Accessory Dwelling Unit may not be sold separately from the existing single-

family home.  
ii. Either the single-family home or the Accessory Dwelling Unit must be owner-

occupied if the home and Accessory Dwelling Unit are occupied by different 
families.  

iii. Neither the Accessory Dwelling Unit nor the single-family home may be used for 
short-term residential rentals.  

c. Before issuance of a building permit for the Accessory Dwelling Unit, the owner must 
record a covenant in a form approved by the City Attorney to notify future owners of 
the restrictions in subsections B(i.) through B(iii.) regarding sale, owner occupancy, and 
short-term rentals of Accessory Dwelling Units.  

4. Occupancy.  The property owner of record shall occupy either the principal dwelling unit 
or the Accessory Dwelling Unit as their permanent and principal residency. 

5. Accessory Dwelling Unit Occupancy.  Occupancy is limited to two adult persons or a 
maximum of three people. 

6. Building Code Compliance.   The Accessory Dwelling Unit shall conform to all 
applicable state and local building code requirements.  

7. Density/Zoning Compliance - An Accessory Dwelling Unit conforming to the 
requirements of this section shall not be considered to exceed the allowable density for the 
lot upon which the unit is located and shall be deemed to be a residential use consistent 
with the existing general plan and zoning designations for the lot. 

8. Size - An Accessory Dwelling Unit must include no less than the minimum floor area 
identified for an efficiency unit (320 sq. ft.).  The Accessory Dwelling Unit must not 
exceed maximum sizes: internal ADU - 864 sq. ft. or size of ground floor; attached ADU: 
864 sq. ft.; and detached ADU – 1,000 sq. ft. unless it is created by converting a garage.  



69  

ADUs that are converted garages may not exceed the square footage of the ground floor of 
the primary dwelling unit or 768 sq. ft., whichever is larger  

9. Utilities – Accessory Dwelling Units must be served by municipal sewer and water.  
Separate utility metering for the ADU is prohibited. 

10. Bedrooms – No more than two bedrooms are permitted in the Accessory Dwelling Unit. 
11. Parking - One additional off-street parking space is required for the Accessory Dwelling 

Unit.  If the Accessory Dwelling Unit replaces an existing garage, carport or covered 
parking structure, replacement spaces must be provided equal to the number of spaces 
removed.  Replacement spaces may be provided as covered or uncovered spaces. Parking 
space must be paved.  

12. Density - An Accessory Dwelling Unit conforming to the requirements of this section shall 
not be considered to exceed the allowable density for the lot upon which the unit is located 
and shall be deemed to be a residential use consistent with the existing general plan and 
zoning designations for the lot. 

13. Appearance – Accessory Dwelling Units and their associated single-family dwelling units 
must clearly be designed and constructed to maintain the outward appearance of one single 
family dwelling. 
i. Exterior finish materials – Exterior finish materials must visually match in type, size 

and placement, the exterior finish materials of the primary dwelling. 
ii. Roof pitch – The roof pitch must be the same as the predominant roof pitch of the 

primary dwelling 
iii. Windows – If the street-facing façade of the ADU is visible from the street, its 

windows must match in proportion and orientation, the windows of the primary 
dwelling 

iv. Eaves – If the primary dwelling has eaves, the ADU must have eaves that project the 
same distance from the building.  If the primary dwelling does not have eaves, no 
eaves are required of the ADU. 

v. Exemptions – Detached Accessory Dwelling Units may be exempt from Section 
609.22.3 - a) General Provisions 14A.-D. if the size is under 864 sq. ft. and the height 
is under 24’ 

vi. Single Family Dwelling Code Compliance - Accessory Dwelling Units in 
combination with their associated single-family dwelling unit must conform to all City 
Code requirements for single-family dwellings, including but not limited to setback, 
height, impervious surface, motor vehicle, recreational vehicle, and accessory 
structure standards. 

14. Access and Entrances - The creation of an Accessory Dwelling Unit shall not result in 
additional entrances facing the public street on the primary structure.  Only one entrance 
may be located on the façade of the primary dwelling facing the street, unless the primary 
dwelling contained additional entrances before the Accessory Dwelling Unit was created.  
An exception is entrances that do not have access from the ground such as entrances from 
balconies or decks. 



70  

i. A walkway shall be provided from an abutting public street to the primary entrance 
of the attached or detached Accessory Dwelling Unit 

15. Conversion to Primary Dwelling Unit.  
i. An Accessory Dwelling Unit shall become the primary dwelling unit on a site if the 

original primary dwelling unit is demolished or determined to be uninhabitable, and 
is not replaced or made habitable within one year of its demolition or the 
determination that it is uninhabitable.  

ii. If an Accessory Dwelling Unit becomes the primary dwelling unit, it shall remain so, 
and be considered a nonconforming but lawful structure if it fails to comply with any 
zoning standards applicable to a primary dwelling unit in the zoning district where it 
is located, until such time as a new structure compliant with all zoning standards 
applicable to a primary dwelling unit in the zoning district where it is located, is 
lawfully constructed or otherwise created on the site.  

16. Vacant Lots.  
iii. A building permit applicant for a vacant site may propose construction of both a 

single-family dwelling unit and an Accessory Dwelling Unit concurrently. However, 
the primary dwelling unit must pass final inspection prior to final inspection of the 
associated Accessory Dwelling Unit. Nothing in this section shall be construed to 
supersede or in any way alter or lessen the effect of any other zoning provision 
requiring issuance of a discretionary permit for construction of the primary dwelling 
unit prior to issuance of a building permit. 

iv. The discretionary review of the primary dwelling unit must not include consideration 
of the Accessory Dwelling Unit use.  

17. Passageways - A passageway between the primary dwelling unit and detached ADU may 
not be required in conjunction with the construction of an Accessory Dwelling Unit.  

18. ADU Approval - An Accessory Dwelling Unit conforming to the provisions of this 
section shall be approved administratively 

604.14.4 Interior Accessory Dwelling Units    

Interior Accessory Dwelling Units. The following provisions also apply to interior Accessory 
Dwelling Units:  
A. The Accessory Dwelling Unit must be constructed entirely within the existing and legally 

created space of a single-family home or accessory structure in an R-1, R-2 or Transition 
Districts.  

B. The zoning standards of the underlying zoning district (e.g., setbacks, height, floor area ratio, 
etc.) do not apply to interior Accessory Dwelling Units.  

C. Interior Accessory Dwelling Unit size is 864 sq. ft. or size of ground floor, whichever is larger. 
D. Internal ADUs within the principal structure shall have interior stairway access to the primary 

entrance of the unit.  Secondary stairways required for fire safety may be located on the exterior 
of the side or rear of the building, but shall not be allowed on the front of the building. 



71  

1. Exterior stairways shall be built of durable materials that match the finish of the principal 
structure or accessory building to which they are attached.  Raw or unfinished lumber shall not 
be permitted. 

E. If the primary structure is on a single level, the minimum floor area must be 1,000 sq. ft. and 
Accessory Dwelling Unit shall not exceed one-third of total floor area of structure.  If the 
primary structure is multi-story, the maximum floor area of the Accessory Dwelling Unit may 
be equal to the first floor of the primary residence or can be less than or equal to 50% of the 
total floor area of the structure. 

604.14.5 Interior Accessory Dwelling Units  
Attached Accessory Dwelling Units. The following provisions shall also apply to all attached 
Accessory Dwelling Units:  
A. Except as modified by this section, an ADU attached to the primary dwelling unit shall 

conform to all requirements of the underlying residential zoning district, any applicable 
overlay district, and all other applicable provisions, including height, setback, floor area ratio.  

B. The increased floor area of an ADU attached to the existing single-family home shall not 
exceed 50% of the floor area of the existing single-family home or 864 square feet whichever 
is less. 

C. An attached ADU must comply with the following design standards:  
1. The ADU must be constructed with compatible/complementary facade materials, generally 

the same color palette, and similar in texture and appearance to the primary dwelling, 
including but not limited to roofing, siding, windows, and doors.  

2. The ADU roof height cannot exceed the height of the primary residence and the ADU roof 
pitch/form must be compatible with the roof pitch/form of the primary dwelling. 

3. No less than 10% of the entire elevation facing an alley or public street shall be windows. 
4. Rooftop decks are prohibited 
5. Balconies shall not face an interior side lot line 

604.14.6 Interior Accessory Dwelling Units  

Detached Accessory Dwelling Units. The following provisions shall also apply to all detached 
Accessory Dwelling Units:  
A. Except as modified by this section, a detached ADU must conform to all requirements of the 

underlying residential zoning district, any applicable overlay district, and all other applicable 
zoning provisions, including height, setback, floor area ratio, and historic preservation 
requirements.  

B. Setbacks.  

1. A detached Accessory Dwelling Unit must be located no less than five feet from the 
primary dwelling unit on site.  

2. The minimum side setbacks for a detached ADU is five feet from interior side lot lines and 
twenty-fine from street side lot lines of corner lots.  



72  

3. On reverse corner lots, a detached ADU may not project beyond the inner line of the front 
yard required on the adjacent lot to the rear, nor be located less than five feet from the side 
lot line of such adjacent lot.  

4. The minimum rear yard setback for a detached ADU is five feet.  
5. Notwithstanding subsections (A) through (D), the minimum setbacks for an ADU that is 

constructed above an existing garage is five feet from the rear and side property lines 
(including street side corner lots and reverse corner lots).  

C. Height.  
1. A one story detached ADU may be up to 15 feet in height.  
2. A detached ADU constructed over a garage or other accessory structure where the ADU 

would be five feet from the rear or side lot line may be up to 17 feet in height when such 
unit has a flat roof.  

3. A detached ADU constructed over a garage or other accessory structure where the ADU 
would be five feet from the rear or side lot line may be up to 20 feet in height when such 
unit has a pitched roof.  

4. A detached ADU constructed over a garage or other accessory structure where the ADU 
would meet the side and rear yard setbacks of the underlying zoning district may be up to 
20 feet in height when such unit has a flat roof.  

5. A detached ADU constructed over a garage or other accessory structure where the ADU 
would meet the side and rear yard setbacks of the underlying zoning district may be up to 
24 feet in height when such unit has a pitched roof 

6. The maximum floor area of a detached ADU is 1,000 sq. ft. unless it is created by 
converting a garage.  ADUs that are converted garages may not exceed the square footage 
of the ground floor of the primary dwelling unit or 768 sq. ft., whichever is larger.  

7. A detached ADU must comply with the following design standards:  
i. The ADU   must comply with Minnesota Uniformed Building Code if the new 

construction includes: 
a. ground floor plate height exceeds 12 feet or roof height exceeds 18 feet (as 

measured from finished grade); or  
b. creates or expands an upper floor.  

ii. The ADU must be constructed with compatible/complementary facade materials, 
generally the same color palette, and similar in texture and appearance to the primary 
dwelling, including but not limited to roofing, siding, windows, and doors.  

iii. The ADU roof pitch/form must be compatible with the roof pitch/form of the primary 
dwelling. 

604.15 Cannabis and Hemp Businesses 
 604.15.1 Purpose 

The purpose of this section of code is to provide guidelines and appropriate and lawful land use 
regulations for cannabis and hemp businesses in the City of Plainview. The provisions of this 
section of code are in the public interest and authorized under Chapter 342 of Minnesota State 



73  

Statutes. 
 
604.15.2 Applicability 
This ordinance applies to all cannabis and hemp businesses within the City of Plainview, including 
cannabis retailers and lower-potency hemp retailers registered with Wabasha County. 
 
604.15.3 Minimum Buffer Requirements 
The following provisions shall apply to all cannabis businesses unless otherwise specified: 
A. No cannabis business shall operate within 1,000 feet of a school. 
B. No cannabis business shall operate within 500 feet of a residential treatment facility 
C. No cannabis business shall operate within 500 feet of a day care. 
D. No cannabis business shall operate within 500 feet of a public park that is regularly used by 

minors, including a playground or athletic field. 
E. No cannabis retailer shall operate within 500 feet of another cannabis retailer. 
 
604.15.4 Cannabis Retailer Registration Required 
All cannabis retailers and lower-potency hemp edible retailers must validly register with Wabasha 
County before making retail sales to consumers in the City of Plainview. 
 
604.15.5 Cannabis Retailer Hours of Operation 
All cannabis retailers are limited to the sale of cannabis, cannabis flower, cannabis products, 
lower-potency hemp edibles, or hemp-derived consumer products between the hours of 8am and 
1am, Monday through Saturday, and 10am to 1am on Sunday. 
 
604.15.6 Temporary Cannabis Events 
Any person intending to organize and operate a temporary cannabis event must 1) obtain a 
cannabis event organizer license issued by the Office of Cannabis Management pursuant to 
Minnesota Statutes, Chapter 342, and 2) obtain all necessary approvals, permits, and licenses 
required by the City of Plainview under section 509 of the City Code. Temporary cannabis events 
must comply with Minnesota Statutes, Section 342.40 and all applicable state rules. 
 
604.15.7 Severability 
If any section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase of this ordinance is for any reason held to be 
invalid, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of the ordinance. 
 
604.15.8 Penalty 
Any person convicted or violating a provision of the ordinance is guilty of a misdemeanor 
punishable by a fine of up to $1000 or up to 90 days in jail or both. 

 
 
 



74  

604.16 Blighted Properties  
604.16.1 Purpose.  
It is hereby determined that the timely completion of building construction, maintenance of 
adequate exterior finishes on buildings, and proper maintenance of exterior property areas is 
necessary to avoid the creation of blighted, unsafe and unsanitary conditions within the City of 
Plainview. The purpose of this Ordinance is to protect the public health, safety and welfare of the 
citizens of Plainview, and to protect the character and stability of the properties within the city. 
 
604.16.2 Completion of Construction.  
All building construction for which a valid zoning and/or building permit is required and has been 
issued, shall be completed in accordance with Section 602.9.    
 
604.16.3 Exterior of Structures.  
The exterior of all buildings and structures, including detached garages, shall be maintained in a 
workmanlike state of maintenance and repair, and shall comply with the following: 
A. Every exterior wall shall be substantially free of holes, breaks, loose or rotting boards or 

timbers, falling or loose stucco, substantial amounts of peeling paint, or any other condition 
which might admit rain or dampness-to the interior of the building; 

B. All exterior wood surfaces, other than naturally decay resistant woods, shall be protected from 
the elements and decay by paint which is not lead-based paint or by other approved protective 
covering or treatment, which shall be maintained in a neat and attractive manner. Unprotected 
or uncovered building paper shall not be considered an approved protective covering or 
treatment. 

C. Every roof shall be structurally sound, tight, and have no defects which might admit rain or 
dampness;  

D. All doors and windows shall be maintained in good repair, fit reasonably well within their 
frames, and be free of open breaks or holes. 

 
604.16.4 Exterior Property Areas.  
All exterior property areas and vacant areas shall comply with the following minimum standards: 
A. Be maintained in a clean and sanitary condition free from any accumulation of rubbish or 

garbage, and free from any hazard or dangerous condition; 
B. Be graded and maintained to prevent the accumulation of stagnant water thereon, and within 

10 feet of any building or structure located thereon-, 
C. Be kept free from species of weeds or plant growth, rodents, vermin or other pests which are 

noxious or detrimental to public health. 
 
604.16.5 Vacated Structures and Vacant Properties.  
Any dwelling determined to be unfit for human habitation by the Enforcement Officer which has 
been vacant for a period of sixty (60) days or more, shall be made safe and secure by the property 
owner, so that it is not hazardous to the health, safety, and welfare of the public, and does not 
constitute a public nuisance. Any such structure open at the doors and windows, if unsecured, 
shall be deemed to be a hazard to the health, safety and welfare of the public, and a public 
nuisance. The owner of vacant lands shall make said lands safe and secure by barricading or 



75  

fencing the property or the like, or by placing said lands in their natural unimproved condition and 
removing all dangerous conditions. Upon failure of the owner to comply, the City may have such 
structure or vacant property made safe and secure, or remove the dangerous condition, and assess 
the cost to the owner in accordance with the procedures of MN Statutes 463.15 - 463.261. 
 

604.17 Stormwater Management 
604.17.1 Purpose. 
The purpose of this ordinance is to promote, preserve and enhance the physical development and 
natural resources within the City of Plainview and protect them from adverse effects impacts or 
incompatible activities by regulating land use and by requiring detailed review standards and 
procedures for development to achieving a balance between growth and natural resources. 
 
604.17.2 Definitions.  
For the purposes of this section, the following terms, phrases, words, and their derivatives shall 
have the meaning as defined in Minnesota State Statute and Rule and as stated below. When not 
inconsistent with the definition stated below, the state statute or rule will prevail and when not 
inconsistent with context, words used in the present tense include the future tense, words in the 
plural number include the singular number, and words in the singular number include the plural 
number. The word “shall” and “must” are always mandatory and not merely directive. 
 
MPCA. Minnesota Pollution Control Agency 
Peak Discharge Rate. Means the maximum rate of flow or runoff in cubic feet per second (CFS) 
during a storm event. 
Runoff. Means the draining away of water from the surface of an area of land, buildings, or 
structures. 
Stabilized. Is exposed ground surface after it has been covered by sod, erosion control blanket, 
riprap, or other material that prevents erosion from occurring. Simply sowing grass seed is not 
considered stabilization. 
Storm Event.  Means a rainfall or snowmelt event that results in surface water runoff.   
Stormwater. Means precipitation run-off, stormwater run-off, snow melt run-off, and any other 
surface run-off and drainage. 
Stormwater Management Facility.  Means a permanent natural or man-made facility that serves 
the purpose of temporarily detaining/retaining, infiltrating, and/or treating stormwater runoff. 
Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP). Means a plan for stormwater discharge that 
includes all required content under the MPCA Construction Stormwater (CSW) Permit that 
describes the erosion prevention, sediment control and waste control BMPs and permanent 
stormwater treatment systems.   
 
604.17.3 Scope and Effect.  
A. Applicability. Every applicant for a building permit, subdivision approval, or a permit to allow 

land-disturbing activities must comply with the requirements of the MPCA Construction 
Stormwater (CSW) Permit, if applicable, and this ordinance.  The MPCA CSW Permit applies 
for construction activity that results in land disturbance of equal to or greater than 1-acre or if a 



76  

project is a part of a common plan of development or sale, as defined in the MPCA CSW 
Permit, that ultimately will disturb greater than 1-acre.   

B. Exemptions. The provisions of this ordinance, except Section 604.17.8 do not apply 
to:  
1. Minor land disturbance activities such as home gardens and an individual’s home 

landscaping, repairs, and maintenance work, not associated with the initial construction of 
the home; 

2. Tilling, planting, or harvesting of agricultural, horticultural, or silvicultural crops; 
3. Emergency work to protect life, limb, or property and emergency repairs, unless the land 

disturbing activity would have required an MPCA Construction Stormwater Permit, except 
for the emergency.  If such a permit would have been required, then the Stormwater 
Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) associated with the permit shall be updated within 5 
working days from the emergency repair occurrence and the disturbed land area shall be 
shaped and stabilized in accordance with the City’s requirements as soon as possible. 

 
604.17.4 Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) and Grading Plan Submittal. When land 
disturbance activity requiring a MPCA Construction Stormwater (CSW) Permit occurs, the 
applicant shall submit evidence of MPCA CSW permit coverage and copies of the Stormwater 
Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) and Grading Plan to the City Clerk in electronic (pdf) and 
hard copy format (two copies on 11x17 size paper). 
 
604.17.5 Stormwater Run-off Rates.  
Stormwater run-off rates associated with new development or redevelopment projects must not 
increase over the predevelopment two (2) year, ten (10) year, and one hundred (100) year storm 
event peak discharge rates, based on the last ten (10) years of how that land was used. Also, 
accelerated channel erosion must not occur as a result of the proposed activity and shall comply 
with all SWPPP requirements, if applicable.  Exemptions to this requirement may be made for 
projects with construction activity involving less that 1-acre of land disturbance that are not part of 
a common plan of development or sale, as defined in the MPCA CSW Permit, that ultimately will 
disturb greater than 1-acre, provided that increased stormwater runoff rates will not cause 
downstream impacts and that there is appropriately sized downstream infrastructure to 
accommodate the increased runoff rates, as determined by the City Engineer.   
 
A. Methodologies/Computations. Hydrologic models and design methodologies used for 

determining runoff characteristics and analyzing stormwater management facilities must be 
approved by the City Engineer. Plans, specifications, and computations for stormwater 
management facilities submitted for review must be certified by a licensed professional 
engineer. All computations must appear in the plans or report submitted for review, unless 
otherwise approved by the City Engineer. 

 
604.17.6 Abandonment of Stormwater Management Facilities.  
Should the City of Plainview construct a regional stormwater management facility within the 
watershed of an individual development stormwater management facility, the individual 
development stormwater management facility can be abandoned upon approval of the City 
Council. 



77  

The current owner of the individual stormwater management facility shall be responsible for all 
costs to abandon the individual stormwater management facility, including filling the facility in 
and restoring to original conditions. 
 
604.17.7 Minimum Protection for Natural Wetlands.  
Wetlands must not be drained or filled, wholly or partially, unless all applicable local, state, and 
federal permits have been obtained.  Run-off must not be discharged directly into wetlands 
without appropriate water quality treatment and rate and volume control, depending on the 
individual wetland’s vegetation sensitivity. 
 
604.17.8 Lawn Fertilizer Regulations.  
A. Use of Impervious Surfaces. No person shall apply fertilizer to or deposit grass clippings, 

leaves, or other vegetative materials on impervious surfaces, or within stormwater drainage 
systems, natural drainage ways, or within wetland buffer areas. 

B. Unimproved Land Areas. Except for driveways, sidewalks, patios, areas occupied by structures 
or areas which have been improved by landscaping, all areas shall be covered by plants or 
vegetative growth. 

C. Fertilizer Content. Except for the first growing season for newly established turf areas, no 
person shall apply liquid fertilizer which contains more than one-half percent by weight of 
phosphorus, or granular fertilizer which contains more than three percent by weight of 
phosphorus, unless the single application is less than or equal to one-tenth pound of 
phosphorus per one thousand square feet. Annual application amount shall not exceed one-half 
pound of phosphorus per one thousand square feet of lawn area. 

D. Buffer Zone. Fertilizer applications shall not be made within 20 feet of any wetland or water 
resource. 

 
604.17.9 Penalty.  
Any person, firm, or corporation violating any provisions of this ordinance can warrant a civil 
penalty. Any violation of this ordinance is a misdemeanor. Each day that violation is committed 
or permitted to exist shall constitute a separate offense. The city may institute appropriate actions 
or proceedings to prevent, restrain, correct, or abate such violations or threatened violations. The 
imposition of any fine or sentence shall not exempt the offender from compliance with the 
requirements of this ordinance; and the city may pursue, by appropriate actions or proceedings, 
any or all additional other remedies. 
 
604.17.10 Other Controls.  
In the event of any conflict between the provisions of this ordinance and the provisions of an 
erosion control or shoreland protection ordinance adopted by the City Council, the more 
restrictive standard prevails. 
 
604.17.11 Severability.  
The provisions of this ordinance are severable. If any provision of this ordinance or the 
application thereof to any person or circumstance is held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect 
other provisions or applications of this ordinance which can be given effect without the invalid 



78  

provision or application. 
 
 

604.18  Flood Prone Area Regulations 
Land subject to flooding and deemed by the City Engineer and/or the Planning Commission to be 
uninhabitable shall not be platted as lots or structures built on as it may increase danger to health, 
life or property, or aggravate the flood hazard.     
All flood prone areas shall be clearly shown on concept plans, future development plans and 
preliminary plats as defined by the owner and/or applicant and obtain all necessary permits as 
found in Section 604.17.   

 
604.18.1 Permit Requirements 
A. No person may erect, construct, enlarge, alter, repair, improve, move, or demolish any 

building or structure without first obtaining a separate permit for each building or structure 
from the designated responsible person, 

B. No man-made change to improved or unimproved real estate, including but not limited to 
buildings or other structures, fences, mining, dredging, filling, grading, paving, excavation or 
drilling operations, may be commenced until a separate permit has been obtained from the 
designated responsible person for each change. 

C. No manufactured home may be placed on improved or unimproved real estate without first 
obtaining a separate permit for each manufactured home from the designated responsible 
person. 

 
604.18.2 Permit Application. 
To obtain a permit, the applicant must first file a permit application on a form furnished for that 
purpose. The form must be completed and submitted to the designated responsible person with a 
fee as designated by City Council before a permit will be issued. 

 

604.18.3 Duties of the City Clerk. 
A. The City Clerk, hereinafter referred to as the responsible person, is appointed as the “person” 

responsible for receiving applications and examining the plans and specifications for the 
proposed construction or development. 

B. After reviewing the application, the responsible person may require any additional measures 
which are necessary to meet the minimum requirements of this ordinance. 

C. The responsible person must review proposed development to assure that all necessary permits 
have been received from those governmental agencies from which approval is required by 
Federal or State law, including Section 404 of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act 
Amendments of 1972, 33 U.S.C. 1334. 

D. The responsible person must review and maintain all permit applications to ensure that any 
development activities are consistent with criteria set forth in Section 60.3 of the National 
Flood Insurance Program Regulations. 

 

604.18.4 Review of Permit Application. 
The responsible person must review all permit applications to determine whether proposed 
building sites will be reasonably safe from flooding. If a proposed building site is in a flood 



79  

prone area, all new construction and substantial improvements (including the placement of 
manufactured homes) must be: 
A. Designed (or modified) and adequately anchored to prevent floatation, collapse, or lateral 

movement of the structure resulting from hydrodynamic and hydrostatic loads, including the 
effects of buoyancy, 

B. Constructed with materials and utility equipment resistant to flood damage, 
C. Constructed by methods and practices that minimize flood damage, and 
D. Constructed with electrical, heating, ventilation, plumbing, and air conditioning equipment and 

other service facilities that are designed and/or located so as to prevent water from entering or 
accumulating within the components during conditions of flooding. 

 

604.18.5 Review of Subdivision Proposals. 
The responsible person must review subdivision proposals and other proposed new development 
to determine whether such proposals will be reasonably safe from flooding. If a subdivision 
proposal or other proposed new development is in a flood prone area, any such proposal must be 
reviewed to assure that: 
A. All such proposals are consistent with the need to minimize flood damage within the flood 

prone area, 
B. All public utilities and facilities, such as sewer, gas, electrical, and water systems are located 

and constructed to minimize or eliminate flood damage, and 
C. Adequate drainage is provided to reduce exposure of flood hazard. 

 
604.18.6 Water Supply System. 
The responsible person must require within flood prone areas, new and replacement water 
supply systems to be designed to minimize or eliminate infiltration of flood waters into the 
systems. 
 
604.18.7 Sanitary Sewage and Waste Disposal Systems. 
The responsible person must require within flood prone areas: 

 

A. New and replacement sanitary sewage systems to be designed to minimize or eliminate 
infiltration of flood waters into the systems and discharges from the systems into flood waters; 
and 

B. On-site waste disposal systems to be located to avoid impairment to them or contamination 
from them during flooding. 

 

604.18.8 Annexations and Extraterritorial Jurisdiction. 
The City of Plainview may not approve any development located in a Special Flood Hazard 
Area (SFHA) outside the corporate limits unless such development or plat is in accordance 
with the following: 

 

A. A floodplain ordinance legally adopted by the City of Plainview that meets the minimum 
federal (44 CFR 60.3), state (Minnesota Regulation Parts 6120.5000 through 6120.6200), and 
local requirements for development within a Special Flood Hazard Area. 

B. The SFHA’s of those parts of unincorporated Wabasha County that are within the 
extraterritorial jurisdiction of the City of Plainview or that may be annexed into the City of 



80  

Plainview are generally identified as such on the Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) dated and 
prepared by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). 

 
 
 

604.18.9 Definitions. 
Development. Any man-made change to real estate, including but not limited to construction or 
reconstruction of buildings, installing manufactured homes or travel trailers, installing utilities, 
construction of roads or bridges, erection of levees, walls, or fences, drilling, mining, filling, 
dredging, and storage of materials. 
Flood.  A general and temporary condition of partial or complete inundation of normally dry land 
areas from overflow of inland or tidal waves, or the unusual and rapid accumulation or runoff of 
surface waters from any source. 
Floodplain. or “Flood Prone Area” Any land area susceptible to being inundated by water from any 
source (see Flood). 
 
604.18.10 Penalty. 
Any person who violates this ordinance shall upon conviction thereof be fined not less than 
twenty-five dollars ($25.00) nor more than two-hundred dollars ($200.00). A separate offense 
will be deemed committed upon each day during or on which a violation occurs or continues. 
 
604.18.11 Abrogation and Greater Restriction. 
A. This ordinance is not intended to repeal, abrogate, or impair any existing easements, covenants 

or deed restriction. 
B. Where this Ordinance and other ordinances, easements, covenants, or deed restrictions conflict 

or overlap, whichever imposes the more stringent restrictions will prevail. 
 

604.18.12 Warning and Disclaimer of Liability. 
This ordinance does not imply that land uses permitted within the City will be free from 
flooding or flood damages. This ordinance does not create liability on the part of the City of 
Plainview or any officer or employee thereof for any flood damages that result from reliance 
on this ordinance, or any administrative decision lawfully made hereunder. 

 

604.18.13 Severability. 
If any section, clause, provision, or portion of this ordinance is adjudged unconstitutional or 
invalid by a court of law, the remainder of this ordinance shall not be affected and shall remain 
in full force. 
 

 604.19 Nonconformities  
A. Except as otherwise provided by law, any nonconformity, including the lawful use or 

occupation of land or premises existing at the time of the adoption of an additional control 
under this chapter, may be continued, including through repair, replacement, restoration, 
maintenance, or improvement, but not including expansion, unless: 
1. The nonconformity or occupancy is discontinued for a period of more than one year; or; 
2. Any nonconforming use is destroyed by fire or other peril to the extent of greater than 50 

percent of its estimated market value, as indicated in the records of the county assessor at 



81  

the time of damage, and no building permit has been applied for within 180 days of when 
the property is damaged. In this case, a municipality may impose reasonable conditions 
upon a zoning or building permit in order to mitigate any newly created impact on adjacent 
property or water body. When a nonconforming structure in the shoreland district with less 
than 50 percent of the required setback from the water is destroyed by fire or other peril to 
greater than 50 percent of its estimated market value, as indicated in the records of the 
county assessor at the time of damage, the structure setback may be increased if practicable 
and reasonable conditions are placed upon a zoning or building permit to mitigate created 
impacts on the adjacent property or water body. 

B. Any subsequent use or occupancy of the land or premises shall be a conforming use or 
occupancy. A municipality may, by ordinance, permit an expansion or impose upon 
nonconformities reasonable regulations to prevent and abate nuisances and to protect the 
public health, welfare, or safety. This subdivision does not prohibit a municipality from 
enforcing an ordinance that applies to adults-only bookstores, adults-only theaters, or similar 
adults-only businesses, as defined by ordinance. 

C. Notwithstanding paragraph (A), a municipality shall regulate the repair, replacement, 
maintenance, improvement, or expansion of nonconforming uses and structures in floodplain 
areas to the extent necessary to maintain eligibility in the National Flood Insurance Program 
and not increase flood damage potential or increase the degree of obstruction to flood flows in 
the floodway. 

D. Paragraphs (D) to (J) apply to shoreland lots of record in the office of the county recorder on 
the date of adoption of local shoreland controls that do not meet the requirements for lot size 
or lot width. A municipality shall regulate the use of nonconforming lots of record and the 
repair, replacement, maintenance, improvement, or expansion of nonconforming uses and 
structures in shoreland areas according to paragraphs (D) to (J). 

E. A nonconforming single lot of record located within a shoreland area may be allowed as a 
building site without variances from lot size requirements, provided that: 
1. All structure setback distance requirements can be met; 
2. The lot is connected to a public sewer; and 
3. The impervious surface coverage does not exceed 25 percent of the lot. 

F. In a group of two or more contiguous lots of record under a common ownership, an individual 
lot must be considered as a separate parcel of land for the purpose of sale or development, if it 
meets the following requirements: 
1. The lot must be at least 66 percent of the dimensional standard for lot width and lot size for 

the shoreland classification consistent with Minnesota Rules, chapter 6120; 
2. The lot must be connected to a public sewer; 
3. Impervious surface coverage must not exceed 25 percent of each lot; and 
4. Development of the lot must be consistent with an adopted comprehensive plan. 

G. A lot subject to paragraph (f) not meeting the requirements of paragraph (f) must be combined 
with the one or more contiguous lots so they equal one or more conforming lots as much as 
possible. 

H. Notwithstanding paragraph (f), contiguous nonconforming lots of record in shoreland areas 
under a common ownership must be able to be sold or purchased individually if each lot 
contained a habitable residential dwelling at the time the lots came under common ownership 
and the lots are connected to a public sewer. 

I. In evaluating all variances, zoning and building permit applications, or conditional use 
requests, the zoning authority shall require the property owner to address, when appropriate, 
stormwater runoff management, reducing impervious surfaces, increasing setback, restoration 



82  

of wetlands, vegetative buffers, sewer and water utility availability, and other conservation-
designed actions. 

J. A portion of a conforming lot may be separated from an existing parcel as long as the 
remainder of the existing parcel meets the lot size requirements of the zoning district for a new 
lot and the newly created parcel is combined with an adjacent parcel. 
 

604.20 Skye View Development Special District. 
604.20.1 Conditions 
Approval of this special district ordinance is made with the following conditions: 

 
1. Public roadway connection to Highway 42 shall be required as a part of the first phase 

of the proposed development. 
2. Formal MnDOT approval for Highway 42 access shall be required prior to final plat 

approval. 
3. Preliminary and final plat submittals shall show that access to Parcel No.'s 

14.00110.00 and 14.00109.06 is maintained through the special district property 
during construction of the improvements and after the improvements are made. 

4. The preliminary and final plat shall properly identify MnDOT right-of-way for 
Highway 42. 

 
604.20.2  Timeline 
After two years from the date of approval of the Special District, which was December 14, 
2021, the Council may, following a public hearing, rescind approval of this Special District 
upon finding that the conditions in Subd. 1 have not been met, or that no progress has been 
made in the construction of the development. 
 
604.20.3  Purpose.  
The purpose of this Special District is to provide for zoning regulations that will be 
administrated in the Skye View Development Special District. The following is the special 
regulations of the Skye View Development Special District. 

  
604.20.4   Skye View Boundary.  
This ordinance shall apply to the following described property located within the City of 
Plainview, County of Wabasha, State of Minnesota: Parcel 1 (PID: 26.00116.24): 
 
A part of the North Half of the Southwest Quarter of Section 17, Township 108 North, 
Range 11 West, Wabasha County, Minnesota, described as follows: 

Commencing at the northwest corner of the Southwest Quarter of said Section 17; thence 
along the north line of said Southwest Quarter for a distance of 861.3 feet; thence, southerly, 
parallel with the north line of said Southwest Quarter, for a distance of 577.5 feet (35 rods); 
thence westerly, parallel with the north line of said Southwest Quarter, for a distance of 
693.00 feet; thence northerly for a distance of 577.5 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING. 
Containing 9.19 acres, more or less. 

Above parcel includes the right of access over the following described easement: 



83  

A non-exclusive easement for driveway purposes, 8.25 feet on each side of the following 
described line: That part of the Southwest Quarter of Section 17, Township 108, Range 11, 
Wabasha County, Minnesota, beginning at a point on the West line of said Southwest Quarter 
206.25 feet southerly from the northwest corner of said Southwest Quarter of Section 17 
(for purposes of this description bearing of said West line is assumed South 0 degrees 42 
minutes 00 seconds East), thence North 90 degrees 00 seconds East, a distance of 495.00 
feet and there terminating. 

AND ALSO 33 feet on each side of a line beginning at the aforesaid point of termination, 
thence South 89 degrees 40 minutes 29 seconds East, 365.00 feet; thence South 6 degrees 
10 minutes 45 seconds East,102.65 feet; thence South 23 degrees 43 minutes 42 seconds 
East, 278.00 feet; thence South 26 degrees 49 minutes 24 seconds East, 88.54 feet; thence 
South 38 degrees 50 minutes 59 seconds East, 89.28 feet; thence South 61 degrees 40 
minutes 43 seconds East, 119.27 feet; thence South 69 degrees 33 minutes 06 seconds 
East, 93.77 feet; thence South 66 degrees 40 minutes 33 seconds East, 151.09 feet and the 
re terminating 

 
604.20.5   Legislative Intent and Findings.  

A. Skye View Development provides a compelling alternative to single-use zones by 
offering a dramatically different mixed-use and environmentally, socially, 
economically, and aesthetically advanced development design. 

B. This Special District is established to foster the development of a comprehensively 
planned, mixed income and mixed-use neighborhood. This is accomplished by 
promoting a variety of land uses, housing types, and densities, and by requiring skillful 
architectural and landscape design. The sites unique location, with the TH 42 along the 
north boundary and adjacent to Piper Hills Golf Course on the South, makes this an ideal 
place to create a district that avoids the negative impacts of suburban sprawl with an 
efficient, compact, mixed-use land plan. 

C. This type of development is consistent with the goals and policies of the City’s 2019 
Comprehensive Plan, which encourages creating mixed-use, and higher density 
residential neighborhoods. 

 
604.20.6   Establishment of Skye View Development 

A.  City Council approved a special zoning district to be known as the Skye View 
Development Special District (SD-SK). The Special District shall be an overlay-zoning 
district designed to encourage the attractive and innovative development on the Site. As 
a part of this Special District, the property will be divided into four different use districts 
(see Exhibit A). The regulations and guidelines set forth in this Special District shall 
prevail over the regulations of the noted underlying zoning district. 

B. The determination of the need for the creation of this Special District is based upon the 
following findings or Land Use Principles: 



84  

This Special District is established to foster the development of a comprehensively 
planned, mixed-use neighborhood. This is accomplished by promoting a variety of land 
uses, housing types, and densities, and by requiring skillful architectural and landscape 
design in creating buildings, on an infill site. The Site’s unique location, adjacent to 
TH42 and the Piper Hills Golf Course, makes this an ideal place to create a 
neighborhood that avoids the negative impacts of suburban sprawl with an efficient, 
mixed use land plan. 
1. The location of Skye View Development fits within the City’s Urban Services Area 

boundary. 
2. A mix of uses within the development creates opportunities for people to walk and 

interact. That combined with strong urban and landscape design creates a sense of 
place. The size and shape of Skye View Development ensures that all destinations 
are within an easy walk and that the development functions as a mixed-use infill 
neighborhood. 

3. A range of housing types serves people with different income levels and housing 
needs while contributing to the vitality of the streetscape. 

 

604.20.7 Underlying Development Standards 
Except where otherwise specified, standards for the development of this district will be 
based upon the following City code, when and where applicable, except where the city 
Special District language modifies the standards of the City Codes. 

A. No conditional uses are permitted. 
B. Residential District- Section 613 – R-1 Low Density Residential District. 
C. Medium Density Residential district – (Single family attached Row House Style 

Townhomes, zero lot line.) Section 614 – R-2 Residential District (Multifamily, 
Condominiums, Apartments). 

D. Commercial Business District Section 616 C-1 Central Business District 
E. Mixed-use District- Residential (Quads, live over work, apartments, row style townhomes) 

 

604.20.8 Definitions 
A. Zero Lot Lines: A lot designed for either one dwelling unit of an attached one-family 

dwelling unit or a detached one-family dwelling unit with one side yard reduced or 
eliminated. 

B. Townhouse: An arrangement of single-family dwellings separate or joined by common walls 
on not more than two sides with the uppermost story being a portion of the same dwelling 
location directly beneath at the grade or first floor level and having exclusive individual 
ownership and occupant rights of each dwelling unit including but not limited to the land area 
directly beneath the dwelling. 

C. Row House Style Townhomes: An attached dwelling joined to at least three others in a row 
by common walls on not more than two sides. Row houses are generally urban housing style, 
usually on their own lots. 

D. Single Family Attached: A lot designed to accommodate two individual units that share a 
common wall on a common lot line. 

 



85  

604.20.9 Subdistrict Regulations. 
A. There are four subdistricts established in this Special District. They are: “Low Density 

Residential”, “Medium Density Residential”, “Commercial Business District”, and “Mixed 
Use District”. 

B. The following regulations apply within the area identified as “Low Density Residential” on 
the Skye View Land Use Plan. This District consists of four land uses: “Single-family”, 
“Single-family attached”, and “Zero lot line”, and “Row House Style Townhomes”. 

 Low Density Residential 
1. Unless otherwise specified in this special district, the regulations of the R-1 

District shall apply within the Low-Density District. 
2. Permitted uses shall include the following 

a. Single family detached 
b. Single family attached 
c. Row House Style Townhouse 
d. Zero lot line 

3. Lot Development Standards. 
a. Setback and lot criteria: 

• The minimum setback and lot criteria for this District is listed in Table A 
 

Table A 
 

Use 
 

Lot Area 
 

Lot Frontage 
Setback Criteria: 

Front 
Yard 

Rear 
Yard 

Side 
Yard Su

m 
Single Family 
Detached 

8,000 SF 70 25 25 8 16 

Single Family 
Attached 

6800 SF 60 20 15 8 16 

Row House Style 
Townhouses 3500 SF 18 (1) 

26 (2) 20 15 8 16 

Zero Lot Line 3000 SF 38 20 15 8/0 8 
 

(1) Interior Unit 
(2) Exterior Unit 

b. The only exemption from the front, and rear setback standards will be 
eaves and stoops. 

c. The driveway curb cuts will be no greater than 16’ width for a 2-car garage and 
12’ for Row House Style Townhomes to the garage. 

d. Street trees of a minimum 1-1/2” caliper size are required at approximate 35’ 
intervals in all grass boulevard areas of public streets 

e. The maximum height of any structure is 35 feet measured from the lowest 
ground elevation adjacent to the structure to the midpoint of the sloped 



86  

roof. 
f. Density and intensity 

• The minimum density and intensity for this District is listed in Table B: 
g. Zero lot line development will require party wall and maintenance agreements. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Table B 
Land Use Proposed 

Density/Intensity 
Approx. 
Acres 

Low Density Residential 
District (Single Family Attached/Row 
Townhouses) 

12-18 Units/Acre 1.8 

 

 Medium Density District 
1. Unless otherwise specified in this special district, the regulations of the R-2 

District shall apply within the Medium Density area. 
2. Permitted uses shall include all the following 

a. Condominiums 
b. Multifamily 
c. Open space/recreational area 

3. Lot development standards: 
a. Setback and Lot Criteria 

• The minimum setback and lot criteria for this District is listed in Table  A: 
•  

Table A 

Use Lot Area Lot Frontage 
Setback Criteria: 

Front 
Yard 

Rear 
Yard 

Side 
Yard 

Sum 

Multifamily 15,000 
SF 

140 ft 25 15 15 30 

Condominiu
m 

N/A N/A 25 15 15 30 

Open/Recreation
al Space N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 
b. The only exception from the front and rear setback standards will be 

eaves and stoops 
c. The driveway curb cuts will be no greater than 25 feet in width. 
d. Street trees of a minimum 1-1/2” caliper size are required at approximate 35’ 

intervals in all grass boulevard areas of public streets. 



87  

e. Architectural standards. A building must incorporate architectural styles, 
building materials and colors used in surrounding buildings. An 
Architectural Control Committee has been established to review all 
proposed building plans for consistency in design and appearance 
standards. 

f. Landscape Plan: Lot landscaping standard requirements for the medium 
density development shall be provided for each lot consistent with the 
minimum standards established by the Architectural Control Committee 
(ARC). The ARC shall review all landscape plans to ensure they are 
consistent with the minimum standards established by the ARC. 

g. Maximum building height shall be 35 Feet. 
h. Density and intensity 

• The minimum density, range of densities (minimum to 
maximum), and intensity for this District is listed in Table B: 

 
Table B 

Land 
Use 

Proposed 
Density/Intensity 

Approx. 
Acres 

Medium Density Residential 
District 
(Multifamily/Condominiums) 

16-21 Units/Acre  
1.6 

 

Commercial Business District 
1. Unless otherwise specified in the special district, the regulations of the C-1, 

Central Business District shall apply within the Commercial Business 
District. 

2. Permitted uses shall include the following 
a. Retail Sales 
b. Sit-down and drive thru Restaurants 
c. Entertainment & Drinking  
d. Home Improvement Trades e 
e. Appliance Sale and Services 
f. Repair Shops 
g. Banks/Savings/Loans 
h. Offices 
i. Personal Services 
j. Hotel/Motel 
k. Animal Hospital/ veterinary clinic 
l. Convenience Retail – with and without gasoline sales 

m. Drive-Thru Facilities 
n. Electric vehicle charging stations 
o. Coffee  
p. Shops Over Work 



88  

 
3. Lot Development Standards 

a. Setback and Lot Criteria 
i. The Minimum Setback and Lot Criteria for the District is listed in Table A 

 
 

Table A 
 
Use 

 
Lot Area Lot 

Frontage 

Setback Criteria (Feet): 

Front Yard 
(feet) 

Rear 
Yard 

Side 
Yard Sum 

all uses 6,000 SF 80 25 25 10 20 
parking lots 
(associated 
with the 
principal 

structure) 

 

n/a 

 

n/a 

 

8 

 

8 

 

8 

 

n/a 

corner lot 6,600 SF 80 25 25 12 N/A 
 

a. Maximum building height shall be 35 feet. 
b. Minimum parking standards for commercial uses shall be in accordance with 

Section 604.11 Parking of the Code of Ordinance for the City of  Plainview. 
c. Density and Intensity 

• The maximum density and intensity for this District is listed in Table B: 
 

Table B 
Land Use Proposed 

Density/Intensity 
Approx. 
Acres 

Commercial 
District 

0.50 FAR(1) 0.56 

 
(1) Maximum floor area ratio: A sum of the gross horizontal area of the floors of a building measured 

from the outside faces of wall or the centerline of party walls separating two buildings. This does not 
include any interior parking spaces, loading spaces, any space where the floor to ceiling height is 
less than six feet, any space devoted to mechanical equipment, terraces, breezeways, screened 
porches, basements, other sub-terranean areas not intended for human habitation. 
 

Example: Two story building with 1,500 S.F. of gross floor area for a total of 3,000 S.F. located on a 
6,000 S.F. lot. First floor mechanical room of 30 S.F. and stairwell area of 750 S.F. combined on both 
floors. 3,000 S.F. – (30 S.F. + 750 S.F.) = 2,220 S.F. of net floor area. FAR = 2,200 S.F. net floor 
area / 6,000 S.F. gross lot size = 0.37. 

 
1. Site Development Plan and Site Plan Review: A site Development Plan for all uses 

in the Commercial Business District shall be prepared and submitted to the City of 
Plainview for review. The City of Plainview will review the Site Development 



89  

Plan for consistency with the standards and criteria of the Special District for 
architecture, signage, parking, and landscaping, including City code, when and 
where applicable, except where the city Special District language modifies the 
standards of the City Codes. 

2. Convenience retail and drinking and entertainment uses shall have hours of 
operation as follows: 

a. Convenience Retail: 24 hours 
b. Drinking and entertainment: 6am - 12 midnight 

3. Stacking Requirements for drive-thru facilities shall be reduced to five in-bound 
and one out-bound space per drive lane. 

4. On-street parking in front of the retail uses shall be allowed. On street parking in 
front or on the side street of the lot shall count toward fulfilling the parking 
requirements of the ordinance. On street parking spaces must be striped for clarity 
and be at least 22.5’ long. On-Street spaces may not conflict with traffic, sight lines, 
or pedestrian circulation. 

5. Limitation on permitted uses: 
a. Not more than one convenience retail use that includes sales of automotive fuels 

may be permitted in the Commercial Business District. 
b. With the exception of transit accommodation (motel/hotels), restaurant uses and 

grocery stores, individual businesses shall not exceed 20,000 square of floor area 
on the ground floor. 

6. Lot Development Standards: 
a. Exterior Trash Receptacles shall be constructed to the size and standards of the 

typical section on Exhibit G of the Special District. 
b. Utility boxes and water backflow prevention devices shall be located so they are 

visually unobtrusive and screened with landscaping as allowed. 
c. Buildings shall be oriented to face the street with entrances and display windows at 

the street level. Extended awnings, canopies or large umbrellas shall be permitted 
and located to provide shade. A revocable permit will be required by the City 
whenever a canopy or awning extends into the public right of way. Restaurants 
shall be permitted to operate outdoor cafes on sidewalks, including areas within the 
public right of way provided that pedestrian circulation and access to store 
entrances are not impaired. Revocable permits are for the private use of the public 
right-of-way, either permanent or temporary. The “revocable” designation means 
that the City may revoke the permit at any time for any reason. 

d. Bicycle-locking stands are required in each Commercial Use. One stand, which 
holds a minimum of six bicycles, shall be provided for every 20,000 square feet of 
gross leasable space. These stands must harmonize with the architectural of the 
retail area connect to the ground at two points or more. 

e. Street trees are required along the public streets of all mixed-use buildings at a 
f. minimum spacing of 35’ on center. 
g. Parking 

i. Minimum parking requirements for the Commercial Business District, 
shall use business center parking standards of Section 604.11 of the 
Code of Ordinance for City of Plainview. 

ii. In commercial or office uses, which have shop fronts adjacent to 



90  

sidewalks and streets, on-street parking directly in front of the lot shall 
count toward fulfilling the parking requirement and meet requirements 
of on-street parking in the Commercial Business District.  

iii. Parking lot screening 
a. All parking areas containing more than six spaces (if not screened by the 

building from public roads) must be screened with a hedgerow (42” 
minimum height), unless there is a minimum 8 front wide landscape use 
provided. Hedgerows shall be planted at a maximum of 4’-0” on center 
and shall reach a minimum height of 36” and a maximum height of 6’-
0”. 

iv. Parking Lot Landscaping: 
a. Parking areas containing more than 15 spaces and containing more than 

two contiguous or parallel rows of parking shall have internal 
landscaping within the parking area equal to at least five percent of 
paved area of the lot (including drive aisles plus driveways). 

b. Paved areas do not include sidewalks, patios, or other paved areas not 
associated with vehicle parking or circulation. Planting areas must be 
distributed throughout the parking areas. They must have a minimum 
width of at least eight feet and be at least 100 square feet in area. 

c. Each 100 square feet of required landscape area must contain at least 
one canopy tree or two understory trees (minimum size for canopy trees 
in 1 ½” caliper and minimum size for understory tree is one inch 
caliper). The landscape islands shall not be used for snow storage and 
any planting must be maintained in a healthy condition and appearance. 
These areas may contain external standard lighting fixtures. 

7. Landscape Plan: Lot landscaping standard requirements to the Commercial 
development shall be provided for each lot consistent with the minimum standards 
established by the Architectural Control Committee (ARC). The ARC shall review 
all landscape plans to ensure they are consistent with the minimum standards 
established by the ARC. 

a. Signs 
i. Signs should add interest to the street level environment. They can only 

unify the overall architectural concept of the building or provide unique 
identity for a commercial space within a larger mixed-use structure. 
Signage shall be appropriate for the scale, character and use of the project 
and surrounding area. Signs should be oriented and scaled for both 
pedestrians on sidewalks and vehicles on streets. The following sign 
types satisfy these requirements: 

a. Blade Sign - A sign used to attract pedestrians or drivers who 
cannot see a storefront. Blade signs are usually illuminated both on 
the front and back with two faces. They can also be non- 
illuminated with a cut-out design. They are usually hung from 
ornate brackets. 

b. Marquee - A structure attached to and projecting from a wall of a 



91  

building, located above an entrance, which is designed to identify 
a business or use located on the premises or to advertise present or 
scheduled events on the premises. 

c. Neon signs - sized to not exceed 20 square feet. 
d. Free standing sign - self-supporting sign resting on or supported 

by means of poles, standards of any other type of base anchored to 
the ground 

e. Projecting sign – A sign, other than a wall sign, which attaches to 
and projects from a structure or building facade. 

f. Graphics sign – A sign which is an integral part of the building 
facade. The sign is painted directly on, carved in or otherwise 
permanently imbedded in the facade. Signs in shop windows are 
included unless they qualify as auxiliary signs. 

g. Auxiliary sign – A sign providing information of a special or 
general nature which does not include information on names, 
brands or product lines, such as hours of operation, length of 
special sales, security warnings, directions for parking or entry or 
general pricing information (such as gas prices at service stations). 

h. Advertising signs (billboards) - will be prohibited. 
i. Wall signage - A sign mounted parallel to a building facade or 

other vertical building surface. These signs shall not be mounted 
more than 18 inches from the wall surface they are attached to and 
not exceed 10% of the wall surface of the front of the building. 

ii. Sign standards shall conform with the following criteria: 
a. Free standing sign – maximum height 20” feet. 
b. Projecting sign – maximum area  20 square feet, maximum height 

– 12 feet. 
c. Graphics sign – maximum area of 10% of wall. 
d. Auxiliary sign – maximum height – 6’. 
e. Advertising signs (billboards) will be prohibited. 
f. Wall signage - should be uniform in size. 
g. Signs can be internally lit. 

iii. Architectural standards. 
a. Standards for all uses: 

1. Each Building shall avoid long, monotonous- uninterrupted walls 
or roof planes. The façade of a building should be divided into 
distinct modules, no longer than 150 feet. 

2. Mechanical equipment, electrical and communication 
transformers, cabinets, and service areas shall be located out of 
public view where feasible or screened from public view with 
fences, walls, or landscaping. 

b. Standards for Convenience Retail Uses 
1. Convenience retail uses shall locate automotive fuel service and 

drive-in service areas away from residences and toward the 



92  

perimeter streets. 
2. Light from lighting fixtures and signage, and sound from sound-

producing equipment shall be deflected away from residences. 
Music from sound producing equipment shall be prohibited on 
the exterior of the building. 

3. Foundation landscaping (4’ minimum planting bed width) and 
windows shall be provided along all building sides that are open 
to view from public streets. 

4. Perimeter landscaping at least four feet in depth shall be provided 
along public roads between sidewalks and driveway or parking 
areas. 

5. Pedestrians must be able to safely access the building from public 
sidewalks on visual prominent crosswalks within drive areas to 
the building’s front door. 

6. All sides of the building façade shall be designed to provide 
architectural and visual interest. 

i. A minimum of 50% of the building along a street right 
of way at ground level must be clear or lightly tinted 
windows, doors, or other treatment that are sufficiently 
transparent to provide pedestrian views into the 
building. 

ii. Awnings, covered walkway, open colonnades, or 
similar weather protection must be provided by at least 
50% of the commercial, retail, service, and office uses 
that front the right of way. 

iii. Doorways, windows, and other openings in the façade 
of a building shall be proportioned to reflect pedestrian 
scale and movement, and to encourage interest at the 
street level. 

iv. Exterior materials may include brick, architecturally 
treated concrete, stone, tile, stucco, stucco-like panels 
and other cultured stone, and similar high quality 
architectural materials. 

v. Buildings shall be oriented to face the street with 
entrances and display windows at the street level. 
Extended awnings, canopies or large umbrellas shall 
be permitted and located to provide shade. Restaurants 
shall be permitted to operated outdoor cafes on 
sidewalks, including area within the public right of 
way and in courtyards provided that pedestrian 
circulation and access to store entrances are not 
obstructed 



93 
 

Mixed-Use District: 
vi. Drive-thrus: 

a. Drive-thru facilities shall be permitted in the Commercial Use District 
b. The Stacking requirements for the drive-thrus are as defined in the 

Commercial Use District. 
c. The use of outdoor speaker systems and other audio type equipment shall 

be limited by the Architectural Control Committee and local noise 
ordinances. 

d. The Site Plan for each drive-thru facility shall minimally include the 
location of the drive-thru, staging aisle, location of the menu board, and 
other signage deemed necessary for the operation of the drive-thru. 

1. The “Mixed Use District” permitted uses are as follows: 
a. Multi-family (max. 4 connected units) 
b. Live Over Work 
c. Multi-family 
d. Commercial uses permitted by this special district. 
e. Row House Style Townhouses 

2. Lot Development Standards 
a. Setback and Lot Criteria 

• The Minimum Setback and Lot Criteria for the District is 
listed in Table A: 

 
Table A 

 
Use 

 
Lot Area Lot 

Frontage 

Setback Criteria (Feet): 

Front Yard 
(feet) 

Rear 
Yard 

Side 
Yard Sum 

Multi-family Variable 120 25 20 8 16 

Live - Work Variable 106 25 20 8 16 
Multi-family 
(max. 
4 units) 

Variable 80 25 20 8 16 

Row House 
Style 
Townhouses 

3500 SF 18 (1) 
26 (2) 20 15 8 16 

 
(1) Interior Unit 
(2) Exterior Unit 

3. Density and Intensity 
• The maximum density, range of densities (minimum to maximum), and intensity for this 

District is listed in Table B: 
 



94 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Table B 

Land 
Use 

Proposed Density/Intensity Appro
x. 
Acres 

Mixed Use District (Multi- 
family/Live-Work/ Multi-
family (max. 4 units)/Row 
House Style Townhomes) 

19-42 Multi-family Units  

1.5 
3+ Live Over Work 
Multi-family (max. 4 units attached)/8 units 
maximum 
Row House Style Townhomes/8 units maximum 

 
4. Live Over Work: Office and residential uses are allowed on the upper 

levels. Two off- street parking stalls per residential unit is required and 
must be reserved. 

5. A site Development Plan for all uses in the Mixed-Use District shall be 
prepared and submitted to the city of Plainview for review. The City of 
Plainview will review the Site Development Plan for consistency with the 
standards and criteria of the Special District for architecture, signage, 
parking, and landscaping, including City code, when and where 
applicable, except where the city Special District language modifies the 
standards of the City Codes. 

6. Minimum of two stories above grade is allowed. A story is defined as 
that portion of a building included between the upper surface of any floor 
and the upper surface at the next floor above except that the topmost floor 
shall be that portion of a building included between the upper surface of 
the topmost floor and ceiling. 

7. Maximum size for a restaurant use is 7,000 square feet. 
8. Alcohol sales are permitted. 
9. The height allowed for a three-story building shall be 35 feet. 
10. Lot development Standards: 

a. Exterior Trash Receptacles shall be constructed to size and standards 
of the typical section on figure Exhibit F of the Special District. 

b. Utility boxes and water backflow prevention devices shall be located 
so they are visually unobtrusive and screened with landscaping as 
allowed. 

c. Buildings shall be oriented to face the street with entrances and display 



95 
 

windows at the street level, except for the storage facilities. Extended 
awnings, canopies or large umbrellas shall be permitted and located to 
provide shade. 

d. Street trees are required along the public streets of all mixed-use 
buildings at 
a minimum spacing of 35’ on center. 

11. Parking requirements for the Mixed-Use District shall use standards of 
Section 609.7 except as follows: 

• Live over work Commercial space 1 stall/ 200 square feet 
• Apartments: 1 stall for 1 bedroom, 1.5 stalls for 2-bedroom, 2 stalls for 

3 bedrooms. 
a. Parking Lot Screening: 

1. All parking areas containing more than six spaces (if not 
screened by the building from public roads) must be screened 
with a hedgerow. These landscaped areas but be a minimum of 
4’-0” wide. Hedgerows shall be planted at a maximum of 4’-
0” on center and shall reach a minimum height of 36” and a 
maximum height of 6’0”. 

b. Parking Lot Landscaping: 
1. Parking areas containing more than 15 spaces and containing 

more than two contiguous or parallel rows of parking shall 
have internal landscaping within the parking area equal to at 
least five percent of paved area of the lot (including drive 
aisles plus driveways). 

2. Paved areas do not include sidewalks, patios, or other paved 
areas not associated with vehicle parking or circulation. 

3. Each 100 square feet of required landscape area must 
contain at last one canopy tree or two understory trees 
(minimum size for canopy trees in 1 – 1/2” caliper and 
minimum size for understory tree is one inch caliper). The 
landscape islands shall not be used for snow storage and any 
planting must be maintained in a healthy condition and 
appearance. These areas may contain external standard 
lighting fixtures. 

12.   Signs  
a. Signs should add interest to the street level environment. They 

can only unify the overall architectural concept of the building or 
provide unique identity for a commercial space within a larger 
mixed-use structure. Signage shall be appropriate for the scale, 
character and use of the project and surrounding area. Signs 
should be oriented and scaled for both pedestrians on the 
sidewalks and vehicles on streets. The following sign types 
satisfy these requirements. 



96 
 

1. Blade Sign - A sign used to attract pedestrians or drivers who 
cannot see a storefront. Blade signs are usually illuminated 
both on the front and back with two faces. They can also be 
non-illuminated with a cut-out design. They are usually hung 
from ornate brackets. 

2. Marquee - A structure attached to and projecting from a wall 
of a building, located above an entrance, which is designed 
to identify a business or use located on the premises or to 
advertise present or scheduled events on the premises. 

3. Neon signs - sized to not exceed 20 square feet. 
4. Free standing sign - self-supporting sign resting on or 

supported by means of poles, standards of any other type of 
base anchored to the ground 

5. Projecting sign – A sign, other than a wall sign, which 
attaches to and projects from a structure or building facade. 

6. Graphics sign – A sign which is an integral part of the 
building facade. The sign is painted directly on, carved in or 
otherwise permanently imbedded in the facade. Signs in shop 
windows are included unless they qualify as auxiliary signs. 

7. Auxiliary sign – A sign providing information of a special or 
general nature which does not include information on names, 
brands or product lines, such as hours of operation, length of 
special sales, security warnings, directions for parking or 
entry or general pricing information (such as gas prices at 
service stations). 

8. Advertising signs (billboards) - will be prohibited. 
9. Wall signage - A sign mounted parallel to a building facade 

or other vertical building surface. These signs shall not be 
mounted more than 18 inches from the wall surface they are 
attached to and not exceed 10% of the wall surface of the 
front of the building. 

b. Sign standards shall conform with the following criteria: 
1. Free standing sign – maximum height 20” feet. 
2. Projecting sign – maximum area – 20 square feet, 

maximum height 
– 12 feet. 

3. Graphics sign – maximum area of 10% of wall. 
4. Auxiliary sign – maximum height – 6’. 
5. Advertising signs (billboards) will be prohibited. 
6. Wall signage - should be uniform in size. 
7. Signs can be internally lit. 

13. Architectural Standards. 
a. Standards for all uses: 



97 
 

1. Each building shall avoid long, monotonous-uninterrupted 
walls or roof planes. The façade of a building should be 
divided into distinct modules, no longer than 150 feet. 

2. Mechanical equipment, electrical and communication 
transformers, cabinets, and services areas shall be located out 
of public view where feasible or screened from public view 
with fences, walls, or landscaping. 

3. All sides of the building façade shall be designed to provide 
architectural and visual interest. 

i. Doorways, windows, and other openings in the 
façade of a building shall be proportioned to reflect 
pedestrian scale and movement, and to encourage 
interest at the street level. 

ii. Exterior material may include brick, architectural 
treated concrete, sone tile, stucco, stucco-like panels 
and other cultured stone, and similar high quality 
architectural materials 

iii. Buildings shall be oriented to face the street with 
entrances and display windows at the street level. 
Extended awnings, canopies or large umbrellas shall 
be permitted and located to provide shade. 

 
604.20.10 Parkland Dedication Regulations 

A. Section 622.9 of the Code of Ordinances for the City of Plainview titled “Parks, Open Space, 
and Public Use” contains the current policy for parkland dedication or cash in lieu of 
dedication provision when a park or public area is not shown on the Comprehensive plan. 
Parkland Dedication Ordinances are granted pursuant to State Statute 462.358. Section 622.9 
of the Code of Ordinances provides for a schedule based on density of the development for 
R-1 and R-2 residentially zoned districts. 

B. The Skye View Special District Plan contains four distinct land use districts of which three 
are subject to parkland requirements. They are (1) Low-Density Residential; (2) Medium 
Density Residential; (3) a portion of the Mixed-Use for Multifamily, or Live-Over work. 

C. The parkland dedication requirement for this Special District will be met via a cash 
contribution in lieu of land dedication. The cash payment for parkland dedication shall be 
made prior to recording the Final Plat of each phase of development with land uses that are 
subject to the parkland dedication per item 3 above. 

D. Calculation of parkland dedication: The amount of cash in lieu of dedication of parkland for 
each land use designation shall be based on the density of each category as noted in the 
following table: 

 
Table A 

Land 
Use 

Required Dedication 



98 
 

Low Density Residential 8% of total land area 
Medium Density Residential Refer to Table B 
Mixed-Use Density 
Residential 

Refer to Table B 

Table B: Density calculation for Medium Density and 
Mixed-Use Density for residential use. The population 
density chart is pertinent to the land use that potentially 
increases demand on parks. 

 
Table B 

Density in Dwelling 
Units per Gross Acre 
of Residential Land 
Area (dwelling units 
per acre) 

Estimated Number 
of Persons per 
Dwelling Unit 

16-21 2.22 
Over 21 1.98 

 
E. The total land dedication requirement in Table A is calculated based on total land area 

within the low-density residential zone multiplied by the required dedication percentage. 
The dedication requirement formula is number of acres within the low-density residential 
zone x required dedication percentage = Amount of land to be dedicated. 

 
The total land dedication requirement in Table B is calculated based on need for 8 acres per 
1,000 residents. The dedication requirement formula is 0.008 x the number of persons per 
dwelling unit x number of units = Amount of land to be dedicated. 
 
The formula for Cash in Lieu of land dedication is as follows: Fair market value per acre x 
number of acres required to be dedicated = cash payment in Lieu of land dedication. 

 
Table A Example: 
10 acres low density residential x 0.08 = 0.8 acres 
0.8 acres x $10,000 per acre fair market value = $8,000.00 
Table B Example: 
(0.008 x 2.22 persons per swelling unit) x 20 dwelling units = 0.35 Acres 
0.35 acres x $10,000 per acre fair market value = $3,552.00 
 
The fair market value of the land before development to be used in 
calculations for Tables A and B shall be defined by either (1) appraised or (2) 
negotiated value between the City and Developer. 

 
604.20.11 General Development Standards 

A. Public street section for Skye View Development shall follow the cross-sections 
shown in Exhibit C. 



99 
 

 
604.20.12  Boundaries 

A. The regulations established herein shall apply to the land described in Section 604.20.4 and 
shall be designated “SD-SV” on the zoning map. 

 
604.20.13 Exhibits 

A. The following documents shall be submitted with the Special District application and 
included as exhibits of this Ordinance: 

1. Special District Boundary and Underlying Zone, Exhibit A 
2. Concept Plan Exhibit B 
3. Street Sections/Utilities, Exhibit C 
4. Pedestrian Circulation, Exhibit D 
5. Building Proto-types Exhibit E 
6. Trash enclosure- Exhibit F 

 
604.20.14 Effects of Regulations 

A. 1. The Special District ordinance and Exhibits A-F including preliminary or final plats 
together with the conditions and restrictions imposed, if any, shall govern the use and 
development of the land. 

 
604.20.15 Development Procedures 

A. Except as herein described, development procedures for property within the Special District 
shall be consistent with the requirements of the Plainview Code of Ordinances. Additional 
plans and information shall be submitted, as necessary, for development within the Special 
District, as outlined below. If determined necessary by the Zoning Administrator, additional 
plans, or information necessary for development approvals shall also be submitted. 

B. Preliminary and Final Plat Application. Preliminary and Final plat applications within the 
Special District shall include plans and information consistent with the requirements of the 
Plainview Code of Ordinances. If requested by the Zoning Administrator, additional 
information needed in order to judge the nature and propriety of the proposal shall also be 
submitted. 

C. Zoning Certification and Building Permit. Applications for building permits and zoning 
certificates within the Special District shall include submission of a Skye View Development 
Architectural Review Committee document. This document must verify a review of sitting and 
plans for the compliance with this Special District’s intent, as outlined in the covenants 
submitted with the final plat. 

 
(Skye View Exhibits to be added as PDF only) 



CITY OF PLAINVIEW 
WABASHA COUNTY, MINNESOTA 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 2024-25 

 
RESOLUTION APPROVING SUMMARY PUBLICATION OF  

ORDINANCE NO. 2024-05 
 

 WHEREAS, the City has adopted the above referenced ordinance; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the verbatim text of the ordinance is cumbersome, and the expense of publication 
of the complete text is not justified; and 
 

WHEREAS, Minnesota Statutes §412.191, subd. 4, allows publication by title and summary in 
the case of lengthy ordinances or those containing charts or maps; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the following summary clearly informs the public of the intent and effect of the 
ordinance. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Plainview that the 
following summary is hereby approved for official publication in lieu of the entire ordinance: 
 

SUMMARY PUBLICATION 
ORDINANCE NO. 2024-05 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING PLAINVIEW CITY CODE SECTIONS 600 
ENTITLED CONSTRUCTION, PLANNING, ZONING, AND LAND USE 

 
 On December 10, 2024, the Plainview City Council adopted an ordinance designated as 
Ordinance No. 2024-05, the title of which is stated above. The purpose of the ordinance is to amend 
Sections 600 of the Plainview City Code entitled “Construction, Planning, Zoning and Land Use” 
pertaining to the planning, zoning, and development code for the city. Copies of the ordinance are 
available for public inspection in the office of the City Clerk during normal business hours or upon 
request by calling 507-534-2229. 

     /s/ Carol Kujath, City Clerk 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City Clerk is directed to keep a copy of the ordinance 
in her office at City Hall for public inspection and to post a full copy of the ordinance in a public place 
in the City for a period of two weeks. 
 
 Adopted by the City Council of the City of Plainview, Minnesota this 10th day of December 
2024. 
 
 
   
 Aaron Luckstein, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
  
Carol Kujath, City Clerk 
 
 



  Application for Multiple Pet Permit |  Page 1 of 1 
 

Executive Summary 
City Council Regular Meeting: December 10, 2024 
 

AGENDA ITEM:     Application for a Multiple Pet 
Permit 

AGENDA SECTION:  
New Business 

PREPARED BY: David Todd, City Administrator AGENDA NO. 9.H.  

ATTACHMENTS:   City Code 503.17, Multiple Pet 
Permit Application, Vaccination 
Records 

APPROVED BY:  DT 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:   
Motion to approve the permit application for multiple pets. 

 
 
SUMMARY  
 
The city is in receipt of an application for a permit to house multiple pets at a 
residence within the city located at 430 1st Ave NW. The applicant is requesting the 
permit as she will be housing an additional dog for an acquaintance for an 
indeterminate amount of time. There will be three dogs total in the home. 
 
Applicant has provided current vaccination records for all the dogs and all fees 
associated with the permits have been paid. 
 
Staff recommends approval of the multiple pet permit application. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
David Todd 
City Administrator 

 













  9.I. MOU Between City of Plainview and PCLA   |    Page 1 of  
 

Executive Summary 
City Council Regular Meeting:  December 10, 2024 
 

AGENDA ITEM:     
MOU Between the City of 
Plainview and the Peace Corp 
Legacy Association  

AGENDA SECTION:  
New Business 

PREPARED BY: David Todd, City Administrator AGENDA NO. 9.I. 

ATTACHMENTS:   Memorandum of Understanding 
Document APPROVED BY:  dt 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:   
Motion to approve the Memorandum of Understanding between the PCLA 
and the City of Plainview as it pertains to the development and construction of 
the National Services Park 

 
SUMMARY  
 
This Memorandum identifies the general terms of a proposed lease 
agreement between the Parties under which the City would lease to 
PCLA the area currently known as Great River Ridge Trailhead Park and 
referred to in this memorandum as National Service Park, to construct 
improvements to the Park honoring national governmental entities, 
based on significant community historical and service precedents 
including but not necessarily limited to the Peace Corps, all branches of 
the military and AmeriCorps. 
 
More specifically, the Definitive Agreement will allow PCLA full access to 
the entire park during construction for the purpose of constructing a 
yet to be determined portion of the park as the plaza, honoring the 
Peace Corps and military as depicted in attached map as Exhibit B. It is 
the intention of the parties to include portions of the park and/or plaza 
that are dedicated specifically to local Plainview residents who served in 
such national governmental entities. The park and plaza are not 
intended to honor state, regional, or local organizations, and it is the 

 



Page 2 of 2 
 

intent of the Parties to honor national organizations such as the 
organizations listed in the memorandum. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
David Todd 
City Administrator 



1 

 

Memorandum of Understanding 

Between  

City of Plainview, Minnesota  

And 

Peace Corps Legacy Association 

 

This Memorandum of Understanding “MOU” is entered into this _________ day of 

________________, 2024, between the City of Plainview, Minnesota, a Minnesota municipal 

corporation (“City”), and the Peace Corps Legacy Association (“PCLA”), a Minnesota 

nonprofit corporation. The City and PCLA are collectively referred to as the “Parties”. 

 

This Memorandum identifies the general terms of a proposed lease agreement (the 

“Definitive Agreement”) between the Parties under which the City would lease to PCLA 

the area currently known as Great River Ridge Trailhead Park and referred to in this 

memorandum as National Service Park (the “Park”),  to construct improvements to the Park 

honoring national governmental entities, based on significant community historical and 

service precedents including but not necessarily limited to the Peace Corps, all branches of 

the military and AmeriCorps. More specifically, the Definitive Agreement will allow PCLA 

full access to the entire Park during construction for the purpose of constructing a yet to be 

determined portion of the Park as the Plaza (the “Peace Corps Plaza” or “Plaza”), honoring 

the Peace Corps and military as depicted in Exhibit B. It is the intention of the parties to 

include portions of the Park and/or Plaza that are dedicated specifically to local Plainview 

residents who served in such national governmental entities.  The Park and Plaza are not 

intended to honor state, regional, or local organizations, and it is the intent of the Parties to 

honor national organizations such as the organizations listed above.  

 

The park is intended to be developed in two phases. Phase I of the project will include the 

construction of the Peace Corps Plaza within the National Service Park. Phase II of the 

Project will include future improvements to the Park honoring national governmental 

organizations such as the military, Peace Corps  and AmeriCorps. No plans currently exist 

for Phase II, but they may include additional commemorative, interpretive, and landscaping 

features. It is the intent of the Parties to provide adequate space honoring both the Peace 

Corps and military service throughout both Phase I and Phase II of the Park development 

project that is consistent with the preliminary plans attached hereto and incorporated herein 

by reference as Exhibit A (“Plan  A”) and final Phase I Design and Construction Plan for 

construction of the Plaza within the park to be completed subsequent to this memorandum, 

(“Plan B”). 

 

It is expressly understood by the Parties that unless expressly provided herein: (i) this 

Memorandum is not intended to represent a binding agreement between the Parties and (ii) the 

Parties have no obligation to incur costs relating to the Plaza, to perform planning, engineering or 

construction herein proposed, or to agree to any other portion of the Plaza.  Within the context of 



2 

 

that understanding, all statements applying present, transitive verbs (e.g., "will," "shall," "will," 

"shall," etc.) should be construed as proposed terms to be included in a Definitive Agreement, 

which would incorporate the concept expressed in such statement. 

 

By its execution hereof, each of the Parties represents that it has been duly authorized to sign this 

Memorandum.  The City and PCLA mutually agree to discuss and negotiate in good faith using 

commercially reasonable efforts to express further the details, allocation of costs and other 

obligations relating to construction of the Plaza. The proposed terms and conditions of this 

Memorandum are as follows. 

 

Article I. Background and Proposed Project Outline 

 

1. A group of former Peace Corps volunteers (RPCVs) established PCLA as a non-profit 

corporation in Minnesota on September 13, 2018. It is a 501(c) (3) organization accepting 

donations to develop and finance a portion of the Plaza in Plainview, Minnesota. That 

Plaza will be funded principally by RPCVs' individual and organizational donations for 

commemorative bricks.  

 

2. The CITY owns the Park, which is currently a 3.5-acre park area consisting of 

recreational facilities and a Plainview veteran’s memorial, Civil War veterans memorials, 

and a Peace Crops memorial. In order to complete the Plaza and future Phase II 

development within the Park, the CITY, working with PCLA, led the successful launch 

of the proposed development of the Plaza and future Phase II via a public all-day 

conference.  

 

3. The PCLA plans to help establish a separate nonprofit corporation to be known as the 

National Service Park Association (“NSPA”) in conjunction with individuals 

representing various nationally recognized organizations as stakeholders in the 

development of the Park, and those stakeholders shall include military, National Guard, 

Peace Corps, and AmeriCorps. The purpose of the NSPA is to provide input on the 

design and function of all aspects of the park: Phase II improvements, its integration with 

Phase I and fundraising. The Parties will decide at a later date, depending on the status of 

NSPA upon acceptance of Plan B, whether the Definitive Agreement will be initially 

between the City and PCLA, or between the City and NSPA. 

 

4. In October 2021, the CITY approved a tentative design for the Plaza and granted PCLA 

the right to commence fund-raising to develop the Plaza. PCLA has, to date, attained an 

anticipated level of success with fundraising. The parties mutually agree that they desire 

for the existing fundraising to continue and to complete a final design and construction 

plan (Plan B) approved by the Parties based on the tentative October 2021 design in 

anticipation of the Definitive Agreement allowing for construction of the Plaza. Plan A 

was presented to the CITY as an initial design for the Plaza and was approved by vote of 

the City Council on October 12, 2021.  

 

5. PCLA and the City have mutually determined that developing the Plaza is a high priority 

and, by entering into this memorandum, the City has determined that such development is 



3 

 

in the best interest of the health, safety and welfare of the citizens of Plainview, MN. 

 

6. PCLA and the City anticipate PCLA designing, developing, and funding the development 

of the Plaza around a theme honoring national historical Peace Corps and military 

significance while preserving, integrating, and enhancing the existing Plainview Peace 

Corps and military service markers in the design and development of the Proposed Plaza. 

The design of the Proposed Plaza shall maintain and improve the bike facilities, parking 

facilities, and other recreational amenities currently available at the Park. 

 

7. The Parties agree to work cooperatively in developing any modifications to the Plans as 

the project progresses.  

 

8. The Parties intend to establish a long-term funding mechanism to provide the City 

resources to fund the maintenance of the Plaza on an ongoing basis. 

 

Article II.  Public-Private Partnership: City and PCLA 

 

1. Programming. 

 

(i) PCLA recognizes that the location of the Plaza is on public property and that the 

City has full authority to utilize the Plaza and Park space as public space open to 

the general public. Such use may include people and groups using the Plaza and 

Park for events, subject to any City licensing or permitting requirements currently 

existing or adopted in the future.  

 

(ii) PCLA and City agree that the Park space shall continue serving regular park 

functions, including parking, recreational facilities including biking, and other 

normal park uses.   

 

2. Fundraising. 

 

(i) The parties recognize that State law allows for only limited public purpose 

expenditure of public funds for memorials like the Plaza. The Parties intend to 

work together to define the financial sources and mix of the capital construction 

and maintenance costs of the Plaza. 

 

(ii) PCLA and City agree that PCLA will be responsible for fundraising related to the 

construction and contributing to the maintenance of the Plaza. The parties will 

work together to establish a legally allowable funding method for the Plaza 

construction, which may include the PCLA contracting for the construction of the 

Plaza or may include donations to the City for the City to fund such construction. 

The parties acknowledge that further supplemental donations may be provided in 

the future by PCLA or others as opportunities arise. Parties agree to discuss the 

establishment of a separate agreement regarding funds raised to support ongoing 

maintenance of the Plaza. 

 



4 

 

(iii) PCLA understands that the costs related to the construction of the Plaza may 

increase over time due to inflation or other metrics 

 

(iv)  The parties understand that state law restricts city participation in fundraising, 

and the Minnesota State Auditor has set forth guidelines for which a city can 

participate in fundraising. 

 

3. The CITY agrees to work cooperatively with PCLA on obtaining any necessary 

grants or capital investment funds from the State of Minnesota, agencies of the 

State, federal governmental agencies, or other public or private organizations 

offering such grants. To the extent a public applicant is necessary to obtain such 

grant funds, the City agrees to assist PCLA in those applications.  

4. Construction. 

 

(i) The City and PCLA agree to meet and discuss the details of Plan B, including the 

parties responsible for leading the contracting for the construction of the Plaza. 

The parties acknowledge that the Parties must follow contracting and construction 

laws applicable to cities, including the Minnesota Uniform Municipal Contracting 

Law, Minn. Stat. Sec. 471.345, et seq. Currently the Parties intend on the City 

granting a lease to PCLA and or NSPA so that PCLA and or NSPA can hire 

contractors to construct the Plaza. The parties mutually agree to consider different 

structures of the Definitive Agreement where the City would be the contracting 

party, particularly in the event the City is required to control the Park to obtain 

grant funding. 

 

5. Expectations of the Parties: 

 

(i) CITY will perform ongoing physical maintenance of the Park and Plaza, both 

prior to the Definitive Agreement being signed, and after the termination of the 

Definitive Agreement. 

 

(ii) PCLA will raise funds for construction and contribute to the maintenance of the 

Plaza under a maintenance agreement or other legal and agreeable method for 

providing the City funding for such maintenance. 

  

(iii) PCLA will provide the City with a professionally prepared maintenance plan for 

the Plaza from a professional with experience in making such plans. 

  

(iv)  Design. 

a) The Parties recognize that the final design of the Plaza (Plan B) must be 

approved by both the City and PCLA. The design must conform to the 

needs of both the City and PCLA, including recognizing the practical 

realities of construction, maintenance, or other unforeseen circumstances. 

Adjustments to the design to account for these needs may include, but are 

not limited to, physical limitations of the Park or aspects necessary to 

accommodate community needs.  



5 

 

 

b) PCLA shall be required to obtain any state or local governmental 

approvals necessary for the construction of the project, including but not 

limited to land use, zoning, and construction permits. 

 

5. Ownership. The City will at all times retain ownership of the Park.  

 

6. Maintenance Obligation. 

 

(i) The CITY will conduct maintenance on the Plaza consistent with the Definitive 

Agreement and any other future agreements between the parties and subject to 

PCLA or another organization providing the City funding as described in this 

Memorandum.  

 

(ii) City shall not construct improvements within the Plaza without the consent of 

PCLA, or in the event PCLA does not exist the City shall not construct 

improvements within the Plaza once the Plaza is constructed.  

 

7. Coordination. 

 

(i) The City and PCLA intend to coordinate and communicate openly regarding 

progress of the project, deadlines related to the project, necessary governmental 

approvals, and any other issue supporting completion of the Plaza construction. 

The Parties anticipated cooperation will extend to any committees established, 

including standing or ad hoc committees of the City Council.  

 

Article III. General Terms 

 

1.   Term. The term of this Memorandum ("Term") will begin on the date first written above 

or when all appropriate signatures of the Parties have been obtained, whichever is later.  

This Memorandum will remain in effect until the earliest of the following to occur: 

 

(i) Either Party sends written notice to the other Party to terminate this 

Memorandum; 

  (ii) the Parties fully execute the Definitive Agreement; or 

(iii) On December 31, 2026, unless mutually extended in writing by the 

Parties. 

 

2. Expiration. Upon expiration of the Term, the provisions of this Memorandum will 

become void and of no further force or effect. 

 

3. Data Practices. The parties acknowledge that this Memorandum, as well as any data 

created, collected, stored, or received under the terms of this Memorandum, are 

“Government Data” within the meaning of the Minnesota Government Data Practices Act 

(Minnesota Statutes chapter 13), and that they must comply with the provisions of the 

Act as it relates to such data. 



6 

 

 

4.   Continuing Commitment to Negotiations. Subject to the provision herein, the Parties 

agree to discuss and negotiate in good faith using commercially reasonable efforts to 

reach an agreement with respect to the project and toward a Definitive Agreement.  

 

5. Ancillary Costs Assumed by Individual Party. Separate from and in addition to the 

expenses of development of the Park or Plaza, any costs incurred by PCLA prior to the 

executed Definitive Agreement will be borne exclusively by PCLA.  Any costs incurred 

by the City will be borne by the City. 

 

Article IV.  Non-Binding 

 

1. The Parties understand and expressly acknowledge that this Memorandum outlines only 

certain general terms that might be included in a Definitive Agreement concerning the 

Plaza construction project, based on mutual approval of Plan B and that essential 

elements of a Definitive Agreement still remain to be negotiated and agreed upon by the 

Parties.  It is the express mutual intention of the parties that, except as expressly stated to 

the contrary, this Memorandum shall not give rise to any legally binding contractual 

obligations between the Parties.  Rather, this Memorandum only expresses the intention 

of the parties to conduct negotiations relative to the Plaza based on the approved Plan B 

which may or may not result in the formation and consummation of a formal, binding 

Definitive Agreement for the construction of the Plaza.  It is the express mutual intention 

of the Parties that, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the 

execution of a formal, written Definitive Agreement by duly authorized representatives of 

the Parties is a condition precedent to the creation of a binding contractual relationship 

between the Parties and that no party hereto will be under any legal obligation of any 

kind whatsoever with respect to the Plaza construction project by virtue of this or any 

other written or oral expression by it or by any of its representatives.  The CITY shall not 

withhold the signing of the Definitive Agreement with PCLA, provided the MOU 

conditions have been met. Any party may, upon written notice, amend, or discontinue its 

role outlined in this Memorandum.  Because of the mutual desire to proceed, each party 

fully intends to make a good faith effort to achieve the goals described above including 

working together to find mutually beneficial solutions when problems arise.   

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused the Memorandum to be duly executed, 

intending to be bound thereby. 

 

By: ____________________________  By:  ___________________________ 

Title: ___________________________  Title: __________________________ 

Date: ____________________________  Date: __________________________ 



7 

 

Exhibit A 

 

 



2024 City of Plainview Planning and Goal Setting Session Staff Rank Council Rank Average Rank

Growth/Expansion with Plainview Township 3 4 3.5 7
MNSPECT Code Enforcement 4.14 2.4 3.27 9
Completely modify Cemetery Code/Eliminate Sextion position/Re-aline with City Staff 4.43 4.8 4.62 1
Complete recodification of City Code-(Hire professional organization) 4.29 3.4 3.85 6
Records Retention - From Manual to Electronic Format- City Hall 4 3.8 3.9 4
Organization of Files-Hire Michelle Olig for 2 mornings/week 4 4.2 4.1 3
Emergency Management Assistant 4.57 4 4.29 2
Add 1 FTE - Police Department 4.57 2.4 3.49 8
Comprehensive Salary/Wage Study 4.29 3.4 3.85 5
Refuse (garbage) Companies - limit the number- vs- 1 to service Plainview 1.71 1.5 1.61 11
City Hall/Police Dept  Building Expansion 3.57 1.8 2.69 10


	1-12-10-2024 Regular Meeting Agenda
	4.  APPROVAL OF AGENDA
	5. JOINT MEETING WITH ELGIN –
	A. Approve Plainview Elgin Sanitary Sewer Board Member
	6. 2024 TRUTH IN TAXATION HEARING (General Information About 2025 Budget)
	7. APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA
	A. City Council Minutes- November 12, 2024
	B. Bills
	C. Permits/Licenses/Donations-
	a. Refuse License Renewals – Hagedorn Enterprises, dba: Lake City Recycling, Interstate Disposal Service, Waste Management, and Lakeshore Recycling Systems LLC
	b. Tobacco License Renewals – High Plains, Lyon’s Oil BP, Kwik Trip and Family Dollar
	D.   Department Head Reports and Board Minutes
	E.    Library Board Appointments for 2025
	F.    Plainview Planning Commission Appointments for 2025
	G.   Plainview Volunteer Fire Department Appointments for 2025
	H.    2024 Fund Transfer – AARPA Funds – Resolution 2024-23
	8. UNFINISHED BUSINESS – none
	9. NEW BUSINESS
	A. Approve Final 2025 Levy-Resolution 2024-20
	B. Approve Final 2025 Budget-Resolution 2024-21
	C. Fund Transfers-Resolution 2024-22
	D. 2nd Ave NW Street & Utility Project Change Order No.2
	E. Water Tower Work Order
	F. Amend Parks and Trails Commission Bylaws-Resolution 2024-24
	G. 600 Code Amendments – Resolution 2024-25
	H. Multiple Pet Permit
	I. MOU Between the City of Plainview and the Peace Corp Legacy Association
	12. ADJOURN

	5.A. Joint Meeting with Elgin-PESSD Appointment
	5.A. Executive Summary Plv Elg Sanitary Sewer Board Appts
	SUMMARY

	5.A. Joint - PESSD Board Position
	5.A.  Joint Meeting with Elgin-P. McNallan PESSD application
	5.A.  Joint Meeting with Elgin-A. Luckstein PESSD application
	5.A.  Joint Meeting with Elgin-B. Kronebusch  PESSD application
	5.A.  Joint Meeting with Elgin-S. Jurrens PESSD application
	5.A.  Joint Meeting with Elgin-R. Hess PESSD application

	7.A. Minutes
	7.A. Minutes - Executive Summary
	7.A. Minutes
	7.A. 11-12-2024-Special City Council Meeting
	1. CALL TO ORDER - Mayor Luckstein called the Special Plainview City Council meeting to order on Tuesday November 12, 2024, at 6:00 p.m.
	Council Members in attendance: Aaron Luckstein, Holly Reeve, Lindsay Hammer Bartley, Ben Jacobs, and Don Kuschel.
	Council Members absent: None.
	Department Heads in attendance: City Administrator David Todd, City Clerk Carol Kujath, Deputy Clerk Kayla Hall, Public Works Director Shane Loftus, and Fire Chief Mike Lyons.
	Department Heads absent: Finance Director Vicki Axley, Library Director Alice Henderson, and Police Chief Jason Timm.

	7.A. 11-12-2024-Attach to Minutes  Bill from Dykes Brothers Excavating (1)
	7.A. 11-12-2024-Attach to Minutes  SEMMCHRA SURVEY


	7.B. Bills
	7.B. Bills Executive Summary-
	Executive Summary

	7.B. Bills from Civic

	7.C. Building Permit Report from Community Core 11-01-2024-11-30-2024.csv
	7.C. Permits- License-Donations-Tobacco and Refuse License Applications for 2025
	7.D. Department Reports
	7.D. Dept Head Report-Executive Summary
	Executive Summary

	7.D. Finance Director November 2024
	7.D. Finance-Nov. Expense Report-Council
	7.D. Police Department Report to Council-November 2024
	SUMMARY

	7.D. Public Works Department head report-PW November 2024
	7.D. Bolton & Menk Council Update 12-3-24
	7.D. Library Director's Council Report December 2024
	7.D. Library Minutes 10-15-2024
	7.D. EDA-December Council Report
	7.D. Fire Department Report November  2024

	7.E. Executive Summary for Trustee Appointments
	SUMMARY

	7.F. CONSENT -Executive Summary City Council appointment for PZ Commission
	SUMMARY

	7.G Plainview Volunteer Fire Department Appointments for 2025
	7.G. Executive Summary Plainview Volunteer Fire Department Appointments
	SUMMARY

	7.G Plainview Volunteer Fire Department Appointments for 2025

	7.H. Fund Transfer-ARPA Funds
	7.H. Executive Summary -2024 Fund Transfer ARPA from General Fund to Water Fund
	SUMMARY

	7.H. RES 2024-23 Fund Transfer ARPA General Fund to Water Fund

	9.A. 2025 Levy Certification
	9.A. Executive Summary 2025 Levy Certification
	SUMMARY

	9.A. Copy of GF LEVY LGA 2025-FINAL LEVY for packet
	Sheet1

	9.A. RES 2024-20 Final Levy Resolution  12-10-24
	TOTAL


	9.B. 2025 Budget Approval
	9.B. Executive Summary 2025 Budget Approval
	SUMMARY

	9.B. 2025 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN SUMMARY 11-27-24
	9.B. Copy of Gov't Fund Budget Summary 2025
	Sheet1

	9.B. RES 2024-21 Final Budget Resolution  12-10-24

	9.C. Fund Transfers-2024
	9.C. Executive Summary -2024 Fund Transfers
	SUMMARY

	9.C. RES 2024- Fund Transfers

	9.D. 2nd Ave NW Change Order No.2-127562 Change Order 2 10-1-24
	9.E. Work Order_Plainview MN 100000-Gal Elevated Storage  Well Modifications
	9.F. Amending Parks and Trails Bylaws
	9.F. Executive Summary Amending Parks and Trails Advisory Commission Bylaws Minimum Meetings Per Year 2024
	SUMMARY

	9.F. Plainview Parks and Trails By-Laws 2023 v2
	9.F. RES 2024-24 Amending the Parks and Trails Commisson Bylaws (3) (002)

	9.G. 600 Code Amendments
	9.G. Executive Summary City Council 600 Code FINAL DEC 2024
	SUMMARY

	9.G. 12-3-24 FINAL Plainview Zoning Ordinance_
	Low Density Residential
	Medium Density District
	Commercial Business District
	Mixed-Use District:
	Table A Example:
	Table B Example:

	9.G. RES 2024-25 Summary publication for Ordinance 2024-05 Amending Construction Planning Zoning and Land Use Code for 2024

	9.H Multiple Pet Permit - Annette Reimers
	9.H. Executive Summary Multiple Pet Permit 2024
	SUMMARY

	9.H. Multi Pet City Code 503.17
	9.H. Multi Pet Permit Application

	9.I. MOU Between City of Plainview and PCLA
	9.I. Executive Summary PCLA National Services Park MOU
	SUMMARY

	9.I. PCLA-Plainview MOU Final

	10.A. Copy of 2024 Goal Setting Spreadsheet Totals
	Staff and Council Survey


	Name: Russell Hess
	Address: 440 5th St SW, Plainview, MN 55964
	Phone: 507-261-6546
	Email: russellcolleen1@gmail.com
	boardcommission 1: I have lived in Plainview for 20+ years as both a renter and homeowner. I am
	boardcommission 2: currently employed as the shop manager for Rochester Plumbing and Heating.
	boardcommission 3:   Before that, I was the lobbyist for the Laborers Union in MN & ND. I lobbied
	boardcommission 4: on behalf of our members for increased transportation funding, water 
	boardcommission 5: infrastructure funding and other issues. I am a past-president of the MN
	boardcommission 6: Transportation Alliance and other coalitions advocating for infrastructure.
	What skills andor abilities do you have that would be helpful for the boardcommission 1:  I have coalition building skills. I am skilled at building consensus around 
	What skills andor abilities do you have that would be helpful for the boardcommission 2:  issues and forming partnerships to advance those issues. I like to work in a
	What skills andor abilities do you have that would be helpful for the boardcommission 3: bi-partisan and non-partisan manner if possible. I do still have relationships 
	What skills andor abilities do you have that would be helpful for the boardcommission 4:   decisionmakers in St. Paul and I am familiar with passing legislation.
	boardcommission will have to face in the next two years 1:  I think all the boards and commissions will have to deal with the issue of potential growth.
	boardcommission will have to face in the next two years 2: First, how much growth can Plainview sustain and then coming up with a plan to make it happen.
	boardcommission: My wife owns Urbain Family Chiropractic in Elgin and I work for Rochester Plumbing and Heating.
	Is there anything else you think we should know that would help us in our decision making 1:  I'm most interested in the Planning, Sewer, or Economic Development Authority Boards.
	Is there anything else you think we should know that would help us in our decision making 2: My best experience is in infrastructure issues at the Capitol. But I am willing to serve on any of the Boards.
	eda: Yes
	PESD: Yes
	park: Yes
	planning: Yes
	library: Yes


